London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

MONDAY
4 JULY 2016
7.00 pm

COURTYARD ROOM
HAMMERSMITH
TOWN HALL

KING STREET
LONDON W6 9JU

Date Issued
22 June 2016

Cabinet hsf\/

hammersmith & fulham

Agenda

Membership

Councillor Stephen Cowan, Leader of the Council

Councillor Michael Cartwright, Deputy Leader

Councillor Ben Coleman, Cabinet Member for Commercial Revenue
and Resident Satisfaction

Councillor Sue Fennimore, Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion
Councillor Wesley Harcourt, Cabinet Member for Environment,
Transport & Residents Services

Councillor Lisa Homan, Cabinet Member for Housing

Councillor Andrew Jones, Cabinet Member for Economic
Development and Regeneration

Councillor Vivienne Lukey, Cabinet Member for Health and Adult
Social Care

Councillor Sue Macmillan, Cabinet Member for Children and
Education

Councillor Max Schmid, Cabinet Member for Finance

If you require further information relating to this agenda please
contact: Kayode Adewumi, Head of Governance and Scrutiny, tel:
020 8753 2499 or email: kayode.adewumi@Ibhf.gov.uk

Reports on the open Cabinet agenda are available on the Council’s
website: http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and Democracy

PUBLIC NOTICE

The Cabinet hereby gives notice of its intention to hold part of this meeting in private to
consider items (20 to 24) which are exempt under paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A to the Local
Government Act 1972, in that they relate to the financial or business affairs of any particular
person, including the authority holding the information.

The Cabinet has received no representations as to why the relevant part of the meeting should

not be held in private.

Members of the Public are welcome to attend.

A loop system for hearing impairment is provided, together with disabled

access to the building



mailto:kayode.adewumi@lbhf.gov.uk
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy

DEPUTATIONS

Members of the public may submit a request for a deputation to the Cabinet on non-exempt
item numbers 4-16 on this agenda using the Council’'s Deputation Request Form. The
completed Form, to be sent to Kayode Adewumi at the above address, must be signed by
at least ten registered electors of the Borough and will be subject to the Council’s
procedures on the receipt of deputations. Deadline for receipt of deputation requests:
Wednesday 29 June 2016.

COUNCILLORS’ CALL-IN TO SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

A decision list regarding items on this agenda will be published by Wednesday 6 July
2016. Items on the agenda may be called in to the relevant Accountability Committee.

The deadline for receipt of call-in requests is: Monday 11 July 2016 at 3.00pm. Decisions
not called in by this date will then be deemed approved and may be implemented.

A confirmed decision list will be published after 3:00pm on Monday 11 July 2016.




8
3

@ b= |

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

Cabinet

Agenda
4 July 2016
Pages
MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 6 JUNE 2016 1-5

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item,
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or
as soon as it becomes apparent.

At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give
evidence or answer questions about the matter. The Councillor must
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is
discussed and any vote taken.

Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration.
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest.

Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions
and Standards Committee.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION SYSTEMS - PLATFORM 6-9
CONSOLIDATION

CONTRACT FOR CREDIT AND DEBIT CARD MERCHANT 10 - 16
SERVICES
FRAMEWORK CALL-OFF FOR RENTAL OF HAMMERPRINT 17 - 20

DIGITAL COPIERS



10.

1.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

DEVELOPMENT OF A RESOURCE CENTRE AND RE-BUILD OF
SEN UNIT AT THE QUEEN'S MANOR SCHOOL SITE

GUIDANCE FOR ASSESSING YOUNG PEOPLE AGED 19 AND
ABOVE FOR CONTINUING IN EDUCATION WITH AN EDUCATION
HEALTH AND CARE PLAN

CAPITAL INVESTMENT TO SUPPORT TARGETED CHILDCARE
FOR TWO YEAR OLDS

SOCIAL CARE CASE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM CONTRACT

DIRECT AWARD OF A CONTRACT FOR A LEARNING DISABILITY
(LD) SERVICE AND EARLY TERMINATION OF THE CONTRACT
FOR A LD SERVICE

COMMUNITY EQUIPMENT - PROCUREMENT OF A NEW
FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT AND EXTENSION OF THE EXISTING
SERVICE

PUBLIC HEALTH DOMESTIC VIOLENCE PREVENTION SERVICES -
CONTRACT EXTENSIONS

HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM LOCAL PLAN: PROPOSED
SUBMISSION

MODIFICATION TO ENHANCED POLICING AGREEMENT
CREATION OF A LOCAL AUTHORITY TRADING COMPANY
FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

The Cabinet is invited to resolve, under Section 100A (4) of the Local
Government Act 1972, that the public and press be excluded from the
meeting during the consideration of the following items of business, on
the grounds that they contain the likely disclosure of exempt information,
as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the said Act, and that the
public interest in maintaining the exemption currently outweighs the
public interest in disclosing the information.

EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 6 JUNE
2016 (E)

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION SYSTEMS - PLATFORM
CONSOLIDATION : EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)

21 -45

46 - 67

68 - 73

74 - 81

82 - 88

89 - 96

97 - 105

106 - 396

397 - 402

403 - 410

411 - 432



21,

22,

23.

24,

CONTRACT FOR CREDIT AND DEBIT CARD MERCHANT
SERVICES : EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)

FRAMEWORK CALL-OFF FOR RENTAL OF HAMMERPRINT
DIGITAL COPIERS : EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)

SOCIAL CARE CASE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM CONTRACT :
EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)

COMMUNITY EQUIPMENT - PROCUREMENT OF A NEW
FRAMEWORK AGREEMENT AND EXTENSION OF THE EXISTING
SERVICE : EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)



Agenda ltem 1

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

. e \/’
Cabinet  haf:’
Minutes

Monday 6 June 2016

PRESENT

Councillor Michael Cartwright, Deputy Leader

Councillor Ben Coleman, Cabinet Member for Commercial Revenue and Resident
Satisfaction

Councillor Stephen Cowan, Leader of the Council

Councillor Sue Fennimore, Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion

Councillor Wesley Harcourt, Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport & Residents
Services

Councillor Lisa Homan, Cabinet Member for Housing

Councillor Andrew Jones, Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Regeneration
Councillor Vivienne Lukey, Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care
Councillor Sue Macmillan, Cabinet Member for Children and Education

Councillor Max Schmid, Cabinet Member for Finance

1. MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 9 MAY 2016

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 9" May 2016 be
confirmed and signed as an accurate record of the proceedings, and that the
outstanding actions be noted.

2, APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

RESOLVED:
Apologies for Absence were received from

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

RESOLVED:

There were no declarations of interest.

Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Page 1



4, ICT TRANSITION PHASE 5 - THE TRANSFER OF SPECIALISED AND
OTHER SERVICES AND STAFF FROM H&F BRIDGE PARTNERSHIP TO
THE COUNCIL

RESOLVED:

1.1. To approve the transfer of specialised services and data networks
and telephony staff to the council effective 31 October, 2016.

1.2. To delegate to the Chief Information Officer (CIO) approval of
appropriate Section 113 agreements for staffing and service delivery.

1.3. To approve the use of £431,000 from previously allocated budgets to
undertake transition activity. A Cabinet paper of 6 July 2015,
entitled “ICT transition funding and viability” approved an estimated
£775,000 for this service tower. At that point, the council only had
early estimates for the plans for specialised services. The
programme team has now refined these estimates. This reduced
cost includes exit from HFBP, entry into the new service provision
from shared ICT services, including staff transition and the relevant
asset transfer and associated asset costs.

1.4. To note this assures savings of around £1,038,000 in 2017/18
toward the overall target of in excess of £4.7 million.

Reason for decision:
As set out in the report.

Alternative options considered and rejected:
As outlined in the report.

Record of any conflict of interest:
None.

Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest:
None.

5. ICT TRANSITION PHASE 6 - PRINT SERVICES CONTRACT AWARD

RESOLVED:
1.5. That Cabinet grants approval:

e forthe London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham to call-off, with
immediate effect, from the Print and Document Management Services
framework awarded by Westminster City Council to Ricoh UK Limited,
such call off contract to be for a period of 5 years with the option of two
one-year extensions.

Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Page 2



e for option 3, as the most cost effective option, to be implemented,
whereby the Shared ICT Services function would manage the transfer of
print services from Xerox to Ricoh.

1.6. That Cabinet notes:

e that the council will also call-off from this contract for equipment and
services to Hammerprint to continue provision of their industrial-strength
print service.

Reason for decision:
As set out in the report.

Alternative options considered and rejected:
As outlined in the report.

Record of any conflict of interest:
None.

Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest:
None.

6. SCHOOL ORGANISATION AND INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2016

RESOLVED:
That the School Organisation and Investment Strategy 2016 be approved.

Reason for decision:
As set out in the report.

Alternative options considered and rejected:
As outlined in the report.

Record of any conflict of interest:
None.

Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest:
None.

7. STREET LIGHTING CONTRACT EXTENSION

RESOLVED:

That the option of one-year extension of the public lighting maintenance
contract until 31 March 2017 with Bouygues Energies & Services Infrastructure
UK Ltd be approved.

Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Page 3



10.

11.

Reason for decision:
As set out in the report.

Alternative options considered and rejected:
As outlined in the report.

Record of any conflict of interest:
None.

Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest:
None.

FORWARD PLAN OF KEY DECISIONS

RESOLVED:
The Key Decision List was noted.

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

RESOLVED:

That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public
and press be excluded from the meeting during consideration of the
remaining items of business on the grounds that they contain information
relating to the financial or business affairs of a person (including the authority)
as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Act, and that the public
interest in maintaining the exemption currently outweighs the public interest in
disclosing the information.

The following is a public summary of the exempt information under S.100C (2)
of the Local Government Act 1972. Exempt minutes exist as a separate
document.

EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE CABINET MEETING HELD ON 9 MAY 2016 (E)

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 9" May 2016 be
confirmed and signed as an accurate record of the proceedings, and that the
outstanding actions be noted.

ICT TRANSITION PHASE 5 - THE TRANSFER OF SPECIALISED AND
OTHER SERVICES AND STAFF FROM H&F BRIDGE PARTNERSHIP TO
THE COUNCIL : EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)

RESOLVED:

That the report be noted.

Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Page 4



Reason for decision:
As set out in the report.

Alternative options considered and rejected:
As outlined in the report.

Record of any conflict of interest:
None.

Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest:
None.

12. ICT TRANSITION PHASE 6 - PRINT SERVICES CONTRACT AWARD :

EXEMPT ASPECTS (E)

RESOLVED:
That the recommendation contained in the exempt report be approved.

Reason for decision:
As set out in the report.

Alternative options considered and rejected:
As outlined in the report.

Record of any conflict of interest:
None.

Note of dispensation in respect of any declared conflict of interest:
None.

Meeting started: 7.00 pm
Meeting ended: 7.04 pm

Chair

Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting.

Page 5



Agenda Iltem 4

London Borough of Hammersmith &

Fulham h&fL/

hammersmith & fulham
CABINET

4 JULY 2016

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION SYSTEMS — PLATFORM CONSOLIDATION

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance : Councilor Max Schmid

Open Report

A separate report on the exempt part of the Cabinet agenda provides exempt financial
information.

Classification - For Decision

Key Decision: YES

Wards Affected: ALL

Accountable Director: Ed Garcez, Chief Information Officer

Digital

Report Author: Ben Goward, Head of Contact Details:

Tel: 02076415504,
bgoward@westminster.gov.uk

1.

1.2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The shared IT service was established via Executive Decision Report (Dec 2014)
to identify common needs and promote cross-borough and cross-service cost
saving opportunities, supporting effective and efficient working and the realisation
of significant business benefits and £6.55m savings — the London Borough of
Hammersmith & Fulham (LBHF) share of this being £4.7m.

The three Councils supported by the shared IT service make extensive use of
GIS to support a range of critical services including emergency planning. The
latest GIS tools have the capacity to enable mobile working and customer-self-
service and to support new and transformative collaborations around data, with
officers and citizens. However, although the three Councils utilise the same GIS
software (ESRI UK), the products and tools each has licensed are different, and
they are hosted on different platforms. Shared IT service staff are required to

Page 6


mailto:bgoward@westminster.gov.uk

1.4

15

1.6

2.1

2.2

4.1

support two, soon to become three separate platforms and staff working in
shared frontline services have three places to go to find information.

This report proposes consolidation of the three separate GIS platforms into a
single software and hosting environment. This will deliver an estimate saving of
£145,558 (LBHF proportion is £75k) over a three year term. Note that staffing
(FTE) reductions arising from this initiative will be managed through the separate
Phase 2 IT Target Operating Model proposals.

This report seeks agreement for the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham
(LBHF) to lead on procurement of the proposed GIS software licence agreement
and establishment of the hosting platform, with RBKC and WCC Councils
contributing and benefitting from the arrangement through an Inter-Authority
Agreement which is drafted by LBHF Legal Services to protect sovereign Council
interests in event of termination of this agreement. It also seeks approval for
borough-specific transition costs (LBHF proportion is £37,700).

The proposal is to operate the agreement for three years from Sep 2016, and to
complete migration to it by November 2016.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That approval be given to the award of an Enterprise Licence Agreement to ESRI
UK for a period 3 years in accordance with section 10 of this document and of
total estimated value of as set out in the exempt report on the exempt Cabinet
agenda (for 3 Councils over 3 years), and delegate to the Chief Information
Officer the authority to sign an Inter-Authority Agreement through which RBKC
and WCC will recompense LBHF for these GIS services

That the Cabinet Member for Finance approves the transition cost of £37,700
(HFBP WPR75430), to be met from Efficiency Reserve budgets, and delegate to
the Chief Information Officer the authority to sign an Inter-Authority Agreement
through which future LBHF GIS software and platform services will be delivered.

REASONS FOR DECISION

The proposals contained in this report will reduce GIS costs over a three year
term, improve staff efficiency and support further transformation. It will also
improve the resilience of GIS services by having a more robust hosting
environment with failover and separate development environments

BACKGROUND

There are currently three separate GIS platforms serving the three Councils
covered by the shared IT service. These all utilise the same GIS software
vendor, ESRI UK, but are currently licenced under separate agreements with and
hosted on separate hardware platforms. Furthermore, WCC and LBHF
infrastructure is in need of upgrade during 2016/17m estimated quotes for which

Page 7



4.2

5.2

6.1

suggest that a new GIS hardware platform hosted internally would offer
significant cost savings over an individual borough upgrade approach.

The shared IT service reorganisation (Target Operating Model Phase 1)
established a single GIS team in June 2016 across WCC and RBKC. The
expectation is that following end of the HFBP in November 2016, LBHF’s GIS
support staff will also be incorporated in the single GIS team, covering all three
Councils.

PROPOSAL AND ISSUES

It is proposed that the existing sovereign licence arrangements be ceased from 1
August 2016 and replaced with a single Enterprise Agreement procured over a 3
year term (refer section 10 below). LBHF will be the lead procuring party on
behalf of the three Councils. It is also proposed that existing sovereign hosting
arrangements be ceased from 1 November 2016 and replaced with a single new
hosting platform operated by the shared IT service and located within the RBKC
datacentre for a 3 year term. Existing data and applications will be migrated to
the new platform by HFBP (for LBHF) and the shared IT service (RBKC and
WCC) prior to November 2016.

An Inter-Authority Agreement will be drafted to govern the relationship between
LBHF as the lead procuring and hosting party, and RBKC and WCC who are
receiving the service. Shared IT service staff will operate under the existing
Section 113 agreement.

OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS

Officers in the shared IT service have considered whether and alternative GIS
software platform, including open source offerings, would offer a better outcome
for the Councils. However, the extensive existing use of the ESRI products
across all three councils, and the superior functionality it offers must be taken into
account. A brief analysis showed that switching to an alternative product,
concurrent with convergence of existing systems would present a far more
complex and challenging transition, with inferior outcomes for the Councils. This
will be revisited prior to the end of the proposed three year contract.

CONSULTATION

There is no public consultation requirement. Shared IT service staff and service
users have been consulted.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

There are no Equality/HR implications. In the deployment of new GIS services,
staff training will be considered, planned and implemented as appropriate. The
GIS team will work closely with existing user groups to ensure effective
communications.

Page 8



9.1

10

10.1

10.2

11

111

11.2

11.3

INFORMATION, COMMUNICATIONS AND TECHNOLOGY (ICT)
IMPLICATIONS

The report is aligned with the current shared services ICT strategy and vision of
converging software and infrastructure, whilst enabling better collaboration and
productivity amongst staff. It is a contributor to a range of council initiatives,
including the realisation of £6.55m savings in ICT budgets from 2016/17 to
2018/19.

Verified by: Ed Garcez, Chief Information Officer.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

Prior to commencement of the new shared GIS platform and licence agreement
an Inter-Authority Agreement will be signed by all three Councils to ensure LBHF
liabilities are limited in the event of any requirement to terminate the agreement,
service failure or unforeseen events.

The contents and format of the Inter-Authority Agreement will be developed with
LBHF Legal team, and will be agreed by the Director of Legal Services.

Implications being verified by: Jonathon Miller (Contracts & Employment). Tel:
02087531412.

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

One-off Transition costs

LBHF will incur HFBP transition costs of £37,700 (67 days * £560/day). This
report includes recommended that this sum be approved, to allow LBHF to take
part in the project.

As set out in the exempt report on the exempt Cabinet agenda.

As set out in the exempt report on the exempt Cabinet agenda

Ed Garcez
Chief Information Officer

Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) — Background papers used in the
preparation of this report : None

Contact officer(s): Ben Goward, 02076415504, bgoward@westminster.gov.uk

Page 9



Agenda Item 5

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham h&rfk//

CABINET hammersmith & fulham

4 JULY 2016

CONTRACT FOR CREDIT AND DEBIT CARD MERCHANT SERVICES

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance — Councillor Max Schmid

Open Report

A separate report on the exempt part of the Cabinet agenda provides exempt financial
information.

Classification - For Decision

Key Decision: Yes

Wards Affected: All

Accountable Director: Hitesh Jolapara, Strategic Finance Director

Report Author: Sue Evans, Head of Pay and Park Contact Details:

Tel: 020 8753 1852
E-mail:
sue.evans@Ibhf.gov.uk

1.1

1.2.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

There is currently a contract in place with Barclays Bank PLC t/a
Barclaycard (Barclaycard), accessed via a framework agreement tendered
by the Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency (DVLA), and managed by the
Government Procurement Service. The contract commenced on 1% April
2014, and officially ended on 8™ March 2016. Members of the framework
include Bank of England, Driving Standards Agency, Birmingham City
Council and London Borough of Barnet. A full list of existing framework
members is included in Appendix A.

Crown Commercial Service (CCS), an executive agency sponsored by the
Cabinet Office to manage centralised Public Sector buying, issued an
indicative plan to procure a new Government framework agreement in
April 2015 with an estimated contract award date of Mid October 2015.
The new framework was designed to replace two expiring agreements that
served around 800 Central Government and Public Sector organisations.
Verbal agreement for the Council to join the CCS framework was obtained
from Councillor Schmid and Councillor Fennimore on 17 July 2015.

Page 10




1.3.

1.4

1.5.

2.1

2.2.

2.3.

2.4.

3.2.

CCS encountered a number of difficulties during the procurement exercise
including changes in procurement rules which triggered delays of around
five months. The publication of the contract notice in the Official Journal of
the European Union (OJEU) finally took place on 15™ October 2015.

As a consequence, the DVLA issued a Voluntary Ex Ante Transparency
notice (VEAT) — negotiated without a call for competition, on behalf of
contracting authorities on 19 December 2015, automatically extending all
call off contracts. Hammersmith and Fulham subsequently secured
Cabinet Member approval for an emergency extension to the contract with
Barclaycard until 8" December 2016.

Following the publication of the framework award notice by CCS in March
2016, the Council identified Barclaycard as the preferred supplier.
Transaction rates are anticipated to meet existing charges and the award
of the contract is in accordance with guidance provided by CCS regarding
‘best fit’ direct award criteria.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That approval be given for the Council to access the Crown Commercial
Service framework agreement and to award a new call off contract for the
provision of credit and debit card services including authorisation, chip and
pin equipment hire and optional facilities for payment processing.

That approval be given to award the contract to Barclays Bank PLC t/a
Barclaycard, as the most suitable supplier in terms of overall service
provision. The proEosed contract will be for an initial term of three years
commencing on 9" December 2016, with an option to extend for two
further one year periods, and a maximum contract term of five years.

To note that transaction volumes will accumulate across contracts
awarded to Barclaycard during the life of the framework and should
generate additional savings as the number of call off contracts increase.

To note that a monitoring system will be put in place when the contract
commences to assess ongoing transactional activity and value for money.

REASONS FOR DECISION

The current contract ends on 8" December 2016 and there is no capacity
to extend beyond this date using the existing arrangements.

Participation in the framework agreement is judged to be the most
proficient option and negates the need for a complex and costly
procurement exercise. CCS is offering a comprehensive, fully procured
framework for credit and debit card services which is considered to be the
most cost effective option and meets the current and future demands of
the Councils services.

Page 11



3.3.

3.4.

3.5.

4.1.

4.2.

4.3.

4.4.

The Council benefits from an existing relationship with Barclaycard who
has provided a reliable, good quality and cost effective service to date.
The continuation of this arrangement will meet our main objectives in
terms of providing a safe and uninterrupted payment service, acceptable
framework pricing models that reflect our specific business activities, and a
strong assurance that vital interrelated projects such as the Managed
Services Program can continue without further risk of major disruption or
possible reputational damage that a change of supplier may generate.

The proposed award to Barclaycard eliminates any potential additional
cost which may have been incurred as a result of the integration of card
authorisation services and existing payment processing systems with a
new supplier.

The existing contract only makes provision for card authorisation services
and the hire of chip and pin equipment. The new arrangement will include
an optional payment processing facility should the need arise in the future

PROPOSAL AND ISSUES

The delays incurred by CCS have reduced the time available to seek
formal Cabinet approval and to put a new contract in place. However, any
potential gaps in service provision or a possible loss of service following
the expiry of the current contract have been mitigated by the
recommendations seeking to award a new call off contract to Barclaycard,
the current supplier.

Other considerations

CCS has confirmed that there is no cost involved in joining the framework
agreement.

Transfer of housing stock

Any transfer of housing stock will decrease the overall volume of
transactions during the contract period; however, based on cumulative
activity between contracting authorities for services called off through
Barclaycard, the Council will still benefit from favourable transaction rates.

The framework agreement was procured by CCS for use by all Central
Government departments and organisations across the Public Sector
including Local Government, health, education, not for profit and devolved
administrations. The OJEU contract notice published in October 2015
incorporated detailed information regarding eligibility. In view of this, there
may be an opportunity for any operators managing transferred housing
stock to call off a contract through the framework. However, this should be
discussed with CCS and legal advice should be sought independently by
the operator in order to ensure compliance.

Page 12



5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

8.2.

OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS
Undertake a full procurement exercise

Consideration was given for the Council to undertake a full procurement
exercise however, it would have been necessary to develop a
comprehensive technical specification incorporating payment processing
and authorisation services. It was estimated that preparation time of at
least twelve months would have been necessary to complete this process,
with extensive input required from Hammersmith and Fulham Bridge
Partnership, BT, Capita, and information security specialists, some of
whom would have needed to be retained for the evaluation process. The
time taken to fully complete the process would have substantially
exceeded the time available.

Undertake a mini competition

Consideration was given for the procurement of a contract via a
competitive process with the suppliers identified by CCS. However, this
approach would have been unnecessary as there are no complex service
requirements and a suitable supplier was identified via the direct award
option.

Negotiate an extension

Negotiation of a contract extension with the current supplier, Barclaycard,
was also considered. This may have been possible however; it would not
have been cost effective or likely that Barclaycard would have been

amenable to this proposal, as a preferred supplier of the CCS framework.

CONSULTATION

Not applicable.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

There are no implications with regards to equalities as the credit and debit
card service is a background process relating to the processing and
authorisation of card payments and therefore does not impact on any
groups either internally or externally to the Council.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

The recommended procurement route to access the CCS Framework and
call-off directly from it to award work to Barclaycard would be in
compliance with the Councils obligations under the Public Contracts
Regulations 2015. The recommendation is accordingly endorsed.

Implications verified/completed by: Babul Mukherjee, Senior Solicitor,
Shared Legal Services, 020 7361 3410.

Page 13



10.

10.1

10.2

11.

111

11.2

12

12.1

12.2

13

13.1

13.2.

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS
As set out in the exempt report on the exempt Cabinet agenda.
IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS

Previous papers on the credit and debit card merchant services
procurement strategy and approach have dealt with the social value
aspects of this type of procurement.

Verified by Antonia Hollingsworth, Principle Business Investment Officer,
Economic Development Learning & Skills, Planning and Growth.
Telephone 020 8753 1698.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Market testing is a key risk, risk 4, on the council’s Shared Services Risk
Register, delivering the best possible services at least cost to the local
taxpayer. The recommendations contribute positively to the management
of this risk by seeking to access the Crown Commercial Services contract.
A significant factor throughout has been to mitigate the risk of service
interruption to as low as reasonably practicable in accordance with risk 6,
Business Resilience. Financial Corporate Services Management of risk is
in accordance with the councils corporate approach, where risks may
escalate they are discussed at management team level and mitigations
applied.

Implications verified by: Michael Sloniowski, Shared Services Risk
Manager, telephone 020 8753 2587.

PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS

The use of framework agreements awarded by Crown Commercial
Services provides the Council with assurance that the process is in
compliance with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (as amended).
This is a specialist contract and it is extremely unlikely that the Council
would have achieved more favourable rates if it had carried out its own
procurement exercise or with other neighbouring councils.

Implications verified/completed by: Alan Parry, Interim Head of
Procurement (Job-share).

STRATEGIC ICT IMPLICATIONS

There are no ICT implications in relation to this contract as the new
contract is being awarded to the incumbent, Barclaycard. Therefore, no
reconfiguration is required and the service will continue as now.

Implications verified/completed by: Veronica Barella, Head of Business
Partnering, ext. 2927

Page 14



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000; LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT: None

LIST OF APPENDICES:

Appendix A — Existing Members of the Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency
(DVLA) Framework Agreement

Page 15



Appendix A — Existing Members of the Driver and Vehicle Licensing
Agency Framework Agreement

Existing Members of the DVLA Framework Agreement

Driving Standards Agency

Vehicle and Operator Services Agency

Ministry Of Justice

Transport for Greater Manchester

Companies House

Information Commissioners Office

Foreign and Commonwealth Office

London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham

Bank of England

Chorley Borough Council

UK Commission for Employment and Skills

Cornwall College

London Borough of Barnet

Cambridge City Council

Stafford College

Imperial College

Birmingham City Council

Plymouth City College

Cardiff University

NEST — Welsh Government Warm Homes Scheme

South Downs College

Allerdale Borough Council

The Intellectual Property Office

Chelmsford City Council

Eden District Council

Page 16




Agenda Iltem 6

London Borough of Hammersmith &
Fulham

CABINET

4 JULY 2016

hsf\/

hammersmith & fulham

FRAMEWORK CALL-OFF FOR RENTAL OF HAMMERPRINT DIGITAL COPIERS

Report of the Cabinet Member for Finance — Councillor Max Schmid

Open Report

A separate report on the exempt part of the Cabinet agenda provides exempt financial

information.

Classification - For Decision

Key Decision: YES

Wards Affected: All

Accountable Director: Kim Dero, Director of Delivery and Value

Report Author: Louise Raisey, Strategic Head of
Communications

Contact Details:

Tel: 020 8753 2012
Email:
louise.raisey@Ibhf.gov.uk

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. This report seeks approval to call off from an existing print and
document management framework for the rent and maintenance of
digital reprographic machines for HammerPrint, saving £60,149 a year.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. That Cabinet grant approval:

a) For the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham (“LBHF”) to

b)

call-off, with effect from 1 October 2016, from the Print and
Document Management Services framework awarded by
Westminster City Council to Rioch UK Limited, for four high-volume
copiers for Hammerprint, such call off contract to be for a period of
three years.

For (i) the Minimum Period Rental Agreement and (ii) the Services
and Software Licence between H&F Bridge Partnership Limited
(“HFBP”) and Xerox (UK) Limited (“Xerox”) each dated 27
November 2013 (together the “Xerox Agreement”) to be novated
from HFBP to LBHF with effect from 31 October 2016;

Page 17



3.1.

3.2.

3.3.

4.1.

4.2.

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

c) For LBHF to instruct HFBP to give notice to Xerox to terminate the
Xerox Agreement at the end of its minimum 3 year term, being 31
November 2016.

REASONS FOR DECISION

H&F Bridge Partnership currently provides all ICT services to H&F
Council. The current contract was awarded by HFBP on the council’s
behalf. The HFBP contract terminates on 31 October 2016, at which
time all HFBP services must have moved to other suppliers or they will
cease. The lease of the Hammerprint copiers from Xerox is included in
the current HFBP contract.

As part of the wider post-HFBP transition arrangements, outline
approval for H&F Council to call off a range of services from the WCC
print and document management framework was given by Cabinet in a
separate report on 6 June.

This report specifically seeks to call off rental and maintenance of four
high-volume copiers for Hammerprint. The term of the overall call-off
arrangement is five years, with the option of two one-year extensions.

PROPOSAL AND ISSUES

The majority of the council’s print work is provided by external suppliers
under contracts managed by Hammerprint. Retaining some limited in-
house print capacity provides the council with ready access to
confidential and last-minute bulk copying services, particularly for
complex work that has, in the past, proved difficult to source from the
private market.

HammerPrint’s high quality copiers are more cost-effective and run at
four times the speed of multi-functional devices (MFDs) installed in
local sites around the council. Hammerprint machines are designed to
run all jobs over 250 copies.

OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS

With the termination of the HFBP contract, continuation of the current
lease arrangement with Xerox is not possible.

During 2015, LBHF, RBKC and WCC participated in a procurement
exercise to select an alternative supplier to provide a range of print
services, including the Hammerprint copiers, via a framework contract.

This print and documentation management service contract was
awarded to Ricoh. LBHF were named on the framework and can call
off from it, saving both time and money in procurement. This paper
therefore seeks approval to call off from the framework.

Page 18



6.1.

7.1.

8.1.

8.2.

8.3.

9.1.

10.

10.1.

10.2.

11.

11.1.

11.2.

CONSULTATION

None required.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS
None.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

Calling off the Rioch Print Framework

The Council was named in the OJEU notice setting up the framework
and it is therefore in compliance with EU procurement rules for it to call
off services under the framework.

The Framework agreement is for a 4 year term with call off contract
being for five years with an option of two 1-year extensions.

Novation and continuation of existing Xerox Agreement
As set out in the exempt report on the exempt Cabinet agenda.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

As set out in the exempt report on the exempt Cabinet agenda.

IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS

The previous papers on the ICT procurement strategy and approach
have dealt with the social value aspects of ICT procurement.

Implications verified by: Antonia Hollingsworth, Principal Business
Investment Officer, Economic Development Learning and Skills. 020
8753 1698.

RISK IMPLICATIONS

If the implementation of this project were to slip beyond 31 November
2016, the current service would cease with the associated risk that
service requirements would not be met. To mitigate this risk it is
proposed to install the new machines a month before the end of the
current contract, with close monitoring of the project plan. This project
will be resourced by Hammerprint staff, with support from HFBP as
required.

Implications verified by: Michael Sloniowski, Shared Services Risk
Manager 020 8753 2587.

Page 19



12. PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS

12.1. Westminster City Council sent for publication a Contract Notice in the
Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU) on 28 March 2014
(appearing on 2 April under reference 2014/S 065-111125) for a
framework agreement relating to Print and Document Management
Services for 19 other London councils.

12.2. Being named in the Contract Notice permits the Council to call off from
the framework agreements and is compliant with current legislative
requirements.

12.3. The report notes the commercial savings from calling off from the
framework to be in the region of £60,000 p.a. Consequently, the
Interim Head of Procurement supports the recommendation contained
in the report.

12.4. Implications verified by: Alan Parry, Interim Head of Procurement (Job-
share) - telephone 020 8753 2581.

13. BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT

No. | Description of Name/Ext of holder of | Department/
Background Papers file/copy Location
1 None

Page 20



Agenda Item 7

London Borough of Hammersmith &

Fulham h&rfkl

CABINET

hammersmith & fulham

4 JULY 2016

DEVELOPMENT OF A RESOURCE CENTRE AND RE-BUILD OF SEN UNIT AT
THE QUEEN’S MANOR SCHOOL SITE

Report of the Cabinet Member for Children and Education: Councillor Sue
Macmillan

Open Report

Classification - For Decision

Key Decision: Yes

Wards Affected: All

Accountable Executive Director: Clare Chamberlain, (Interim) Executive Director,
Children’s Services

Report Author: Dave McNamara, Shared- Contact Details:
Services Director of Finance and Resources, Tel: 020 8753 3404
Children’s Services E-mail:

dave.mcnamara@Ibhf.gov.uk

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

With the support of the Governing Body of Queen’s Manor School, this report
requests that the Cabinet agrees funding to build and develop a Resource Centre
for disabled children and their families on a site at Queen’s Manor School; to
rebuild the SEN Unit at Queen’s Manor School and to fund project and specialist
resources to develop the service offer of the Resource Centre in co-production
with partners and families.

The Resource Centre will be integral to the delivery of disability services for
children and their families in Hammersmith and Fulham. The centre will provide
information and advice as well as assessment and will include a range of activity
spaces and office space for two teams of staff. The Centre will operate
throughout the week, at weekends and in the evening.

The re-built SEN Unit will provide a modern custom-built facility for the
enrichment of children with additional educational needs that attend the school.

Page 21


mailto:dave.mcnamara@lbhf.gov.uk

1.4

1.5.

1.6.

1.7.

1.8.

2.1

2.2.

2.3.

2.4.

2.5.

2.6.

The associated landscape works for the project will benefit all of the children who
attend Queen’s Manor School

The project will be designed and managed by 3BM Education Partners. These
works are supplemental to the original contract with 3BM and will be managed
accordingly.

The estimated total cost of the project is £5.75m. Funding will come from a
mixture of sources including Section 106, capital receipts and borrowing. The
final arrangement will be confirmed by the Strategic Director of Finance.

The establishment of a Resource Centre for disabled children will require a
growth in revenue funding to cover operating costs, as it is planned that the
service provided will be an enhanced offer to that currently available to children
and families in the borough.

Queen’s Manor School is a Grade Il listed building.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That approval be given to the development of the provision on the Queen’s
Manor site as proposed below, subject to the appropriate Listed Building Consent
and Planning Permission.

That approval be given to contribute up to £6m. That Cabinet gives approval to
delegate authority to the Strategic Director of Finance to agree the mixture of
funding (Section 106, capital receipts or borrowing).

That approval be given to agree the sum of £241,000 to fund project and
specialist resources to facilitate the development of the Resource Centre service
offer.

That approval be given to the appointment of 3BM Education Partners as design
authority and project managers to oversee the project for the design and build of
the provision. These works are supplemental to the original contract with 3BM
and will be managed accordingly.

That approval be given to delegate to the Cabinet Member for Children and
Education, the appointment of a construction contractor up to £56m, subject to: i)
a fully regulated procurement process having been followed; ii) the scope being
agreed; iii) the costs being within budget and no more than 10% of the pre-tender
estimate.

That the Cabinet note that the establishment of a new facility will generate
revenue growth which will be reported through the Smarter Budgeting
programme and approved through the Medium Term Financial Strategy.

REASONS FOR DECISION

The reason for the recommendation is:
° The business case as laid out below

Page 22



4.1.

4.2.

4.3.

4.4.

4.5.

4.6.

o The high value of the recommendation
o The need to appoint a design team in accordance with governance
procedures

BACKGROUND AND EARLY CONSULTATION

As part of the Council’s commitment to put children and families first, it has
sought to create strong links with parents’ groups for children with complex
needs. Disabled children and their families often require extra support to lead
ordinary lives and the have been instrumental in identifying the need for this
resource.

It is this administration’s ambition to improve the overall local service offer to
disabled children and their families through the provision of a dedicated resource
centre; acknowledging concerns expressed by Parentsactive and other parents’
representatives regarding the lack of such a facility in the borough.

In April 2011 and in May 2013 Parentsactive commissioned surveys to seek
parents’ views on play provision in Hammersmith and Fulham. Titled “We want
to play too!” the 2011 survey identified a concern with the lack of play provision
and after school clubs for disabled children. The follow up survey in May 2013
stated that provision had increased but not consistently, especially over holiday
periods and with eligibility criteria continuing to be an issue. The survey reported
frustration with the lack of consistency or sustainability of provision.

An opportunity has now arisen to use a site identified in co-operation with
Queen’s Manor School to develop and build the Resource Centre and at the
same time redevelop the SEN Unit at the school in to a modern facility that
enhances the learning of children in the unit.

As well as designing and building a physical asset, a key part of the work is to
develop the service offer and for this to fit within the overall local offer for children
with disabilities in Hammersmith and Fulham that is currently being developed.
As part of this process it is important to ensure that services are designed to
meet the additional needs of disabled children and their families,

The aspiration is for the centre to provide information and advice and assessment
as well as a range of activities for all ages to support the wider local offer for
disabled children. The centre would act as a hub and focal point for disabled
children and their families.

PROPOSAL AND ISSUES

The Resource Centre will be an integral part of the delivery of disability services
for children and young people and their families. There will be a range of
activities and facilities provided which, although not yet finalised, are likely to
include early years’ provision; after school and holiday provision; youth support
and outreach services. The intention is to strengthen the availability of early help
support and services. The centre will operate throughout the week, at weekends
and in the evening. It is not proposed that there is an overnight service. There

Page 23



5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

5.5.

5.6.

5.7.

6.1.

6.2.

6.3.

will be a strong link with health services with a possibility that preventative health
services could be based at the Centre.

3BM were commissioned to undertake initial work to establish the viability of the
project. It is now proposed to appoint 3BM, as the design team and project
managers to manage the build for both the Resource Centre and the SEN Unit.
The award will be supplemental to the original contract and will be managed
accordingly.

It is intended to work to a build completion and go live date of October 2017.

3BM will manage the appointment of a construction contractor that the Council
will appoint, subject to gaining the appropriate Planning and Listed Building
Consents and the proper procurement processes being followed, the scope being
agreed and the costs being within budget and the pre-tender estimate.

Since 2014 the Council has been seeking to apply the principles of the Public
Services (Social Value) Act 2012 to contracts for concessions, works and
supplies. Seeking to ensure that Council spending generates wider benefits to
the community in terms of economic, social and environmental wellbeing,
collectively known as “social value”. The proposed procurement strategy places
significant emphasis on social value.

3BM, as design team and project managers, are a Hammersmith based Social
Enterprise with a large range of local businesses as part of their supply chain.
Providing social value is part of their contractual obligations with the Council.
They have a good track record of employing apprentices, a strong trainee
programme and training partnerships with William Morris Sixth Form and Fulham
College.

The design of the new buildings will require the support of the Governing Body of
Queen’s Manor school and will be subject to planning approval.

CONSULTATION

In parallel with the build of the physical asset, the service offer to be delivered at
the Resource Centre will be co-designed in association with Parentsactive and
Queen’s Manor School, including parents. Co-production is intended as a central
tenet in the development of the provision — of both the centre and the service
offer with both parents’ representatives and partners such as health and schools
being key to the co-production.

The offer will be part of the wider local offer for disabled children and their
families.

As part of the survey in May 2013, Parentsactive representatives visited a

number of centres and playgrounds and as a result requested for the following
elements to be included in a centre in Hammersmith and Fulham:

Page 24



6.4.

7.1.

7.2.

7.3.

7.4.

7.5.

1 A core offer of services without the need for statutory social work intervention
when not required.

[1 An inclusion scheme for all children.

1 Suitable equipment and spaces including accessible kitchen, ceiling tracker
hoist and changing places toilet, wheelchair swing, inclusive see saw and a
wheel chair accessible trampoline

[ Appropriate outdoor space.
) Facilities for complex needs children with adequate space for movement

[ A parent and child led centre with parents to sit on the management
committee.

1 Training and meeting room facilities.

The result of the co-design process will be reflected in a Listed Building Consent
and planning application that will be subject to normal consultation processes,
including with Historic England. If Historic England have objections to the Listed
Building Consent proposals, then the Local Planning Authority would not be able
to determine the application themselves and the application would be required to
be referred to the Secretary of State for decision.

OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS

Four key options have been considered:
e Do nothing
e Develop the provision on alternative sites
e  Refurbish the SEN Unit only
e In addition fund the development of a Resource Centre for disabled
children and their families.

The first option fails to address the urgent need to refurbish the SEN Unit and
misses the opportunity to establish the Resource Centre for disabled children.

The second option has been pursued and a number of alternative sites
considered but many were fettered with site issues and logistics that meant it
unlikely that the facility could be established for a number of years.

The third option addresses the need to rebuild the SEN Unit but misses the
opportunity to use the site to meet the expressed need for a centre for disabled
children and their families in the borough as a significant component in the
development of the local offer.

The fourth option is the preferred one as it seizes an opportunity to develop a

long desired, state of the art, Resource Centre that will become the focal point for
the community and the local offer for disabled children and their families.

Page 25



9.1.

9.2.

9.3.

9.4.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

The proposal will have a significant positive impact for children and young people
with disabilities. It is not considered that there will be any negative impact from
the proposal for any protected characteristic. Further information can be found in
Appendix One. An equalities impact assessment is attached as Appendix Two.

HIGH LEVEL LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
Full legal implications can be found in Appendix One.

Powers

The Council has a duty under the Childcare Act 2006 (“the Act”) to make
arrangements to secure that early childhood services in its area are provided in
an integrated manner to facilitate access to those services and maximise the
benefit of those services to parents, prospective parents and children.
Arrangements must so far as is reasonably practicable include arrangements for
sufficient provision to meet local need.

The provision of a resource centre focussed on the delivery of early childhood
services to children with disabilities and their carers is a lawful objective for a
local authority.

Property

Queen’s Manor School is currently consulting on becoming part of a multi-
academy trust. If the Academy application proceeds, the Council will be required
to grant a standard 125-year lease to the trust of the land used for school
purposes. lItis important the Academy Trust, Children’s Services and Property
understand the intended shared use of space so the appropriate property
documents can be in place that balance operational flexibility and clear rights of
use by the school and other partners. As the new Resource Centre will be an
LBHF run service, the Director of Property & Building Management will advise on
the most appropriate property arrangements with an expectation this area will not
be part of the 125-year lease to the Trust. As partners may use the Resource
Centre, then property agreements may need to be in place with health
colleagues.

There will need to be a clear delineation of school land and any land to be
retained for Council purposes.

Funding

Funding will come from Section 106 receipts, capital receipts and, if this is
insufficient, from borrowing. In relation to monies received pursuant to Section
106 Agreements, such monies must be used for the purposes specified in those
agreements, or where there is flexibility within the terms of the agreement, for
purposes that comply with the above tests. The risk of judicial challenge and or
breach of the terms of the agreements is significantly increased to the Council if,
the monies secured under the terms of those agreements are not then used for
their intended purpose.

Page 26



10.

10.1.

10.2.

10.3.

10.4.

10.5.

10.6.

10.7.

10.8.

10.9.

Legal powers comments provided by Andre Jaskowiak, Senior Solicitor, (020
7361 2756)

Legal Property comments provided by David Walker, Principal Solicitor (020 7361
2211)

Additional Property comments provided by Nigel Brown, Head of Asset Strategy
& Portfolio Management (020 8753 2835)

Listed building comments provided by Peter Kemp, Planning Change Manager
(020 8753 6970)

HIGH LEVEL FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS
Full financial implications can be found in Appendix One.

Estimated total costs for build and fit out of Resource Centre and SEN Unit plus
professional fees and cost of staff resource to develop the service offer total
£5.75m.

Total costs for the design, build and fit out of both the Resource Centre and the
SEN Unit are estimated at £4.8m

The total 3BM fee across the project is £421,120 which equates to an overall fee
percentage of 8.8%.

These costs are estimates only, provided by 3BM who have significant
experience of operating in this field. Market testing and best value will be
obtained through the procurement process.

Other consultants, statutory fees and surveys, including landscape architect:
£285,000

Estimated costs of project and subject specialist resource to develop the
Resource Centre service offer: £241,000

It is intended that these costs be funded from s106 contributions, capital receipts
and, if this is insufficient, from borrowing.

The establishment of a Resource Centre for disabled children will require a
growth in revenue funding to cover operating costs. This will be reported through
the Smarter Budgeting programme and approved through the Medium Term
Financial Strategy.

The fact that Queen’s Manor is becoming an academy increases the complexity
of the VAT treatment of the proposed works. Consideration needs to be given to
the most appropriate way of mitigating any risks that arise.

Implications verified/completed by: Dave McNamara, Shared Services Director of
Finance and Resources, Children’s Services (020 8753 3404)

Page 27



11.

111

11.2

12.

12.1

12.2

13.

13.1

IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS

As mentioned above 3BM are well placed to engage local contractors and
subcontractors. In establishing and evaluating potential approaches to secure
local engagement within the wider procurement strategy 3BM and LBHF
Corporate Procurement officers have explored the potential for introducing a ‘flow
down clause’ approach as utilised on large public sectors procurements such as
the Olympic Delivery Authority (ODA) and Crossrail (via Competefor Procurement

portal).

In finalising the procurement strategy for the appointment of the main contractor
for the construction of the resource centre and SEN unit, consideration will need
to be given as to the most appropriate way of enhancing local social value.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Children’s Department has a risk management framework in place. The
framework requires that risks associated with projects are reviewed periodically,
at least quarterly, and are escalated where they become significant. The most
significant risks are captured on the risk register reviewed by the Senior
Leadership Team, risks are allocated to individuals for their management and to
ensure there is sufficient accountability.

Strategic risks linked to the scheme and the Shared Services Risk Register
are...Risk 4, ensuring that the Council secures the best possible commissioned
services at the best possible cost to the taxpayer. This risk will be mitigated by
ensuring that full engagement, co-production and consultation with partners and
parents is central to the development of the offer with a full time commissioner
and a full time operational lead to ensure that this is effectively implemented.

The other key risk is to deliver to the timescales required. To mitigate this risk
and deliver effectively the experience of 3BM will be used to project manage the
build and an additional project manager will manage the work to deliver the
service offer.

Implications verified by: Michael Sloniowski, Shared Services Risk Manager,
(020 8753 2587)

HIGH LEVEL COMMERCIAL AND PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS
Full commercial and procurement implications can be found in Appendix One

The report seeks Cabinet approval for three procurement-related decisions:

e To proceed with a procurement to carry out the appointment of a contractor
for the detailed design and build of the Resource Centre for disabled children
and the rebuild of the SEN Unit at Queen’s Manor School.

Page 28



e To commission 3BM Education Partners to manage the design, build and fit
out as part of existing contractual arrangements with the Council.

e Prior approval to delegate the approval of the award of the construction
contract, up to £5m, to the Cabinet Member for Children and Education.

13.2 Itis proposed to carry out a two stage tender process via a compliant
framework: appointment of a contractor based on preliminary costs, overheads
and profit, with a further stage to develop design and buildability. To obtain best
value for money and mitigate risk against contractor delays the contract will be
packaged into a single award. An alternative option would be to package into
two lots, construction and landscaping but this would present risks in relation to
the programme and the design interface.

13.3 A programme of consultation with service providers, school staff and governors
has been carried out to establish the design brief and project outcomes.

13.4  Alocal supplier procurement portal such as Competefor will be used to let work
packages.

13.5 The ability of the Council to employ 3BM to project manage the design and
procurement was provided for in the OJEU notice placed when creating the
Employee-Led Mutual.

13.6  The contract with 3BM allows for the allocation of additional works but the core
contract relates to services provided to the Council. As such these works are
supplemental to the original agreement and need to be incorporated into the
contract, in the appropriate form.

13.7 As alocal SME, with a good working relationship with local schools to deliver
work placement and training opportunities, 3BM are well placed to ensure that
the design and build contractor meets its contractual obligations to provide
opportunities for the seeking of Social Value and local economic and community
benefits.

13.8 Itis expected that the invitation to tender for the main contractor will be within
two months of 4™ July 2016, informed by a fuller procurement strategy as this
takes shape.

Implications completed by Elizabeth Hibbs, Programme Manager, Children’s
Services (020 7361 3044) and verified by John Francis, Interim Head of
Procurement (job-share), (020 8753 2582)

14. PLANNING IMPLICATIONS
14.1 To date no formal discussions have been undertaken with the planning authority
about the planning merits of the scheme. The planning service is experienced at

finding positive solutions to planning issues and that has been demonstrated
previously in bringing forward education schemes. That being said this must be

Page 29



noted as a risk to the scheme, given it relates to the site of a listed building.

14.2 Funding will come from a mixture of sources including s106, capital receipts and,
if this is insufficient, from borrowing.

It must be noted that funds have not yet been identified from section 106 funds
for this and the Bridge Academy project. There are currently up to £2m
immediately available for these two projects. A review is being undertaken of
funds that are due in over the next year or so to identify what can also be
committed to this project and these schemes will be included in new opportunities
for S106 agreements and the allocation of CIL moving forwards.

14.3 Implications verified/completed by: Juliemma McLoughlin, Director for Planning
and Growth (020 8753 3565)

15. IT STRATEGY IMPLICATIONS

15.1 There are not considered to be any IT Strategy implications.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT

No. | Description of Name/Ext of holder of | Department/
Background Papers file/copy Location
1. NONE

List of appendices:

APPENDIX ONE: FULL EQUALITIES, LEGAL, PROCUREMENT AND FINANCIAL
IMPLICATIONS

APPENDIX TWO: EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Page 30




APPENDIX ONE
1. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

Resource Centre

A comprehensive service re-design of services for Disabled Children in
Hammersmith and Fulham will ensure that the whole journey for families of
children with disabilities, from first identification to transition from children
services through preparation for adulthood, is undertaken in a timely, holistic,
personalised, effective and cost efficient manner. Part of this re-design will
enhance access to short breaks which includes a range of advice, information
and support through differentiated assessments.

It is envisaged that the outcomes of such a co-produced service re-design will be
that families feel able to engage and receive appropriate support where
previously they declined to do so, thus widening the early help offer for disabled
children and their families.

A full re-design of commissioned services is currently being co-designed with
parents and partners and will inform new arrangements to be in place during
2017/18. Consultation is being undertaken across a broad spectrum of the
parents and will be informed by previous consultations. Young people will be
approached via schools and current services to ascertain their wishes and
feelings. An Equality Impact Assessment will be undertaken as part of this
process.

The resource centre is an integral part of this re-design as it provides a focus for
information, a “family friendly" front door or first point of contact, capacity for
direct delivery of afterschool/holiday services/stay and play groups and the hub
for outreach services. Development plans include the opportunity to work with
Health colleagues to develop collaborative programmes, promoting improved
outcomes and access to early support for the whole family.

The proposal will have a significant positive impact for children and young people
with disabilities. It is not considered that there will be any negative impact from
the proposal for any protected characteristic The resource centre will provide an
accessible environment for families to use and may act as the location for
meetings with professionals and other multi agency arrangements.

Special Education Needs (SEN) Unit

The rebuilt Special Education Needs (SEN) Unit within Queen’s Manor school will
considerably enhance equality of access and opportunity for children in the area
with Special Education needs.

It will enable local children with the prescribed issues to attend a local school,
with enhanced provision without the inequalities arising from transportation to a
much more distant provision. It will be fully compliant with latest access
requirements and will be built to offer the most appropriate environment for its

pupils.

Page 31



In making decisions about changes to existing SEN provision, the Local Authority
needs to have due regard to the SEN Improvement Test requirements (School
Organisation Regulations 2007) and demonstrate improvements in provision in
line with the LA's draft Accessibility strategy in terms of the following:

e improved access to education and including wider school activities,
facilities and equipment

e improved access to specialist staff, both education and other
professionals, including any external support and/or outreach services

e improved access to suitable accommodation

e improved supply of suitable places

In taking forward the development of the Queens Manor Resource Base for
children with moderate learning difficulties the Local Authority is making
improvements to the accommaodation so that this is more suitable and better
suited to effective teaching and learning for children with special educational
needs.

It will be fully compliant with latest access requirements and will be built to offer
the most appropriate environment for its pupils.

The LA is expected to set out the plan for any interim arrangements for children
during the period of development.

2. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

Powers

In deciding what arrangements to make the Council must in particular have
regard to the quantity and quality of early childhood services that are provided or
that the Council expect to be provided in the area and where those services are
provided or are expected to be provided. Those arrangements must so far as is
reasonably practicable include arrangements for sufficient provision of children’s
centres to meet local need.

The Council has a duty under the Act to consult before making any arrangements
for the provision of a children’s centre and when making any significant change in
the services provided through a relevant children’s centre.

The Act defines a children’s centre as a place or group of places through which
each of the early childhood services (including childcare) is made available. A
service is made available by providing the service or by providing advice and
assistance to parents and prospective parents on gaining access to the service.

The provision of a resource centre focussed on the delivery of early childhood

services to children with disabilities and their carers is a lawful objective for a
local authority.

Page 32



Legal powers comments provided by Andre Jaskowiak, Senior Solicitor, (020
7361 2756)

Planning

Queen’s Manor School is a Grade Il Listed Building. Pre-application discussions
have just begun with 3BM. Historic England may need to be involved as this will
be a Local Authority own application. If the intention is that Queen’s Manor
becomes an Academy but any new SEN Unit doesn’t, this will also impact on
subdivision of this planning which is listed.

The Council enters into agreements with developers and land owners under
section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to enable mitigation of
impacts of development and to enable delivery of necessary social and physical
infrastructure. The obligations are required to comply with the tests set out in
Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 (as amended).
Essentially all obligations must be:

e Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;

e Relevant to the development being permitted; and reasonably in all

other respects.

However, because planning permission is being applied for by the Council in its
capacity as “Education Authority” it cannot lawfully contract with the Planning
Authority on that basis, so the usual requirement for a section 106 Agreement in
these circumstances is dispensed with. Alternatively, it is advisable for the two
Directorates to document the agreed heads of terms by either a Memorandum of
Understanding or exchange of letters. Planning Permission is required to be
obtained in the usual way by the Education Authority and should planning
Members be minded to approve the proposed scheme to rebuild the SEN unit
appropriate conditions will be added to the permission.

Legal planning comments provided by Horatio Chance, Licensing and Highways
Solicitor (020 8753 1863)

Listed building comments provided by Peter Kemp, Planning Change Manager
(020 8753 6970)

Property

Queen’s Manor School is currently consulting on becoming part of a multi-
academy trust. If the Academy application proceeds, the Council will be required
to grant a standard 125-year lease to the trust of the land used for school
purposes. It is important the Academy Trust, Children’s Services and Property
understand the intended share use of space so the appropriate property
documents can be in place that balance operational flexibility and clear rights of
use by the school and other partners. As the new Resource Centre will be an
LBHF run service the Director of Property & Building Management will advise on
the most appropriate property arrangements with an expectation this area will not
be part of the 125-year lease to the Trust. As partners may use the Resource
Centre then property agreements may need to be in place with health colleagues.

Page 33



There will need to be a clear delineation of school land and any land to be
retained for Council purposes. The school should declare the land surplus to
requirements.

At a future date once the SEN Unit is completed, the Members could advise if this
would pass to the new Academy Trust.

The Council is likely to need to enter into a building agreement with the Academy
and to agree to assign the benefit of the building contract and any warranties.

Legal Property comments provided by David Walker, Principal Solicitor (020 7361
2211)

Additional Property comments provided by Nigel Brown, Head of Asset Strategy
& Portfolio Management (020 8753 2835)

Procurement
Procurement of project management, design and construction services as laid
out at below.

Funding

Funding will come from a mixture of sources including Section 106, capital
receipts, and if this is insufficient, from borrowing. In relation to monies received
pursuant to Section 106 Agreements, such monies must be used for the
purposes specified in those agreements, or where there is flexibility within the
terms of the agreement, for purposes that comply with the above tests. The risk
of judicial challenge and or breach of the terms of the agreements is significantly
increased to the Council if the monies secured under the terms of those
agreements are not used for their intended purpose.

The Council at present does not have £5.75m of s106 funding available for
funding education projects in the borough. As such a review is currently being
undertaken of funds available for more flexible purposes and future section 106
agreements not yet entered into.

Where developers are agreeable to vary the terms of those individual
agreements, this therefore widens the scope and provides a mechanism for
contributions to be payable for education purposes in order to fund the proposed
scheme, identified above. This can be achieved by the relevant parties entering
into the necessary Deeds of Variation, the cost of which, subject to negotiation
may have to be borne by the Council.

Contract

The contract with 3BM allows for the allocation of additional works but the core
contract relates to services provided to the Council. As such these works are
supplemental to the original agreement and need to be incorporated into the
contract, in the appropriate form.

The decision to approve the appointment of 3BM Education Partners delegates
the acceptance of the final terms to officers.

Page 34



The contract to be used between the Council and the contractor will be
determined as part of the further development of the procurement strategy
outlined below.

Legal Procurement, Funding and Contract comments provided by Andre
Jaskowiak, Senior Solicitor (020 7361 2756)

Section 106 comments provided by Peter Kemp, Planning Change Manager (020
8753 6970)

. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

The financial implications of this report relate to the £5.75m funding of the project
from the Council and the funding of the scheme from a mixture of s106
contributions, capital receipts, and if this is insufficient, from borrowing. The final
arrangement will be confirmed by the Strategic Director of Finance.

Estimated total costs for build and fit out of Resource Centre and SEN Unit plus
professional fees and cost of staff resource to develop the service offer total
£5.75m.

Total costs for the design, build and fit out of both the Resource Centre and the
SEN Unit are estimated at £4.8m

Estimated costs of design, build and fit out of Resource Centre: £2,144,000
Estimated costs of design, build and fit out of SEN Unit: £1,416,000

3BM indicative estimate for core fees for the above work, at 10.50% of
construction cost £374,000

Estimated costs of landscaping and access: £1,240,000

3BM indicative estimate for core fees for the above work, at 3.8% £47,120
These costs are estimates only, provided by 3BM who have significant
experience of operating in this field. Market testing and best value will be

obtained through the procurement process.

The total 3BM fee across the project is therefore £421,120 against a contract
value of £4,800,000 which equates to an overall fee percentage of 8.8%.

Other consultants, statutory fees and surveys, including landscape architect:
£285,000

Estimated costs of project and subject specialist resource to develop the
Resource Centre service offer: £241,000

. Strategic Business Change Lead: 34 weeks 5 days a week at £450 per day
£76,500

Page 35



. Project Manager: 78 weeks 3 days a week at £450 per day £105,300
. Operational lead: 18 month secondment £60,000 including on costs

It is intended that these costs be funded from s106 contributions, capital receipts,
and, if this is insufficient, from borrowing. The final arrangement will be confirmed
by the Strategic Director of Finance.

The establishment of a Resource Centre for disabled children will require a
growth in revenue funding to cover operating costs. This will be reported through
the Smarter Budgeting programme and approved through the Medium Term
Financial Strategy.

The fact that Queen’s Manor is becoming an academy increases the complexity
of the VAT treatment of the proposed works. Consideration needs to be given to
the most appropriate way of mitigating any risks that arise.

Implications verified/completed by: Dave McNamara, Share Services Director of
Finance and Resources, Children’s Services (020 8753 3404)

. COMMERCIAL AND PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS

The report seeks Cabinet approval for three procurement-related decisions:

e To proceed with a procurement to carry out the appointment of a
contractor for the detailed design and build of the Resource Centre for
disabled children and the rebuild of the SEN Unit at Queen’s Manor
School.

e To commission 3BM Education Partners to manage the design, build and
fit out as part of existing contractual arrangements with the Council.

e Prior approval to delegate the approval of the award of the construction
contract, up to £5m, to the Cabinet Member for Children and Education.

The value of the contract for the design and build of the Resource Centre; the
build of the SEN Unit and full site landscaping is estimated at £4.8m.

The specification to be fully developed as outlined in the proposal above.

Key requirements for the Resource Centre: space for 20 children and 20 staff;
used on weekdays, evenings, weekends and during school holidays; two key
play and development rooms with a range of supporting spaces, including
kitchen, toilet and hygiene areas; use of external space to allow free flow
between external and internal play; mobility hoists; sensory room; secure drop
off points and parking.

Key requirements for the SEN Unit: 2 classrooms for 10 pupils and 4 staff each;
improved toilet and hygiene room; sensory room; staff changing rooms/showers.

Page 36



It is proposed to carry out a two stage tender process via a compliant framework
between July and November 2016: appointment of a contractor based on
preliminary costs, overheads and profit, with a further stage to develop design
and buildability.

A programme of consultation with service providers, school staff and governors
has been carried out to establish the design brief and project outcomes.

The full procurement strategy will include a local supplier engagement strategy.
A local supplier procurement portal such as Competefor will be used to let work
packages.

To obtain best value for money and mitigate risk against contractor delays the
contract will be packaged into a single award. An alternative option would be to
package into two lots, construction and landscaping but this would present risks
in relation to the programme and the design interface.

Meetings with the service, service users, procurement and legal colleagues are
planned to finalise contract award criteria and weightings.

3BM Education Partners will be directed to project manage the design, build and
fit out and provide contract administration. The ability of the Council to do this
was provided for in the OJEU notice placed when creating the Employee-Led
Mutual. The contract with 3BM allows for the allocation of additional works but
the core contract relates to services provided to the Council. As such these
works are supplemental to the original agreement and need to be incorporated
into the contract in the appropriate form.

As a local SME, with a good working relationship with local schools to deliver
work placement and training opportunities, 3BM are well placed to ensure that
the design and build contractor meets its contractual obligations to provide
opportunities for the seeking of Social Value and local economic and community
benefits.

3BM have a good record for design and project management of building
schools, particularly taking into account the requirements of school users. This
is evidenced in the construction of Queensmill Special School and how they
have managed the initial stages of this project where they have gained the
confidence of the school.

There is the question whether the direct award of a contract to 3BM achieves the
most commercially competitive price. In this case, Children’s Services are able
to benchmark the proposed fees against other projects some of which were
commercially tendered and won by 3BM. The proposed fees are consistent with
those rates at 10.5% on the works contract and 8.8% including landscaping and
other works.

It is expected that the invitation to tender for the main contractor will be within
two months of 4™ July 2016, informed by a fuller procurement strategy as this

Page 37



takes shape.

Project management and contract administration will be carried out by 3BM
Education Partners.

Implications completed by Elizabeth Hibbs, Programme Manager, Children’s
Services (020 7361 3044) and verified by John Francis, Interim Head of
Procurement (job-share), (020 8753 2582)

Page 38



APPENDIX TWO

LBHF Equality Impact Analysis Tool

2016/17 Quarter 1

Development of a Resource Centre and Re-build of the SEN Unit at the Queen’s Manor School Site

Short summary: A proposal is to be presented to LBHF Cabinet requesting that the Cabinet, with support from
Queen’s Manor School, agree to funding the build and development of a Resource Centre for disabled children and
their families on a site at Queen’s Manor School and to funding the re-build of the Special Educational Needs (SEN)
Unit at Queen’s Manor School. The funding of project and specialist resources to develop the service offer of the
Resource Centre, in co-production with partners and families is also requested. The proposed funding, up to the
value of £6m will be a mixture of s106 funds, capital receipts and, if this is insufficient, from borrowing.

The Resource Centre will be integral to the delivery of disability services for children in Hammersmith and Fulham. It
will provide information and advice as well as assessment and will include a range of activity spaces and office
space for staff. The Centre will operate throughout the week, at weekends and in the evening.

The re-built SEN Unit will provide a modern custom-built facility for the enrichment of children with additional
educational needs that attend Queen’s Manor School.

The associated landscape works will benefit all of the children who attend Queen’s Manor School.

Name: Dave McNamara,

Position: Tri-borough Director of Finance and Resources, Children’s Services
Email: dave.mcnamara@Ibhf.gov.uk

Telephone No: 07968859936

18/05/16



mailto:dave.mcnamara@lbhf.gov.uk

Timing: A completion date of Autumn 2017 is planned.

Resources: The proposal is to commission 3BM Education Partners as design authority and project managers to
oversee the project for the design and build of the provision. The appointment of a construction contractor will be
delegated to the Cabinet Member for Children and Education subject to the proper procurement processes being
followed, the scope being agreed, the costs being within budget and no more than 10% of the pre tender estimate.
Project and specialist resources will also be allocated to develop the Resource Centre Service Offer. The proposed
funding, up to the value of £6m will be a mixture of s106 funds, capital receipts, and, if this is insufficient, from
borrowing.

Analyse the impact of the policy on the protected characteristics (including where people / groups may appear in
more than one protected characteristic). You should use this to determine whether the policy will have a positive,
neutral or negative impact on equality, giving due regard to relevance and proportionality.

Protected Analysis Impact:
characteristic Positive,
Negative,
Neutral
Age The SEN Resource Unit has 20 places for children aged 4 — 11 with moderate Positive
learning difficulties.
The Resource Centre for Disabled Children will be open to all disabled Positive

children and young people resident in the London Borough of Hammersmith and
Fulham and their families. There will be a range of activities and facilities
provided, which, although are not yet finalised could include early years’
provision; after school and holiday provision; a youth club and outreach facilities.
The centre will operate throughout the week, at weekends and in the evening.
Design and Build

As a local SME 3BM have a good working relationship with local schools to Positive
deliver work placement and training opportunities as part of the design and build
of the both the SEN Unit and the Resource Centre.




Disability

The SEN Resource Unit is a provision for children with moderate learning
difficulties.

The re-build of the unit will replace a building in poor state of repair with a
modern custom-built facility. Improvements to the accommodation will make the
facility more suitable to effective teaching and learning for children with special
educational needs. The Unit will be fully compliant with latest access
requirements and will be built to offer the most appropriate environment for its

pupils.

It will enable local children with the prescribed issues to attend a local school,
with enhanced provision without the inequalities arising from transportation to a
much more distant provision. It will be fully compliant with latest access
requirements and will be built to offer the most appropriate environment for its

pupils.

In making changes to existing SEN provision the Local Authority must have due
regard to the SEN Improvement Test requirements (School Organisation
Regulations 2007) and demonstrate improvements in provision in line with the
LA’s draft accessibility strategy in terms of:
e Improved access to education and including wider school activities,
facilities and equipment
e Improved access to specialist staff, both educational and other
professionals, including any external support and/or outreach services
e Improved access to suitable accommodation
e Improved supply of suitable places
The unit will be fully compliant with these requirements.
The Local Authority will set out the plan for any interim arrangements for children
during the period of development.
The Resource Centre for Disabled Children will cover the range of disability
and cover the journey for families of children with disabilities, from first
identification to transition from children’s services, through preparation for
adulthood. It will be central to the local offer for children with disabilities in

Positive

Positive




Hammersmith and Fulham. It will provide a focus for information, a family
friendly first point of contact as well as capacity for the direct delivery of after
school, holiday services and stay and play groups. It will be the hub for outreach
services.

There will be opportunities to work with health colleagues to develop
collaborative programmes, promoting improved outcomes and access to early
support for the whole family.

As a central hub, with information provision and meetings facilities the centre will
contribute to the delivery of the requirements of the Children and Families Act
2014 to provide a holistic approach to education health and care for children and
young people with special educational needs and disabilities.

Gender Neutral
reassignment
Marriage and Neutral
Civil
Partnership
Pregnancy and Neutral
maternity
Race As a central hub with information provision and outreach services the Resource Neutral
Centre will aim to ensure that any groups at risk of exclusion are particularly
targeted for inclusion, such as those who for example have English as a second
or other language.
Religion/belief Neutral
(including non-
belief)
Sex Neutral
Sexual Neutral

Orientation




Human Rights or Children’s Rights

Will it affect Human Rights, as defined by the Human Rights Act 19987
No

Will it affect Children’s Rights, as defined by the UNCRC (1992)?
No

Demonstration of need
Disabled children — customer satisfaction surveys:

In April 2011 and in May 2013 Parentsactive (a parents’ support group) commissioned surveys to seek parents’
views on play provision in Hammersmith and Fulham. Titled “We want to play too!” the 2011 survey identified a
concern with the lack of play provision and after school clubs for disabled children. The follow up survey in May
2013 stated that provision had increased but not consistently, especially over holiday periods and with eligibility
criteria continuing to be an issue. The survey reported frustration with the lack of consistency or sustainability of
provision.

As part of the survey in May 2013, Parentsactive representatives visited a number of centres and playgrounds and
as a result requested for the following elements to be included in a centre in Hammersmith and Fulham:

) A core offer of services without the need for statutory social work intervention when not required.

[J An inclusion scheme for all children.

) Suitable equipment and spaces including accessible kitchen, ceiling tracker hoist and changing places toilet,
wheelchair swing, inclusive see saw and a wheel chair accessible trampoline

[ Appropriate outdoor space.

) Facilities for complex needs children with adequate space for movement




1 A parent and child led centre with parents to sit on the management committee.

[1 Training and meeting room facilities.

Details of consultation findings (if consultation is required. If not, please move to section 06)

Resource Centre

A key element of the proposal is the development of the service offer which will be developed in parallel with the
build of the physical asset. The service offer to be delivered at the Resource Centre will be co-designed in
association with Parentsactive and Queen’s Manor School, including parents. Co-production is intended as a central
tenet in the development of the provision — of both the centre and the service offer with both parents’ representatives
and partners such as health and schools being key to the co-production. Co-design and consultation will be an
integral part of the project and specialist resources have been costed into the project to ensure this is done
effectively. If the proposal is approved a full communications plan will be put into place and rigorously implemented.

The re-build of the SEN Resource Unit within Queen’s Manor School will considerably enhance equality of access
and opportunity for children in the area with special educational needs. It is not considered that there will be a
negative impact for any protected characteristic.

There is strong evidence to support the need for a Resource Centre as a central hub for disabled children and their
families in Hammersmith and Fulham. The centre will advance the equality of opportunity for disabled children and
improve outcomes for them. Through its information and outreach services it will also aim to foster good relations
between those who share the protected characteristic and those who do not. The remit of the centre will be to
promote inclusivity and will ensure that outreach services reach out to those who might otherwise be excluded,
including those who share other protected characteristics, for example those for whom English is a second or other
language. It is not considered that there will be a negative impact for any protected characteristic.




3BM Education Partners will be appointed as design authority and project managers to oversee the project for the
design and build of the provision — both the SEN Unit at Queens Manor School and the Resource Centre for
Disabled Children. The award will be supplemental to the original contract and will be managed accordingly.
Experienced in this field 3BM will be commissioned to ensure full and proper consultation as part of the procurement
process. A programme of consultation with service providers, school staff and governors has been carried out to
establish the design brief and project outcomes.

As stated above the service offer for the Resource Centre will be co-produced with young people, parents and
partners.

No specific actions result from this EqlA.

Name: Clare Chamberlain

Position: Executive Director Children’s Services
Email: clare.chamberlain@rbkc.gov.uk
Telephone No:

Date of report to Cabinet/Cabinet Member: Cabinet 4 July 2016
Key equalities issues have been included: Yes

Name:

Position:

Date advice / guidance given:
Email:

Telephone No:



mailto:clare.chamberlain@rbkc.gov.uk

Agenda Item 8

London Borough of Hammersmith &

Fulham

CABINET h&ff\//

hammersmith & fulham
4 JULY 2016

GUIDANCE FOR ASSESSING YOUNG PEOPLE AGED 19 AND ABOVE FOR
CONTINUING IN EDUCATION WITH AN EDUCATION HEALTH AND CARE PLAN

Report of the Cabinet Member for Children and Education : Councillor Sue
Macmillan

Open Report

Classification - For Decision
Key Decision: Yes

Wards Affected: All

Accountable Director: Clare Chamberlain, (Interim) Executive Director for
Children’s Services

Report Author: lan Heggs, Director of Contact Details:
Education Tel: 020 7745 6458

E-mail: ian.heggs@Ibhf.gov.uk

1.1.

1.2.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Following the implementation of the Children and Families Act, young people
aged 19-25 with special educational needs (SEN) and disabilities may be
eligible for statutory support to access education and training via an
Education, Health and Care Plan. This is a departure from the previous
legislation, where a statement of SEN ceased to be maintained at the age of
16 or 17 if a young person attended FE College or lapsed at 19 years if
he/she attended a school. There is no additional funding in the system to
address increased demand consequently the new duties have the potential to
place a strain on the High Needs Block of the Dedicated Schools Grant.

Draft guidelines have been produced in order to assist the decision making
process for which young people aged 19 and above are eligible for support
and to what extent. These have been developed in-line with the ethos of the
new legislation and the content of the new Special Educational Needs Code of
Practice.

Page 46




2.1.

3.1.

4.1.

4.2.

4.3.

RECOMMENDATIONS

To consider the draft guidelines (Appendix 1) and approve their use during the
next academic year. These guidelines will be continually reviewed as the full
impact of the Children and Families Act becomes more evident.

REASONS FOR DECISION

This decision is required as the implementation of the guidelines will affect a
distinct group of young people within the borough. There is no significant
General Fund expenditure attached to the implementation of these proposals.

PROPOSAL AND ISSUES

The Children and Families Act introduced new legislation for supporting
children and young people with complex special educational needs. A
‘statement’ has been replaced by an Education Health and Care Plan
(EHCP). Under the previous legislation, a statement ‘lapsed’ (finished
because it no longer applied) when a young person left school at 16, even if
they went into a college or into training or when a young person reached the
age of 19. This meant the statutory responsibility and therefore the legal
protection also stopped. The new EHCP can cover birth to 25. An additional
change is that statutory education age has risen from 16 to 18 (‘Raising of the
Participation Age’ - RPA).

Nationally, many parents took the Act as a signal that there would be
education for all young people with a statement, Learning Difficulties
Assessment (LDA) or EHCP until they were aged 25. However, the budget to
local authorities did not increase commensurately to cover a whole additional
cohort. In November 2014 the DfE produced a ‘thematic review’ of Post 19,
clarifying guidance and criteria. These criteria have a focus on whether or not
outcomes are achieved and whether more time in education would be
meaningful. The DfE are clear that there is no automatic entitlement to
continued support at age 19 for special education provision, or an expectation
that those with an EHC plan should all remain in education until age 25.

Young people who no longer need to remain in formal education or training
will not require special educational provision to be made for them through an
EHC plan. In these cases the responsibility on local authorities is to ensure a
smooth transition to other services which will support the young person (e.g.
Adult Social Care). There are very real tensions for local authorities between
need, provision and resources. It is lawful for Local Authorities to prioritise
those with the most need and to devote resources where they will have
greatest impact. It is not lawful to plan the resource allocation for young
people based on the resource available.

Page 47



4.4.

4.5.

4.6.

4.7.

4.8.

4.9.

Numbers and cost for this cohort in LBHF

Total Independent
Age Number placement placement
costs costs
16-18 77 £2,014,683 £771,045
19+ 26 £981,421 £642,001
Total 103 £2,996,104 £1,413,046

(Data as at October 2015)

The numbers above are derived from finance information and will be different
to numbers published elsewhere. This is because published LA returns will
have only been for young people with a statement. As our legal
responsibilities have widened, it is appropriate to include the full cohort
supported from the High Needs Funding Block (i.e. supported by SEN
department during the academic year 2014/15).

Furthermore, within the 19-25 age groups, the Adult Social Care Learning
Disability team are supporting 25 young people at a cost of approximately
£600,000 for a full year. Of these 25 young people, 13 are also funded for
support by the SEN Service.

The majority of Post-16 and Post-19 learners with high needs are educated
locally in school sixth forms and in colleges however, at any point in time the
figures are an indicative ‘snapshot’ since young people move in and out of the
borough and may leave provision.

The aim going forward is to have a better range of education and social care
provision locally, preventing the need to make independent, (often expensive),
out of borough placements. This year each FE college has been offered a
transition meeting with senior officers to talk through individual learners,
enabling information sharing and consistent funding decisions to be made.

Strategic Plan

The eligibility guidelines have been developed to reflect the strategic
approach that is being adopted locally to deliver support for young people
aged 16/19 and above.

Local Authorities are strategic commissioners within their own localities. In
order to meet the needs of our learners at Post-16 and Post-19 it is important
to be working with providers, identifying gaps in the market and working with
them to develop the provision to meet need. The Children and Families Act
requires a joint approach across agencies — education, health and social care
— so that appropriate provision is developed to respond to changing needs
within the population.

Page 48



4.10.

4.11.

4.12.

4.13.

4.14.

There is much to do to improve the experience of Post-19 transition — for
young people and for their parents. There are three separate workstreams
underway to address eligibility guidance, local offer and pathways/ transition
planning.

It is a fundamental objective within the SEN Service that young people have
their needs met by good or outstanding local provision. Therefore additional
provision is being commissioned to enable young people to be educated
within Borough or neighbouring provision. This includes additional provision in
sixth forms at William Morris and St Charles; targeted provision in Kensington
and Chelsea College, City of Westminster College; Ealing Hammersmith and
West London College; and collaborations between special school provision
and colleges.

In order to increase the ‘Local Offer’, various developments have been under
consideration and some will need business cases with feasibility studies to be
brought to Members for approval.

e Queensmill — a Post-19 provision to support young people with
complex autism.

e Jack Tizard and QE2 / College Park are exploring models for Post-19
learners with complex needs

e Kennet West Skills Centre provides vocationally focused education for
young people with a range of learning difficulties (ages 16-25).

e Alexandra College is a Camden provision for young people needing a
highly individualised curriculum. The SEN Service is able to
commission up to 6 places for academic year 2015/16.

e Pathways to employment and coordinated planning with Adult Social
Care are vital in moving this agenda forward. A supported employment
service, Project Search, has been commissioned to provide bespoke
packages for young people with learning and physical disabilities.

Funding currently spent on out of area independent provision must be re-
profiled as young people move through the system, in order to fund the local
developments. It is crucial that we have high quality, cost effective local
provision that parents trust.

Keyworkers are continuing to work with colleagues in other services to ensure
more effective transition and appropriate provision. Those young people with
the highest needs and therefore eligible for social care support, will be
discussed with Adult Social Care. The Post-19 criteria are becoming better
understood by all, and all young people will have a ‘plan’ (but not necessarily
an EHCP) in early 2016 so that transitional arrangements can be developed
and clearly communicated with families. Ultimately, with a strong Local Offer
delivered in partnership with social care and health, vulnerable young people
will not require an EHCP to receive the support they need. The main providers
that are commissioned to deliver Post-16/Post-19 education will have a

Page 49



4.15.

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

6.1.

6.2.

detailed Service Level Agreement which includes expectations about
pathways to employment.

Furthermore, the Children’s Services and Adult Social Care are working
together to develop a strategy to increase the availability of viable pathways
into employment as per the continuum outlined in section three of the draft
guidelines. A summary of the plans to develop this strategy is outlined in
appendix 2.

CONSULTATION
Significant consultation on the draft guidelines has been undertaken with:

e Parents and carers of young people with SEND represented by
Parentsactive and/or Mencap

e Local authority officers, including via the Children and Families Act
Implementation Executive Board

e The Cabinet Member for Children and Education
e Local authority and specialist SEN legal advisors

The local Parent Reference Group, Parentsactive, have coordinated a wide
consultation during the development of the guidelines and the feedback that
they have received from local families has been addressed throughout the
process.

Via the guidelines, the local authority is devoting resources where they will
have the greatest impact in-line with the law. Therefore, the key focus of the
feedback from local families surrounds the need for there to be a high quality
local offer of provision for young people aged 19 and above who do not have
outcomes linked to employability and independent living and therefore will not
have an Education Health and Care Plan. Our strategy to achieve this is
outlined in section four of this report and the input of local families will be
central to our plans to deliver the proposals.

We will continue to monitor the effectiveness of the guidelines during the first
year of operation and will make amendments as required to ensure that all
statutory legislation continues to be complied with.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS
These guidelines are being implemented to ensure that all young people aged
19 and above who are seeking an Education Health and Care Plan are

subject to a fair and equitable decision making process.

Legal advice has been sought during the development of the guidelines to
ensure that statutory requirements are complied with and the impact of the

Page 50



7.1.

7.2

7.3.

7.4.

7.5.

7.6.

7.7.

8.1.

guidelines will be monitored throughout the first year of implementation to
ensure that amendments can be made as the legislation develops.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

Local Authority responsibilities in respect of EHC Plans for those aged 19 and
above (potentially up to 25) are set out in the following:

e s36-50 Children and Families Act 2014
e The Special Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014
e The SEN Code of Practice 0-25 years issued January 2015

The SEN Code of Practice is statutory guidance and as such local authorities
must have regard to it in considering their duties regarding EHC Plans.

s37 Children and Families Act 2014 sets out as follows:

s37(1) Where, in the light of an EHC needs assessment, it is necessary for
special educational provision to be made for a child or young person in
accordance with an EHC plan —

a) the local authority must secure that an EHC plan is prepared for the
child or young person, and

b) once an EHC plan has been prepared, it must maintain the plan.

So where an EHC needs assessment has been carried out in accordance with
s36 then the local authority has to decide whether it is necessary for special
educational provision to be provided under an EHC plan.

Paragraphs 9.150 — 9.156 of the SEN Code apply specifically to young people
aged 19 to 25. It is clear (para 9.151) that there is not an automatic
entitlement to continued support under an EHC plan at age 19. Nor is there an
expectation that those with an EHC plan should remain in education until
aged 25.

A local authority may cease a plan for a 19 to 25 year old if it decides that it is
no longer necessary for the EHC Plan to be maintained. Paragraphs 9.64-69
and 9.150-156 should be carefully considered when determining whether an
existing EHC Plan remains necessary or not, and Regulations 30 and 31 must
be complied with.

Legal Implications verified/completed by: Kevin Beale, Principal Solicitor, Tel:
020 8753 2740.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
Local Authorities used to receive education funding for SEN as part of the

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG). Post 16 funding to the LA was for sixth
forms, and colleges received their funding separately — at a lower rate per

Page 51



head. Provision for young people post 19 with complex and very specialist
needs was funded at Independent Specialist Providers via a different
government department (the Learning and Skills Council and then the
Education Funding Agency). There was an ‘LSC’ Block Grant used for post 16
SEN, but this needed to be topped up from DSG. The entire responsibility and
additional funding for this transferred to Local Authorities in 2014.

8.2. The Dedicated Schools Grant is now available as different ‘blocks’. The
Schools Block, Early Years Block and High Needs Block. The government
has changed the mechanisms for funding and sixth forms are now funded at
the same rate as a college. SEN funding for all providers is made up of 3
elements. Element 1 is the base budget per pupil. Element 2 is the notional
SEN funding. These go directly into each school and college budget. Element
3 is the High Needs Block which remains under local authority control and
may be referred to as ‘top up funding’. The DfE put a financial ‘definition’ on
high needs SEN. In mainstream this is over £6,000 and special provision is
funded at a flat rate of £10,000 (topped up by the LA placing pupils).
Mainstream Schools/ colleges are expected to fund the first £6,000 of support
or provision for SEN out of their budget (Element 2) and any additional
requirement comes from the High Needs Block.

8.3. The table below shows the increase in spend that has been required within
the High Needs Block. It compares the total spend in 2012/13 with that which
has been required in 2015/16 and demonstrates total increase of £4,700,000.
This increase has been due to increased top-up rates (+£4,250,000),
increased base funding (+£484,000) and 96 additional commissioned places.

School Type Financial Year Com:r;z:i:ned Ts:&;;l:;e Jpo'::al:::ii'g Total funding
Mainstream Schools 1213 237 £346.00 £1,033.40 £1,879.40
Special Schools (Pre-18) 1213 ] £4,380.00 £5,840.07 £11,020.07
18-18 Provision 1213 28 £100.00 £87.18 £187.18
Post 19 provision 12113 0 £0.00 £0.00 £0.00
Other (placements in other LEAs and in

Independent) 1213 170 £0.00 £2878.70 £2 878.70
Mon-resident income 1213 0 £0.00 -£3,016.00 -£3,016.00
Grand Total - All LEHF Schools 1094 £5,326.00 £7,723.34 £13,049.34
Mainstream Schools 1516 285 £1,080.00 £1,84543 £2929.43
Special Schools (Pre-18) 15186 544 £4,430.00 £8,735.61 £13215.51
18-18 Provision 15M118 102 £250.00 £1,445.89 £1,695.69
Post 18 provision 1518 28 £0.00 £8168.38 £818.38
Other (placements in other LEAs and in

Independent) 18116 133 £0.00 £2,086.60 £2,086.60
Mon-resident income 15116 0 £0.00 -£2,760.00 -£2 760.00
Grand Total - All LEHF Schools 1190 £5,810.00 £11,973.69 £17,783.69
Variance (decrease) / Increase

Mainstream Schools Change 48 £234.00 £816.03 £1,060.03
Special Schools (Pre-18) Change -15 £100.00 £2 09554 £2 18554
Special Schools 16-19 Provision Change 74 £150.00 £1,358.51 £1,508.51
School Schools Post 19 pravision Change 26 £0.00 £616.36 £616.36
Other (placements in other LEAs and in

Independent) Change -37 £0.00 -£392.10 -£892.10
Mon-resident income Change 0 £0.00 £256.00 £266.00
Total variance (decrease) / Increase 96 £484.00 £4,250.35 £4,734.35

8.4. Each LA must identify the number of places likely to be needed in Post-16

(sixth form or college) and Post-19 provision. The base funding for any non-
LA maintained places is then deducted from the LAs overall schools’ budget.
If an LA needs to place more young people than it anticipated, this cost must

Page 52



8.5.

9.1.

be fully met from the High Needs Block with the LA working with providers to
give best value. The High Needs Block for each LA does not increase if the
pupil numbers rise and the original calculation for each LA did not include high
needs pre-school children — who must now be funded. The pressure on the
High Needs Block can easily escalate. Even though recent legislative
changes may imply a wider scope of responsibility which now encompasses
the colleges and potentially young people to 25 years of age, there is no
additional funding to support this level of higher learner numbers. It is
important to note that under the legislation, the Schools Block cannot be used
to fund Post 19 learners and it is unlawful to refuse to support a young person
due to lack of resources.

Finance Implications verified/completed by: Dave McNamara, Director for
Finance and Resources (CHS), Tel: 020 8753 3404.

IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS

Local implications for businesses will be positive as more local organisations
are encouraged to meet the needs of and employ young people with special
educational needs and disabilities, particularly via their Corporate Social
Responsibility agenda.

LIST OF APPENDICES:

Appendix 1 - Post-19 Guidelines v9
Appendix 2 - Developing Pathways into Employment (LBHF) v2

Page 53



Appendix 1

Guidance for assessing young people aged 19 and
above for continuing in education with an Education
Health and Care Plan

DRAFT
v.9

1. Context

Local Authority responsibilities in respect of Education Health and Care (EHC)
Plans for those aged 19 and above (potentially up to 25) are set out in the
following:

e s36-50 Children and Families Act 2014 (“the Act”)

e The Special Educational Needs and Disability Regulations 2014 (“the
Regulations”)

e The SEN Code of Practice 0-25 years issued January 2015 (“the
Code”)

The Code is statutory guidance and as such local authorities must have
regard to it in considering their duties regarding EHC Plans.

s37 of the Act sets out as follows:

s37(1) Where, in the light of an EHC needs assessment, it is necessary for
special educational provision to be made for a child or young person in
accordance with an EHC plan —

a) the local authority must secure that an EHC plan is prepared for the
child or young person, and
b) once an EHC plan has been prepared, it must maintain the plan.

So where an EHC needs assessment has been carried out in accordance with
s36 then the local authority has to decide whether it is necessary for special
educational provision to be provided under an EHC plan. Where the local
authority decides it is necessary then the requirements for the plan are set out
in Regulation 12, and Paragraphs 9.64-69 of the Code apply to the outcomes
element of the plan. The local authority’s duties include the need to support
the child and his or her parent, or the young person, in order to facilitate the
development of the child or young person and to help him or her to achieve
the best possible educational and other outcomes (s19(d) of the Act).

Paragraphs 9.150 — 9.156 of the SEN Code apply specifically to young people
aged 19 to 25. It is clear (para 9.151) that there is not an automatic
entitlement to continued support under an EHC plan at age 19. Nor is there an

30071259

Page 54



expectation that those with an EHC plan should remain in education until
aged 25.

A local authority may cease a plan for a 19 to 25 year old if it decides that it is
no longer necessary for the EHC Plan to be maintained.

Paragraphs 9.64-69 of the Code regarding the Outcomes section of the plan
must be carefully considered when determining whether an existing EHC Plan
remains necessary or not.

The relevant Regulations are Regulations 30 and 31.

Regulation 30 requires that “When a young person aged 18 or over ceases to
attend the educational institution specified in his or her EHC plan, so is no
longer receiving education or training, then a local authority may not cease to
maintain the EHC plan unlesss it has reviewed the EHC plan in accordance
with reulations 18 and 19 and ascertained that the young person does not
wish to return to education or training...or determined that returning to
education or training would not be appropriate for the young person.

Regulation 31 requires local authorities to inform and consult the child’s
parent or the young person in advance of any decision to cease to maintain
an EHC plan, to consult the head teacher or equivalent for the institution
named in the plan, to notify the parent or young person, institution and CCG
of any decision to cease to maintain the plan, and to notify the parent or
young person of appeal rights and related issues.

Careful consideration should also be given to Paragraphs 9.150-156 which
include that “in deciding that the special educational provision is no longer
required, the local authority must have regard to whether the educational or
training outcomes specified in the plan have been achieved”. .

The strategic vision for this local authority is to ensure that there are high
aspirations for children and young people with SEN. The aim is that young
people are supported in achieving their aspirations and outcomes of
independence and employment in or near their local community whenever
possible. .

The LA’s strategy is to support young people through a good or outstanding
local offer of education, health, care and third sector provision. With young
people, parents and practitioners working together to ensure planning is
personalised to meet young people’s needs. The aim is to have a Local Offer
across the area which is responsive to the changing needs and the choices
young people make..

2. Guidelines for assessment in relation to continued
education

30071259

Page 55



2a. Assessing a young person aged 19-25 who does not currently have
an Education, Health and Care Plan and has never had a Statement of
SEN.

There may be young people aged between 19 and 25 who are new to the
SEN System and who may require an Education Health and Care Plan.

In order to make a decision on this, the following principles apply in the same
way that they do for those young people aged 18 and under:

Does the young person have a learning difficulty or disability?

!

Does the young person have a significantly greater difficulty in learning than
the majority of others of the same age (s20(2) Children and Families Act
2014) ?

!

If so, does the young person require specialist educational provision in order
to access their learning?

l

If so, what provision do they require?

!

Does this provision need to be provided by an EHC Plan or is it already
available within the local offer?

2b. Assessing a young person who currently has a Statement of SEN,
LDA or Education Health and Care Plan for whom the LA may have a
need to maintain an EHC Plan post 19

For young people who have a Statement of SEN, Learning Difficulties
Assessment (LDA) or an Education Health and Care Plan, the Local Authority
must carry out a transfer review or an annual review and decide whether an
EHC Plan is needed or the EHC plan ought to continue to be maintained. In
considering whether to continue to maintain an Education Health and Care
Plan, or for a young person to transition from an LDA or statement of SEN,
the local authority will seek evidence that:

1. The education / training outcomes as set out in the young person’s Education
Health and Care Plan (or previous statement/ LDA) have not yet been achieved

30071259

Page 56




and there is evidence that only with continued input from trained educationalists
will it be possible to achieve these outcomes.

2. The young person must want to remain in education/ training so that they can
complete their course. All possible attempts must be used to seek the views of
the young person.

3. The special educational needs must still be definable and present. It must be
clear how the needs are impacting on access to learning and how the special
educational provision can enable the young person to overcome these barriers.

3. How does the Local Authority support young people in
preparing for their transition into adulthood?

Effective transition starts at the age of 14 or earlier and helps a young person
prepare for adulthood. In terms of preparing for adulthood, this means that
there needs to be a clear focus on developing the necessary skills for
independent living and for employment, particularly as the Young Person
moves into Post 16 provision and is essential for any further education (FE)
placement.

It is important that young people are supported in learning the skills for
independence and employment in or near their local community giving
opportunities to build the networks they will need for their support once they
are an adult. Young people with learning disabilities often have challenges in
applying skills they may have learnt in one context to a different context, so
community based independence is best taught in the community they will
access as an adult. In view of the issues for preparing for adulthood, the LA
would expect that any FE programme would be focussed on enabling a young
person to make choices that support the achievement of independence and
employment outcomes from the very beginning of any course.

This will enable the young person, their family and tutors, to plan for the time
the student moves on and leaves the college. In many cases, the involvement
of other agencies will be a necessary part of this process (for example the
Learning Disabilities team). This is the purpose of the Local Offer in practice,
whereby bespoke packages of support enable transition to adulthood.

The diagram below shows how the Local Offer can be focussed over time to
support that pathway into adulthood.

Year of Purpose of support from Local Offer in preparation for
focussed adulthood
support

Transition into college, focusing on becoming independent,
Year 1 travel training, making choices, participating in vocational
sessions (ideally integrated within the college setting)

Developing independence and personal and social skills,
Year 2 together with a supportive work placement of vocational
choice

30071259

Page 57



Primary focus on external work experience placement with
support from job coach, together with a college support
programme to develop skills required to sustain voluntary or
paid employment.

Year 3 and exit
from the
organisation

Adapted from The Routledge Companion to Severe, Profound and Multiple
Learning Difficulties (Allen et al, 2015)

In order to deliver this as a three year programme, the assessment and
planning process for an Education, Health and Care Plan will place specific
emphasis on developing an effective strategy for leaving education.

Evaluation and planning for the next steps is destination led — so that the key
outcomes on the pathway to adulthood are the foci. This will ensure that
formal reviews ‘concentrate on movement towards the next stage of transition
into adulthood and allow for the development of potential pathways necessary
to support the young person in future environments.” (Welsh Government
Social Research 2013: 167). This is demonstrated in the diagram below:

Education, Health
and Care Plan- a
cycle of review

Session plans,

scheme of work,

student centred
curriculum planning

Termly objectives
linked to learning,
living and work

Session plans,
scheme of work,
student centred

curriculum planning

LEARNER’S
DESTINATION

To be effective, pathways to employment for Young People with SEND must
be personalised. By having an individualised approach, the educational
programme will build on existing strengths, and support the young person to
learn the skills they need for their next step.

The local offer of FE and third sector provision is intended to provide a
continuum of employment opportunities. This continuum can include ‘job
carving’ where a learner may carry out a specific element of a job, voluntary

30071259

Page 58



opportunities, paid work, part time work, involvement in a social enterprise or
supported employment.

This table below shows some of the considerations within this approach to
employment.

Local Authority Preparing for Adulthood Employability Programme

\ 4 A 4 A 4

A\ 4
Soci Supported paid / | Independent paid
ocial . :
Voluntary E . unpaid / unpaid
nterprise
employment employment
Voluntary Individual Supported Part time / full time
employment enterprise internships (including
(including work apprenticeships
experience) Group enterprise | Supported part and internships)
time / full time
Voluntary (including job Group
advocacy work carving) employment
Group voluntary Supported Job coach
advocacy advocacy
employment
Group supported
employment

(adapted from Orchard Hill College Curriculum, 2012)

A job coach can be funded via the Department for Work and Pensions and
can support the young person in their workplace for as long as it is needed.

Social enterprises reinvest any profits and can provide creative work
opportunities for people with disabilities — such as that in offered via Kennet
West who run a weekly market stall with their students.

Timing
Young people progress at different rates and the preparation for adulthood

may take longer for some.

The LA’s expectation is that most young people with SEN will follow a 2 to 3
year programme Post 16 and will not need to remain in education longer than
their 19™ birthday. However, for some young people, their journey will take
longer and this 3 year destination led transition to adulthood may begin at

30071259

Page 59




their Post 19 transition. The mechanism for determining this will be through
the EHC Plan review.

30071259

Page 60



Appendix 2

DEVELOPING THE LOCAL OFFER OF PATHWAYS INTO EMPLOYMENT
V.2

1. INTRODUCTION

To be effective, pathways to employment for Young People with SEND must
be personalised. By having an individualised approach, the educational
programme will build on existing strengths, and support the young person to
learn the skills they need for their next step.

The local offer of FE and third sector provision is intended to provide a
continuum of employment opportunities. This continuum can include ‘job
carving’ where a learner may carry out a specific element of a job, voluntary
opportunities, paid work, part time work, involvement in a social enterprise or
supported employment.

This table below, which is included in the ‘Guidance for assessing young
people aged 19 and above for continuing in education with an Education
Health and Care Plan’ shows some of the considerations within this approach
to employment.

Local Authority Preparing for Adulthood Employability Programme

\ 4 \ 4 v \ 4

Social Supported paid / Independent
Voluntary £ ; unpaid paid / unpaid
nterprise
employment employment
Voluntary Individual Supported Part time / full
employment enterprise internships time (including

(including work
experience)

Group enterprise

Supported part
time / full time

apprenticeships
and internships)

Voluntary (including job Group
advocacy work carving) employment
Group voluntary Supported Job coach
advocacy advocacy

employment

Group supported
employment

Page 61




The aspiration for the local authority is to offer a full range of provision
incorporating all of the aspects outlined in the model above. However, initial
analysis of the current offer has identified some gaps that will need to be

addressed.

2. CURRENT POSITION AND PLANS TO EXPAND THE OFFER

The table below outlines the current position in each of the areas and the
broad plans to expand the offer:

Voluntary

Social Enterprise

Supported paid /
unpaid
employment

Independent paid /
unpaid
employment

Current offer:

e Full of Life

e Mencap

e Westminster
Employment
Services

e Pure innovations

e Epic

e Sweetree

What is the plan to
expand this offer:

Build on existing
work shadowing /
work experience
placements.

Use the Education
and Business
Partnership to
extend opportunities
for placements for
LLDD

Current offer:

Via the colleges
(e.g. Market Stall)

What is the plan to
expand this offer:

Develop a
procurement
process to shape
opportunities for
this.

Current offer:
Project Search with:

e Hilton Terminal 5

e GlaxoSmithKline

e Hounslow
Council

L’Oreal Supported
Internship
Programme

Westminster
Kingsway College
offer of supported
employment

What is the plan to
expand this offer:

To commission FE
providers to provide
supported
employment.

To offer supported
internships
(potentially with
Project Search) at
Hammersmith and
Fulham

Current offer:

e Action on
Disability — pilot
to provide 12
placements

e Colleges
currently support
apprenticeships

What is the plan to
expand this offer:

Build opportunities
into LA contracts

Page 62




3. DEVELOPING A JOINT SUPPORTED EMPLOYMENT STRATEGY

The Commissioning Directorate within Adult Social Care has been developing
a Supported Employment Strategy for Hammersmith and Fulham, Kensington
and Chelsea and Westminster, and this is currently in the process of being
finalised. Representatives from the SEN Service have met with Adult Social
Care to ensure that the strategy is delivered in collaboration with Children’s
Services.

The target groups for this strategy include young people with learning
disabilities who are transitioning into adulthood. There are differences in
success rates across the three boroughs for known adults with learning
disabilities who are in employment. In Hammersmith and Fulham this was
1.7% (National average 7.4%) for the reporting period 2013/14.

The strategy seeks to map existing services and the outcomes each service
currently achieves.

Through service realignment and a re-procurement process (the finance is
reducing principally due to the cuts in the Public Health Grant) new, better
aligned supported employment services are anticipated. The specifications for
new delivery will be from evidence based best practice ensuring best value.

Young people aged 18-24 represent a small subset of the overall target group
for this strategy. While the principles of supported employment may be the
same across all age groups, it is important to have parental confidence and
trust in the provision being offered. Therefore, in developing an overarching
strategy on supported employment it is recommended that:

e resource is developed with the responsibility to source and coordinate
opportunities specifically for young people

e that all re-commissioned contracts developed for the employment
strategy have targets set which are specifically to support transition of
young people into adulthood

e that a named lead for young people within Job Centre Plus is
disseminated to schools, sixth form colleges and FE colleges

e that the care and independence services work coherently with the
supported employment services as part of the personalised approach
(this should not require an EHCP)

4. DELIVERY OF AN IMPROVED OFFER

Our minimum target is to ensure that the local authority is achieving at least
the national level of employment for adults with learning disabilities within the
next three years. This target should be jointly held by the Children’s Service

and Adult Social Care directorates.

A strategy in being developed within adult social care to ensure that
commissioned services work within an evidence based approach and that

Page 63



there is collective, integrated approach to meeting employment needs. The
proposal is to have a funding approach which builds in incentives for securing
paid employment. Within the Children and Families Act there is a clear
imperative to improve pathways to employment for young people as part of
their transition into adulthood. There is a growing evidence base to show that
supported employment is more cost effective than ‘care’ and living allowances
— particularly if health benefits are factored in.

A full strategy is being developed to demonstrate how this will be delivered,
but the options for delivery can be summarised as follows:

Increasing the offer:
a) Working with commissioned organisations

Children’s Services have asked that specific targets relating to young people
are given to all organisations that are commissioned by Adult Social Care to
provide supported employment opportunities. It is anticipated that a payment-
by-results approach will be implemented for this. The performance of
providers will be jointly reviewed so that they work together rather than in
competition and so that they don’t ‘select’ only the easiest of clients.

b) Supporting colleges

The proposed Adult Social Care supported employment strategy refers to the
British Association of Paid Employment (BASE), which is an organisation that
supports Project Search — an employer-led internship model which has been
found to be very successful in helping people with disabilities into paid
employment.

There is local experience of using Project Search and it is embedded into the
approach of Ealing Hammersmith and West London College. This was made
possible by delegating funding to the college so that they were able to fund:

e support for students while applying for access to work interventions
from Department for Work and Pensions

e college time to oversee essential paperwork/ monitor students

e college time to drive forward links with employers

Having worked in this way for a year, the college have now mainstreamed the
approach and can act as a point of contact for other colleges.

Children’s Services are currently building a business case to spend some of
the DfE Preparation for Employment Grant to provide local colleges with a
small amount of funding to follow this model to develop their pathways to
employment and supported internships which they will then mainstream once
set up.

c) ldentifying a range of employers

Page 64



The borough hosts a significant number of high profile local and national
employers, the majority of which do not offer a specific programme of
supported employment. The local authority should develop a strategy for
systematically engaging these local employers and promoting the benefits of
delivering an offer of supported employment. Support should also be provided
to these employers in the early stages of implementing an offer. The
Education Business Partnership is an example of a service that is part of the
local authority and could add significant value in this area.

d) Leading by example

The local authority is one of the biggest employers in the borough and, as
such, it is recommended that it should lead by example by introducing a policy
that commits to provide a certain number of supported employment
opportunities across different departments throughout each municipal year.

e) Contractual arrangements with the local authority

Corporate commissioning and procurement officers should be engaged in
discussions around the potential for writing the requirement to provide
supported employment opportunities into contractual arrangements with local
employers, making use of Social Value clauses and, in the case of
developers, the Community Interest Levy and/or S106 arrangements.

Demonstrating early impact:

There are currently five young people attending the pilot Queensmill Post-19
provision, all of whom, under the new Eligibility Guidelines, should be working
towards a supported employment destination.

In order to demonstrate the potential for developing the supported
employment offer and to generate some case studies, the local authority
should work with these young people to develop specific opportunities for
them to move into by the time they finish their studies. This work will be
undertaken alongside the wider strategic work outlined in this section.

Resourcing options:
a) In-house post with specific responsibility

The establishment of a specific supported employment officer post would
enable a real drive between children services and adult services to achieve
the cultural shift needed to increase the number of adults with learning
disabilities in employment. If young people have clear employment pathways,
and the support they need to access paid employment — either as a supported
internship or through job carving, working within a social enterprise, they are
then more likely to remain in employment as they grow older.

This officer would have the following broad responsibilities:

Page 65



e Work with Children’s Services and Adult Social Care to continually
analyse the needs of local young people and develop the strategy for
the expanded supported employment offer.

e Engage with local employers (potentially with the support of the EBP)
and promote the benefits of implementing a supported employment
programme.

e Support commissioners with the delivery of a supported employment
commissioning strategy and monitoring the achievement of outcomes
that are specific to children and young people.

e To be a named contact for young people that are referred to either
Adult Social Care or the SEN Service and require support in identifying
a pathway to supported employment.

b) Commissioning a 3rd Sector organisation

Alternatively, a third sector organisation could be commissioned to develop
supported employment opportunities for children and young people that are
engaged with Children’s Services and Adult Social Care.

If this option were to be selected, the local authority would potentially benefit
from the extended reach of such an organisation, however, we would need to
implement robust contract monitoring to ensure that the organisation is
delivering to the strategic aims of the LA and are reaching the required high
standard for this cohort of vulnerable young people. Furthermore, the
timelines involved in undertaking the commissioning activity may delay the
timescales by which outcomes can be delivered.

¢) Funding the Education Business Partnership

The Education Business Partnership, which is based within Children’s
Services, has links with a range of local and national employers based within
the borough. The EBP already arranges work experience for students in
alternative provision and special education provisions, so there is a logical
extension of existing work. There is a model in place for 16-19 and this could
be developed to meet the needs of the 19-25 age range. This is flexible in
terms of timing and length to meet the needs of the individual. There is
already evidence that some placements with alternative provision students
have led to employment.

These links can be utilised via a specifically funded programme, led by the
EPB, which focuses on converting a percentage of these SEN work
experience placements into supported employment opportunities. This
programme could follow the stages outlined below:

i. identify existing and new employers who could provide opportunities;
ii. design / deliver a support programme that would ensure employer staff
were prepared, equipped to take on the young people;
ili.  on-going training/supervision to support these employees;

Page 66



Placements could take place throughout the year, over specific periods and
could be repeated in subsequent years allowing students to enhance
employability skills sequentially moving closer to either supported or
independent employment.

There is also the potential to ensure that young people have access to these
opportunities before the age of 19 so that they are already beginning to feel
comfortable with ideas around employment and that they and their families
realise that opportunities for meaningful and rewarding employment do exist
and are attainable.

Page 67



Agenda Iltem 9

London Borough of Hammersmith &

Fulham h&'ff\yl

CABINET

hammersmith & fulham

4 JULY 2016

CAPITAL INVESTMENT TO SUPPORT TARGETED CHILDCARE FOR TWO
YEAR OLDS

Report of the Cabinet Member for Children and Education: Councillor Sue
Macmillan

Open Report

Classification - For Decision

Key Decision: Yes

Wards Affected:
Wormholt and White City, Fulham Reach

Accountable Director: Clare Chamberlain, (Interim) Executive Director for
Children’s Services

Report Author: Mike Potter, Head of Contact Details:
Commissioning, Children’s Services Tel: 020 7641 2165

E-mail: mpotter@westminster.gov.uk

1.1.

1.2.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Targeted 2 Year old places were introduced as a pilot in 2009, and funded
through the Department for Education’s (DfE) General Sure Start Grant. This
extended into a national programme from September 2013, with revised criteria
to ensure that at least 20% of the most disadvantaged children were eligible for
a free place. From September 2014, the inclusion of low income families
increased eligibility to cover 40% of the most deprived families with a two year
old (2yo) child. There is a local target to achieve at least 70% capacity of total
places required. As of Spring 2016 the achieved level was 61%.

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) capital funding is available to invest in local
settings, in order to create the additional spaces to meet the level of local
demand required. Feasibility studies have been completed to determine the
relevance of the proposals, to extend current early years education facilities at
Melcombe and Randolph Beresford schools. The proposals have been
assessed by the Childcare Programme Board in terms of quality and value for
money, and are deemed essential to meeting demand in the defined localities.

Page 68




2.1

3.2.

4.1.

4.2.

4.3.

4.4.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That approval be given to the investment of up to £980,000 of Dedicated
Schools Grant (DSG) to create an additional 126, 15-hour places at Randolph
Beresford and Melcombe schools from autumn 2016.

REASONS FOR DECISION

The Council has a statutory responsibility to ensure that families have access to
sufficient places to meet local demand for Nursery provision. This proposal will
enable the Council increase the capacity for 2 year old provision in Wormholt &
White City and Fulham Reach wards by an additional 126 places to meet the
demand as indicated by the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) list.

The additional provision in these two settings will also contribute to the
Council’'s wider strategic plan for integrated childcare within Children’s Centres
in the borough, which provide a holistic framework of support to families.

PROPOSAL AND ISSUES

Randolph Beresford is a Nursery School and Children's Centre based on the
White City Estate and is in Wormholt and White City ward. The school is rated
“‘Outstanding” by Ofsted. The school currently draws its nursery children
overwhelmingly from the ward in which it is situated. From the DWP list, there
are currently 110 families with children who are entitled to the 2yo offer in this
particular ward yet only 40 places are available. There is therefore a shortfall of
70 places. Currently 77 (66%) of the nursery year intake at Randolph
Beresford qualify for free school meals.

The school currently has 120 full time places for 3 and 4 year old children. The
new space being created as a result of this capital investment will create up to
35 additional full time equivalent (FTE) places (70 part-time places) for 2 year
olds. This will significantly increase service provision across the borough and
address the potential shortfall of places in this particular locality.

Randolph Beresford School also has the potential, within the council’s
Children’s Centre strategy, to remain a key site for the provision of integrated
Early Years services, Family Support and Early Help services serving the north
of the borough.

Melcombe Primary School is situated in Fulham Reach ward. The school draws
its nursery children mainly from the ward in which it is situated. The number of
eligible families in this ward on the current DWP list is 15. However there is
clear unmet demand for 2 year old places in the areas of Fulham Broadway
and Hammersmith Broadway with the number of eligible families in those areas
being 38 and 45 respectively. There are currently only 30 children making use
of the provision across these two wards and both the Council and the Head of

Page 69



4.5.

4.6.

4.7.

4.8.

4.9.

4.10.

4.11.

the Children’s Centre at Melcombe are confident of sufficient demand through
the identification of eligible children which the Centre has conducted.

The School is rated “Outstanding” by Ofsted and the Children’s Centre is rated
as “Good”. It has a 60-place Nursery and 26 places in Reception. There is a
high proportion of children with English as an Additional Language on the
school roll and 11 of the current nursery children (22%) qualify for free school
meals.

The School also hosts a Children’s Centre on the school site and has a close
working relationship with the Head of the Centre who forms part of the school
leadership team. The school has recently established the provision of extended
school childcare from 8am to 6pm in partnership with a private provider, which
includes provision for its nursery age children.

Melcombe School also has the potential, within the council’s Children’s Centre
strategy, to remain a key site for the provision of integrated Early Years
services, Family Support and Early Help services serving the south of the
Borough.

Both these proposals have been evaluated by the Childcare Programme Board
as favourable settings for capital investment, based on an analysis of local
demand and cost effectiveness.

Randolph Beresford Nursery School

The investment at Randolph Beresford Nursery School will create a new play
Room adjoining the existing Nursery area, relocate the current staff room into the
extension building additional children’s toilets and hand basins and require some
refurbishment to the outside play space.

The total capital investment for the scheme is in the region of £262,300, but
agreement is sought at this stage for a budget of up to £300,000. This will be
funded through DSG funding as agreed through with Schools Forum. This figure
is based on a feasibility study completed by 3BM with a breakdown of costs as
attached.

Melcombe Primary School

The feasibility report for this site considered two options. The recommended
option creates a new building housing the under-twos playroom and immediate
support services in the space which exists on site between the current Children’s
Centre and the school-keeper’s house, with adaptation of the spaces within the
school-keeper’s house for relocation of support facilities. This would place the
provision at some distance from the nursery but have the advantage of being
within close proximity of the Children’s Centre. This option requires a capital
investment of £680,000 and this includes refurbishment of the current Children’s
Centre.

Page 70



4.12.

5.1.

5.2.

5.3.

5.4.

5.5.

5.6.

5.7.

The Director of Finance has confirmed budget availability for both schemes,
subject to a repurposing of revenue funds for capital use, which is acceptable
under DfE grant regulations.

OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS

Randolph Beresford Nursery School

Randolph Beresford is in an area with both high levels of demand and significant
levels of deprivation with 66% of nursery-age children entitled to free school
meals.

The setting already possesses the standard environment in terms of access to
outside space, provision of suitable toilet and changing facilities and proximity to
nursery provision to ensure ease of transition for children.

3BM have visited and measured the new space which is 127 m?. This area will
accommodate 35 FTE spaces providing placements for up to 70 children under
the 15-hour, 2 year old provision. This will fully deliver the additional capacity
required to meet demand in that ward. The investment cost pro-rata equates to
an investment of £4,285 per child by the Council.

The only other potential provision in that locality that could offer the same volume
of places would be through Ark Swift. However the added value of the Randolph
Beresford setting is that through this investment and its current childcare
infrastructure, the setting can contribute toward the wider strategic plan for that
part of the borough.

Melcombe Primary School

3BM have visited and assessed the feasibility of the proposed space. The
recommended option will allow for 28 FTE places providing for 56 children.

Developing a targeted 2 year old provision at the School will provide opportunities
to support children and families from an early stage. Proximity to the onsite
Children's Centre is of primary importance as these are vulnerable children who
will benefit from the integrated wrap-around support provided. This location will
maximise the opportunity for engaging with. The Children’s Centre will offer
additional support to those families through Family Support, Pathways to
Employment and early learning opportunities, all crucial to enable children and
families to be school ready and meet their full potential.

Furthermore, this proposal has the added value of increasing the capacity of the

Children's Centre, which will enable the provision to benefit a greater number of
families in the area.

Page 71



6.1.

7.1.

8.2.

8.3.

9.2.

9.3.

11.

111

CONSULTATION

No formal consultation is required on these proposals. The two headteachers
have consulted with their governing bodies during the preparation of the
proposals.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

An Equality Impact Assessment is not required for these capital works. However,
these developments will bring benefits to communities in deprived areas of the
borough.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no legal implications likely to arise from the approval of the increased
capacity in both Schools because by so doing, the Council will be complying with
its statutory duty to ensure access to such provision within the borough.

As the value of the proposed building works is below the European Union (EU)
threshold for the application of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, there is no
need to run a regulated procurement but the publication requirements for below
threshold procurements should be complied with. Further the provisions of the
Council’'s Contract Standing Orders, particularly Table 11.2, prescribing the use
of the 3BM contract for works to educational buildings below the EU threshold
should be followed when awarding the works contract.

Implications verified/completed by: (Tolu Akinosun, Senior Solicitor (Contracts),
Tel: 020 8753 2136 )

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

The capital investment for both schemes will be met in full from a combination of
the remaining balance of the 2yo capital grant and the DSG. As the 2yo capital
grant has not been able to fund all of the capital works required to offer additional
places, the DfE has approved the use of the DSG to top-up the funds available.

The additional 2yo places that will be generated by these projects will be funded
by the DSG.

Implications verified/completed by: Tim Raven, Business Partner, 020 7641 6094.

IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS
The location of the settings for investment , have been considered in relation to

other services for 2yos in the locality. It is considered that due to the current
under capacity in these areas, the creation of additional spaces from this

Page 72



12.

12.1

12.2

13.

13.1

13.2

13.3

13.2

proposal will not have a detrimental effect on existing childcare businesses in this
area.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Children’s Services department will continue to be responsible for the
management of risks relating to this project. 3BM will be required to project
manage risk and report to the department where significant risks emerge or are
recognised at any stage of the process. Market Testing risk, delivering highest
guality services are the best possible value to the local taxpayer is recognised
on the council’'s Shared Services Risk Register, risk 4.

Implications verified by: Michael Sloniowski, Shared Services Risk Manager,
telephone 020 8753 2587

COMMERCIAL AND PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS
There are no immediate procurement implications arising from this report.

Should the investment for the two schools be approved, the financial value of the
required works is below the EU threshold of £4,104,394 that would require a
regulated competition under the Public Contracts Regulations. Furthermore,
should either the Council or Melcombe school and/or Randolph Beresford school
wish to commission 3BM to project manage the procurement and/or the
construction of the works at the schools, this is provided under the Official
Journal of the EU notice placed by the Council when creating 3BM.

If Hammersmith & Fulham Council acts as the contracting authority for the
works, under changes to the Council’'s Contracts Standing Orders that come into
effect after 4™ July the strategy for the procurement of these works will need to
be approved by full Cabinet before it commences.

Implications completed by John Francis, Interim Head of H&F Procurement (job-
share) 020 8753 2582.

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT

No. | Description of Name/Ext of holder of | Department/

Background Papers file/copy Location

None

LIST OF APPENDICES: None

Page 73



Agenda Item 10

London Borough of Hammersmith &

Fulham h&/f.\//

CABINET

hammersmith & fulham

4 JULY 2016

SOCIAL CARE CASE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM CONTRACT

Report of the Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care: Councilor
Vivienne Lukey and the Cabinet Member for Children and Education: Councilor
Sue Macmillan

Open Report

A separate report on the exempt part of the Cabinet agenda provides exempt financial
information.

Classification - For Decision

Key Decision: YES

Wards Affected: ALL

Accountable Director: Rachel Wigley, Deputy Director and Director of Finance &
Resources, Adult Social Care and Health

Report Author: Marc Cohen, ASC IT Contact Details:
Programme Manager Tel: 075 2501 7569
E-mail: mcohen@westminster.gov.uk

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. Hammersmith & Fulham’s (H&F) contracts for the current Social Care
record system (Frameworki and the People First Website) expire on 16
January 2017.

To preserve continuity of service we are seeking approval to extend the
existing Hammersmith and Fulham Bridge Partnership contract with
Servelec Corelogic Limited, the existing supplier, for a further three year
term, with a break clause after 2 years.

1.2. We are also seeking approval for Adult Services, on the delegated
authority of the Cabinet Member, to upgrade Frameworki to Mosaic (next
generation product), subject to a detailed review of this product and a
clear business case outlining the benefits arising from an upgrade.

Page 74



2.1

2.2.

2.3.

3.2.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That approval be given to extend the existing service arrangements
with Servelec Corelogic Limited for provision of social care systems;
and that this service continuity be achieved by:

i) novating the existing contacts held by HFBP on the Council’s
behalf to H&F when the Hammersmith and Fulham Bridge
Partnership (HFBP) ceases to exist after 31st October 2016 , and

i) upon expiry of the contracts referred to in 2.1 further contract with
Servelec Corelogic for a Children’s and Adults social care system
from 17th January 2017, with directly awarded contracts between
Corelogic and the Council.

Such contracts to be on the same terms as the existing contracts. Such
contracts to be for a term until 16 January 2020, with a two-year break
clause.

That approval be delegated to the Cabinet Member for Health and Adult
Social Care on the decision to upgrade to Mosaic; this decision will take
place after a more detailed review to ensure Mosaic can meet our digital
ambitions.

That approval be given for the release of capital funds up to the sum of
£200,000 from the 2016/17 investment programmes for Adult Social Care
(ASC) to fund the upgrade of Frameworki to Mosaic should the decision
be made by the Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care to
upgrade to Mosaic.

REASONS FOR DECISION

It is necessary to extend provision of the Social Care case management
and Finance system, which also includes the People First website
(http://www.peoplefirstinfo.org.uk). Significant new investment and time
would be required to implement a different system.

Renewed provision will provide continuity and allow us to continue
building on the good work done on:

A. Health Integration

B. Meeting Care Act compliance and business transformation
initiatives

C. Sharing of data with the NHS through the Child Protection-
Information Sharing initiative

D. Whole Systems Integration

E. Preserve the interface with Agresso for processing payments
relating to service provision.

Page 75



4.1.

4.2.

4.3.

4.4.

4.5.

5.1.

5.2.

BACKGROUND

Frameworki is the primary social care records system used in Social
Care.

It is used by all three boroughs in Adult Social Care and is the main
business system, driving payments and income collection through an
interface into Agresso and links to the electronic home care monitoring
system. It is integral to the ambitions to deliver One ASC. It is also
used by Children’s Services (CHS) in H&F and in Westminster City
Council (WCC).

Frameworki is provided by third-party supplier Servelec Corelogic
Limited (“Corelogic”). Each of the three boroughs have separately
called off services from a Framework set up for this purpose, they have
separate but substantially identical contracts in nature.

HFBP on behalf of the Council, entered into an agreement for the
supply of the hosted Frameworki with Corelogic on the basis that “the
[Framework] Agreement should apply between them, and that HFBP
shall be entitled to call off Contracts under the [Framework] Agreement,
as if HFBP were a Participating Authority under the [Framework]
Agreement.” The agreement provides that HFBP shall have the option
to extend for period of at least 1 year to the maximum contract duration
allowed under the Framework of 10 years.

The Framework Agreement was for a four year term and expired on
20th December 2015. The Framework Agreement provides that the
duration of a call off contract shall not exceed ten (10) years from the
commencement of the call off contract. It should be noted that there is
a contradictory provision in the call off terms and conditions (included
within the Framework) which states that call off contract shall be for a
term of 4 years, with no express provisions for extension.

PROPOSAL AND ISSUES

The contracts with HFBP do not amount to a compliant contracting
authority. To award a further period direct to the Council or to extend
and novate the contract does not amount to a publicly procured
contract and is subject to risk of challenge.

Although there is some ambiguity within the original contract
documentation, Westminster City Council and the Royal Borough of
Kensington and Chelsea, having considered the service requirements,
risks and mitigation, will be extending their current contracts for a
further 3 years, with a break clause in the 2" year.

On this basis there is a service imperative for ASC and CHS to have a tri-
borough and bi-borough operating system there is a clear and justifiable

Page 76



5.3.

6.1.

6.2.

reason for H&F to extend our existing arrangements for the same period
as the RBKC and WCC extensions.

The approach being proposed carries a degree of risk as there is
ambiguity as to whether RBKC and WCC can extend their existing
contracts. If this were to be successfully challenged, the justifiable
argument being made by H&F would fall away. Officers believe the risk
of challenge is relatively low. However, if a challenge was to be made,
the risk of that being successful would be relatively high. The
mitigation plan below significantly reduces the impact of a successful
challenge.

OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS

Option 1: Direct award under the Crown Commercial Service
(CCS) framework contract for Local Authority Software
Applications (LASA) Framework agreement RM1059

This option has advantages and offers the lowest legal and procurement
risk. However should this option result in a new supplier being appointed
there would be insufficient time for the required handover period and
there is a strong possibility that both ASC and CHS would be without an
operating system during the migration and implementation phase,
possibly up to 18 months.

This would put continuity of service in jeopardy and as a consequence
this is an unacceptable risk.

Option 2: Extend current arrangements in RBKC and WCC and
directly award a contract in Hammersmith and Fulham for three
years and put appropriate mitigation in place

We consider this as the most appropriate option as it provides the
greatest assurance around service continuity.

This would see the Council extend contracts with Servelec Corelogic
Limited. As the financial value of these new interim contracts would be
above the £164k EU threshold, a Prior Information Notice (PIN) would be
posted in OJEU to publicly signal the councils’ intention to run a fully
regulated competition and facilitate pre-procurement dialogue with
interested parties in the market on how a new package/solution could be
tendered and priced for.

The risk is that this approach breaches the Public Contracts Regulations
(PCRs) and could result in a legal challenge to the direct awards. If this
were to occur, the impact would be serious but mitigated by the issuing of
the Prior Information Notice.

Page 77



7.1.

7.2

7.3.

7.4.

7.5.

7.6.

8.1.

8.2.

8.3.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

This report refers to the extension of service provision Frameworki and
the People First Website, which are provided under contract by the
Council’s current outsourced ICT provider HFBP. In order to extend
service provision, it will be necessary for LBHF to enter into
agreements with the company now known as Servelec Corelogic
Limited (Corelogic).

Service is provided under contracts called-off from a Westminster City
Council framework procurement that has now expired. It is to be noted
that HFBP is not a contracting authority and as such the call-off
contracts do not have the benefit of the OJEU notice originally issued
by that Council.

Such agreement whether by novation of the terms or by issue of new
contracts on the same terms as current service provision, where such
agreement is of a value above the EU procurement threshold
(£164,176.00) poses a risk of challenge to LBHF as such some
ordinarily requires compliance with the full regime of the Public
Contracts Regulations 2015 (the regulations).

On a strict interpretation of EU procurement rules this would require
H&F to carry out a new competitive procurement process. It should be
noted that as the Framework expired in December 2015 it is not
possible for H&F to directly call off from the Framework. Novating and
extending or awarding further contracts to Corelogic does therefore
carry the risk of procurement challenges under the regulations.

It is noted that service continuity is required for the carrying on of
Council business which relates to statutory functions relating to Adult
and Children services. In order to mitigate a challenge (although it will
not function to justify such awards as described in the report), LBHF
should ensure that a valid procurement process is undertaken
forthwith, which is noted in paragraph 6.1.

The recommendations of the report amount to a waiver of the Council’s
standing orders.

Legal Implications provided by Jonathan Miller, Shared Legal Services,

077 7933 3041

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

As set out in the exempt report on the exempt Cabinet agenda.
As set out in the exempt report on the exempt Cabinet agenda.

The capital costs of £200,000 for upgrading Frameworki in ASC will be
met from the Community Capacity Grant.

Page 78



8.4.

9.1.

9.2.

9.3.

9.4.

9.5.

The extension can be contained within existing budgets. Savings of
£1.8m have already been made in ASC budgets. The possible upgrade
to Mosaic will enable the workload to be managed within the reduced
staffing resources.

Financial Implications provided by Rachel Wigley, Deputy Executive
Director and Director of Finance & Resources, Adult Social Care and
Health, Telephone No: 020 7361 2312; and Dave McNamara, Director of
Finance and Resources, Children's Social Care, Telephone No. 020
7361 2296.

PROCUREMENT & COMMERCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Cabinet will be aware from previous reports of the major ICT transition
programme facing the Council when the HFBP ceases to exists after
31° October 2016, and of the need to ensure important service
continuity whilst also trying to remain compliant with public
procurement regulations. Cabinet will also be aware from previous
Legal opinion — repeated in this report — that where HFBP contracts
novate to back to H&F, and the financial values of these contracts are
above the EU threshold of £164,176 (which the Servelec Corelogic
contracts for frameworki will be over a three year period), these
contracts will be deemed to be direct awards and could increase the
possibility of a successful legal challenge.

Whilst this situation is not ideal, the Council has to address serious
issues of service continuity — an acknowledged major strategic risk. All
of the procurement options mentioned in this report carry risks, and
whilst these cannot be removed, it is important that a balanced
approach to them is taken.

Frameworki system continuity is critical to maintaining and supporting
essential front line services to vulnerable adults and children; including,
amongst other things, their safeguarding and the recording of statutory
assessments. Failure to maintain this business-critical system and its
potential consequences for vulnerable residents, many of whom have
high levels of dependency upon efficient delivery of Council care
services, arguably carries a far higher risk exposure than a potential
challenge being brought under the EU procurement rules.

It is difficult to quantify the likelihood of a procurement challenge being
made following a direct award to Servelec Corelogic in January 2017. If
a challenge is brought and the court rules against the council, the
Judge could declare the contract “ineffective” (i.e. the Council would
not have one), or shorten it; impose costs and fines; and order the
Council to pay damages for loss of profit to the company bringing the
action.

The service departments believe that the time needed to not only
procure but also decommission existing systems, install, integrate and
roll-out a new social care ICT system will take at least two, possibly

Page 79



9.6.

9.7.

9.8.

10.

10.1.

10.2.

10.3.

three years. With service continuity to vulnerable residents paramount
during this period, the risk of legal challenge therefore needs to be
carefully managed and mitigated.

In these circumstances, the Interim Head of Procurement supports the
report’s recommendations, and further recommends that a Prior
Information Notice (PIN) should be placed that publicly:

a)

b)

states the council will shortly be reviewing its future strategic needs
for ICT social care management;

invites interested organisations to register their interest with the
Council so that they can engage in pre-procurement dialogue with
commissioners, as part of this review, on what shape a new system
and contract should take in order to meet service user and H&F
requirements, and, be commercially viable and sustainable for the
provider;

states the Council will be commencing a regulated public procurement
exercise once this review and market consultation has been
completed, and includes an outline indicative timetable for
undertaking the review, market consultation, and subsequent

procurement.

The placing of a PIN will not remove the risk of a challenge. However, it
should help to significantly reduce the risk of one being brought. In the
circumstances just described, it would seem a somewhat perverse
commercial judgement to bring a challenge when the offer of dialogue
to help inform a new forthcoming contract and business opportunity is
on the table.

Where it wishes to, Cabinet can under the Council’s Contracts
Standing Orders grant prior approval on the delegation of contract
award and/or contract extension decisions to the relevant Cabinet
Member(s) up to £1,000,000.

Comments provided by John Francis, Interim Head of Procurement (job

share) 020-8753-2582.

INFORMATION, COMMUNICATIONS AND TECHNOLOCGY (ICT)
IMPLICATIONS

This is a complex decision involving trade-offs and risks.

ASC have an ambitious plan to implement sector-leading new ways of
working and realise significant savings across all three councils.
Information and technology — and this system — will be the foundation
for the rest of the ASC transformation making it crucial to ‘get right’.

There are a number of key considerations for the department (and the

three councils) as they put this essential foundation in place. These are
set out below:

Page 80



10.4.

10.5.

10.6.

Speed and pace versus haste: This key consideration is around time
risk and whether to:

e slow down the system upgrade to ensure that the
foundation is right (and that it will be possible to meet future
ambitions at pace moving forward), or

e avoid delay now and progress the system upgrade with
haste (accepting the risk that the foundation may not be fit
for purpose).

Change and evolution, adapting at pace: Expectations are changing
ever quicker. Apps are increasingly the norm, and we expect them to
change and evolve on an almost weekly basis. The supplier of the
social care system will need to be able to meet those evolving business
and user needs and support a business model where services are
delivered and managed through an eco-system of providers, and an
eco-system of apps. Servelec CoreLogic have not supported app
integration with their core system, limiting our ability to deliver mobile
working apps. Other approaches and solutions may be more agile and
better suited to the likely pace of change that will be needed.

ICT Strategy: The councils have a shared ICT strategy to consolidate
and rationalise systems to reduce costs, and simplify information
sharing across the organisations and with partners. The key
consideration for the councils and departments is not whether to
extend Framework-I (that case is clear) but rather whether to proceed
at pace with the upgrade to enable further service transformation in
ASC or whether to look for further alignment opportunities across social
care and health (taking account of both internal and external
integrations etc.).

Implications completed by: Ed Garcez, Chief Information Officer, 0208
753 2900

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000; LIST OF BACKGROUND
PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT: None

Page 81



Agenda Item 11

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham

haf g
CABINET hammersmith & fulham

4 JULY 2016

DIRECT AWARD OF A CONTRACT FOR A LEARNING DISABILITY (LD) SERVICE
AND EARLY TERMINATION OF THE CONTRACT FOR A LD SERVICE

Report of the Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care : Councillor
Vivienne Lukey

Open Report

Classification - For Decision

Key Decision: YES

Wards Affected: All

Accountable Director: Mike Boyle, Director of Strategic Commissioning and Enterprise
Adult Social Care and Health

Report Author: Contact Details:

David Goulding, Supplier Relationship Tel: 020 8753 5070

Manager E-mail: David.Goulding@Ibhf.gov.uk

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1  Adult Social Care Strategic Commissioning and Enterprise is in the process of
developing a procurement strategy for services for people with learning
disabilities across the three boroughs. The proposed procurement strategy will
be outlined in a separate paper. The aim of the new strategy is to improve
outcomes for customers by increasing choice and control through personalised
services and will include the option for customers to use Individual Service Funds
as a mechanism to purchase some or all of their care and support.

1.2  This report requests approval to waive the H&F Contract Standing Orders to
allow the direct award of one contract to an existing provider.

1.3  The direct award of one contract will help provide market stability and the

opportunity for market development prior to the implementation of the
procurement strategy and would allow for a phased introduction of a proposed

Page 82



mailto:David.Goulding@lbhf.gov.uk

1.4

2.1

2.2

2.3

new model for learning disability services between 1% April 2017 and 30™ June
2017.

This report requests approval to invoke the break clause in one contract to affect
an early termination of one H&F supported living service in order to align the end
dates of services in the proposed procurement strategy and so allow
procurement of new services at the same time.

RECOMMENDATIONS

To note that the recommendations in this report will align the end dates for
learning disabilities accommodation services across the three boroughs to allow
for a phased introduction of a proposed new model for learning disabilities
services between 1% April 2017 and 30™ June 2017.

That in accordance with table 3.1 of the H&F Contract Standing Orders, the
Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care and the Leader of the Council
agrees to waive the H&F Contract Standing Orders to allow the contract for
learning disabilities services detailed in Table 2.3.1 to be extended to 30" June
2017 by means of direct award to the existing provider.

That in accordance with H&F Contract Standing Orders, the H&F Cabinet agree
to the direct award of a contract as detailed in Table 2.3.1

Table 2.3.1

2.4

3.2

4.1

Provider Contract Length of Value of extension
extension

Yarrow Housing 9 Homes, 43 units | 1* October 2016 - | 2,023,305
30 June 2017

That in accordance with section 20.4.10f the Contract Standing Orders H&F
Cabinet agrees to utilise the break clauses for the contract with Metropolitan
Support Trust for 12 supported living units in order to bring forward the end date
from 30" September 2017 to 30th June 2017.

REASONS FOR DECISION

Direct award of a contract for one existing service is required to provide time to
re-model and re-commission in a strategic way in line with Adult Social Care
strategic priorities in order to deliver service transformation and budget savings
from 2017-18.

The early termination of one contract allows the alignment of contract end dates
to fit with the phased start of the remodelled services .

PROPOSAL AND ISSUES

Direct award of a contract is required for one accommodation based service. The
proposal is to award a contract to the existing provider to run to 30 June 2017.

Page 83




4.2

4.3

5.2

5.3

6.1

There is provision in the current contract to extend to 31 December 2016 only.
The total core spend on this service is £2.02million per annum.

During the extension periods of contracts, Commissioners will be working with
providers around quality issues and the development of flexible support
strategies. Current provision varies in quality and an opportunity to develop
provision in line with the Care Act and the personalisation agenda will be
welcome.

Early termination of a contract is required for one supported living service. The
contract is due to end on 30 September 2017. The proposal is to bring the
contract end date forward to 30 June 2017. The total core spend on this service
Is £131,882 per annum.

OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS

Do Nothing

Failure to extend the existing service provision by way of a direct award of a
contract will not allow time to implement the Learning Disabilities Procurement
Strategy. There will be a risk to customers if alternative arrangements are not in
place before contracts end. There is a risk to the Council of operating out of
contract as the service provision will not cease with the expiration of contracts.
For this reason this option is not recommended.

Tender for New Services

Re-tendering for existing services will be contrary to the Learning Disabilities
Procurement Strategy and does not help with our duties under the Care Act to
shape the market to ensure customers have a variety of options to consider
when making up their personal support plan.

Directly Award a Contract to the Existing Provider

Direct award to the existing provider, along with bringing forward the end date of
one contract, will align the end dates of the contracts in scope. This will allow a
single procurement exercise for these services and will realise the benefit in the
savings in Procurement Team resources and attendant cost savings that running
a large procurement exercise brings. Further, a single procurement exercise will
generate great interest in the market, bringing in new providers, and could lead
to savings due to economies of scale. This is the recommended option.

CONSULTATION

There will be extensive consultation with Hammersmith and Fulham customers
and advocates regarding the Learning Disabilities Procurement Strategy. A
meeting will be held with existing contract providers for the services that are in
scope to consult on the role of strategic partners. Consultation with customers
will be undertaken in conjunction with strategic partner organisations and will
necessarily follow the establishment of strategic partners.

Page 84



7.1

7.2

8.1

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

The services included in this report are for vulnerable people with learning
disabilities. There are no negative equality implications associated with the
recommendations in this report. The requested direct award will offer service
continuity and support the improvement of services proposed in the LD
Procurement Strategy.

The proposals in this report have a positive impact on equality implications as
they are designed to facilitate the transition to new arrangements which are
contained in an accompanying Key Decision Report. The proposed new contract
arrangements in the LD Procurement Strategy will extend choice, control, quality,
community engagement and person-centred approaches, offering better
solutions in line with people’s needs, backgrounds and identity.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

Health and Social Services fall within the Light Touch Regime (LTR) under
Chapter 3, Section 7 of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (“Regulations
2015”"), as set out in Schedule 3 for contracts relating to social and other specific
services. Services subject to the LTR, with a contract value that exceeds the
current threshold of £589,148 is subject to the full requirements of Regulations
2015. The contracts for the services in this report for people with learning
difficulties fall within the LTR. The contracts that are below the LTR threshold do
not need to be advertised in accordance with Regulations 2015 as they are not
subject to the full EU procurement rules.

The relevant Council can also consider modifying contracts to extend the term
under Regulations 72(1) (b), (e) and 72(8) of Regulations 2015 so long as the
relevant requirements are met.

The recommendations in this report are to extend and or award contracts without
advertising in accordance with the relevant Council’s Contract Standing Orders,
Procurement Code and Contract Regulations (“Orders, Code or Regulations”).

A waiver is required for non-compliance with the relevant Orders, Code or
Regulations with regards to the process and advertising of the contracts prior to
award or to grant an extension. Justification for such waiver have been sought to
be explained in the body of this report. Which arise from a proposed procurement
strategy for all three borough councils that will introduce a new model for learning
disability services.

The legal implications are as follows with regards to the Yarrow Housing
Residential Care and Supported Living Block Contract.

This contract would not meet the requirements of Regulations 72(1) (b), (e) and
72(8) to allow for it to be extended by way of a modification. The
recommendation of an extension or a direct award for the value of this contract

Page 85



9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

10.

10.1

10.2

11.

111

would be at risk of challenge because its value is above the LTR threshold, so
subject to the full procurement rules. To mitigate the risk, the re-scoping of the
services for all three borough councils should be concluded to enable the
procurement exercise to commence the provision of the new services for the
award a new contract(s) at the earliest opportunity.

Legal implications comments approved by Sharon Cudjoe, Solicitor Shared Legal
Services, Tel: 020 7361 2993.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Direct award of a contract is required for one accommodation based service. The
proposal is to award a contract to the existing provider to run to 30 June 2017.
There is provision in the current contract to extend to 31 December 2016 only.
The total core spend on this service is £2.697,740 per annum. The extension
of the contract for a further 9 months will cost £2,023,305.

Early termination of a contract is required for one supported living service. The
contract is due to end on 30 September 2017. The proposal is to bring the
contract end date forward to 30 June 2017. The total core spend on this service
Is £131,882 per annum. Ending the contract early will save £32,970.

The savings to be achieved in 17/18 (approximately 10 - 12%) will be established
over the next year during the period of the learning disability strategic review.
Details will be outlined in the separate procurement strategy report. These
savings will contribute to the ASC MTFS targets / outcome based budgeting
exercises.

Both the Yarrow Housing accommodation based services and the Metropolitan
Support Trust supported living service are fully budgeted for in the ASC budget.

LBHF Finance Comments approved by Andrew Lord, Head of Strategic Planning
and Monitoring, Corporate Finance (tel: 020 8753 2531)

IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS

The Approved List could potentially promote local business opportunities for care
and support providers including small and medium enterprises.

We anticipate a number of H&F based organisations will express interest in
submitting bids when the procurement process commences. We also anticipate
that any additional support staff employed are likely to live locally.

OTHER IMPLICATIONS

Risk Management

Market testing is a key strategic risk on the Council’s Shared Services Risk

Register, risk number 4 delivering the best possible services at least cost to the
local taxpayer. Direct Awards, in this case, are being applied to align the service

Page 86



11.2

11.3

114

contracts with the Learning Disabilities Procurement Strategy thus ensuring
business continuity to the service user. Business continuity is also a key strategic
risk and the report recommendations would support that, in this case, the service
department is willing to accept the procurement risk. The Adult Social Care
Department monitors risk in accordance with corporately agreed protocols, where
risks escalate they are discussed at Senior Leadership Team level and if
necessary may inform the Shared Service Register.

Risk Management implications verified by: Michael Sloniowski, Shared Services
Risk Manager telephone 020 8753 2587.

Procurement Strategy

The contract extensions and direct contract awards detailed in this report are
essential to the Learning Disabilities Procurement Strategy. Failure to extend the
existing contracts (by extension or direct award) will not allow time to implement
the Learning Disabilities Procurement Strategy. This is because, implementation
will involve a process of market engagement, consultation, establishment of
strategic partners and establishment of an Approved List and/or Framework
Agreement. There will be a risk to customers if alternative arrangements are not
in place before contracts end. There is a risk to the Council of operating out of
contract as the service provision will not cease with the expiration of contracts.

This report seeks approval to directly award the contract for provision of
supported accommodation and provision of care in care homes to 43 H&F
residents to the existing contractor, Yarrow Housing, for a further period of nine
months on the same terms and conditions and for the same price as the existing
contract. The original contract made no provision for the extension.

Section 3 paragraph 12.3 of the Contract Standing Orders states that for
contracts of £172,514 or greater total estimated value, a minimum of five tenders
should be sought.

Section 3 paragraph 12.3 of Contract Standing Orders (CSOs) states that for
contracts with a total contract value of £100,000 the Cabinet is responsible for
award. Therefore this report will be submitted to Cabinet for approval.

Approval for a waiver of the requirement to conduct a competitive exercise is
being sought in order to directly award a contract to the existing service provider
to ensure service continuity during the time required to implement the Learning
Disabilities Procurement Strategy.

A waiver is being sought in accordance with Section 3 of the Contract Standing
Orders which states that a prior written waiver to these CSOs may be agreed by
the appropriate persons if they are satisfied that a waiver is justified because it is
in the Council’'s overall interest. There can be no waiver of the legal
requirements contained in the Regulations and where such is proposed a
justification for the recommendation and risks need to be detailed in the Cabinet
Member Report.

Page 87



115

The legal implications are set out in Section 9 above and highlights the risk to the
Council relating to this proposal. The risk of challenge is mitigated by the
following factors: direct award is only an interim measure, delay can be justified
due to the work being undertaken with Yarrow Housing as a strategic partner to
introduce Individual Service Funds; direct award has a neutral impact on service
users.

This report seeks approval to utilize the break clause in one contract for
supporting living services. There is provision within the contract for either side to
serve six-months’ notice of termination without fault. Paragraph 20.4.1 (C) of
Contract Standing Orders states where there is a requirement to prematurely terminate a
contract the decision shall be made by the Cabinet where the contract value is £100,000
or greater.

11.6 Timetable
Stage H&F
Cabinet Approval Mon 4 July

11.7

12.

Procurement Strategy Comments approved by Sherifah Scott, Head of
Procurement and Contracting, ASC (tel: 07796 313 662)

It Strategy

There are no IT systems implications for the direct award or early termination of
the contracts for the services in this report.

BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT

None.

Page 88




1.

Agenda Item 12

London Borough of Hammersmith & |

Fulham
(g \///
CABINET h E !f
4 JULY 2016 hammersmith & fulham

COMMUNITY EQUIPMENT - PROCUREMENT OF A NEW FRAMEWORK
AGREEMENT AND EXTENSION OF THE EXISTING SERVICE

Report of the Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care : Councillor
Vivienne Lukey

Open Report

A separate report on the exempt part of the Cabinet agenda provides exempt financial
information.

Classification: For Decision
Key Decision: Yes

Wards Affected: All

Accountable Officer: Liz Bruce - Executive Director of Adult Social Care & Health

Report Author: Contact Details:
Martin Nutley Tel: 07739 316661
Senior Procurement Manager Email: martin.nutley@rbkc.gov.uk

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1. This report seeks approval from the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham
(H&F) Cabinet for the following:

1.1.1. An extension of the community equipment call-off agreement for H&F of up to
six months to 30™ September 2017.

1.1.2. Approval of the procurement strategy for H&F to procure a new framework for
the supply of community equipment.

1.1.3. A waiver from the H&F standing orders £5M delegation limit (CSO 17.3.1-
17.3.3), to allow the Cabinet Member for ASC and Public Health to a) award a
new community equipment framework agreement and b) authorise H&F to call
off a call-off contract from its own framework agreement with a total estimated
contract value of up to £8M. This is an estimated spend and the framework
agreement has zero commitment that this or any expenditure will be made.

Page 89


mailto:martin.nutley@rbkc.gov.uk

1.2.

1.3.

1.4.

1.5.

1.6.

1.7.

1.8.

1.9.

The Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea (RBKC) is the Lead Contracting
Authority for the existing community equipment framework, which is currently used by
20 London Boroughs via an Access Agreement and separate call-off contracts.

The existing framework was awarded on 1% April 2010 for five years to 31%' March
2015, with an extension provision for a further two years to 31 March 2017, which
has now been utilised.

The strategy for the procurement of a Community Equipment Framework, which will
replace existing arrangements, is set out in the Appendix to this report (in the exempt
report on the exempt Cabinet agenda). The new Framework will not have been
awarded and mobilised by 1% April 2017 and therefore an extension of existing
arrangements is required.

This report also provides information related to the statutory duty on Local Authorities
to provide Community Equipment to meet eligible needs. It should be noted that
community equipment is increasingly important in terms of facilitating a range of local
and health authority objectives and strategies, as well as in making whole systems
savings. For example, community equipment is important to keep service users
independent and safe in the community, thus reducing demand for hospital-based
services (through avoiding admissions or more timely discharge), helping avoid
expensive residential care and avoiding or reducing the cost of residential care
packages.

This report sets out the framework and consortium arrangements, where RBKC is the
lead authority. Additional staff resources, that support consortium members, are
funded by member subscriptions.

The historical spend on community equipment has risen over the course of the
contract and it is predicted to continue to do so for the reasons identified in 1.5
above. Other factors include predicted demographic changes and the development of
the Community Independence Service (CIS). All these factors will increase the
demand for community equipment. However, the increasing expenditure is expected
to be off-set in other areas: by fewer residents requiring entry to residential care and
hospital and through facilitation of early hospital discharge.

Community equipment is collaboratively commissioned by H&F together with the
Hammersmith and Fulham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). The service is
managed by H&F and both H&F and the CCG currently contribute to a pooled budget
under the Section 75 Partnership Agreement.

The framework agreement will operate on a loan-based model, rather than a retail
one.

RECOMMENDATIONS

2.1. That authority be delegated to the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Public

Health to approve the extension of the contract with Medequip from 1st April 2017 to
30™ September 2017 for the provision of Community Equipment at an estimated
value of £881,000.

2.2.That the Procurement Strategy set out in the Appendix to this report (as set out in the

exempt report on the exempt Cabinet agenda), including that the London Borough of
Hammersmith and Fulham acts as the Lead Contracting Authority for the
procurement of a Framework for Community Equipment which can be accessed by all
public authorities in London.

Page 90



3.1.

3.2.

2.3. That authority be delegated to the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Public
Health to award a Framework Agreement with the successful provider for four years
from 1% October 2017, with an estimated total value of up to £170 million over the four
year term (including spend from 20 London Boroughs which are likely to access this
agreement).

2.4.That a waiver from H&F standing orders be granted and authority delegated to the
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health, the Cabinet Member for
Finance, and the Cabinet Member for Resident Satisfaction and Commercial
Revenue to award a call-off contract from the Framework Agreement to the
successful provider at an estimated annual cost of £2 million, or £8 million over the
initial four year term; and that award of the contract be contingent upon the
submission of an agreed Social Value and Local Economic Benefits Plan from the
successful contractor.

2.5.To agree that the Framework will have a duration of 4 years and call-off contracts
under the Framework will have an initial duration of 4 years, with extensions to each
call-off of up to a further 2 years being available as an optional modification permitted
by Reg. 72 (1)(a) of the Public Contracts Regulations (PCR) 2015.

REASONS FOR DECISION
The above recommendations allow H&F to:

e Extend the existing call-off contract and comply with statutory requirements to
provide home based support services, including community equipment and provide
business continuity;

e Provide an OJEU compliant procurement route to market for the supply of
community equipment;

e Increasing the delegated authority limit will reduce the project timescales and
ensure a new contract can be in place as soon as possible, thereby maintaining
competition and reducing the possibility of legal challenge;

e Awarding a new framework will provide ongoing support to the other 19 consortium
members and provide them with continuity for supply of community equipment.

The existing call-off contract will be extended under Regulation 72(1) (c) of the Public
Contracts Regulations 2015 (Further detail on this can be found in the Legal
comments in section 9.4 of this report). In the event that this is required and provided
an acceptable arrangement can be negotiated with Medequip — the exact position will
be clarified and updated by the time this is presented to Cabinet.

The financial benefits of procuring a framework, rather than H&F operating
independently to procure its own single-borough contract, include:

e The commissioning and procurement project costs will be split across all boroughs
which use the framework, leading to a saving of approximately £90,000 for H&F.

e Providers will also make savings by only needing to tender for one framework,
rather than tendering for many individual contracts and it is expected that the
providers will pass much of these savings on to H&F, as well as to other boroughs,
due to the competitive tendering process

Page 91



4.1.

4.2.

5.1.

6.1

6.2

6.3

7.1.

e By multiple boroughs using common equipment, business processes and an IT
system, as well as through economies of scale, it is expected that H&F will benefit
from savings in equipment prices, lower activity prices, and savings in IT
procurement and development.

e Facilitating different boroughs to share refurbished specialist items (“specials”),
reducing the need for H&F to buy new specials to meet service user’s needs (1,109
items, with a value of approximately £410,000, were transferred between the 20
boroughs using the existing framework in the last 2015-16 financial year).

e By working together and pooling time and resources, multiple boroughs can drive
ongoing value for money improvements with a provider much more easily than a
single borough could. For example, savings for H&F of approximately £400,000
were achieved for the period 1% April 2015 to 31 March 2017 through a joint
negotiation approach with other boroughs using the existing framework agreement.

PROPOSALS AND ISSUES

The expiry of the existing framework will leave H&F and many of the other consortium
members without access to community equipment, after 31 March 2017 (although
some members’ call-off agreements run beyond that date).

In order to address these issues, it is proposed that Cabinet should give permission to
extend the existing call-off agreement and conduct a procurement process to award
and then call off a new framework agreement for the provision of community
equipment.

OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS

An options appraisal is included within the appendix to this report (as set out in the
exempt report on the exempt Cabinet agenda).

CONSULTATION

A commissioning review was run in autumn 2015. The stakeholder consultations carried
out as part of this review included:

. An online service user survey, and service user telephone interviews

. A contract/service manager workshop

. A clinician/prescriber workshop

The aim of the commissioning review was to understand the service requirements from
2017, and to identify potential service improvements. The findings of the commissioning
review will be incorporated into the service contract and specification and other tender
documents where appropriate.

Consultation on this report is taking place with senior officers in the service areas (such
as occupational therapy). The report’s content will be updated, where appropriate, to
reflect any feedback received.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

Providers will need to supply a satisfactory equal opportunities policy as part of the
tender process. The provision of community equipment supports equality and diversity

Page 92



by assisting people with disabilities and/or illnesses to remain independent and to make
the most of life opportunities.

8. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

8.1. The financial implications of this contract extension, for a maximum period of up to 6
months, covering 1% April to 30" September 2017, are shown in the table below.

2017/18
15 April to 30™ September 2017
Revenue Implications Confirmed budget Costs of proposal
£ £

Current Budgets

Council Revenue budget 286,000

External funding sources
(Clinical Commissioning
Group) 595,258

SUB TOTAL REVENUE
BUDGET 881,258

Start-up Costs

Lifetime Costs 881,258

Close-down Costs

TOTAL REVENUE COST 881,258 881,258

SAVINGS 0

8.2. The financial implications of the new community equipment framework agreement will
be fully documented in the contract award report, which has an estimated start date of
between 1% April and 30th September 2017.

Implications verified/completed by: Andrew Lord, Head of Strategic Planning and Monitoring -
020 8753 2531

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

9.1

9.2

9.3

This report seeks approval to further extend the call-off contract under the
Framework agreement for the provision of community equipment. It also seeks
Cabinet approval of the proposed procurement strategy to enable H&F set up its
own Framework agreement for use by H&F, the Royal Borough of Kensington and
Chelsea (RBKC), Westminster City Council (WCC) and other London Boroughs
who will be specified further along in the procurement process.

The proposed extension will bring this contract within the operation of the Public
Contracts Regulations, 2015 (the Regulations), specifically, Regulation 72 (which
deals with modification of contracts during their term) and Regulation 33 (which
deals with framework agreements).

With regard to the proposed extension, to the extent that there will be no changes to
the terms of the existing call-off contract apart from the extension of its duration, the

Page 93



extension could be exempt from the need to publish and re-procure the equipment
under the provisions of Regulation 72(1)(c) of PCR 2015.

9.4  To qualify under Regulation 72(1)(c), the following criteria must be satisfied:

- the need for the extension has been brought about by circumstances which
LBHF as a diligent contracting authority, could not have foreseen (refer to
paragraph 4.3 above);

- the proposed extension does not modify the overall nature of the contract;

- the value of the proposed 6-month extension would not amount to more
than 50% of the original call-off contract.

9.5 Even if the extension does not qualify under Regulation 72(1)(a), the fact that a re-
procurement process would have commenced before the extension of the contract
would serve to greatly minimise the risk of challenge as interested Providers would
have been given an opportunity to participate in that procurement process.

9.6 The European Commission in the Recitals to the Public Contracts Directive 2014
(from which PCR 2015 derives), has expressed its willingness to look favourably on
call-off contracts which exceed the duration of a framework agreement in certain
circumstances. This has however not been tested in practice and therefore, the
proposed 4+2 year duration of the Call-off contract affords the Authorities and
prospective bidders the guarantee of a minimum 4 year term and the flexibility to
either extend the call-off contract beyond the life of the framework agreement or
not.

Implications verified/completed by: Tolu Akinosun, Senior Solicitor (Contracts). 02087532136

10. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS

10.1. The project team will investigate, together with H&F’s Planning & Growth team, ways
help local businesses and workers to benefit from this procurement. The
investigations may include:

e Setting targets for local apprenticeships and/or local employment for both the prime
contractor and any sub-contractors

e Advertising the opportunity (and/or any sub-contracting or supply opportunities) to local
suppliers and/or encouraging them to bid

Implications provided by: Antonia Hollingsworth, Principal Business Investment Officer 020
8753 1698

11. PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS

11.1. The H&F Contract Standing Orders state that for contracts over the OJEU threshold
the following procurement routes are available; the use of an existing framework
agreement; or Contract Notice to appear in the Official Journal of the European Union
and Contracts Finder. The tender process must be run through the Council's e-
tendering system. This Procurement Strategy meets the requirements set out in the

Page 94



11.2.

11.3.

11.4.

CSOs. A Prior Information Notice will be issued and the Procurement will be run
through capitalEsourcing. The Contract Notice will be published at award stage.

Section 3 of the CSOs sets out the competitive requirements for contracts above
£164,176. A waiver from the CSOs is required to allow the Council to make a direct
contract award to Medequip, the existing provider, without competition. [Please note
this report now asks for the option to extend H&F’s existing call-off contract with
Medequip under Reg.72(1)(c), rather than making a direct award to Medequip.]

The Waivers and Exemption Section of the CSO’s state that a prior written waiver to
the CSOs may be agreed by Appropriate Persons if they are satisfied that a waiver is
justified because:

e the nature of the market for the works to be carried out, or the goods to be
purchased, or the services to be provided has been investigated and is
demonstrated to be such that a departure from these CSOs is justifiable; or

e the contract is for works, goods or services that are required in circumstances of
extreme urgency that could not reasonably have been foreseen; or

e the circumstances of the proposed contract are covered by legislative exemptions;
or

e itisin the Council's overall interest; or
e there are other circumstances which are genuinely exceptional.

Officers are recommending a waiver of the CSOs as it may be in the Councils overall
interest to continue with existing arrangements until the new framework agreement is
in place. As the estimated value of the contract is £8M, approval for the waiver will be
sought from the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care and Public Health and the
Leader of the Council.

Implications verified/completed by: Sherifah Scott, Procurement & Contracts.

12.

12.1.

12.2.

12.3.

RISK MANAGEMENT

Delivery of Statutory duties are a key strategic risk as noted in the Councils Shared
Services Risk Register, risk number 8. Additionally market testing is also noted to
ensure that the best possible services are delivered at least possible cost to the
taxpayer, risk number 4. Needs and expectations delivery risks have been identified
and referred to in section 4.2 of the report. Continuity issues are being addressed as
part of the proposals such that the risk of expiry of the contract is mitigated to as low
as reasonably practicable.

As stated in section 12 of the appendix (project management - as set out in the
exempt report on the exempt Cabinet agenda), monthly highlight reports will be
produced and distributed to all participating authorities and to the steering group
members. These reports will include a section on the key risks and how these are
being managed.

Risks assessments have been carried periodically since the project started, and the
latest risk log can be found in Addendum 1 in the Appendix (as set out in the exempt
report on the exempt Cabinet agenda).

Page 95



12.4. A privacy impact assessment has been submitted for approval, some of the mitigations
to the risk of privacy (e.g. an operational information sharing agreement), will need to
be shared with all potential suppliers so they are prepared for it.

Implications verified by Michael Sloniowski, Shared Services Risk Manager, telephone
020 8753 2587.

13. LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000;
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT

None.

14. LIST OF APPENDICES:
14.1. Appendix 1: Business case and procurement strategy report (CE Service Extension

and Procurement Appendix) - Contained in the exempt report on the exempt Cabinet
agenda

Page 96



Agenda Iltem 13

London Borough of Hammersmith &

Fulham

CABINET h&f\//

hammersmith & fulham

4 JULY 2016

PUBLIC HEALTH DOMESTIC VIOLENCE PREVENTION SERVICES -
CONTRACT EXTENSIONS

Report of the Cabinet Member for Health and Adult Social Care - Councillor
Vivienne Lukey

Open Report

Classification - For Decision
Key Decision: Yes

Wards Affected: All

Accountable Director: Liz Bruce, Executive Director of Adult Social Care & Health

Report Author: Contact Details:

Eva Hrobonova, Deputy Director Email:ehrobonova@westminster.gov.uk

of Public Health, Westminster Tel: 0207 6414669

Mary Russell, Public Health Email: mrussell@westminster.gov.uk

Commissioner Tel: 0207 641 4656

Sunil Panchal, Commercial Email: spanchal@westminster.gov.uk

Contracts Manager Tel: 0207 641 4043

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

1.1 There are two bespoke domestic violence preventative services in LBHF,
funded by Public Health and contributing to the broader community safety
programme and delivery of the Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG)
Strategy 2015-18. They provide training to health professionals so they can
identify domestic violence, address the needs of survivors and their families
effectively and sensitively and promote safety and best multi-agency practice.
These are the Standing Together Children and Health Project and the Health
Advocacy Project.

1.2  The aims of the Standing Together, Children and Health Project, delivered by

Standing Together (STADV) is to train health professionals (GPs, school
nurses, A&E and sexual health practitioners) to recognise the problem and
address it appropriately including risk assessment, referral to specialist

Page 97



mailto:spanchal@westminster.gov.uk

1.3

1.4

15

2.1

2.2

domestic violence services and thereby increase the safety of survivors and
improve outcomes for families affected by domestic violence.

The purpose of the Health Advocacy project is to improve access to specialist
support services for survivors of domestic violence who have used health
services. This project is delivered by ADVANCE Advocacy Service in
Hammersmith & Fulham which is the local specialist, independent domestic
violence advisory (IDVA) service which provides crisis and ongoing advocacy
and support for women survivors of domestic violence assessed as being
‘high-risk’ of harm or of homicide.

Both STADV and ADVANCE are lead agencies in the consortium of specialist
VAWG services, the Angelou Partnership, that won the tender for VAWG
support services in Hammersmith and Fulham, Westminster and Kensington
and Chelsea in 2015.

The contracts for both services ended on 31 March 2016. Public Health has
commenced review of all their services in the light of the forthcoming budget
reduction. Both services will be included and their efficiency and effectiveness
tested against competing priorities. The services directly support the
Hammersmith and Fulham priorities around putting children and families first,
social inclusion and tackling crime and antisocial behaviour. It is
recommended these services are extended for the duration of one year plus 1
year to continue protecting some of Hammersmith & Fulham’s most
vulnerable residents without unnecessary disruption whilst future plans are
shaped.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That approval be given to a waiver in accordance with paragraph 3 of the
Contract Standing Orders to waive the requirement to seek tenders in
accordance with paragraph 11 of the Contract Standing Orders, in order to
allow LBHF to provide an extension to the contract to STADV for a further
period of two years (one year + one year) effective from 1 April 2016 to
expire on 31 March 2018 for a total contract value of £132,000.

That approval be given to a waiver in accordance with paragraph 3 of the
Contract Standing Orders to waive the requirement to seek tenders in
accordance with paragraph 11 of the Contract Standing Orders in order, to
allow LBHF to provide an extension to the contract to ADVANCE Advocacy
Service for a further period of two years (one year + one year) effective from
1 April 2016 to expire on 31 March 2018 for a total contract value of
£121,200.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS
The recommendations for the extension of the term of separate contracts to
both STADV and ADVANCE for the domestic violence services across the

borough for a period of 24 months, including extension options, with the
ability to terminate with 3 months’ notice is proposed. This will enable

Page 98



3.2

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

engagement with relevant internal and external stakeholders to continue;
align with timing for the completion of the Public Health service reviews and
smarter budgeting work; and ensure continuity of the services to train health
professionals so they can identify domestic violence, address the needs of
survivors and their families effectively and sensitively and promote safety
and best multi-agency practice.

Both services will be included and their efficiency and effectiveness tested
against competing priorities.

PROPOSAL AND ISSUES:

Domestic violence is a pattern of controlling coercive or threatening
behaviour, violence or abuse between those aged 16 or over who are or
have been intimate partners or family members regardless of gender or
sexuality. This can encompass, but is not limited to psychological, physical,
sexual, financial and emotional abuse (Home Office, 2014). Domestic
violence occurs across all of society, regardless of age, gender, race,
sexuality, or wealth. Women are more likely to experience domestic violence
than men and there is a strong correlation between domestic violence and
child abuse

Domestic Violence is a major public health issue with devastating health and
wellbeing consequences for a survivor and their family, and significant cost
to health and social care services. There is a close link between domestic
violence and adults’ and children’s safety in the short and long term. It is
estimated that domestic violence costs the health service £1.7 billion a year
with an additional £176 million in costs relating to mental health and £0.25
billion to social services (NICE, 2014).

The Public Health Outcomes Framework acknowledges that tackling
domestic abuse as a public health issue is vital for ensuring that some of
the most vulnerable people in society receive the support, understanding
and treatment they deserve. It is also the government’s strategic ambition,
as set out in ‘Call to end violence against women and girls’ (2010) and
successive action plans to do what it can to contribute to a cohesive and
comprehensive response, which includes prevention, support for survivors
and holding perpetrators to account for their violence. NICE Guidance on
domestic violence published in February 2014 echo these themes.

This report seeks approval to extend the existing contracts for a further
period of 1 year plus an option to extend for a further period of 1 year, using
terms and conditions that have been approved for use, for these services
until 31st March 2018.

The risk of not approving the extension of the contracts for the provision of
these services is that a gap would result in services and training for
equipping health and social care professionals in the appropriate response
to supporting survivors of domestic violence and their families and delivery of
other elements of the multi-agency VAWG strategy might be compromised.

Page 99



5.1

5.2

OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS

Option 1: Do nothing. Do not award contracts for these services. This is not a
mandated Public Health service.

Benefits:

o There are no identified benefits of not awarding these contracts other
than take immediate financial savings.

Challenges

o The contracts end at the end of March 2016 and would result in a gap
in services and training for equipping health and social care
professionals in the appropriate response to supporting survivors of
domestic violence and their families.

o Delivery of other elements of the multiagency strategy would be
compromised.

Option 2: Extend the term of both contracts for the period of two years
(1+1 year) at the same value. This is the recommended option.

Benefits:

o Avoids disruption of existing successful and important services

o Continuity of quality provision while reducing cost and/or opportunity of
cost of re-commissioning.

o Economies of scale: the services are provided by providers who

already work in this specialist field in Hammersmith and Fulham

Challenges:
o May not present the most cost effective option

The current value of the (STADV) Children and Health Project is £66,000 per
annum, £132,000 over two years.

The current value of the Advocacy Project is £60,600 per annum, £121,200
over two years.

5.3 Option 3: Tender the Services

Benefits: None identified.

Challenges:

o Potentially lose services being provided by successful renowned local
providers who are embedded in wider VAWG service provision and
partnerships locally

o Delay and disruption to service provision

o Unable to reprocure due to the services being reviewed in 2016 17.

Page 100



o Public Health and procurement cost and opportunity cost in tendering
the services.

6 RISKS OF RECOMMENMDED OPTIONS

Issue Identified | Risk Potential | Likelihood | Mitigating Factors
Impact

Funding is not The contract Medium Low The lead commissioner
sufficient to value is that has spoken with both
cover Direct already paid to providers establishing that
Award Contract | the supplier. The there is no available uplift
Prices for this supplier may for these contracts.
period of award | request an uplift

for 2016/17
Demand and The size of the Medium Low The demographic needs of
Quality client group/ the population across the

number of people borough and trends are

accessing the understood

service increases

leading to an

increased

demand
Procurement Risk of Medium Low Both DV suppliers are
Challenge procurement specialist for this niche

challenge by a service area.

potential bidder

for such services

7.2

7.3

7.4

RISK OF PROCUREMENT CHALLENGE

The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (the Regulations) came into force at
the end of February and implement revisions to the European public
procurement regime as it applies in the UK.

The services that are the subject of this report used to be classified as “Part
B” services under the previous Regulations of 2006; this meant that they were
exempt from the requirement to tender them in accordance with those
previous regulations, provided that there was not likely to be cross-border
interest.

This distinction has now been abolished. Health and social services are now
classified as Schedule 3 services which are subject to a regime known as the
“the Light Touch Regime”, (LTR) if the value of the contract exceeds the
current threshold of £589,148.00. One of the main requirements under the
LTR is the obligation to advertise the opportunity on OJEU.

Where the authorities is at increased risk is where - the Authority propose a
direct award of more than 12 months and do nothing. The risk of challenge for
not complying with the Regulations would therefore be reduced if a shorter
contract period is proposed. However, whilst there is a potential challenge of
risk, authority officers will work develop the expertise and knowledge of a
wider supplier base to mitigate the risk of non-compliance and opportunity if

Page 101




7.5

7.6

8.1

8.2

8.3

9.1

9.2

9.3

this service is to be re-tendered after the 2 year period. The long term
implications to these services are not known at this moment in time as the
removal of the Public Health ring fenced grant in 2018 and strategic
stakeholder input may perhaps indicate another department lead for these
services provision.

Overall, despite this risk of challenge, it is considered in the best interest of
the authorities to proceed with a direct award of contracts, and that there are
exceptional circumstances to suggest that the appropriate waivers /
exemptions from tendering should be granted.

Risk implications verified by Michael Sloniowoski, Shared Services Risk
Manager Telephone 0208 753 2587.

CONSULTATION

Each stage of the service review, redesign and procurement, commissioners
have fully engaged with internal and external stakeholders.

Both service providers have developed the expertise in this niche service area
which has been difficult to replicate elsewhere or to develop competition. Over
time and with investment we could develop other organisations to have the
same level of expertise and stakeholder engagement in this area of service
delivery. Option 2 avoids disruption of/gap in provision of an effective, locally
developed domestic violence services while allowing sufficient time to review,
redesign and co-commission relevant services in collaboration with strategic
stakeholders.

Cabinet Member has been consulted on continuing the services from 1st April
2016 onwards. The Cabinet Member steer was to carry on with the services
for 1 + 1 year in order for the services to be reviewed in 2016/17.

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS:

These services are designed to prevent abuse and to appropriately support
those who experience it. Domestic violence disproportionately affects women:
women are more likely than men to have experienced intimate violence
against all types of abuse. Since the age of 16, 29% of women have
experienced domestic abuse, 20% have been sexually assaulted and 19%
have experienced stalking. The equivalent figures for men are 16%, 2% and
9% respectively (HM Government, 2011).

People with long term illness or disability are more likely to be a victim of
domestic violence and stalking than those without. This does not imply
causation but highlights the need for services such as these to support all
survivors and staff to identify survivors in order to reduce health and social
inequalities.

We do not consider that there will be any adverse equality implications for

protected groups as a result of the proposals in this report. Overall the impact
on women is judged as positive as service continuity will be secured.

Page 102



9.4

10.

10.1

10.2

10.3

11

Equalities implications verified by Martin Nottage Director of Innovation and
Change Management. Telephone: 0208 753 3542.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

Health and Social Services are Schedule 3 services for the purposes of the
Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (the Regulations). Schedule 3 services
are subject to the “light touch regime” if the value of the contract exceeds the
current threshold of £589,148.00.

The domestic violence services which are the subject of this report are below
the threshold where the “light touch regime” applies. In respect of such
contracts, Part 4 of the Regulations applies. This requires that contract
opportunities should be advertised in Contracts Finder (Regulation 110)
unless the authority’s standing orders specify a higher value for
advertisement. Regulation 114 of the Regulations states that a material
failure to comply with Part 4 of the Regulations does not itself affect the
validity of a public contract. As such, the proposed contracts cannot be set
aside on the grounds of non-compliance.

Hammersmith and Fulham’s Contract Standing Orders (CSOs) require public
guotations to be obtained for contracts over £25,000 (CSO 11.2). The Cabinet
Member and Leader of the Council have power under CSO 3.1 to approve a
waiver of CSOs. Subject to approval of an extension in respect of these two
contracts, the Cabinet has power under CSO 12.3 to award the contracts.

Implications verified by: Margaret O’Connor Solicitor (Contracts), Shared
Legal Services, 020 8753 2772

FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS

Contract Prices

Service | Supplier | Annual | Contract | Contract | Total
Contract | Value Value across 2
value | o016/17 | 2017/18 |YE2rS

Children | Standing | £66,000 | £66,000 | £66,000 | £132,000

and Together

Health Against

Project Domestic

Violence
(STADV)

Advocacy | ADVANCE | £60,600 | £60,600 | £60,600 |£121,200

Project

Financial Implications verified/completed by Richard Simpson, Finance

Manager 0207 641 4073.

Page 103



12. IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS

12.1 Standing Together and ADVANCE are successful, renowned local specialist
providers who have national recognition and are based within Hammersmith
and Fulham. There are no business implications in relation to this proposed
procurement however there is considerable social value.

13. PROCUREMENT IMPLICATIONS

13.1 In line with agreed protocols for Public Health services, H&F procurement
processes have been followed. The Strategic Procurement report for Public
Health has been agreed by officers of the Contracts Approval Board, where
colleagues at Hammersmith and Fulham and Kensington and Chelsea
provided input and advice in its formulation.

Report by:

Sunil Panchal, Commercial Contracts Manager, spanchal@westminster.gov.uk,
0207 641 4043

Mary Russell, Public Health Commissioner Public Health,
mrussell@westminmster.gov.uk, 0207 641 4656

Director: Mike Robinson Director of Public Health
Deputy Director: Eva Hrobonova, Deputy Director of Public Health, Westminster

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000

BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT

No. Description of Background | Name/Ext of | Department/Location
Papers holder of file/copy
1. December 2013, The “Public| Sunil Panchal

Health Procurement Plan and

Contract Award or Extension 0207 641 4043
Report” Executive Decision
Report-published.

Page 104


mailto:spanchal@westminster.gov.uk
mailto:mrussell@westminmster.gov.uk

References:

HM Government (2010) Call to End Violence Against Women and Girls London: HM
Government.

HM Government (2011) Call to End Violence Against Women and Girls: Equality
Impact Assessment. London: HM Government.

Home Office (2014) Strengthening the Law on Domestic Abuse- a consultation.
London: Home Office

NICE (2014) Domestic Violence and Abuse: multi-agency working, NICE guidelines
(PH50) London: NICE

Standing Together (2014) Domestic Violence Factsheet. London: Standing Together

LIST OF APPENDICES:

None

Page 105



Agenda Iltem 14

London Borough of Hammersmith &

Fulham h&'ff\yl

CABINET

hammersmith & fulham

4 JULY 2016

HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM LOCAL PLAN: PROPOSED SUBMISSION

Report of the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport & Residents
Services : Councillor Wesley Harcourt

Open Report

Classification - For Decision

Key Decision: Yes

Wards Affected: All

Accountable Director: Juliemma McLoughlin, Director of Planning and
Development

Report Author: Matt Butler — Head of Policy and Contact Details:

Spatial Planning Tel: 020 (753 3493)
E-mail:
matt.butler@lbhf.gov.uk

1.1.

1.2.

2.1

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report seeks approval to the proposed submission Local Plan and
associated changes to the adopted Proposals Map with a view that public
consultation on the documents be carried out for a minimum six week period
commencing in July 2016.

The report notes that after consideration of representations received during
public consultation, the Local Plan will be submitted to the Secretary of State
along with a number of other submission documents identified in the
Regulations for independent examination expected in Spring 2017.

RECOMMENDATIONS

That endorsement be given to the proposed submission Local Plan (see
Appendix 1) and changes to the Proposals Map (see Appendix 2), with a view
that the documents and other associated submission documents required by
the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012
(‘the Regulations’) are commended to full Council for approval and made

Page 106




2.2

2.3

3.2.

3.3

4.1.

4.2.

available for a minimum 6 weeks for public consultation commencing on 22
July 2016 or as soon as possible thereafter.

That the Director of Planning and Development in consultation with the
Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport & Residents Services, is
authorised to approve any technical and other minor amendments to the
submission documents:

a) before public consultation; and

b) after, or in response to, public consultation, and before submission to the
Secretary of State for independent examination.

Following public consultation and the incorporation of any technical and other
minor amendments to the submission documents, that authority is delegated
to officers to submit the proposed submission Local Plan to the Secretary for
Examination and to take such further steps as are appropriate and in
accordance with the Council’s statutory duties.

REASONS FOR DECISION

Local planning authorities must prepare a Local Plan under the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. The National Planning Policy Framework
expects plans to be kept up to date to ensure policies remain relevant.

The council’s existing local plan documents, namely the Core Strategy and
the Development Management Local Plan were adopted in 2011 and 2013
respectively. It is considered appropriate that these are updated and
combined to create a single Local Plan for the borough.

The Town and Country Planning Regulations set out the process to be
followed in preparing a Local Plan.

PROPOSALS AND ISSUES

Local Plans were introduced under the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004. When adopted, the new Hammersmith & Fulham Local Plan will
replace the council’s existing Core Strategy and Development Management
Local Plan and will be used, together with the London Plan and any other
pertinent documents, to help shape the borough and to determine individual
planning applications and deliver sustainable regeneration.

In January 2015, the council carried out consultation on the draft Local Plan
under Regulation 18 of the Regulations . This version of the plan included
preferred policy options as well as alternatives that had been considered, but
not selected by the council. Following consideration of the representations
received during consultation and after undertaking further evidence gathering
and consideration of national and London wide policy, the draft Local Plan has
been redrafted as the proposed submission Local Plan. When this document

Page 107



4.3.

4.4.

4.5.

4.6.

4.7

4.8

4.9

is adopted it will be the overarching planning document for the borough and
will replace the Core Strategy and Development Management Local Plan.

The next stage in the Local Plan process is publication of the proposed
submission Local Plan for public consultation in July 2016, followed by
submission of the document in Spring 2017, along with any representations
received, to the Secretary of State for examination in public by an
independent Examiner (Planning Inspector). The Local Plan programme
envisages adoption of the document in Summer 2017.

The Local Plan sets out the council’s vision to see, amongst other things,
more people in decent affordable homes; a stronger local economy that
provides training and job opportunities for local people; a ‘Greener’ Borough;
and securing and promoting health facilities for residents. It contains strategic
objectives and strategic policies for the regeneration of the borough over the
next 20 years

The preparation of the document has been carried out in accordance with the
Town and Country Planning Regulations. The policies, whilst taking into
account local issues and opportunities facing the borough, are considered to
be in conformity with national and London wide policy.

The Local Plan sets out a programme for regeneration in the borough in four
identified areas, namely the White City Regeneration Area, Fulham
Regeneration Area, Hammersmith Regeneration Area and South Fulham
Riverside Regeneration Area. It includes a number of strategic site policies
and indicative targets for homes and jobs for each area. A fifth regeneration
area, namely Old Oak, now lies within the boundary of the Old Oak and Park
Royal Development Corporation (OPDC) and is subject to the Local Plan
being prepared by the OPDC. The OPDC was established in April 2015 and,
as a consequence, unlike the Core Strategy and Development Management
Local Plan, the proposed submission Local Plan includes no policies for the
part of the borough now situated within the OPDC boundary

The Local Plan also includes borough wide policies on matters such as
housing supply, with a minimum housing target of new dwellings each year ,
and affordable housing requirements including prioritising homes for local
residents. In addition, there are policies on matters such as local employment,
community facilities, open space and design and conservation. Also, the
Local Plan includes a schedule of social and physical infrastructure that will
be required to support the proposed growth.

The proposed submission Local Plan is accompanied by a schedule and
series of maps that identify the changes to the adopted Core Strategy
Proposals Map arising from the new policies and proposals .

The Local Plan has been subject to sustainability appraisal (SA) which will

accompany the proposed submission Local Plan when it is published. There
is also a report that sets out how earlier consultation has been undertaken

Page 108



4.10

5.2

6.1

6.2

7.1

and summarises the main issues raised and how these have been addressed
in the Local Plan.

The Local Plan will be supported by a Planning Guidance Supplementary
Planning Document.

OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS

The proposed submission Local Plan policies have been prepared within the
context of a number of factors. Firstly, the Local Plan cannot be seen in
isolation and its content should sit comfortably with national policy set out in
the National Planning Policy Framework and regional policy set out in the
London Plan. Secondly, the policies are drafted so as to be consistent with
corporate objectives to meet local needs and issues. In particular, policies on
the supply of affordable housing, jobs, environmental issues and health
facilities should reflect new council strategies.

The policies within the Local Plan, as well as alternatives, have been subject
to sustainability appraisal which incorporates the requirements of the
European Directive 2001/42/EC to evaluate social, environmental and
economic impacts. The policies have also been subject to equality impact
assessment. In addition, the results of public consultation have been
considered when drafting the policies.

CONSULTATION

The preparation of the proposed submission Local Plan has benefitted from
the results of two public consultation exercises carried out by the council.
Pre-Regulation 18 engagement with stakeholders, including the local
community and businesses, on issues and options for review was undertaken
from July to September 2013. Regulation 18 consultation on proposed policy
options took place from January to February 2015.

In addition, in compliance with Section 33A of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004 and Section 110 of the Localism Act 2011, the council has
co-operated with neighbouring boroughs and other authorities and agencies
when reviewing its planning policies. These authorities and agencies include
the Mayor of London and GLA associated bodies (such as Transport for
London), as well as bodies such as the Environment Agency and Historic
England.

EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

A completed Equality Impact Assessment is attached at appendix 3. There
are no significant equality implications. Through the public consultation
process, the Council will have an opportunity to consider responses submitted
by consultees and make amendments to the proposed submission Local Plan
that it considers would be appropriate and in accordance with the public
sector equality duty. Accordingly, in approving the recommendations, it is
considered that the Council will be acting in accordance with its duties under

Page 109



8.2

8.3

8.4

8.5

9.2

the Equality Act 2010 including the public sector equality duty in section 149
of the Act.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

In preparing the Local Plan, the Council must ensure that it complies with the
statutory provisions contained in the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004, the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations
2012 and the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes
Regulations 2004. In addition, the Local Plan must be in general conformity
with the London Plan and be prepared having regard to the policies in the
National Planning Policy Framework.

The proposed public consultation on the Proposed Submission Local Plan will
be carried out pursuant to the requirements contained in Regulation 19 of the
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.
Following consultation and the incorporation of technical or other minor
amendments, it is proposed that the submission Local Plan and associated
documents be publicised and submitted to the Secretary of State for
Examination.

Following that process, once adopted, the Local Plan will form part of the
statutory development plan in accordance with which applications for planning
permission must be determined by the Council unless material considerations
indicate otherwise.

Regulations 1 and 4(3)(ca) of the Local Authorities (Functions and
Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 (as amended) provides that the
approval, for the purpose of its submission to the Secretary of State for
independent examination under section 20 of the Planning and Compulsory
Purchase Act 2004, of a development plan document (e.g. the proposed
submission Local Plan) must not be the responsibility of Cabinet. Accordingly,
in accordance with the provisions of Article 4 of the Council’s Constitution, it is
considered that full Council is the appropriate decision-maker in this case.

Implications verified/completed by: Benita Edwards, Senior Project Lawyer
(Tel. 020 8753 6378).

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

The estimated cost of £10,000 for the public consultation and examination
process during 2016/17 will be funded from existing approved budget held by
Planning Division — Policy and Spatial Planning section.

Implications verified/completed by: (Gary Hannaway, Head of Finance
(Environment Services - TTS), Tel 02087536071)

Page 110



10.

10.1

11

111

11.2

IMPLICATIONS FOR BUSINESS

The Local Plan contains strategic objectives and policies that include
supporting businesses, particularly local firms and small and medium sized
enterprises; encouraging training and employment in order to reduce
polarisation and worklessness; and regenerating the most deprived parts of
the borough through the provision of homes and jobs.

OTHER IMPLICATION PARAGRAPHS

It is likely that there will be objections to some of the policies and proposals
within the Proposed Submission Local Plan, but the proposed consultation is
intended to engage all stakeholders in the plan making process. Any adverse
comments on soundness or legal compliance will be taken into account
following public consultation and when preparing for the Submission stage of
the plan making process.

Implications verified/completed by: (Trevor Harvey, Team Leader
Development Plans team, ext 3039).

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT

No. | Description of Name/Ext of | Department/
Background Papers holder of file/copy | Location
1. None

LIST OF APPENDICES:

Appendix 1: Proposed Submission Local Plan 2016
Appendix 2: Proposal Map Changes Schedule
Appendix 3: Equalities Impact Assessment (EQIA)

Page 111




Appendix 1

Proposed Submission Local Plan 2016

Cabinet 4™ July 2016

Explanatory Note:

The Proposed Submission Local Plan is accompanied by a schedule of
Proposals Map changes at appendix 2. This schedule will be consulted

on alongside the Local Plan during the Public Consultation commencing
in the Summer 2016. At the consultation stage, the schedule will include
a series of maps to further explain the proposed map changes.

Page 112



Page 113



LB Hammersmith and Fulham

T INEPOAUCTION ..o 3
2 Hammersmith and Fulham ... . e 7
3 Spatial Vision and Strategic ObJeCtiVes ..., 21
4 Delivery and Implementation ... 27
5 Regeneration Area Strate@gies ... 31
White City Regeneration Ar€a .............eoeeeeeeeeseeesseeeseesssessssesssseesssesssens 33
Hammersmith Regeneration Ar€a ... 47
Fulham Regeneration Ar€a ..o 58
South Fulham Regeneration Area ... 65
6 Borough-wide@ PONICIES ... 73
Meeting Housing Needs and AsSpirations ... 73
Local Economy and EmMPIOYMENt ... 91
Town and LOCAl CENIIES ... 97
Community Facilities, Leisure and Recreation ..., 113
Green and PUblic OPeNn SPACE ... 122
RIVEI TREMES ... 129
Design and CONSErVAtioN ... 135
Environmental Sustainability ... 156
Transport and ACCEeSSIDIIIY ... 173
7 Planning Contributions and Infrastructure ... 185
8  GHOSSANY ..o eees e et 193
O APPENAICES .........oooooeeeeeeeee oo seeeee e esees st sseee s sesese s 211
Appendix 1 - Summary of the Local Plan Sustainability Appraisal ... 211
Appendix 2 - Town and Local Centre Hierarchy ... 213
Appendix 3 - Open Space HIErarChy ......eeeeeeeeoeeeeseeeessoeeeseseeesssee 216
Appendix 4 - Nature Conservation Areas and Green Corridors ... 219
Appendix 5 - Archaeological Priority Areas ... 221
Appendix 6 - Local Plan Monitoring Indicators ... 222
Appendix 7 - Car Parking Standards ..., 230
Appendix 8 - Cycle Parking Standards ... 232

Page 114



LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Local Plan 2016 (Cabinet)

Page 115



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 3

1]

1 Introduction
Purpose of this document

1.1 This document is Hammersmith and Fulham's proposed submission Local Plan. In
accordance with Regulation 19 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning)
(England) Regulations 2012 it has been published to allow representations to be made
before the document, along with the representations, is submitted to the Secretary of State
for Examination in Public.

1.2 The document has benefited from the results of pre-Regulation 18 engagement with
stakeholders on issues and options for review undertaken from July to September 2013,
and Regulation 18 consultation undertaken in January 2015.

What is a Local Plan?

1.3 The Local Plan is a development plan document and is part of the Government’s
planning policy system introduced by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

1.4 When adopted, the Local Plan will be used, together with the London Plan (2016)(1),
to help shape the future of the borough and to determine individual planning applications
and deliver development. It will be supplemented by supplementary planning documents
(SPDs) which will need to be in conformity with the Local Plan. The Local Plan will replace
the existing Core Strategy and Development Management Local Plan.

1.5 The Local Plan will set out the council’s vision for the borough for the next 20 years,
including seeing more people in decent, affordable homes in a stronger local economy
that provides training and job opportunities for local residents. It will highlight the strategic
objectives for the borough, focusing on the key planning issues to be addressed, and
include a delivery strategy for achieving these objectives. It will identify the major
regeneration areas, including additional regeneration that would be secured in the South
Fulham Riverside area with a Crossrail 2 station at Imperial Wharf. It will allocate strategic
sites for development which are considered crucial to the achievement of the Local Plan,
including site policies for the Hammersmith Flyunder and the Imperial Gasworks National
Grid site.

1.6  The document will set out as far as practicable when, where and by whom actions
will be taken, identifying the council and its partners where relevant.

1.7  All the planning documents that the Council is producing, and their production
timeframe, are set out in the borough’s Local Development Scheme (LDS). The LDS and
all the borough’s planning documents may be viewed on the link to the Council’s website
below:

www.lbhf.gov.uk/localplan

The Local Plan's relationship with other policies and strategies

1.8 The Local Plan will build upon the existing Core Strategy and Development
Management Local Plan. Although a number of existing policies will be amended, or
replaced, many other policies will remain substantially the same as those included in the

1 Mayor of London, The London Plan: spatial development strategy for Greater London, GLA March
2016

Page 116


http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/localplan

4 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

| 1

existing Core Strategy and Development Management Local Plan. However, a major
change is the deletion of policies that are applicable to the area of the borough now included
within the boundary of the Old Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation. Since April
2015, the establishment of the OPDC, the responsibility for development plan making for
the Old Oak Regeneration Area have been taken over by the Mayor of London's Old Oak
and Park Royal Development Corporation.

1.9 With the exception of the area covered by the OPDC, the Local Plan will provide a
clear way forward for the regeneration of the borough. It will closely relate to the council’s
housing and regeneration strategies and its Corporate Plan. The policies will also reflect
effective co-operation that has taken place with strategic partners, such as the GLA,
neighbouring boroughs and Hammersmith and Fulham Clinical Commissioning Group on
cross-boundary issues.

National Policy and the London Plan

1.10 The Local Plan must be consistent with national policy, produced by the Department
for Communities and Local Government in the form of the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF)(Z), supporting Guidance Notes and Circulars. The Local Plan also
needs to be in general conformity with regional guidance, produced by the Mayor of London
and policies set out in the London Plan (2016).

1.11  National and London policy is continually being produced and updated. As new
policies emerge, the Local Plan will need to take account of them.

Sustainability Appraisal

1.12 Development Plan Documents must be subject to a sustainability appraisal (SA)
which is an integral part of the plan preparation process. A SA involves identifying and
evaluating a plan’s impacts having regard to social, environmental and economic impacts
and helps to ensure that the plan accords with sustainable development principles.
Sustainability appraisal incorporates the requirements of the European Directive 2001/42/EC
on the ‘assessment of effects of certain plans and programmes on the environment’ (SEA
Directive).

1.13 Appendix 1 of this proposed submission Local Plan provides a summary of the
findings of the SA. The full SA is published separately as a supporting background
document.

What happens next?

1.14 The Council will consider the representations received on the proposed submission
Local Plan and on the sustainability appraisal and will forward these to the Secretary of
State together with a summary of the main issues raised.

1.15 The Council will advertise the submission of the Local Plan and notify all those
who have made representations on previous consultations. There will be an Examination
in Public (EIP) chaired by an Independent Planning Inspector.

1.16  After the EIP, the Inspector will publish a report. The Council will then formally
adopt the Local Plan and revoke the existing Core strategy and Development Management
Local Plan. Adoption is scheduled for Summer 2017.

2 Communities and Local Government, National Planning Policy Framework, March 2012

Page 117



Proposed Submission Local Plan 2016 (Cabinet) LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 5

Key stages in the production of Development Plan Documents

; | | Preparaon | | Publicaion | | Conformty | | SubmitDPD s
5:;,‘::2% "\ ofDPD+ | { ofDPD | | wihlondon | foSecretary || E’fﬁ";,':'jfém

i | consultation | | s Plan of State

; i i consuftation || o P /

Final

Sustainability Appraisal i Sustainability !

] : report

!.-"-- d § o TP R S P g -'"!
i Monitoring Council . Inspector's
] report 00 adopts DPD i+ report
; P P !

Page 118



6 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Local Plan 2016 (Cabinet)

1

Page 119



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 7

2 |

2 Hammersmith and Fulham

2.1 Itis important that the strategy for the future development of Hammersmith and
Fulham is based on an understanding of the area as it is now, the challenges that need
to be addressed and the opportunities that exist. The summary below outlines the key
features of the borough and the challenges that the Local Plan seeks to address.

The Area

2.2 Hammersmith and Fulham is an inner London borough in a strategic location on the
transport routes between the City and Heathrow. The borough is oriented north-south with
most major transport links, both road and rail carrying through traffic east-west across the
borough. Some of the busiest road junctions in London are located in the borough at
Hammersmith Broadway, Shepherds Bush and at Savoy Circus and the borough suffers
disproportionately from the effects of through-traffic. However north-south transport links
are limited. The borough benefits from a long frontage along the River Thames (7km/4
miles) and from a section of the Grand Union Canal in the north of the borough which lies
within the boundary of the Old Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation. These
waterways enhance the environment and character of the borough and provide the potential
for further benefit to the borough.

2.3 Itis an area of contrasts, of wealth and poverty, and of attractive environments,
many of which are protected by conservation designations and other areas that are less
attractive and that need improvement. It has at least four distinct areas each with their
own character - Fulham, Hammersmith, Shepherds Bush and the area to the north of
Wormwood Scrubs. There are four designated regeneration areas which overlap with
these areas and which will transform much of the borough in the years ahead as new
housing, employment and supporting infrastructure is built.

2.4 The four regeneration areas in the borough, namely White City, Hammersmith Town
Centre, Earls Court and West Kensington and South Fulham Riverside, offer tremendous
opportunities for growth, in terms of new mixed tenure private and social housing and jobs,
as well as provision of supporting infrastructure. The areas are at different stages of
development and will require careful management over the next 20 years or more. Plans
for Earls Court and West Kensington as well as White City Regeneration Area are well
advanced. In all cases it will be important for the new development to meet local needs
and to integrate seamlessly with the rest of the borough and west London. A fifth area is
that covered by Old Oak Common, Hythe Road and Wormwood Scrubs. Until the
establishment of the Old Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation in April 2015, this
area fell within the local planning authority functions of Hammersmith and Fulham Council.
The area is characterised by large areas of railway infrastructure, including Cross Rail
safeguarding strategic work sites and the Car Giant dealership. Wormwood Scrubs
comprises a large area of metropolitan open land.

Population

2.5 The population of Hammersmith and Fulham has risen by over 10% from 165,242
in 2001 to 182,500 in 2011. The GLA's 2015 projections estimates the population to be

186,800. The population of the borough is relatively young and ethnically diverse. It is also
a highly mobile population with about half of all households having moved in the previous
five years. Nearly half of the population (45%) is between the ages of 20 and 40 years old

Page 120



8 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|2

which is significantly higher than in London (32%) and the rest of the country (27%). The
borough has a high proportion of single people, the fourth highest proportion (55.9%) in
London. Three in ten (29%) of all households consist of one person (Source: 2011 Census).

2.6 According to the 2015 GLA Population projections (SHLAA)(3), the borough’s
population is expected to increase by 11,895 people (6.7%) between 2011 and 2021; this
compares to a 9.1% increase in London as a whole. The further projected increase in
population between 2021 and 2031 is 8.2%; a similar level as the London average (8.3%).
While there will be growth in the borough’s population in all age groups, the main growth
will occur for people aged 85 and over. The population in that age group is expected to
increase by 2,260 by 2031, equivalent to 110%. The population aged 65 to 84 is expected
to grow by 61% during the same period, and population aged 50 to 64 to grow by 30%.
The main growth in number of households will be in ‘one person’ households (32% up to
2026), while the number of ‘couple’ households will decrease by nearly 8%.

Deprivation

Map 1 Index of Multiple Deprivation
2.7 The borough has high levels of

deprivation. According to the 2015 Indices of

LONDON BOROLGH OF
HAMMERSMITH

Deprivation, it is ranked 76th most deprived f AND FULHAM
local authority area in the country (31%in 2010 haf
and 38" in 2007) and there are significant b Dbl B3

pockets of deprivation, particularly in the north
of the borough. Eight (7%) of the borough’s

Lower Super Output Areas (LSOAs are used y & s

by the Office of National Statistics (ONS) to ; B o 28 e
identify local neighbourhoods of about 700 % £ -
households) are within the top 10% most :
deprived nationally. These areas comprise _E

major public sector housing estates: Clem
Attlee, Edward Woods, White City, Wormholt,
Charecroft and Ashcroft Square. A further 15% £ 3
of the borough’s LSOAs are in the 10-20%
worst nationally. Most of these areas are in
the north of the borough, but also extend into
parts of Hammersmith and north Fulham (see
Map 1).

2.8 Hammersmith and Fulham not only has high levels of deprivation, it is polarised
socially and economically. For example, in the last census 41.6% of household heads
classified themselves as “managers or professionals”, while more than a quarter said they
were entirely dependent on benefit. Some 23.9% of households in Hammersmith and
Fulham depend on less than £20,000 per annum compared to 27% for London and 34.9%
for Great Britain. Just under 40% of borough households have a unequivalised household
income between £20k and £50k per year and 21.3% have an income between £50k and
£80k per year. 16.2% of households have an income greater than £80k per annum; this
is equivalent to nearly 13,000 households.

3 Linked to development trajectories from the Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA)
4  CACI 2015

Page 121



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 9

2 |

2.9 Until the 1970s, social housing and council estates tended to be occupied by
households with a greater mix of incomes than is now the case. The mix of social housing
tenants has come to include proportionally more people on lower incomes, some
experiencing multiple deprivation. Approximately 53% of households living in social housing
in Hammersmith & Fulham are currently workless and dependent on benefits and they
make up the largest single group within the estimated 13,150 workless households in the
borough (2011 Census). Nearly 2,000 lone parents are dependent on out-of-work benefits
and a further 2,800 are claiming Working Tax Credit and/or Child Tax Credit benefits.

2.10 Deprivation and low household incomes also impact on health inequalities and
result in high levels of child poverty. About 20% of people are in poverty in Hammersmith
and Fulham compared to 32% of children in poverty(5). Childhood poverty in Hammersmith
and Fulham does not follow the general north-south divide, but is much more scattered
geographically across the borough. In 2012, over 7,490 children under the age of 16 were
living in families receiving means-tested benefits. In 2013 over 30% of primary school
children and 23.8% of secondary school children were entitled to free school meals in the
borough compared to national figures of 15% and 12% respectively. Further details of the
health, wellbeing and social care needs of the borough can be found in the Joint Strategic
Needs Assessment 2013/14® carried out by the council and NHS Hammersmith and
Fulham (now NHS Hammersmith & Fulham Clinical Commissioning Group).

Health

211  Among the key health issues in relation to the council’s spatial strategy is the health
and well-being of residents as well as ensuring that health care is provided to meet the
needs of local residents. Life expectancy for men in Hammersmith and Fulham is 79.7
years and for women it is 84.1 yearsm. The difference in life expectancy between affluent
and deprived areas in the borough is 7.9 years in men and 5.4 in women. In order to
improve the health of borough residents it is important that they have good access to the
appropriate facilities, including high quality specialist and emergency health care facilities.
The borough’s hospitals are a key part of the local community and the recent closure of
Hammersmith Hospital A&E and the proposed closure of Charing Cross Hospital A&E,
together with the loss of 336 acute in-patient beds are of great concern. The council is
concerned that the health needs of the increasing local population has not been adequately
assessed. Also that the groposed improvements in primary and community care and the
Out of Hospital Strategy( ) have not yet reduced demand for in-patient beds. Until there
is evidence of a reduced need for hospital beds to serve the local community, Charing
Cross Hospital should not be closed.

2.12 As part of a strategy to improve the health of the local community, it is important
that residents and workers are able to live and to participate in healthier lifestyles. Tackling
overcrowding and poor housing, improving air quality, reducing the impact of climate
change, improving access to parks and open spaces, controls on hot food takeaways and
opportunities to walk and cycle can all help to reduce health inequalities in the borough.

Children and Young People’s Plan 2008-11

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 20013/14

Public Health England - Health profiles 2012-2014

Hammersmith and Fulham CCG’s out of hospital strategy: 2014/15 progress and plans for 2015/16

Page 122

O NO O



10 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|2

Local Economy and Employment

2.13 Hammersmith and Fulham has a very successful and diverse economy and it
makes a significant contribution to the economies of London and the UK, with its
concentration of businesses, retail and tourism uses.

2.14 The borough occupies a favourable location in west London and is attractive to a
variety of businesses including foreign owned businesses. It has enjoyed significant growth
in employment and economic activity over the last three decades with the central
Hammersmith area becoming an important sub-regional location for offices. The local
economy is the 6" most competitive in the country(9 with an estimated Gross Value Added
of £8.1bn"%. There is also a strong visitor economy with 1.25 million visitors each week
to our town centres. Westfield London alone attracts approximately 600,000 visitors each
week.

2.15 The borough has developed as a centre for a range of creative and media industries,
due partly to the presence of the BBC in the White City area but also to good transport
links. The largest employers in the borough include L'Oreal Ltd, Hammersmith Hospital,
Charing Cross Hospital, Metropolitan Police, Mref Tradeco Ltd, Omni Facilities Management
and Walt Disney Co Ltd. In recent decades there has been a substantial change in the
composition of businesses with a significant decline in traditional manufacturing and
increases in retail and leisure activities as well as in emerging markets such as knowledge
based industries and life sciences. Over £2billion of public and private sector funding has
already been invested over the last five years by developers such as Imperial College who
are developing a large life sciences campus in White City.

2.16 In Hammersmith and Fulham there are 12,055 registered businesses and over
5,000 self-employed sole traders and VAT exempt enterprises. In 2014, 155 450( R people
worked in the borough. Smaller firms have become much more important to the economy
of the borough; 13.3% of employees worked in the borough’s ‘micro enterprises’ (less than
10 employees) and these make up 90% of the total enterprises of the borough. At the
other extreme, 58.4% of all employees work in large enterprises with more than 250 or
more employees, but account for 0.6% of all enterprlses(1 .In 2014, B use class property
accounted for 37% of all businesses in the borough and 33.5% of employment.

2.17 With the development of the Westfield London Shopping centre there has been
an increase in importance of the retail sector to the local economy, with Westfield London
alone providing approximately 8,000 jobs. The wholesale and retail sector is now the
largest sector in the borough with almost 22,000 people working in the sector in the
borough. This is a 49% increase from the number working in the sector 5 years ago. There
is a footfall of 1.25m per week which equals a retail spend of more than £1billion across
26 key shopping areas and high streets. Other key sectors include publishing, information
services, accommodation and food services, real estate activities, professional scientific
and technical activities, administrative and support services, property, arts and culture,
entertainment and recreational services

9 2013 Huggins Competitiveness Index

10 TBR LBHF Commissioned Report

11 LBHF Employment Study 2016

12 2011 BRES analysis, ONS

13 IDBR 2012, Location Quotients by number of enterprises

Page 123



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 11

2 |

2.18 The council is sensitive to the needs of businesses in the borough, including small
local firms. The challenge is to build upon success in delivering workspace for small and
medium enterprises and new start-ups and to continue to ensure that in addition to
protecting employment land and premises where justified there is a strong supply of new,
relevant space for small businesses. The areas that are most appropriate for growth are
those areas with high levels of public transport accessibility. In particular, new flexible
business space in the vicinity of transport nodes provide a useful means of stimulating
growth within the business community. In regeneration areas it will be important for a
balance to be made between employment and housing.

2.19 The Local Plan needs to provide the conditions for businesses to thrive to ensure
that there is a broad range of employment opportunities and for the qualifications and skills
of local people to be improved so that the levels of worklessness can be reduced. The
Local Plan aims to improve and maintain the supply of employment land, allocate
development sites to accommodate forecasted employment growth and to support the
borough’s many smaller and younger firms and highly entrepreneurial economy to develop
and remain in the borough. The Local Plan policies also need to continue to contribute to
London’s world city role.

Housing

2.20 The very high cost of private sector housing in the borough means that it is difficult
for households on low to middle incomes to access suitable housing that they can afford
in Hammersmith and Fulham. Many households cannot get suitable housing in either the
private or social housing sectors and have to move out of the borough when they no longer
want to share with others or need a larger house. This lack of affordable homes to rent or
buy for low and middle income households is a key challenge for the Local plan.

2.21  Approximately one third of Hammersmith and Fulham’s housing stock is social
rented housing (31%) compared to an average of 24.1% in London. Social rented housing
is particularly concentrated in the north of the borough, where over 40% of the housing is
in this tenure. Shared ownership and other intermediate low cost housing only makes up
1.6% of housing stock in the borough (Census 2011).

2.22 Another key challenge in relation to housing supply is overcrowding. According to
the 2011 Census 13% of dwellings are overcrowded by at least one bedroom. Private
rented and social rented households have proportionally more overcrowding (17% each)
than owner occupied households (5%). Of the council owned housing, about one third is
one bedroom accommodation and about one third is two bedroom. The Registered Provider
stock is also relatively small, with the average size of all Registered Provider stock (12,220
units)m) with 3 rooms, compared to the average for private sector dwellings of 4.2 rooms.
There are over 40 different Private Registered Providers (PRPs) with properties in the
borough but most of the PRP properties are owned by a small number of well-established
PRPs such as Notting Hill, Peabody, Guinness, Octavia and Shepherds Bush.

2.23  About two thirds of the housing stock in Hammersmith and Fulham is owned by
the private sector. About 85% of this private housing stock is over 60 years old and about
two thirds of the dwellings are in flats. Nearly one fifth of the borough’s private sector
housing does not meet the government’s decent homes standard. The decent homes
standard considers four main factors — disrepair, unfitness, modern facilities and thermal
comfort. Private rented dwellings had the highest level of unfitness (7.8%) whilst

14 LBHF Stock Condition Survey 2004. Appendix A1
Page 124



12 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|2

owner-occupied dwellings (with mortgage) showed the lowest level (2.3%). An estimated
43.6% of all unfit dwellings were private rented. Generally, unfitness is associated with
the age of the property. An estimated 89.6% of unfit dwellings date from before 191919)

2.24 The council’s housing stock is relatively old and becoming increasingly expensive
to maintain to a decent standard and very difficult to improve so that it meets residents’
expectations and their changing needs. All the council owned stock was improved to meet
the national decent homes standard but this programme did not address the fundamental
issue of an ageing housing stock that is becoming increasingly expensive to repair.

2.25 The design of the current social housing stock also makes it difficult to increase
the number of dwellings that are accessible to residents who need to use a wheelchair.
Of 508 medium-rise mansion or deck access blocks, only 85 (17%) have lift access.
Retrofitting lifts to blocks that were not designed to have such a facility is often difficult, if
not impossible, and where it is possible, the cost of installation is prohibitive. Also, access
ways into blocks and homes are not wide enough and there are often stairs and raised
thresholds which would need to be removed to allow full access

2.26 The way that public housing has been funded in the past means that new housing
built over the past 25 years or so has tended to be smaller sized units. This has meant
that overcrowding has become an issue as families grow and cannot move on to more
suitable accommodation, which can impact on the health and well-being of residents. As
a result, there is need for more family sized housing in the borough both from new and
existing demand; this also applies across low income households who wish to rent or
purchase.

2.27 The age of the borough’s housing stock also affects the energy efficiency of the
housing stock because most of the older stock is of solid wall construction and only 16%
having cavity walls. This impacts on the levels of fuel poverty in the borough with over
8,000, or nearly 11% of all households estimated to be fuel poor. Council owned housing
has higher energy and environmental performance than private sector housing. Council
housing in the Borough has an average Standard Assessment Procedure (SAP? rating of
74 as compared to a SAP rating of 53 for private sector housing in the borough 16)

2.28 In the private sector, improvements to energy efficiency will be mainly through
government legislation and initiatives, for example through the building regulations and
programmes such as RE:NEW, the Green Deal and through private investment. Planning
policies can help to ensure that new housing is built to meet higher standards of energy
efficiency and accessibility.

Town centres and local centres

2.29 The main challenge in relation to the town centres — Hammersmith, Shepherds
Bush and Fulham - is the need for their continued regeneration and better utilisation of
sites within the designated town centres. It will be important to ensure the continued
provision of a wide range of high quality retailing, services, arts, cultural and other leisure
facilities, including those that contribute to a vibrant night time economy to serve local
residents, visitors and workers.

15 H&F Housing Market Assessment
16 H&F Home Energy Conservation Act Report 2013

Page 125



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 13

2 |

2.30 There have been public realm improvements in all three town centres and others
are planned, and there is a need for regeneration to respect local context as well as provide
for further improvements to increase the vitality and quality of each centre. The economic
health varies in different parts of each town centre and specific policies and intervention

is needed to improve these areas.

2.31 There is concern that too many independent and specialist shops and services are
being displaced by retail chains and that there is little difference in offer between centres,
and common challenges which affect the town centres and other centres within the shopping
hierarchy to a greater or lesser extent include:

e pressure to change from shopping to other uses;

e increases in the numbers and clustering of betting shops and payday loan shops;

e too many vacant shops and premises and poor quality environment in some centres
and parades;

e the loss of local pubs to higher value uses;

e concern about takeaways close to schools and the potential impact on children’s
health

e underutilisation of sites and older premises; and

e the need to ensure parking policy encourages rather than deters local shopping.

Children and Young People

2.32 According to GLA projections, by 2031 the number of 4-10 year-olds (primary
sector) is predicted to rise from 13,368 to 16,208. For the age range 11-15 (secondary
sector), numbers will rise from 7,337 to 9,875. The projections clearly show that the need
for additional secondary places will increase after 2017 at a much faster rate than for
primary places. The council uses these projections to help plan future investment in new
school places. The council’s investment programme will maintain a surplus of primary
school places until 2023, however there will be a deficit in secondary provision by 2019-20
without further investment.

2.33 Additional primary school places will also be needed to support the projected
population growth resulting from proposed development, particularly in the Wood Lane
and Earls Court areas. The Council will respond to this growth by an assessment of the
capacity in existing primary schools, as well as the possible provision of new schools.

2.34 Many of the schools in the borough are built on sites with limited outdoor space
and therefore it is important to improve access to and provision of sports facilities in order
to improve health and to reduce child obesity levels.

Transport

2.35 The strategic location of the borough and its position in relation to London’s transport
network means that it suffers from some of the worst road congestion in London{!".
Congestion on north-south routes, particularly the Fulham Palace Road— Shepherds Bush
—Wood Lane—Scrubs Lane corridor is a major issue. The only alternative north-south route
in Fulham is North End Road and that is also heavily congested.

17  TfL RNPR Tech Note 3 April 2006
Page 126



14 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|2

2.36 Road traffic is one of the main causes of carbon dioxide (CO,) emissions, poor air
quality“s) and noise pollution in the borou%h. Nearly one sixth of CO, emissions in the
borough in 2011 was from road transport( ) and traffic related emissions contribute to
exceedence of air quality targets in the borough. In 2000 the whole borough was designated
an Air Quality Management Area and an Action Plan adopted with the aim of meeting the
government’s national air quality objectives for nitrogen dioxide and particulates. Exposure
to high levels of these pollutants has been shown to cause respiratory and cardiovascular
diseases. The other main cause of noise pollution and to a lesser extent air pollution is
air traffic, the flightpaths into Heathrow and its associated road traffic. Any further expansion
of capacity at Heathrow could adversely impact on borough residents through increased
surface transport congestion, as well as increased noise and air pollution.

2.37 Most of the borough has good public transport apart from pockets in the south and
particularly the north of the borough, where some borough residents have relatively poor
levels of personal accessibility. There is also overcrowding of passenger rail services,
particularly at peak times, but increasingly at other times as well. The future growth in the
demand for travel will impact on the environment of the borough, including on air quality.
The proposed HS2/Crossrail/Great Western Main Line interchange at Old Oak Common
will significantly increase public transport capacity and provide a catalyst for sustainable
development in this area.

2.38 There is also an issue with the lack of access to London Underground services for
disabled and other less mobile people. Only 5 of the 14 stations are accessible from the
street and one is accessible travelling in one direction only. The provision of a lift at
Shepherds Bush Central Line Station is particularly important in this respect, serving the
major transport interchange and Westfield shopping centre; however the council recognises
that due to financial constraints this will not be installed in the near future, but remains as
a longer term aspiration.

2.39 A specific challenge will involve ensuring that proposed growth in the borough,
especially in the regeneration areas, is adequately provided with new transport infrastructure
that adds to (and complements) existing transportation provision and accessibility, combined
with Travel Demand Management to minimise the amount of motorised traffic generated
by new development.

2.40 Although the borough has one of the highest rates of cycling in London, there are
barriers to cycling and walking at particular locations, notably the Hammersmith gyratory.

Environmental Sustainability

2.41 Environmental sutainability is a major long term challenge that needs to be
addressed in this Local Plan and in future development in Hammersmith and Fulham.
Carbon dioxide (CO,) emissions need to be reduced through a range of measures that
reduce energy consumption, decarbonise the energy supply and help move towards the
use of transport that has low/zero carbon emissions, such as the modal shift to water
transport and rail transport.

2.42 Climate change is expected to lead to more frequent extreme weather events, so
as well as reducing CO, emissions, developments need to be designed to cope with
warmer, wetter winters and hotter, drier summers. They also have to withstand potential

18 Air quality progress report and action plan review: LBHF
19 Local and Regional CO, Emissions Estimates for 2005-2006: DEFRA

Page 127



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 15

2 |

impacts such as heatwaves, droughts and flooding. The latter is of particular importance
in Hammersmith and Fulham, as much of the borough is subject to some risk of flooding,
including from surface water run-off and sewer discharge during intense storms.

2.43 Floodrisk is a challenge that needs to be addressed in this Local Plan. Flood risk
is a combination of the probability and the potential consequences of flooding from all
sources — including from rivers and the sea, directly from rainfall on the ground surface
and rising groundwater, overwhelmed sewers and drainage systems, and from reservoirs,
canals and lakes and other artificial sources. Much of Hammersmith and Fulham Borough
is affected by one or more of these potential sources of flooding. The council’s Strategic
Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA) (2015) and Surface Water Management Plan (SWMP)
(2015) identify these risks and where tidal, surface water, sewer and groundwater flooding
could occur. The extent of flood risk varies across the borough, with large parts being
classified as high to medium risk to flooding from the Thames, and at risk of elevated
groundwater with over 250 surface water flooding hotspots and over 2,000 sewer flooding
incidents recorded by Thames Water in the borough. As such, these risks need to be taken
into account when planning for development. Mitigation measures may need to be
integrated to ensure new development is protected against flood risk and to prevent any
further increase of flood risks in the borough.

2.44 Afurther serious challenge is that of air quality. The whole of the borough is an Air
Quality Management Area for Nitorgen Dioxide (N02) and particulate matter (PM10).

Page 128



16 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|2

Green and Open Space
Map 2 Open Space
2.45 The quality of the local
environment is a key issue for
many local people and businesses
and is influenced by many
factors.The borough's open
spaces and waterways give
Hammersmith and Fulham its
character and sense of place.

| & Crown copyright. All rights reserved
| L B HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM
Licence No. LAT000M9223 2010

; e T
R
2 W

2.46 Hammersmith and Fulham
has relatively little open space per
person, just 231ha of public open
space, or 1.3ha of open space per
1,000 residents(zo). It has some
fine parks which have been
awarded green flag status and is
fortunate to have a section of the
Thames which is a major linear
open space. However, in some
parts of the borough, particularly
to the east, many residents do not
have convenient access to local
parks. Additional development in
the borough will put further
pressure on the open space that
is available to local residentsand | = o VR
visitors, unless additional open | A e L ek ;
| Open space of borough importance |
space can be created as part of | g open space deficiency Bl
new developments, such as the BT T
new park at Imperial Wharf and
within the regeneration areas in general.

2.47 Parks and open spaces fulfill a number of different and sometimes potentially
conflicting roles — providing for walking and sitting, active play and recreation. Many
borough parks and open spaces are subject to nature conservation area designations.
Two parks are designated as historic parks and gardens.

2.48 Ofthe open space in the borough, just 58.6 ha, a quarter of the public open spaces,
is available as outdoor playing space. This equates to 0.34 ha of space per 1,000 residents,
which is only 14% of the national standard recommended by the National Playing Fields
Association. The difficulty of providing additional open space means that all opportunities
to increase the provision or improve access to and the quality of outdoor playing space

or other forms of sports provision need to be taken®). This means that where appropriate,
new developments will be required to provide appropriate amenity space for recreation.

20 Open Spaces and Outdoor Recreation Facilities in H&F 2006
21 Sport and physical activity strategy 2006 to 2012: LBHF

Page 129



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 17

2 |

River Thames and Canal

2.49 The River Thames was the major influence on early settlement patterns in the
borough and it remains a major asset in the environmental quality of Hammersmith and
Fulham. There are vacant and underused sites and premises along the Thames which
have significant potential for more intensive development. However, any development of
riverside sites will need to respect the unique character of the river and will need to enhance
the vitality of the riverfront whilst improving public access to the Thames for recreation
and sporting activities. The Thames Strategy Kew to Chelsea‘®® document provides detail
of the riverside environment, and the Riverside Walk Enhancement Reportm) outlines
opportunities for improvement along the river.

2.50 The Thames performs many functions, ranging from being a transport resource to
a refuge for plants and wildlife. Hammersmith and Fulham has three safeguarded wharves
in the south of the borough identified in the London Plan (2016)(24). Only one of these
wharves still uses the river for freight movements and one wharf, Hurlingham, has been
vacant since 1997 and is now safeguarded for Thames Tideway Tunnel Construction
works. The London Plan (2016) seeks to protect these wharves for cargo-handling uses
and all three wharves are designated as safeguarded wharves on the Proposals Map.
However, it is the council’s view that vacant and under-used wharves should continue to
be comprehensively assessed approximately every 5 years to determine their longer term
use by the Mayor of London. In addition, the review should look at opportunities to
consolidate wharves. A long stretch of the Thames is in the South Fulham Riverside
Regeneration Area.

2.51 The Grand Union Canal has many of the characteristics and environmental features
of the River Thames. The stretch within the borough lies within the Old Oak and Park
Royal Development Corporation area which will be subject to considerable change to
accommodate and take advantage of HS2 and Crossrail.

22 Thames Strategy - Kew to Chelsea 2002

23 Council's Riverside Walk Enhancement Report 2010

24  Mayor of London, The London Plan: spatial development strategy for Greater London, GLA March
2016

Page 130



18 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Local Plan 2016 (Cabinet)

|2

Built Heritage

Map 3 Conservation Areas

2.52 The borough’s rich and
varied townscape that is evident
today is largely a result of its
historical development. Most of
the borough’s built fabric dates
from the extensive building
programmes in the nineteenth and
early twentieth centuries and it
has maintained a much-valued
built heritage, much of which falls
within the borough’s 45
designated conservation areas
(Map 3). In many of these areas,
the street provides a sense of
scale and the setting for the
consistent terraces of uniform
architectural design(zs).

2.53 Within the borough, there
are approximately 500 statutorily
Listed Buildings and
approximately 2,150 locally
designated Buildings of Merit, as
well as a number of
archaeological priority areas and
the ancient monument of the _
Fulham Palace moated site. The | g weymant Al nghis resarved,
heritage assets make an important i bl L
contribution to the townscape

character of the borough.

2.54 The town centres at Hammersmith, Fulham and Shepherds Bush have developed
from the earliest patterns of settlement, and now have their own character and sense of
place. Their architectural and historic quality is reflected in their conservation area
designations. Historically they developed at accessible locations, an advantage that remains
today. The areas around these centres, at Fulham in the southern part of the borough,
Hammersmith in the central part, and Shepherds Bush in the northern part of the borough,
have their own character which reflects their development over time. Each of the areas
have strong, identifiable townscape characters defined by their form, grain, building typology
and architectural design. It will be important that the rich and varied character of the
borough is preserved. Any design for proposals in these areas will therefore need to be
informed and inspired by careful analysis of the character and form of the specific area in
order that it enhances the locality and respects its history.

2.55 Although some parts of the borough are very attractive, other areas are of poor
quality. The areas of poor quality often exist within the designated regeneration areas.
There is the challenge of encouraging redevelopment and regeneration in the borough

25 Background Paper: Townscape Character of Hammersmith and Fulham - March 2011

Page 131



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 19

2 |

whilst preserving and enhancing valued local character especially in the areas that are
protected by the borough’s conservation areas. The provision of green infrastructure in
regeneration schemes can help to improve the quality of the local environment.

Community and leisure facilities

2.56 Hammersmith and Fulham has a wide range of community uses, provided by the
public, private and voluntary sectors. These are located across the borough in numerous
buildings and spaces of varying quality. Although these uses are a valuable resource they
often do not work in a joined up and focused way to meet the needs of vulnerable
households.

2.57 Therefore as part of the development of area based social regeneration initiatives,
the council is assessing whether there is the opportunity to improve the quality and access
to community uses by the co-location of services. Accessible recreation facilities are very
important to local residents and workers, not only for enjoyment but because of their
contribution to improving health, particularly children’s health. In addition, recreation
facilities can provide diversionary activities and help reduce anti-social behaviour and
crime.

2.58 Hammersmith and Fulham also has a wide range of arts, cultural and entertainment
facilities which are important to both local residents and in some cases to residents of a
much wider area. These facilities enrich, educate and improve lives and add greatly to
making the borough a place where people want to live. Facilities such as the Apollo, Lyric
Theatre, Bush Theatre and the three professional football clubs are also of London-wide
significance. Pubs can also be seen to be a place of community value and provide facilities
of local importance. The challenge is to enable renovation or replacement where this is
necessary without losing the uses.

2.59 Although leisure activities bring many benefits to the local area, for example
contributing to the night time economy, enriching cultural opportunities and providing jobs,
they can in some cases cause problems for local residents. Pubs, bars and clubs that stay
open late and serve alcohol can lead to significant environmental disadvantages including
concerns over crime and disorder if not properly managed.

Page 132



20 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Local Plan 2016 (Cabinet)

|2

Page 133



Proposed Submission Local Plan 2016 (Cabinet) LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 21

3]

3 Spatial Vision and Strategic Objectives

3.1 The Local Plan spatial vision and objectives interpret the council’s corporate priorities
and those of its partners and outlines how the borough will have been transformed in 20
years' time.

Map 4 Key Diagram

\
WHITE
REGENERA‘

C
10

Yo

’
4
s’
I
’
L4 = -
‘. FULHAM REGENERﬂT{ N
’
N AREA ,
s - ! ‘
~ 5 I
: J x
> - . s, A‘ fi
~ LY 8
. +* SOUTH FULHAM
- ‘\:_ *RIVERSI ® o
=9 'a J iy |
~
5 4
-~ 4
~ i
e
w Borough boundary Opportunity Area _
-
Rail i
* Key local centres allveay staion : -
-
Major railways -
-‘5‘4 Town centres - . -
iy L ) 1 -
| Regeneration Areas e 1 =
-~ - - -
W Metropolitan Open Land S e T -
T
Areas suitable for tall buildings Major roads !
‘ (indicative) I
M RiverThames and Grand Unlon Canal ! ® Crown copyright. All rights reserved.
Proposed Crossrail station ’
hS  Proposed High Speed Rail Hub ’J L_. B. HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM
@@ Potential Flyunder Licence No. LA100019223 2014

Page 134



22 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

13

By 2035 Hammersmith and Fulham will be a key part of, and contributor to, London’s
thriving international economy and the benefits of this will be shared throughout the
borough. It will be home to centres of innovation, a skilled workforce and a growing
number of businesses and jobs providing opportunities for local people. Genuinely
affordable homes to buy and rent will have been delivered to meet local needs. The
achievements of Hammersmith and Fulham's young people will be widely celebrated
and the levels of worklessness in the borough will have significantly declined.
Hammersmith and Fulham will be the greenest borough and at the forefront of tackling
and adapting to climate change.

Building a stronger local economy

Our vision is for a borough renowned and recognised nationally and internationally
for its expertise and opportunity in the growth sector of Science, Technology,
Engineering and Maths by attracting inward investment and partnerships in the borough
with institutions such as Imperial College. Opportunities will have been taken to regain
our pre-eminent position for Culture, Media, Arts companies in the borough following
the relocation of parts of the BBC from Shepherd's Bush. We will have encouraged
inward investment, to support new enterprises and start-up businesses and to facilitate
Job growth in the local area, where all people are connected to economic opportunities
and live in strong and thriving communities.

Delivering affordable homes for local people to buy and rent

At least 19,800 additional homes will have been developed, particularly family and
affordable homes to buy or rent, that meet the needs of local people and maintain
and create more mixed and sustainable communities. Fifty per cent of the new
residential dwellings will be affordable. The new housing will be fully integrated socially,
economically and physically with the rest of the borough.

Regenerating the Borough

Growth in housing and jobs will be mainly focused in the designated regeneration
areas and the major town centres of Hammersmith and Fulham and Shepherd's Bush
Metropolitan Centre and will include additional regeneration that would be secured in
the South Fulham Riverside area, with the promotion of a Crossrail 2 station at Imperial
Wharf. The regeneration of the Old Oak Regeneration Area in the north of the borough
will have started under the guidance of the Old Oak and Park Royal Development
Corporation with phased, comprehensive mixed use development centred on the
major HS2/Crossrail and Great Western Main Line interchange. We will, in conjunction
with the GLA/TIL, have pursued options for replacing the Hammersmith Flyover and
other sections of the A4 with a tunnel ("Flyunder”) coupled with redesigning the local
road systems in order to reduce congestion and noise, improve air quality and allow
pedestrian re-connections with the river.

Our town centres and smaller local centres will be important hubs within the borough,
helping to sustain a strong, safe and prosperous borough community with fewer vacant
shops and more local control over uses such as betting shops and pay day loan shops.
Both footfall and the visitor economy will have been strengthened.

Page 135



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 23

3|

Improving local health and adult social care provision

The health and wellbeing of residents will have been improved, inequalities in health
will have reduced and there will be more opportunities for physical activity which will
have assisted in reducing childhood obesity. Healthcare will continue to be based on
specialist healthcare provided at accessible local hospitals such as Charing Cross
Hospital and a network of local health centres. The integration of services across the
health and social care sector through the Health and Wellbeing Board will support
prevention, early intervention and reduce hospital admissions.

Hammersmith and Fulham's residential neighbourhoods will house: mixed, cohesive,
more stable communities that thrive on the diversity of their population, including
different ethnic groups, faiths and sexual orientations, the young, the elderly and
disabled people. They will be green, safe, accessible areas that enable healthy and
sustainable lifestyles and foster wellbeing. Although high in density, they will excel in
the sustainable design and management of their built environment and public spaces,
with a strong focus on liveability, community safety, enhanced historic buildings and
spaces with an improved sense of place.

Delivering social and digital inclusion

Social exclusion will have been reduced as a result of the council and its partners,
including the local third sector, faith groups and businesses working together and
through the better use of resources. Digital inclusion will have been increased with
improved access to high speed internet across the borough.

Providing the best start for younger people

The standard of education in the borough’s schools will have been further improved
to ensure that local schools provide the best possible education for local children,
including those with special educational needs and disabilities. Schools will have
strong links with their local communities and will enable community use of their facilities
outside of school hours.

Ensuring a safer, greener borough

By 2035, Hammersmith and Fulham will be the greenest borough. New buildings will
be energy and resource efficient and much more of the borough's waste will be
sustainably managed and there will be increased recycling. All development in the
borough, both buildings and infrastructure will have been designed to support the
move to a low-carbon economy and take account of climate change impacts,
particularly the risk of flooding. Developments will have contributed to the concept of
a "smart city", where multiple information and communication technology (ICT) solutions
have been integrated in a secure fashion to manage the borough's assets and improve
quality of life. Sustainable Drainage Systems will be common place and major
developments in the regeneration areas will be promoted as zero carbon exemplars.

Page 136



24 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

13

By 2035, most areas of the borough will be of high environmental quality. The amount
of open space in the borough will have increased through provision in mixed use
schemes in our regeneration areas. The borough's parks and open spaces will have
benefited from improvement programmes to make them more accessible and attractive
and to improve sports and play facilities for local residents. They will be valued for
leisure, sport and recreation as well as for their contribution to the biodiversity and
health of the borough and will help to manage and adapt to climate change impacts
such as over-heating and flooding. There will also be more street trees.

New development will have created a high quality safe environment that respects and
enhances local context and the borough’s natural and built environment, including
heritage assets, such as conservation areas, listed buildings, historic parks and gardens
and archaeological priority areas. Developments along the River Thames will have
respected the special character of this waterway and will have increased both public
access and the use of the waterways, as well as enhancing biodiversity and improving
flood defences where required.

The council will have reduced road traffic generated in the borough and will have
reduced the impact of other road traffic on the local environment, particularly in terms
of air quality and noise impacts. We will have worked with partners to improve
sustainable transport in the borough, particularly north - south links, including the
opportunities for cycling and walking.

This vision will be delivered co-operatively by Hammersmith and Fulham Council and
its partners in consultation with all stakeholders and supported by the policies contained
in this Local Plan.

Page 137



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 25

3|

Strategic Objectives

3.2 The Local Plan objectives, set out below, outline how the council will encourage the
delivery of this vision for the future of the borough and address the challenges identified.
They give direction to the Local Plan policies.

Strategic Objectives

Regenerating
the borough

1. To regenerate the most deprived parts of the borough and the
designated town centres, regeneration and opportunity areas
by improving their viability and vitality and promoting a network
of supporting key local centres providing local services.

2. To ensure that regeneration in the borough benefits and
involves all sections of the community and meets the diverse
needs of residents and visitors now and in the future.

Achieving
sustainable
communities

3. To create opportunities for education, training and employment
in order to reduce polarisation and worklessness and create
more stable, mixed and balanced communities.

4. To ensure that both existing and future residents and visitors
have access to a range of high quality facilities and services,
including: health, education and training, retail, leisure, recreation,
sporting activities, arts, entertainment and other community
infrastructure, such as policing facilities and places of worship.

Delivering
affordable
homes for local
people

5. To increase the supply and choice of high quality housing and
ensure that the new housing meets local needs and aspirations,
particularly the need for affordable housing for local residents to
rent or buy and for homes for families.

6. To protect social housing, improve services for council
residents and provide more new affordable homes for local
residents to buy or rent.

Building a
stronger local
economy

7. To encourage inward investment, help foster job growth and
promote the borough’s many smaller and younger firms enabling
a highly entrepreneurial economy to develop and remain in the
borough.

8. To help advance businesses, particularly local firms and the
third sector so that they maximise job opportunities, develop
apprenticeships and recruit and maintain local people in
employment and enhance the vitality and vibrancy of high streets.

9. To protect and enhance the borough’s attractions for arts,
science and technology and creative industries.

Page 138




26

LB Hammersmith and Fulham

13

Strategic Objectives

Improving local
health and adult
social care
provision

10. To maintain and improve health care provision in the borough
and encourage and promote healthier lifestyles, for example
through better sports facilities, to reduce health inequalities.

Tackling crime
and anti-social
behaviour

11. To protect and enhance the amenity and quality of life of
residents and visitors by providing a safe, accessible and
pleasant local environment, characterised by a strong sense of
place.

12. To promote the safety and security of those who live, work
and visit Hammersmith and Fulham.

Delivering social
and digital
inclusion

13. To work with partner organisations to reduce social exclusion
and facilitate access to high Speed Internet across the borough.

Providing the
best start for
younger people

14. To ensure that the child care facilities and schools in the
borough meet the needs and aspirations of local parents and
their children.

Ensuring a
safer, greener
borough

15. To preserve and enhance the quality, character and identity
of the borough’s natural and built environment (including its
heritage assets) by respecting the local context, seeking high
quality developments and design, and ensuring compliance with
the principles of inclusive and sustainable design.

16. To protect and enhance the borough’s open green spaces
and create new parks and open spaces where there is major
regeneration, promote biodiversity and protect private gardens.

17. To increase public access and use of Hammersmith and
Fulham’s waterways as well as enhance their environment,
quality and character.

18. To reduce and mitigate the local causes of climate change,
mitigate flood risk and other impacts and support the move to a
low-carbon future.

19. To ensure the development of a safe, sustainable transport
network that includes improvements to public transport, cycling
and walking infrastructure which will improve transport
accessibility and local air quality and reduce traffic congestion
and the need to travel.

Page 139




LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 27

4 |

4 Delivery and Implementation

Delivery and implementation
The council will implement the policies and proposals of the Local Plan by:

e working with stakeholders and partner organisations through a variety of
fora and other arrangements, including resident working groups and
designated neighbourhood forums;

e preparing other Local Plan documents, supplementary planning documents,
joint Opportunity Area Planning Frameworks (OAPFs) development briefs,
master plans and best practice guidance where necessary;

e maintaining an Infrastructure Schedule (part of the Infrastructure Delivery
Plan) that identifies the infrastructure projects and programmes that seeks
to create the most benefits from development;

o utilising development management powers, including pre-application
discussions and involving partner organisations where appropriate;

e having regard to the financial viability of development in the following ways:

e plan-making;

e CIL charge-setting; and

e negotiating Section 106 Agreements (‘“106s’), including for affordable
housing.

e allocating council funding and seeking other monies for projects which
support the Local Plan; and

e preparing authority monitoring reports on an annual basis to review the
effectiveness of policies and identifying alterations where necessary.

Justification
Stakeholders and partner organisations

4.1 Responsibility for the successful implementation of the policies within the Local Plan
falls not only upon the council as local planning authority and in some cases as the land
owner or service provider, but also upon the council’s partners and other stakeholders,
including neighbouring boroughs, the Old Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation,
the GLA and other public and private sector organisations, especially with regard to strategic
matters.

4.2 Landowners and developers will be important partners in the regeneration of the
borough. Much of the land in the regeneration areas is held by private landowners and
their commitment and active involvement is required to implement the regeneration the
borough needs. There are ongoing discussions with these key landowners and stakeholders
to determine the way forward for development and the council has adopted or is preparing
area frameworks for some of the identified regeneration areas. In some cases there are
opportunities to consider joint schemes with private landowners or developers holding
adjacent or nearby sites which could involve joint ventures or special purpose vehicles,
subject to European Union procurement rules.

Page 140



28 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

| 4

4.3 An Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) has been prepared alongside the Local Plan.
The IDP sets out the borough’s key infrastructure requirements, anticipated costs and
expected delivery based upon partnership working throughout the Local Plan process.
The IDP is a ‘live’ document that the council will monitor and review on a regular basis to
reflect the current circumstances and to inform the development management process.
The Infrastructure Schedule contained in the IDP sets out an overview of the key
infrastructure requirements necessary to support regeneration in the borough.

Development Management

4.4 1t will be through development management processes, including pre-application
discussions and Resident Working Groups and designated Neighbourhood Forums that
the council will seek to implement many of the policies and proposals in the Local Plan.
The council will also consider, when appropriate, the use of compulsory purchase powers
to enable land to be developed, redeveloped or improved to help deliver regeneration.
The council will usually try to negotiate with the owner, but if the owner refuses to sell, the
council can start the process that will allow it to buy the land or property.

Provision of detailed guidance and encouraging development

4.5 The council’s pro-active planning approach to regeneration will be supported by a
number of planning documents and detailed guidance. In particular the council will prepare
other Local Plan documents, Supplementary Planning documents (SPDs), joint Opportunity
Area Planning Frameworks (OAPFs), development briefs, master plans and best practice
guidance where necessary.

4.6 More detail on each of the area planning frameworks can be found in the relevant
sections of the Local Plan and more detail on the timescale and portfolio of Local Plan
documents can be found within the council’s Local Development Scheme.

4.7 The preparation and implementation of area planning frameworks provides a focus
for discussions with the landowners and developers and with the infrastructure providers
who are key to the delivery of the council’s strategy for each area. They are also important
in explaining to local residents and other stakeholders how the strategy for their area
affects them and enables them to get involved at an early stage in the regeneration of
their area.

Viability
) (26)

4.8 With regard to viability, The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF
local planning authorities to, inter alia:

requires

e work closely with the business community to identify and address barriers to
investment, including viability (paragraph 160);

e give careful attention to viability and costs in plan-making and decision-taking
(paragraph 173);

e ensure the sites and scale of development identified in the plan should not be subject
to such a scale of obligations and policy burdens that their ability to be developed
viably is threatened (paragraph 173);

e assess the likely cumulative impacts on development in their area of all existing and
proposed local standards, SPDs and policies, when added to nationally required

26 Communities and Local Government, National Planning Policy Framework, March 2012

Page 141



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 29

4 |

standards to ensure the implementation of the plan is not put at serious risk (paragraph
174); and

e consider, where practical, working up and testing Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
charges alongside the Local Plan (paragraph 175).

4.9 The NPPG on Viability provides further detail and states that the requirement to
assess viability “should not undermine ambition for high quality design and wider social
and environmental benefit but such ambition should be tested against the realistic likelihood
of delivery” (paragraph 1).

4.10 In particular, the CIL Regulations 2010 (as amended) require charging authorities
to strike an appropriate balance between funding infrastructure and the impact on economic
viability (Regulation 14(1)) and CIL guidance elaborates further on this.

4.11 The council considers that its policies together with its CIL charges are deliverable
and allow development to be viable as defined by paragraph 173 of the NPPF, i.e. “provide
competitive returns to a willing land owner and willing developer to enable the development
to be deliverable”. The evidence for this is provided in the following documents as well as
other background reports identified in the Local Plan's Viability assessment as well as
other background reports identified in the Local Plan's Viability assessment:

e LBHF CIL Viability Study (June 2014) (Peter Brett Associates for LBHF);

e  White City Opportunity Area Development Infrastructure Funding Study (WCOA DIFS)
Original Report (September 2012) and Final Report (May 2013) (AECOM and Deloitte
for LBHF, GLA);

e  South Fulham Riverside Delivery and Infrastructure Funding Study (SFR DIFS) (March
2012) (CgMs for LBHF); and

e Earls Courtand West Kensington Opportunity Area Viability Summary (November
2011) (DVS for LBHF, RBKC, GLA).

Funding sources

4.12 The council will allocate council funding and seek monies for projects which support
the Local Plan. More detail on infrastructure funding is provided in the Infrastructure Delivery
Plan. Much of the funding will be provided through development in the borough, namely
through on-site development, the CIL and Section 106 agreements.

Monitoring

413 To enable the council to know whether the Local Plan policies and programmes
for infrastructure are achieving their objectives and targets. Alongside the Local Plan, an
IDP has been produced. This is considered to be a ‘live’ document that will be monitored
on a regular basis to address infrastructure provision and delivery. The council will monitor
policies and infrastructure delivery and prepare Authority Monitoring Reports (AMRs) on
an annual basis.

414 Section 113 of the Localism Act 2011 sets out the requirements for AMRs.
Regulation 34 of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations
2012 provides further detail on these requirements which are also reflected in the National
Planning Practice Guidance on Local Plans. The requirements are summarised here. The
AMR must:

e identify the timetable for preparation and stages reached (including adoption and
dates) for each Local Plan document or Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)

Page 142



30 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

| 4

listed in the council's Local Development Scheme (LDS), and the reasons for any
slippage in achieving the timetable;

identify the extent to which the council is, or is not, implementing policies in the Local
Plan and, where policies are not being implemented, explain the reasons why and
the steps intended to be taken to ensure that the policy is implemented;

specify the council’s progress in meeting targets for net additional dwellings or
affordable dwellings for both the period in respect of which the report is made and
the period since the policy was first published, adopted or approved;

detail any made neighbourhood development orders or neighbourhood development
plans;

contain monitoring information required by the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL)
Regulations 2010 (as amended); and

give details of what action the council has taken regarding the duty to cooperate.

415 The detailed monitoring indicators are listed in Appendix 6.

Page 143



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 31

5|

5 Regeneration Area Strategies

5.1 The section below provides detail and policies related to the parts of the borough
where the most significant growth is expected to take place.

The Council supports major regeneration and growth in the borough’s four
regeneration areas and will work with the local community and key stakeholders
to ensure that within these areas, proposals will:

e provide new exemplary sustainable communities, delivered to the highest
standards of urban design, environmental sustainability and social inclusion;

e deliver 19,800 new homes in the period up to 2035 to meet local housing
needs and enable local residents to access affordable homes to buy or rent;

o deliver 29,500 new jobs in the period up to 2035, providing a range of skills
and competencies and supported by initiatives to enable local residents to
access employment and training; and

e deliver new physical, social and environmental infrastructure that meets
the needs of new residents as well delivering tangible benefits for
surrounding communities.

5.2 The council has identified four regeneration areas (see Table 1), which are anticipated
to be the key focus for growth in the borough over the next 20 years. Please note that the
former Old Oak Regeneration Area is now within the Old Oak and park Royal Development
Corporation. Together, these four regeneration areas have the capacity to deliver
approximately 19,800 homes and 29,500 jobs within the plan period and have the potential
to tackle physical barriers and social deprivation.

Table 1 Regeneration Areas and indicative homes and jobs targets

Regeneration Area Indicative new homes | Indicative new jobs

White City Regeneration Area 6,000 10,000
(WCRA)

Hammersmith Regeneration Area 2,800 10,000
(HRA)

Fulham Regeneration Area (FRA) 7,000 9,000
South Fulham Riverside 4,000 500

Regeneration Area (SFRRA)
Total 19,800 29,500

The figures for the White City Opportunity Area and the Fulham Regeneration Area are
consistent with the London Plan 2016. In the London Plan 2016, the Earls Court & West
Kensington Opportunity Area has a minimum target of 6,500 dwellings. In the figures

Page 144



32

LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

Regeneration Area Indicative new homes | Indicative new jobs

above, 7,000 dwellings have been allocated to that part of ECWK Opportunity Area that
is within LBHF and 1000 to the area that is within RBKC.

5.3 Two of the regg2e7neration areas are designated as opportunity areas in the Mayor’s
London Plan (2016) ) The White City Regeneration Area (WCRA) covers the same area
as the White City Opportunity Area, which is identified in the Mayor’s London Plan 2016
as having the capacity for 6,000 homes and 10,000 jobs. The Fulham Regeneration Area
includes part of the Earl’s Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area, which also covers
part of the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea. The Earl’'s Court and West
Kensington Opportunity Area is identified as having the capacity for 7,500 homes and
9,500 jobs.

5.4 The regeneration areas represent an opportunity for significant new sustainable
place-making and will provide the focus for new development in the borough. For each of
the regeneration areas the council has set out the overall strategy for the area and the
proposals for sites of strategic importance. In taking forward these proposals, the council
will aim to involve all sections of the community in the development of policies and proposals
for the regeneration of the borough and in planning decisions. Development in each of the
regeneration areas will need to respect and enhance the existing townscape context and
heritage assets both within and around the area.

5.5 Afifth regeneration area, namely Old Oak, now lies within the Old Oak and Park
Royal Development Corporation (OPDC). The policies for this part of the borough are now
being prepared for by the OPDC, although the council is heavily involved in their formulation.
The OPDC's policies could result in 25,500 new homes being built and the creation of up
to 65,000 jobs over the next 20 years, with Old Oak alone providing 24,000 homes and
55,000 jobs. The council will seek to ensure that the needs of the borough, including
affordable housing and job opportunities for local people, are appropriately met.

27 Mayor of London, The London Plan: spatial development strategy for Greater London, GLA March
2016

Page 145



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 33

5|

White City Regeneration Area
Context

5.6 White City Regeneration Area (WCRA) comprises 110ha on the eastern edge of
the borough, adjacent to the boundary with the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea
(RBKC). The WCRA has been designated as an opportunity area in the Mayor’s London
Plan 20168 The area has also been identified as a potential future ‘International Town
Centre’ in the London Plan (2016). The regeneration area has three distinct sub-areas:
White City East, Shepherd’s Bush Town Centre and the estates in White City (White City
West).

5.7 White City East consists of land to the north of Westfield London and to the east of
Wood Lane with the addition of the Media Village site and former BBC Television Centre.
Imperial College London is developing a new campus to the north of the A40, bringing
academic uses related to bio-medical and technological research to this area.

5.8 White City West comprises LBHF’s largest local authority housing estates - the
White City Estate and Batman Close. This area also includes the Wood Lane Estate,
Loftus Road Football Stadium and the TA Centre.

5.9 Shepherd’s Bush Town Centre lies to the south of the WCRA and is an important
retail, entertainment and cultural centre which includes Westfield London, the W12 Centre
and Shepherd's Bush Market. The town centre is designated a metropolitan centre in the
London Plan (2016).

5.10 There are a number of heritage assets throughout the area. Much of the area is
within the Wood Lane Conservation Area, which centres around the Grade |l Listed BBC
Television Centre, but also includes the White City London Underground Station, which
is a building of merit. The Grade Il Listed DIMCO building is to the south of the conservation
area. The Shepherd’s Bush Conservation Area covers Shepherd’s Bush Green and
surrounding buildings, including the Shepherd’s Bush Empire theatre and the former Odeon
Cinema buildings, which are both Grade Il Listed.

5.11 The opportunity exists in the WCRA for substantial mixed-use development which
will help to regenerate the wider area, by providing new housing, including affordable
housing, a greater range of job opportunities and community and leisure facilities to
contribute to the aspirations for the wider West London sub-region, helping to sustain
London’s growth.

28 Mayor of London, The London Plan: spatial development strategy for Greater London, GLA March
2016

Page 146



34 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

Indicative additional homes

Indicative new jobs

6,000

10,000

The Council will work to secure the comprehensive regeneration of WCRA, in
particular the creation of a new high quality mixed-use development in White
City East, along with the creation of a major educational facility with supporting
retail, community facilities and open space; the regeneration of the historic
Shepherd’s Bush Town Centre; and the phased renewal of the estates. In order

to achieve this, the council will:

e work with the GLA, TfL,

the comprehensive
regeneration of the
area;

e actively engage with
local residents and
community groups to
ensure that the
regeneration delivers
benefits for the
surrounding area; and

e work with the
community and local
enterprises, to
establish ongoing
partnerships and
initiatives to provide
sustainable public
sector service delivery
in the area.

Proposals for development
in WCRA should:

e contribute to the
provision of 6,000 new
homes across a variety
of tenures and 10,000
jobs, mainly within
White City East, but
also in smaller scale

developments elsewhere in White City West and in the town centre;

e provide commercial uses within a new mixed-use area in White City East,
capitalising on existing activities in the area including academic and
research facilities as well as the creative, media and bio-technology sectors;

¢ include educational use, together with a limited amount of student

accommodation;

other strategic partners, and landowners to secure

| Legend | S
!=\-’\"’1il€ City Regenaration Area |- L
I WCRA1 White City East IS Lot S 3
| CIWCRA 2 White City West ! ‘ B
| CTIWCRA3 Shepherds Bush P
Open spaces : -
| C.=2Borough Boundary

Page 147



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 35

5|

e sustain regeneration of the historic town centre, by locating retail activities
within the town centre. Major leisure and retail that cannot be located within
the town centre may be appropriate north of Westfield on the edge of the
existing town centre boundary;

e improve the vitality of the important Shepherd’s Bush Market;

e provide appropriate social, physical, environmental and transport
infrastructure to support the needs arising from the development of WCRA
as a whole and create new sustainable communities;

e support the maintenance of existing open space and encourage the creation
of new open space;

e secure economic benefits for the wider community by providing programmes
to enable local people to access new job opportunities through training,
local apprenticeships or targeted recruitment;

e improve connections to existing communities, including between White
City West, the town centre and east to RBKC to improve both north-south
and east-west connectivity within the WCRA and connections to the wider
area;

e ensure that development extends and integrates with the urban grain and
pattern of development in the WCRA and its surrounding area;

e ensure that new development recognises the substantial scope offered by
the scale and location of the White City Regeneration Area to create a new
sense of place and range of densities. There may be scope for tall buildings,
however any tall buildings would need to be justified by a full urban design
analysis; and

e provide further enhancements across the area to ensure high public
transport use, along with provision for more pedestrian and cycle
infrastructure, including an enhanced Wood Lane, a bridge across the A3220
adjacent to the Hammersmith & City and Circle Lines and the provision of
an east-west underpass from the Imperial College former Woodlands site
to land to the west in RBKC.

Justification

5.12 White City is identified as an opportunity area in the London Plan (2016) which
contains a significant area of underused industrial land within close proximity to Central
London and key transport links. The White City Opportunity Area is identified in the London
Plan (2016) for a minimum of 6,000 homes and 10,000 jobs. The Mayor identifies the
redevelopment of the opportunity area as having potential for mixed density housing and
a focal point for office development at or around the tube stations at White City and Wood
Lane along with other commercial, leisure, open space, education and retail uses of
appropriate scale to support the local community. Housing-led intensification should support
local regeneration, enable estate renewal and seek a mixed and balanced community. It
identifies there may be scope to enhance education and research capabilities in the area,
linked in particular to healthcare and bio-technology. Development should promote the
vitality of the town centre, particularly the Shepherd’s Bush Market, and complement the
viability of other west and central London centres.

5.13 The White City Regeneration Area remains an area with one of London’s highest
levels of deprivation in terms of income and employment. It requires further investment
within the community in order to facilitate opportunities for more residents to enter the
workforce, through education, training and recruitment. A major catalyst to the improvement

Page 148



36 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

in the area has been the introduction of Westfield London Shopping Centre which has
brought significant numbers of visitors to the area and improvements to public transport
accessibility and the surrounding public realm, including Shepherd’s Bush Green.

5.14 There is already an existing large employment focus in the area, particularly with
a focus on creative industries, with BBC’s presence at the former Media Village (now
referred to as White City Place), the business start-up companies within the Ugli building,
and soon with Imperial College London’s research and development sector. There is scope
to develop further employment activities in White City East, not only to replace jobs lost
by the relocation of existing employment activities but for creating additional jobs linked
to new uses coming forward for development. Imperial College has commenced
development on the former BBC Woodlands site, for a mix of uses including student
accommodation, housing, medical research, offices, technology transfer space, and other
ancillary uses. Further educational and research uses are likely to be brought forward on
the former Dairycrest site as part of a wider mix of uses to encourage business start-ups
and incubator space. The departure of most of the BBC’s activities at the former Television
Centre has provided the opportunity to open up the site for major refurbishment to comprise
a new mixed-use development.

5.15 Imperial College London is a world-class university which has a reputation for
excellence in science, medicine, engineering and commerce and ranks within the top 10
universities in the world. The council supports the opportunity to provide a world-class
higher educational campus in the area, as it will bring much needed investment to the
area. Primary and secondary educational facilities are also encouraged at this location.
Some student accommodation may be appropriate as part of the overall mix of residential
types, sizes and tenures within the WCRA.

5.16 Inrecognition of the opening of Westfield London and the improved transport links,
the Mayor's London Plan (2016) identifies Shepherd’s Bush as a Metropolitan Centre.
The London Plan (2016) identifies it as having potential to become an international town
centre. Westfield, along with the W12 Centre and Shepherd’s Bush Market provide the
three key retail anchors for the town centre. Each anchor provides a retail offer that is
attractive to different communities and cultures and helps contribute to the town centre’s
vitality and viability. The W12 Centre on the south side of Shepherd's Bush Green consists
of a two level shopping mall and cinema. The centre has been subject to a rolling
programme of refurbishment and improvements in recent years, which has led to improved
shops and a new hotel. In respect of the Shepherd’s Bush Market, this is likely to be
refurbished which will further encourage footfall throughout the town centre. The
Hammersmith and Fulham Retail Needs Study 2016 has projected a need for further retail
floorspace in the town centre before 2031 (see Table 3). Larger scale mixed use scheme
has been consented immediately north of the existing Westfield London, from the edge
of the existing Westfield London shopping centre to the Hammersmith & City Line viaduct.
This scheme includes additional retail floorspace, substantial leisure facilities and housing.

5.17 Shepherd’s Bush Market and adjacent land has planning permission for a scheme
which intends to reconfigure the market space, providing new stalls and shops and an
improved layout alongside the existing traders and to provide a greater mix of uses with
residential units above. The market will provide benefits for existing market traders with
a better layout and improved public realm which will in turn attract greater numbers of
visitors to the area. This investment will ensure the market is sustained for its richness in
culture and wide range of goods for years to come.

Page 149



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 37

5|

5.18 Development must contribute to the provision of infrastructure necessary to support
the new sustainable community. Because of the scale of development in the regeneration
area, supporting infrastructure will need to include provision on site towards public open
space, community, health, sports, arts and leisure facilities, new schools (primary,
secondary and nursery provision), junction improvements, bus enhancements and new
pedestrian and cycle connections. Where on-site provision is not possible or not feasible,
financial contributions will be sought. Consideration will need to be given to the capacity
of the physical infrastructure, particularly for sewerage and surface water and the ability
of the sewerage network to take increased foul and surface water drainage generated by
new development. Surface water will need to be managed as close to its source with
run-off minimised through the integration of appropriate Sustainable Urban Drainage
Systems (SuDS), in line with the London Plan (2016) drainage hierarchy. Opportunities
should be explored to secure the provision or connection into an existing or planned
decentralised energy network. In order to deliver the objectives for the area, it is essential
that there is a comprehensive approach and that individual private sector site developments
contribute to wider regeneration in the WCRA as a whole, at the very least providing
tangible benefits to achieving sustainable communities. This will contribute to many of
the key corporate aims, namely, giving more power to local communities, delivering social
inclusion, creating more opportunities for young people and delivering greater efficiencies
in public spending. Any public sector services delivered in the White City Regeneration
Area should be discussed with the local community.

5.19 Due consideration will need to be given to the impact of each site within the strategic
transport network, ensuring that future development will not consume a disproportionate
amount of transport capacity. A Strategic Transport Study prepared in 2012, modelled the
impact of the potential increase in population on the local highway and public transport
network. The study identifies areas recommended for transport investment in and around
the regeneration area. The maijority of the opportunity area is well served by public transport,
however, the area suffers from problems with high volumes of road traffic and also a lack
of physical connectivity, particularly in White City East where the A40, the A3220 and rail
infrastructure creates physical barriers restricting access to and from the area. The whole
area should be planned to enable easy movement within the area, especially from homes
to transport connections, employment, shops, schools, open space, leisure and other
facilities. Planned and committed TfL improvements to the West London Line services,
including both London Overground and Southern Services, will increase public transport
capacity. In addition, a Crossrail station and/or HS2 rail link station in the Old Oak and
Park Royal Development Corporation Area would bring great benefits to this area in the
long term as it will be likely to relieve pressure on the Central Line.

5.20 Census data from 2011 indicates that the unemployment rate was at 7.4% in White
City, as compared to 5.1% in London overall. The introduction of new employment uses
and large-scale retail provides an important opportunity for the local community which
currently suffers from high levels of unemployment and skills deficits. Proposals that involve
substantial new employment opportunities should offer skills training, work placements,
apprenticeships and targeted local recruitment campaigns in order to make best use of
added value of employing local labour. The council will encourage businesses to embrace
the London Living Wage. Developments should also look to promote local businesses and
encourage sustainable business enterprise and entrepreneurship especially among young
people and business start ups.

Page 150



38 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

5.21 East-west pedestrian and cycling connectivity will be improved by the proposed
subway under the West London Line and A3220 which has been secured as part of the
Imperial College development. The council’s vision for the area is dependent on
improvements and capacity in public transport, cycling and walking to ensure a high
proportion of trips are made in environmentally sustainable ways.

5.22 The layout of each of the sites and how they relate and connect to one another to
overcome barriers to movement will be carefully considered. There is an opportunity to
create a high quality townscape to open up the area to enable easy movement within the
area and to the surrounding area (including the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea),
especially from homes to transport links, employment, shops, open space and other
facilities. It should have regard to the existing character and pattern of surrounding streets,
along with respecting nearby quieter streets that wish to retain that character.

5.23 Development should respect the prevailing scale of the surrounding townscape
along its edges, and be generally medium rise. However, parts of the area such as
alongside the A40 and A3220 are less sensitive to the impact of building height due to
large pieces of road and rail infrastructure that act to separate potential taller elements
from nearby lower-rise residential areas. Some other limited locations within the
regeneration area may also be acceptable for tall buildings, as long as it can be
demonstrated that they enhance and do not have a negative impact on the character and
setting of Listed Buildings, Conservation Areas and the local area in general. This will also
be subject to consideration of other design and amenity policies as set out within the
Borough-Wide policies within this Local Plan.

Page 151



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 39

5|

The council will seek regeneration in White City East for a mixed-use urban
quarter within a high quality environment.

Proposals for development in White City East should:

e be mixed use providing housing, employment, including creative and
academic based
industries, community

uses, a major
educational hub,

; 2 —

Legend
| e Underground Stations
-=Wr.|l.e City East Strategic Site (WCRA1)

leisure facilities as well
as small-scale retail;

e provide large amounts
of housing for
residents across all
tenures, house sizes
and affordability;

e ensure that on sites
primarily developed for
higher educational
purposes, that a mix of [ -
uses is provided,
including non-student
accommodation and
other non-educational | =" "
uses; 3

e demonstrate how the
proposal fits within the
context of a detailed

masterplan, and howit | ..

integrates and j _ : I E
connects with the ey s ey R\
U (e _“ _2 % T e o
There should be I B 1 ’ \J

improved permeability

and access between Westfield and areas north in the WCRA, particularly
through areas of public open space including opening up arches underneath
the Hammersmith and City Line railway viaduct, where appropriate;

e provide a network of green corridors and public open spaces including a
local park located centrally of approximately 2ha;

e ensure that development provides high quality places for living and working
that are well integrated with, and respect the setting of, the surrounding
area;

e retain those remaining parts of the former BBC TV Centre which have
historic and/or architectural interest. The Centre’s setting should be
integrated with the surrounding public realm, providing connectivity to the
east, west and south of the site; and

e contribute proportionally to the achievement of the objectives and policies
for the area; to the overall provision of social and physical infrastructure

Page 152



40 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

such as: a health centre, educational facilities, public open space,
employment training and recruitment programmes, community facilities, a
decentralised energy network and other necessary improvements to the
transport infrastructure to enable the White City Regeneration Area to be
developed to its potential.

Justification

5.24 This area includes the land to the north of Westfield London on the east side of
Wood Lane, but also includes the former BBC TV Centre and the BBC Media Village sites.
The White City East site provides the most substantial opportunity for early regeneration
in the WCRA. Development proposals will need to secure an appropriate mix of land uses
to provide the full benefits of regeneration, ensuring that the appropriate number of homes
and jobs are delivered, that separate planning applications are well related and connected
and provide appropriate social and physical infrastructure to mitigate the impacts of their
development. Development proposals must contribute to the provision of social and physical
infrastructure necessary to support development of the whole area to create a sustainable
community, including the timely availability of local skilled labour through pre-employment
and skKills training.

5.25 White City East has the capacity to provide many of the 6,000 new homes for the
regeneration area, including a range of new affordable housing in different tenures, student
housing and housing for those in need of care and support. The aim is to create a
sustainable community which will include accommodation for families, students and people
that already live in the area. White City East will secure as much affordable housing as
viable, which will over the next 15-20 years, provide new affordable housing which could
create opportunities also for estate residents in the regeneration area to access
accommodation that better suits their needs. Any decision about the approach to this
would need to be tested with residents, but it could consider providing:

e New social and affordable rented housing of the right sizes and types would provide
more opportunities for transfers to alleviate overcrowding, under occupation or obtain
housing more suited to a tenant’s needs.

e Intermediate housing at the right price levels to enable existing tenants who can afford
to move into home ownership, to do so.

e  Similar opportunities for leaseholders living on the estates who would have
opportunities to move if they consider that new homes are more suited to their needs.

5.26 Imperial College London has purchased two key sites to the north of White City
East, and construction is underway on the former BBC Woodlands site to the north of the
Westway. The council supports the development of these sites for large scale higher
educational uses together with residential (non-student), employment and local retail and
supporting infrastructure to ensure that the council achieves its aims for regenerating the
area for a mix of uses. Student accommodation will be considered on these sites, but it
should not compromise the overall housing capacity of the area nor should it create large
areas of predominantly student housing. It is important that the area will achieve a mix of
housing types and sizes across all sites to ensure the area comprises a cross-section of
people.

Page 153



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 41

5|

5.27 Westfield London is implementing planning permission for a mixed use scheme
including larger scale retail uses and residential units on the site immediately north of their
existing retail store and south of the Hammersmith and City Line viaduct. Although this
constitutes larger scale retail, it is located at the south of the railway viaduct and adjacent
to the town centre.

5.28 The strategic site covers a large area which is bounded and crossed by roads and
railway lines, but it must not be planned out of context with the surrounding area.
Development provides the opportunity to connect with and knit together the surroundings
while providing a permeable internal layout. Development in White City East should provide
north-south and east-west connections to overcome the physical severance experienced
across this part of the WCRA. The railway arches situated between the Westfield and
Marks and Spencer site are key to delivering the north-south pedestrian flows and should
be opened up for circulation and other active uses. There is also potential for providing a
new pedestrian and cycle route from the TV Centre to Shepherds Bush Market, alongside
the Hammersmith and City Line, which would be a useful addition to permeability and
connections. Development of land beside the West London Line and A3220 should provide
for east-west pedestrian and cycle connections to encourage sustainable modes of
transport. Development on either side of the A40 must be well connected through provision
of a primary north-south route, with provision for pedestrians and cyclists, together with
additional secondary vehicular roads that link to additional east-west links. The area
immediately north of Westfield requires careful handling in urban design and land-use
terms to provide improved permeability and linkages to the north to overcome the barrier
effect of the Hammersmith and City Line railway arches.

5.29 Sufficient public open space for residents and workers should be provided to support
the future residential and working population in the area. A local park and open spaces of
approximately 2 hectares will support the additional population that will come to the area.
A central location to the east of Wood Lane would be most beneficial, which as well as
providing for the needs of development in White City East, would be well located as a
space for those people visiting the area for work or shopping in the town centre. The open
space will be provided on the development land to the north and south of the Hammersmith
and City Line Railway viaduct, owned by St James (M&S site), Transport for London and
Westfield. Open spaces should be connected to provide a network across the area to
encourage biodiversity corridors across the area, including the provision of an ecological
corridor along the West London Line.

5.30 Development should be of a high architectural quality and its scale should be
sensitive to the surrounding context, particularly existing heritage assets and nearby
conservation areas. White City East is the most appropriate site within the WCRA for taller
buildings. This is mainly due to the area east of Wood Lane containing buildings with larger
footprints with significant transport infrastructure routes in between that separate the taller
elements from lower rise housing in the surrounding area. Tall buildings are likely to be
acceptable closest to the A40 and A3220 if they can be located sensitively to limit the
impact of overshadowing on existing and future communities or areas of public realm and
open space, and do not have an unreasonable impact on views from nearby conservation
areas adversely impact upon surrounding heritage assets.

5.31 The retained parts of the former BBC TV Centre have been identified as being of
special architectural and historic interest, and are statutorily listed as Grade Il. It is these
buildings that form the key focus of the Wood Lane Conservation Area. The former TV
Centre is significant to the future of the WCRA because of its location and the potential
for linking the western part of the regeneration area with Wood Lane, for the creation of

Page 154



42 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

a public realm focus on Wood Lane. The development and re-use of the Television Centre
includes the retention and refurbishment of the buildings that are of historic and
architectural importance. The approved development scheme proposes to safeguard the
iconic appearance of the former BBC Television Centre from Wood Lane. Preferred uses
for this site should be relevant to the nature of the historic use and its legacy.

5.32 Provision of infrastructure is key to ensuring the WCRA is successful, not only to
provide for the additional population, but also to bring about benefits for the whole area.
This is essential to create a sustainable community. The size of the regeneration area and
the anticipated development potential may mean that the majority of infrastructure will
need to be provided on site. It is considered that development will need to provide an area
of public open space, a community and health centre, leisure facilities, a recruitment and
job shop and educational facilities (secondary, primary and nursery provision) if it is
considered that expansion of existing facilities is not a preferred option. Social infrastructure
such as contributions for training and employment will be required. Employment and
training packages should help local residents to access construction and end-user
employment opportunities in order to achieve the desired social and economic mobility
ambitions. Development must also take into account the provision of other on site physical
infrastructure, particularly new access roads, electrical capacity and substations, sewerage
and surface water management and the ability for the sewerage network to take increased
foul and surface water drainage generated by this site. Surface water will need to be
managed as close to its source as possible, with run-off being minimised as far as possible
through the integration of appropriate Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS), in line with
the London Plan (2016) drainage hierarchy. CCTV and other secure by design infrastructure
will also be required. Development must incorporate the principles of sustainable design
and construction, including the consideration of provision or connection into a combined
heat and power/ decentralised energy network and the sustainable management of waste
generated by the development.

Page 155



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 43

5|

The council will work with estate residents and other stakeholders to secure

the renewal of the estates
and the creation of a
sustainable community.
Development proposals
within this strategic site
should:

e support employment
and skills training
opportunities to assist
residents in obtaining
local jobs

e enable existing
residents to remain in
the area, providing a
more sustainable
community through
provision of new
housing with a mix of
tenures and sizes of
units that enable
greater housing
choice;

e provide an appropriate
level of social,
environmental,
transport and physical
infrastructure and
co-locate facilities

Legend
@' Underground Stations I
| R WCRA 2 White City East |

(e

where this will make the most efficient use of infrastructure;
e assist in providing a permeable street pattern that is well integrated with
the surrounding area; and
e enable the continuation of some commercial uses in areas less suitable for

residential purposes.

If either the Loftus Road Stadium or Territorial Army (TA) Centre come forward
for redevelopment, the council will seek residential led development. On the
Loftus Road site, in particular, there should be provision of community facilities

and open space.

Justification

5.33 Currently 53% of residents in WCRA live in social rented housing and 28% are
living in private rented accommodation (Census 2011). Providing new alternative
accommodation will give people who live on the White City Estates and who consider they
live in less than ideal circumstances (e.g. because of overcrowding or because of mobility
issues) the opportunity and choice to transfer to more suitable accommodation in the
WCRA. For existing tenants, and for their children when they need their own home, whether

Page 156



44 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

rented or owned, there would be a much better choice of housing types and tenure in the
locality with more opportunities for people to realise their aspirations and move into
affordable home ownership.

5.34 The estate has a number of sites providing a range of services to local residents,
some of which could be co-located, providing opportunities for other sites to come forward
for redevelopment over the next few years, as well as providing a more coherent and
efficient use of services throughout the area, benefiting the local community by making
better use of funding. The area does still require significant investment in infrastructure to
ensure that new developments contribute to the regeneration of the area, and this should
be considered by any forthcoming Ward Panel, who will be there to ensure quality and
local oversight to generate cost savings.

5.35 There could be a better, more permeable layout within the area to create more
attractive, useful and easier to maintain amenity spaces and connections. There would
be the opportunity to design out crime, anti-social behaviour and improve security in and
around open spaces. All new developments should connect and integrate well with the
surrounding residential estates, which could provide clear and safe pedestrian and cycle
connections to the east and south of the area.

5.36 Where areas are not appropriate for replacement housing, commercial development
and/or small scale retail may be appropriate to provide further jobs, self employment and
enterprise opportunities within the local area and better access to facilities.

5.37 The Queens Park Rangers (QPR) football ground at Loftus Road is a cramped site
with limited opportunity for expansion, and the Club’s ambitions should be considered in
planning of this area over the next 20 years. The football stadium is a valued community
asset for the White City community and the pitch is designated as openspace. Therefore
any redevelopment of this site would need to include a sport/community/leisure facility
that could achieve substantial benefits for the community as well as open space. The TA
Centre is a low intensity use of land which could be better used given its location. The
opportunity for a development to facilitate estate renewal should be considered if the TA
facility can be relocated, but development must also contribute to the objectives for
regeneration of the area, including housing for local people.

Page 157



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 45

5|

The Council will continue to support and work with existing traders for the
retention and improvement of Shepherd’s Bush Market to provide a more vibrant
mix of town centre uses, retaining accommodation for existing market traders
and traders along Goldhawk Road.

Development proposals for this strategic site should:

e Retain and improve the | Legend ) ] e
market, including its layout, ing‘;ii“;::;”*'°’°‘“““ ket et o
to create a vibrant, mixed J W7
use area; include additional
leisure uses, offices and
residential development to
ensure a more vibrant mix;
and

e Considerincluding adjacent
Pennard Road Laundry site
in any development scheme
and land to the west of the
market off Lime Grove.

e Provide the opportunity for
the re-provision of Goldhawk
Road businesses within new
high quality retail premises
within the proposed
frontage.

e Provide affordable housing
in accordance with Policy
HO3.

el

........
-----

Justification

5.38 Shepherd’'s Bush Market is an important and distinctive part of the town centre’s
cultural and retail offer. The council considers that the market requires improvement to

secure its long-term viability. The layout of the market should be improved to maximise
the space within the site and provide an improved public realm.

5.39 A mixed use scheme providing replacement market stalls as well as other uses
such as leisure, housing and offices, will not only improve the market as a destination but

will also help regenerate and bring more trade to the town centre.

Page 158



46 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

5.40 The market currently operates on a cramped site and there are opportunities to
consider combining it with other land to produce a scheme with wider regeneration benefits.
The adjacent Pennard Road former laundry land is key to this, and a joint development is
a better solution for what is a backland site with limited access. The Peabody Trust and
Broadway Centre land could be brought into a scheme, subject to agreement on relocation.

Page 159



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 47

5|

Hammersmith Regeneration Area
Context

5.41 The Hammersmith Regeneration Area (HRA) is centred on King Street and
Hammersmith Broadway, although the southern boundary extends to Hammersmith Bridge
and the Thames. The HRA includes Hammersmith Town Centre, the A4 and its flyover.

5.42 Hammersmith has seen a substantial amount of regeneration in recent years with
schemes coming forward for the former Beadon Road NCP car park, Hammersmith Palais,
Hammersmith Embankment (now known as Fulham Reach) and new housing on Glenthorne
Road. There has also been significant investment in improvements to the Kings Mall and
the Hammersmith Apollo, while works are being carried out to the Lyric Theatre to expand
it. The bus station at Hammersmith Broadway has been expanded temporarily pending
permanent extension in a future development. The Hammersmith London Business
Improvement District (BID) is now well established and aims “to inject life and vibrancy
into central Hammersmith attracting more people to the area and making it a more desirable
place to work in and visit”. The council has also set up a Hammersmith Residents Working
Party to assist the council in producing a development strategy for how Hammersmith
could change over the next 20 years.

5.43 There is a need to continue the regenerative drive and continue to compete with
London’s other employment and retail centres. Although Hammersmith has a wide range
of town centre functions, its major roads, including the A4 flyover and the gyratory, severely
impact on the centre, significantly reducing environmental quality and restricting pedestrian
movement between the town centre and the riverside.

Page 160



48 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

Indicative additional homes Indicative new jobs

2,800 10,000

The Council will

encourage the
regeneration of
Hammersmith
Town Centre and
seek development
that builds upon
the centre’s major
locational
advantages for
office and retail
development.
Opportunities will
be taken to secure
more modern
accommodation, to

continually
improve the environment and public realm, and to improve access between the
town centre and the Thames. In order to achieve this, the Council will:

work with the GLA, TfL, other strategic partners, including the Hammersmith
BID and landowners to secure the regeneration of the area;

actively engage with local residents and community groups to ensure that
regeneration delivers benefits for the surrounding area;

support the continuation of Hammersmith as a major town centre with a
wide range of major retail, office, local government services, leisure, arts,
entertainment, community facilities and housing;

promote the continued regeneration of Hammersmith Town Centre by
actively encouraging the improvement of the Kings Mall and other retail in
this part of the town centre, and the range and quality of independent and
specialist shops;

promote the continuation of the town centre as a key strategic office
location, through provision of modernised office blocks;

support proposals for the regeneration of the western part of the town centre
in the vicinity of the Town Hall;

support proposals that expand Hammersmith’s arts and leisure offer,
capitalising on the existing facilities such as Hammersmith Apollo, Lyric
Theatre, St Pauls Green, Lyric Square, and the river front;

promote and support the replacement of the flyover and section of the A4
with a tunnel; and

return the Hammersmith Gyratory to two way working provided that this
can be done without unacceptable traffic and environmental costs in the
neighbouring areas.

Page 161



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 49

5|

Proposals for development in the HRA should:

e improve pedestrian and cycle infrastructure, including connectivity with
the River;

e improve the range and quality of independent and specialist shops and
services, as well as leisure services;

e provide appropriate social, physical, environmental and transport
infrastructure to support the needs arising from the development of HRA;

e secure economic benefits for the wider community around the Hammersmith
Regeneration Area by providing programmes to enable local people to
access new job opportunities through training, local apprenticeships or
targeted recruitment;

e seek the creation urban environment, with public spaces, architecture and
public realm of the highest quality, that is sensitively integrated into the
existing context;

e improve and enhance St Pauls Green and Furnivall gardens and their
connections to the rest of the regeneration area.

Justification

5.44 Hammersmith is a major town centre providing shopping facilities for a catchment
population of nearly 46,000 people. Many people commute daily to Hammersmith which
is a key office location for West London. The town centre is also important for government
services with the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham’s Town Hall, Hammersmith
Library & Archive Centre, Adult Learning & Skills Service, Hammersmith police station
and Hammersmith fire station all located within or close to its boundary. Hammersmith
also has a strong tradition of arts, culture and entertainment with the Lyric Theatre, a four
screen cinema and the Hammersmith Apollo. The Riverside Studios (currently being
replaced by improved facilities as part of a mixed use redevelopment), the Thames Path
National Trail and Furnivall Gardens are outside the HRA Regeneration Area but these
also provide a valued contribution to the area’s leisure offer. There are also a number of
hotels within the town centre and its surrounds.

5.45 Itis important that Hammersmith continues to compete as a retail location. The
council will support proposals that further enhance the vitality and viability of the centre.
The approach to regenerating the town centre has two key elements. Firstly, the primary
shopping area focused on the eastern end of King Street should be strengthened by
encouraging development that modernises existing accommodation that attracts a range
of varied retail and facilities in the area that links well with Lyric Square. Secondly, the
council will encourage a general upgrading of the shopping offer at the western end of
King Street, up to and around the Town Hall, through the provision of uses which will lead
to greater pedestrian flows in King Street while not detracting from the core shopping area.

5.46 Hammersmith is an office centre of sub-regional significance, both for the public
and private sector. Its role as an office centre extends to the east along Hammersmith
Road to Olympia and to the south along Fulham Palace Road. It is proposed to maintain
the town centre’s status as a primary office location, encouraging its renovation and
replacement of floorspace with more energy efficient, low carbon and modern office
accommodation, particularly in the northern and eastern part of the town centre where
there is less focus on retail and leisure uses.

Page 162



50 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

5.47 In the town centre the priority should be for shopping, leisure and offices, but new
housing development is also important and will supplement existing important residential
resources such as Ashcroft Square. New housing can help bring evening activity and
vitality into the town centre and will be expected to contribute to creating a more sustainable
community and provide housing for people on low to middle incomes.

5.48 The council also wish to sustain and enhance Hammersmith's role as a cultural
and leisure destination. With the possibility of land being freed up by tunnelling of the A4,
there is an opportunity to create an arts, leisure and public space precinct that could
improve connections between the Hammersmith Apollo, Lyric Theatre and Square,
Riverside Studios, St Pauls Green and the river front. However, whilst maintaining the
important leisure role of the centre, the council will seek to ensure that any adverse impact
that some leisure uses can have on local residents, such as anti-social behaviour and
noise is minimised.

5.49 Following the emergency closure of the A4 flyover in Hammersmith in 2011, issues
have been raised about the viability of the flyover, especially in relation to the escalating
cost of maintenance and the increased risk of failure. The council has undertaken a
feasibility study to look at the possibility of removing the flyover and parts of the A4 and
replace it with a tunnel. This study has demonstrated that a tunnel is viable, and the
proposal has the support of local people, the Mayor of London and TfL. The land released
through removal of the A4 would create opportunities to reconnect Hammersmith Town
Centre to the River Thames, as well as opening up opportunities for development which
could help fund the delivery of the tunnel. Much of this land could provide the opportunity
for new homes for people to live in the regeneration area, in a range of tenures and
affordability which will contribute to the key aim of creating sustainable communities.

5.50 The possibility of tunnelling the A4 may also open up opportunities to consider the
unravelling of the one-way system in Hammersmith, which currently covers the
Hammersmith Gyratory, King Street and Glenthorne Road. The council has been involved
in an early public meeting with key stakeholders and residents where a number of different
possible tunnelling alternatives were discussed. The Hammersmith Gyratory is currently
at capacity with long queues of traffic often developing along several arms of the junction,
especially when there is disruption to the road network. A high level feasibility study is
being carried out to consider a range of road options for the area, which will also investigate
the impact of traffic on the town centre.

5.51 Pedestrian movement between the town centre and the riverside is currently limited
due to the lack of pedestrian routes, the uninviting environment under the A4 flyover and
poor signage. There could be potential to provide a high quality, safe and easily accessible
public realm that will encourage activity toward the Riverside Studios and the Thames
Path and uses along the river frontage.

5.52 There is currently investment in Hammersmith Town Centre, with the upgrading
of the Kings Mall, which has already attracted a number of new shops along King Street
and new office developments such as 10 Hammersmith Grove. The redevelopment around
Hammersmith Town Hall at the western end of King Street will include a public square
with new shops, restaurants and a replacement cinema. This should lead to greater
pedestrian flows along King Street and help to improve the vitality and viability of the
western end of King Street.

Page 163



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 51

5|

5.53 Development must contribute to the provision of infrastructure necessary to support
new development in HRA. Supporting infrastructure will need to include provision on site
towards public open space, community, health and leisure facilities, junction improvements,
bus enhancements and pedestrian and cycle connections. Where on site provision is not
possible or not feasible, financial contributions will be sought. It is likely that infrastructure
for new schools (primary, secondary and nursery provision) will need to be provided as a
contribution for the expansion of existing schools in the area. Development must also take
account of the capacity of the infrastructure for sewerage and surface water management
and the ability of the sewerage network to take increased foul and surface water drainage
generated by this site.

5.54 Regeneration in HRA provides opportunities to secure economic benefits for the
wider community. New development will increase local employment opportunities. It will
be important to put in place schemes to assist people in gaining access to new jobs.

5.55 Itis important that any new schemes in the town centre are of high quality
architecture and design which improve the appearance and quality of buildings.

Page 164



52 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

The council will work with partners to upgrade the Town Hall Extension and
neighbouring land to provide refurbished or replacement council offices of high
quality design along with a mix of other uses to contribute to the improvement
of the area at street level. Proposals will be expected to:

¢ include replacement council offices and a mix of town centre uses, including
retail, employment and housing;

e provide an active frontage along King Street, complementing the core
shopping area and helping to improve the economic health of the western
part of the town centre;

e improve the area at street level by either opening up the Grade Il listed Town
Hall frontage and creating a new public space or refurbishing the Extension
building and including an area of civic space;

e provide space for a cinema;

e improve links with Furnivall Gardens and the river; and

e ensure building height is generally consistent with the existing height in
the townscape, having particular regard to the civic significance of the site
and the importance of enhancing the contribution and setting of the Grade
Il listed Town Hall building and respecting views along the river.

Legend
Esurategic site (HRAT}
Open spaces

I —

15 Ctwr ooghen s centata righrs o 8L %0 = s g
207 Ordrarn Eervmy L icance Mo, LAY0O15023 — — U

Justification

5.56 This major site at the western end of the town centre is key to the regeneration of
this area and this end of King Street. In order to realise the regenerative benefits and a
suitable mix of uses, a comprehensive development based on assembling a sufficiently
large site is proposed. This could comprise a combination of redevelopment and
refurbishment of land and buildings including car park and registry office, cinema, the

Page 165



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 53

5|

Town Hall Extension and the Friends Meeting House. However, as the cinema is included
on the local register of buildings of merit, it should be included in redevelopment proposals
only if the benefits to this part of Hammersmith outweigh its loss.

5.57 Development should include a mix of retail units (shops and restaurants) at ground
floor level on King Street. The western part of the town centre currently suffers from poor
footfall and the provision of a number of retail stores as part of redevelopment proposals
could attract shoppers to this end of King Street. Retention of a cinema at this end of King
Street is required, thereby maintaining a key town centre leisure facility that attracts footfall
at different times of the day/evening. Any development should also include residential
development above ground floor level, built to meet high standards of access and
environmental sustainability. Provision for additional housing will help meet the objective
for a greater choice of housing in the town centre and help regenerate this part of King
Street through increased trade for local shops.

5.58 The Town Hall Extension is outmoded and unattractive and its refurbishment or
demolition could improve the setting of the Grade Il listed main Town Hall building. The
creation of a high quality civic campus with new offices and a new public space and
potential for arts and leisure events, together with a mix of new retail uses would greatly
enhance this part of the town centre. It will also enable improved road access and servicing
of the site.

5.59 The provision of new public spaces can provide an opportunity for improved
pedestrian and cycle access to Furnivall Gardens and the riverside. This will also help to
establish this end of the town centre as a destination. The existing underpass could be
upgraded and widened, or if the A4 was to be tunnelled, access could be provided at street
level.

5.60 Taller buildings are not appropriate for this part of the town centre. An existing
permission allows for development no higher than the existing town hall extension, with
the exception of a clock tower which is proposed to assist in identifying its civic location
and the end of the town centre.

Page 166



54 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

The council will work with Transport for London and other stakeholders to
replace the Hammersmith Flyover and sections of the A4 with a tunnel, thereby
releasing land for development that will contribute to the social, environmental
and economic regeneration of Hammersmith Town Centre.

The council will
expect any proposal
to remove the
Hammersmith
Flyover and a
section of the A4
and replace it with a
tunnel to:

Legend

brne Hod
)5 rategic Site HRA2 [T

BitaGardens

result in the ),
release of land
formerly 2 N7 __"‘_‘;v‘,.-
occupied by the
Flyover and its R P :
approaches for [ - O e i
redevelopment;

ensure that there will be no detrimental impact on the flow of traffic on this
strategic route and no increase in levels of traffic congestion in
Hammersmith Regeneration Area and the surrounding road network,
minimising the displacement impact;

develop and improve the quality and safety of pedestrian and cycle routes,
particularly those connecting Hammersmith Town Centre to the riverside;
improve the quality of the environment of Hammersmith Town Centre and
its environs by removing high levels of noise, vibration and air pollution;
ensure that the tunnel entrances and exits have a minimal impact on the
amenity of nearby residents; and

minimise disruption during construction.

Development proposals for the strategic site released by the tunnel should:

provide for mixed-use redevelopment, including housing for local people
across a range of tenures and affordabilities, employment, hotels, retail and
arts, cultural and leisure facilities and supporting infrastructure;

improve and enhance St Paul’s Green and Furnivall Gardens and their
connections with the rest of the regeneration area;

provide new areas for public open space and improve physical connections
between the town centre and the riverside; and

be of a coherent urban design that has regard to the setting and context of
the regeneration area.

Page 167



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 55

5|

In respect of the Hammersmith Centre West Island site, the council will work
with Transport for London and other stakeholders to assess and bring forward
the redevelopment of this site as well as return the Hammersmith Gyratory to
two way working and improve the capacity of Hammersmith bus station.
Development proposals for this site will be required to:

e provide a state of the art inter-modal interchange that facilitates the safe
and efficient movement of passengers from buses,taxis and trains, including
cycles, into and out of the station;

e provide for mixed-use redevelopment, including office, retail, arts, cultural
and leisure facilities and supporting infrastructure to help retain a strong
commercial role for the town centre and increase its vitality and viability;

¢ include the provision of housing for local people across a range of tenures
and affordabilities;

e ensure that there will be no detrimental impact on cyclists or pedestrians
or on the flow of traffic on this strategic route, and no increase in levels of
traffic congestion in Hammersmith Regeneration Area and the surrounding
road network, minimising the displacement impact;

e ensure that building height is generally consistent with the prevailing height
in the townscape, whilst recognising the scope offered by the scale and
location of the regeneration area to create a range of densities. Any tall
buildings would need to be justified by a full urban design analysis; and

e be designed to help facilitate any future proposals to replace the flyover
and A4 with a tunnel.

Justification

5.61 The Hammersmith Flyover was opened in 1961. It was constructed with the aim
to take traffic out of Hammersmith Town Centre, but has unfortunately had adverse
consequences, cutting off Hammersmith Town Centre from the River Thames, severing
the traditional Victorian street pattern and creating large amounts of traffic moving around
the Hammersmith Gyratory to get on and off the A4. Other traffic impacts, such as pollution,
noise and visual impact make the area around it unpleasant. Removal of the flyover and
putting a section of the A4 underground has the key benefit of reconnecting Hammersmith
communities separated by the construction of the road, and reconnecting Hammersmith
to its riverside. It also has the benefits of creating significant environmental, social and
physical improvements, not only through removal of the road infrastructure, but also through
the provision of new opportunities for redevelopment on land previously occupied by the
flyover, including the potential for creation of a new public green open space around the
town centre. The additional housing, offices, retail and leisure uses would provide economic
benefits for the surrounding area, by delivering much needed new homes and jobs and
through enhanced retail and leisure offer that development would afford Hammersmith
Town Centre.

5.62 Any proposals would need to ensure that as much through-traffic as possible uses
the tunnel to reduce levels of traffic on surface roads, particularly in and around
Hammersmith Regeneration Area. Proposals would also need to ensure that the traffic
that currently uses the A4 is not displaced into neighbouring areas.

Page 168



56 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

5.63 The redevelopment on land freed up by the removal of the flyover and the A4
provides the opportunity to improve pedestrian and cycling links between Hammersmith
Town Centre and the River Thames, encouraging the use of more sustainable modes of
transport. Redevelopment also provides opportunities to enhance the quality and quantity
of public open space in Hammersmith, providing better opportunities for leisure and
recreation for new and existing residents and workers.

5.64 The tunnelling of the A4 provides opportunities to enhance the environmental
quality in Hammersmith through the improvement in noise and air quality. Government
targets for nitrogen dioxide are high within Hammersmith Broadway and have been above
target for the last five years.

5.65 While the tunnel would significantly improve the air quality where the stretch of A4
will be moved underground, the air quality, noise and vibration implications at new entrances
and exist will need to be investigated carefully. However, with adequate tunnel ventilation
using technological best practice, much can be done to mitigate this impact.

5.66 The initial feasibility study carried out in 2013/14 by the council considered the
level of traffic disruption throughout the construction phase. Traffic flow along the A4 is
assumed to be disrupted for approximately 18 months (half of the construction time), with
lane closures, tidal flow, night-time and weekend closures and construction traffic. Any
project that comes forward will need to carefully consider this in detail against the
construction methodology and design of any tunnel to ensure these impacts are minimised.
This will also have to be weighed up against a do-nothing scenario, which would involve
substantial traffic disruptions associated with regular maintenance or upgrading of the
flyover.

5.67 The land freed up by the A4 and flyover will provide opportunities for development
to help finance the tunnel. Within Hammersmith Town Centre, development should be
mixed use. Around St. Paul’s Green, development proposals should increase the size of
the green and provide new town centre uses. To the east of the town centre around the
Ark office building, there will be opportunities for commercial led development, helping to
further anchor the predominant office based uses in this location. Outside of the
Hammersmith Town Centre boundary, development should be residential led. Development
proposals should result in an enhancement to the size and quality of Furnivall Gardens.
Proposals should also deliver strong connections between Furnivall Gardens and St. Paul’s
Green, linking the two spaces together visually and through the creation of new green
infrastructure.

5.68 The tunnelling of the A4 and flyover provides substantial opportunities for
development proposals to re-knit together the Victorian street pattern that was severed
during its construction and reconnecting Hammersmith Town Centre to the River Thames.
The opportunity would also be created to rebuild and improve public access across
Hammersmith Broadway. Re-linking the centre, north-south and east-west routes is
consistent with the Mayor of London’s Road Task Force criteria for the future of strategic
road improvements.

5.69 Development proposals would need to be of a sympathetic scale and height to
neighbouring buildings and the surrounding context. There are also a number of Grade Il
and II* listed buildings in Hammersmith such as St. Paul’s Church and Hammersmith
Apollo. Development would need to sensitively respond to these heritage assets as well
as the character of nearby conservation areas.

Page 169



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 57

5|

5.70 Hammersmith Centre West Island Site is located in the heart of Hammersmith,
bounded by the Hammersmith Gyratory. The site currently operates as an important
transport interchange in Hammersmith Town Centre. Given the scale of the site along with
its wider role as a key transportation node, this site presents an opportunity for the delivery
of an improved gyratory and transport inter-change, as well as opportunities for improved
town centre uses and housing. The Hammersmith Gyratory is a complex junction in the
local and strategic road network, connecting the A4, A406,King Street, Beadon Road,
Shepherd’s Bush Road, Hammersmith Road and Fulham Palace Road. The junction is
further complicated by it surrounding Hammersmith’s key public transport interchange for
underground and buses and acting as a barrier to pedestrians accessing Hammersmith.
TfL has removed other similar gyratory systems to return them to two-way working over
the last few years to the benefit of road and pedestrian users. Their current work
programme includes a proposal to deliver a safer and more direct east-west cycle route
through Hammersmith Town Centre, which would involve a number of changes to cycle
and pedestrian infrastructure at the gyratory. Any proposals to redevelop the Hammersmith
Centre West Island Site and return the Hammersmith Gyratory to two way working should
be designed to help facilitate any future proposals to replace the flyover and A4 with a
tunnel.

Page 170



58 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

Fulham Regeneration Area

Context

5.71 The Fulham Regeneration Area (FRA) covers a total of 47 hectares and comprises
Fulham Town Centre and the Earl’'s Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area.

5.72 Fulham Town Centre is designated in the Mayor’s London Plan (2016) as a Major
Town Centre. It provides a wide variety of shopping facilities, which serve the needs of
the surrounding communities. The centre is generally healthy with low vacancy rates,
although retail on North End Road in the north of the centre has seen higher vacancy and
less investment.

5.73 The Earl’s Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area is identified in the Mayor’s
London Plan (2016). The Opportunity Area is partially within the Royal Borough of
Kensington and Chelsea and, in total, is identified in the Mayor’s London Plan (2016) as
having the capacity for 7,500 homes and 9,500 jobs. The Opportunity Area is primarily
split into three key land holdings, namely the Earl’'s Court Exhibition Centre, the Lillie
Bridge London Underground depot and the West Kensington and Gibbs Green housing
estates.

5.74 The area is well served by public transport. To the south, Fulham Town Centre is
served by Fulham Broadway District Line station and a number of bus routes. To the north,
the Earl’'s Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area is served by West Kensington
(District line), Earl’s Court (District and Piccadilly Lines) and West Brompton (District Line,
London Overground and Southern Services).

Page 171



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 59

5|

Indicative additional homes

Indicative new jobs

7,000

9,000

There is a substantial opportunity for regeneration within the Fulham
Regeneration Area (FRA) and for the development of strategic sites to benefit
the wider community. In order to achieve this, the Council will:

e work with the GLA, Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea, other
strategic partners and landowners to secure the regeneration and renewal

of the area; and

e actively engage with local residents and community groups to ensure that
regeneration delivers benefits for the surrounding area.

Development proposals should:

e contribute to the provision of 7,000 homes and 9,000 jobs;

e enhance the vitality
and viability of Fulham
Town Centre,
particularly on North
End Road and explore
opportunities to secure
the long term future of
and enhance the North
End Road street
market;

e provide for the
improvement of the
West Kensington,
Gibbs Green and
Registered Provider
estates;

e secure economic
benefits for the wider
community around the
Fulham Regeneration
Area to enable local
people to access new
job opportunities
through training, local
apprenticeships or
targeted recruitment;

e provide appropriate
social, physical,
environmental and
transport infrastructure

Q 45 90 180 270
— — —

s | Legend
. | 3 Fulham Regenaration Area '
P | o Borough boundary |
‘ | & |

AR T

# Crown copynght and datibase nghts
2014 Ordnance Survey Licence Ko LA10019323

to support the needs arising from the area as a whole;
e demonstrate a high quality of urban design and public realm; and

Page 172



60 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

e preserve or enhance the character, appearance and setting of heritage
assets including the Grade II* listed Fulham Town Hall.

Justification

5.75 Most of the FRA overlaps with the Earl’s Court and West Kensington Opportunity
Area, which is identified in the Mayor’s London Plan (2016) and also covers land within
the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea. In order to secure the greatest benefits
from regeneration, the Council will work closely with the Greater London Authority and
Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea to ensure that a holistic approach is taken to
the future planning of the opportunity area and work with residents, businesses, landowners
and other interested parties to ensure that development in the opportunity area secures
wider benefits for the local community.

5.76 The FRA benefits from a high level of public transport accessibility due to the four
London Underground stations within or near to its boundary. This high level of public
transport accessibility, together with the facilities and services in Fulham Town Centre
provides the opportunity for the delivery of a substantial number of new homes and jobs.
The largest development opportunity within the FRA is in the Earl’s Court and West
Kensington Opportunity Area, which is identified in the London Plan (2016) as having the
capacity to deliver 7,500 homes and 9,500 jobs across both LBHF and RBKC. It is
anticipated that 6,500 homes and 8,500 jobs could be accommodated in LBHF. In addition
to this capacity in the Earl’s Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area, the FRA is
considered to have the capacity to deliver an additional 500 homes and 500 jobs making
an overall total for the FRA of 7,000 homes and 9,000 jobs.

5.77 Fulham Town Centre will be supported to re-establish its historic role in the locality
and maintain its status as a major town centre in the London Plan (2016). Further shopping
and leisure uses will be encouraged in the town centre and at an appropriate scale within
the Opportunity Area. There is scope for providing modern shop facilities as part of possible
development in North End Road.

5.78 The North End Road Market is important to the vitality and viability of the town
centre and should remain. Regeneration in the Earls Court & West Kensington Opportunity
Area may present new opportunities for enhancing the market. Any enhancement of the
market will be in consultation with the market traders.

5.79 The FRA and its surroundings are dominated by a number of large council housing
estates. The redevelopment of the Earls Court Exhibition Centre could provide the
opportunity for improvements to the West Kensington and Gibbs Green estates, including
the potential for renewal of and additions to all or parts of the estates, to enable improved
housing opportunities for local residents and to support economic regeneration in this
area.

5.80 Asawhole, the north Fulham area (West Kensington together with the area around
and including the northern part of the town centre) remains one of the most polarised in
the borough in social, economic and physical terms. Regeneration in the FRA provides
opportunities to secure economic benefits for the wider North Fulham community. New
employment would be expected to stimulate considerable investment in the surrounding
area and in town centre businesses. All this will, in turn, increase local employment
opportunities.

Page 173



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 61

5|

5.81 New social, physical, environmental and transport infrastructure will be necessary
to support the needs of the growing residential and worker community in the FRA. It is
anticipated that most infrastructure will be needed to support development within the Earl’s
Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area. Financial contributions will be sought for
the delivery of off site improvements where the on site delivery of infrastructure cannot be
secured. Substantial improvements to the public transport network and highway network
will also be necessary, including improvements to London Underground and Overground
station, new and more frequent bus routes and new bus stops, and junction and road
capacity improvements. Opportunities should be explored to secure the provision of a
decentralised energy network, particularly within the Earl’s Court and West Kensington
Opportunity Area. Development must also take account of the capacity of the physical
and environmental infrastructure, particularly for sewerage and surface water.

5.82 Development within the FRA should be of the highest quality of design and respect
surrounding heritage assets. The FRA is bounded by a number of Conservation Areas
and statutory listed and locally listed buildings. There will be opportunities for higher density
development, including the potential for tall building, subject to detailed design and analysis.
Architecture within the FRA should be of the highest quality and opportunities should be
explored to improve connectivity through the FRA, especially within the Earl’s Court and
West Kensington Opportunity Area.

Page 174



62 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

The Council will support the phased mixed use residential led redevelopment
of the Earl’s Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area. Development
proposals should:

e provide a mix of land uses, mcludlng housmg, employment hotels, leisure
and associated -

facilities, retail and 5 Legend | AL et
e =FRA1 Earls Court and West Kensington & ¥
cultural facilities. o] Open spaces 1

r_ 'Borough boundary 1

Cultural facilities Pz
should include a major '
arts, leisure or
entertainment activity;

e provide adequate
social, physical,
environmental and
transport infrastructure
to support the needs of
the area as a whole;

e provide for
improvement to the
West Kensington,
Gibbs Green and
Registered Provider
estates, as part of the
comprehensive
approach to the
regeneration of the
Opportunity Area;

e provide green corridors
and public open
spaces including the
provision of a centrally
located local park of at
least 2 hectares;and =7~ . & o %4 N

e recognise the QEEIETEETNE L ) e e .
substantial scope PR N NN & s
offered by the scale
and location of the Opportunity Area to create a new sense of place and
range of densities. There may be scope for tall buildings, however any tall
buildings would need to be justified by a full urban design analysis.

B
o

Justification

5.83 The Earl’s Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area covers approximately 37
hectares across both the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham and the Royal
Borough of Kensington and Chelsea.

Page 175



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 63

5|

5.84 The Earl’s Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area is identified in the Mayor’s
London Plan (2016) as having the capacity to deliver 7,500 homes and 9,500 jobs. It is
estimated that 6,500 homes and 8,500 jobs could be accommodated within Hammersmith
and Fulham. In order to realise this development potential, the council will expect a
comprehensive approach to be taken to the improvements to and the redevelopment of
the FRA Opportunity Area. This approach will have benefits in terms of:

e A comprehensive approach for the whole area would provide the opportunity to create
a permeable layout for the whole area, with a good range of facilities and useful open
space and better connections to rail and underground stations. It will also provide the
potential to enable the inclusion of new road links between the A4 and Lillie Road
that will help improve the local highway network (in LBHF and RBKC) as well as better
servicing the development. There would be a holistic approach to design issues across
the area.

e Aphased development would underpin regeneration of the surrounding area through
a greatly increased demand for local shops and services. It would help regenerate
North End Road.

e There would be significant scope for new commercial development and development
of a new major visitor destination with associated hotel and leisure development. This
would provide more local employment opportunities and the scope for training and
apprenticeship schemes.

e A comprehensive approach to all the area would enable estate renewal and provide
more scope for development of an appropriate mix and a more even distribution of
housing tenures across the opportunity area.

5.85 Development should be primarily residential led, but the size of the FRA Opportunity
Area allows for a range of supporting uses to be provided. The quantity of office floorspace
will need careful assessment in relation to the role of Hammersmith Town Centre as a
preferred office location and the proposals for the Old Oak and White City Opportunity
Areas.

5.86 The Earls Court & West Kensington Opportunity Area will be expected to deliver
a range of other commercial uses, for example retail, leisure, culture and hotels. Retail
and leisure uses will need to ensure that they have no significant adverse impact on existing
centres. Earls Court has been a cultural destination for a significant period of time. Despite
the loss of the Earl’s Court Exhibition Centre, this legacy should not be lost and
development proposals brought forward within the Opportunity Area should provide a arts,
leisure or entertainment venue which should help to continue the area’s cultural legacy.

5.87 The size of the site and the anticipated development potential will mean that the
majority of social infrastructure provision can be provided on site. It is considered that
development may need to provide educational facilities (secondary, primary and nursery
provision), a health centre, a community centre which could potentially include a library,
an affordable leisure centre and a police station as well as public open space.

5.88 The majority of the opportunity area is well served by public transport including
bus routes and railway stations linked to the District, Piccadilly and West London lines,
but access to public transport will need to be improved. Planned and committed TfL
improvements to services will greatly increase public transport capacity. However, traffic
congestion limits the capacity of the highway network consequently new development will
need to be based on very high public transport use. Development is likely to need a range
of transport improvements including, potential improvements to the highway network.

Page 176



64 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

5.89 Development must also take account of the capacity of the physical infrastructure,
particularly for sewerage and surface water management and the ability of the sewerage
network to take increased foul and surface water drainage generated by this site. In
addition, the West London Line railway corridor is designated partly as a green corridor
and partly as a nature conservation area of borough wide importance. It is important that
these ecological resources are protected and enhanced. Opportunities should also be
explored for the provision or connection into a decentralised energy network.

5.90 The West Kensington and Gibbs Green housing estates lie to the west of the
Opportunity Area. The West Kensington Estate was built between 1972-74 and includes
604 properties in 5 tower blocks, low rise flats, maisonettes and terraced houses. Gibbs
Green Estate has 98 properties built in 1961 and comprising 7 medium-rise blocks. There
are also pockets of newer Housing Association development across the estates. The
eastern boundary is formed largely by the TfL depot which has an adverse effect on the
estate environment.

5.91 The Council will encourage comprehensive redevelopment proposals for the
Opportunity Area that include improvements to the West Kensington and Gibbs Green
estates. This could potentially include renewal and additions to parts of the estates. There
should be no net reduction in the amount of social rented housing in the Opportunity Area.
Mixed and balanced communities should be created across the Opportunity Area and the
existing community should be supported and strengthened through the provision of a
variety of housing, including affordable housing, made available to local people.

5.92 The FRA Opportunity Area has a strong physical, social and economic context
provided by the surrounding communities, and the existing urban grain, form and pattern
of development of the surrounding residential areas, conservation areas, and town and
local centres. New development must be planned having regard to and respecting this
setting and should reflect the high quality residential conditions found in the vicinity in both
boroughs. Also, owing to the size and scale of the Opportunity Area, new development
should realise the scope for delivering new places of different character, including varied
urban form and density. Development should be permeable and provide new connections
to improve the existing local highway, pedestrian and cycle networks. This will help to
ensure that the potential regeneration benefits to the surrounding area are optimised and
that people living in both boroughs will benefit.

5.93 In principle, some tall buildings may be appropriate in the FRA Opportunity Area.
However, tall buildings will need to be put in context as part of full urban design analysis
that considers, in particular, local and longer distance views (e.g. from the riverside), as
well as examining the impact on the rest of the Opportunity Area and conservation areas
in the surrounding area in both boroughs. Overall, the design, layout, massing and density
of development should have regard to the local context and setting of local heritage assets.
Care needs to be taken to protect and enhance the character and appearance of Brompton
Cemetery in the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea which is a Grade | Registered
Historic Park and Garden of Historic Interest.

5.94 In 2013, planning approval was granted for the redevelopment of the Earl's Court
Exhibition Centre, Lillie Bridge transport depot and the West Kensington and Gibbs Green
housing estates to provide a mixed use residential led development. Separately, in 2012
planning permission was granted to redevelop the Seagrave Road car park.

Page 177



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 65

5|

South Fulham Regeneration Area
Context

5.95 The South Fulham Riverside Regeneration Area (SFRRA) is located in the south
of the borough, next to the River Thames. The area has a south facing river frontage of
1,700m, which is the most defining feature of the area. It is bound by the Hurlingham Club
and the Broomhouse Drawdock on the west and the West London Line embankment in
the east. The northern boundary generally follows the line of Carnwath Road and
Townmead Road, extending north to include the Imperial Gasworks National Grid site.

5.96 The area comprises a mix of land uses and includes underutilised and vacant
riverfront commercial sites that sit alongside new large residential developments. The area
is in fragmented ownership, and access to the riverside is limited, restricted to isolated
passages around large plots of land. The area has been designated a regeneration area
because it is capable of a substantial increase in homes and jobs along the riverfront.

5.97 The maijority of the SFRRA lies within the Sands End Conservation Area, designated
to protect the River Thames and riverside from unsympathetic development. Part of the
north and eastern part of the SFRRA is included within the Imperial Square & Gasworks
Conservation Area. On the Gasworks site there are a number of listed structures including
the Gasholder (circa 1830), believed to be the oldest surviving gasholder in the world. The
Cremorne Bridge, also known as Battersea Railway Bridge - built between 1861 and 1863
- is listed as Grade II*, it is considered to be the most complete of the early railway bridges
across the Thames in inner London. The River Thames is a nature conservation area of
metropolitan importance.

5.98 The construction of the Thames Tideway Tunnel along Carnwath Road is a major
project in the SFRRA. The Thames Tideway Tunnel was granted development consent,
by virtue of the Thames Water Utilities Limited (Thames Tideway Tunnel) Order on 12
September 2014, which came into force on 24 September 2014. Whiffin Wharf, Hulingham
Wharf and Carnwath Road Industrial Estate will combine to form a 'drive site' from which
a tunnel boring machine (TBM) will be received from Kirtling Street and a further TBM will
be given to Acton Storm Tanks in London Borough of Ealing. Works on the site will last
up to 7 years, commencing in Summer 2016.

Page 178



66 | LB

Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

Indicative homes

Indicative jobs

4,000

500

The council will work with landowners and other partners to secure the phased
regeneration of the area to become a high quality residential area together with
a mix of other uses. In order to achieve this, the council will work with:

neighbouring boroughs, strategic partners, and landowners to secure
regeneration of the SFRRA; and
actively engage with local residents and community groups to ensure that
regeneration delivers benefits for the surrounding area.

Proposals for development in SFRRA should:

predominantly be for residential purposes to contribute to the South Fulham

Riverside target of
4,000 additional
dwellings by 2035;
include employment
based uses that will
meet local business
needs and are
compatible with
residential
development in the
most accessible parts
of the area, particularly
in the vicinity of
Imperial Wharf Station
and on sites close to
the Wandsworth Bridge
Road, Townmead Road
and Carnwath Road
junction;

include appropriate
small scale retail,
restaurants/ cafe's and
leisure uses to support
day to day needs.
These uses are likely to
be appropriate on the
Thames frontage to
provide activity
adjacent to the river.

Legend
D South Fulham Riverside Regeneration Area
Open Spaces

e R R o oL

= 4 ©® Crown capyright. All rights reserved. |-
L. B. HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM
Licence No. LA100019223 2014

Opportunities for river related uses will be encouraged in accordance with
the objectives of the Local Plan River Thames policies;

create a high quality urban environment. On the riverside, a very high
standard of urban design will be necessary. Opportunities will be

Page 179




LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 67

5|

encouraged that maximise the permeability and connectivity between sites,
including the extension of the Thames Path National Trail and provision of
open spaces that create interest and activity;

e demonstrate how they integrate and connect with the surrounding context,
particularly the river;

e support the implementation of a pedestrian and cycle bridge that will provide
access to the south of the river;

e provide appropriate social, physical and environmental infrastructure to
support the needs arising from development and the area as a whole;

e secure economic benefits for the wider community around the South Fulham
Regeneration Area by providing programmes to enable local people to
access new job opportunities through training, local apprenticeships or
targeted recruitment;

e be acceptable in terms of their transport impact and contribute to necessary
public transport accessibility and highway capacity in the SFRRA; and

e Dbe sensitively integrated with the existing townscape, ensuring no
substantially harmful impact on heritage assets, and respect for the scale
of the surrounding residential buildings, particularly to the north and east
of the regeneration area. Building height can be gently stepped up toward
the riverside, to provide a presence and give definition to the river frontage.

The council will work with Transport for London and other Stakeholders to seek
a new Crossrail 2 station at Imperial Wharf.

Justification

5.99 The South Fulham Riverside, along Carnwath and Townmead Roads, is in a variety
of uses: residential, commercial and industrial, retail and leisure. Many sites in the SFRRA,
including Imperial Wharf, Chelsea Creek, Baltic Sawmills, Lots Road and Fulham Wharf,
have planning permissions for development, but there has been limited new employment
development for light industrial, office or storage uses whereas considerable residential
development has taken place. The overriding need is for new homes and much of the
area is not accessible enough for significant new employment space. The Strategic Housing
Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) identifies capacity for nearly 4,000 additional homes
in the plan period, up to 2037. Individual development sites may need to be supported by
Transport Assessments which detail the impact of any scheme on the highway, walking
and cycling networks, public transport routes and taking into consideration any committed
developments within the area.

5.100 With much of the area having a low PTAL rating, it is important that employment
space should be located in the most accessible parts of the regeneration area, being
Imperial Wharf Station, with a secondary location around the junction at Wandsworth
Bridge Road, Townmead Road and Carnwath Road where it is closest to a number of bus
routes that run both along Wandsworth Bridge Road and along Townmead Road. With
many previous employment sites being redeveloped for housing, it is important that some
replacement employment opportunities are provided in new development schemes to
create a mixed use area and provide jobs locally.

5.101 Small scale retail, restaurants and cafes should be provided as part of mixed use
developments, primarily to meet local need, particularly on the riverfront to provide a vibrant
and high quality environment that will increase riverfront activity along the Thames Path

Page 180



68 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

National Trail. The riverside walk should connect to a series of public spaces along its
length to accommodate active uses and interest along the linear spaces. The Council does
not consider that it is appropriate for additional major stores to be considered in the area.
Any additional floorspace in the area should primarily cater for local needs in order to
sustain the town centres. The majority of the SFRRA is within the Thames Policy Area
where specific design policies apply, as set out in the borough-wide policies. It is also a
key priority to extend and improve the Thames Path National Trail, together with pedestrian
routes linked from the river and canal to the surrounding area. The riverside walk should
be at least 6 metres wide. Much of this will depend on the development of vacant and
underused riverside sites. The River Thames also has a significant potential for water
based activities that can increase opportunities for sport and recreation in the borough.

5.102 A holistic approach to the regeneration of SFRRA will provide opportunities to
improve local connectivity in the area. The whole stretch should be dealt with in a
comprehensive way. The area was shaped by its industrial heritage and this pattern
remains apparent today. Without consideration of how the schemes relate to one another
and have regard to its setting and context, there is a danger of isolating communities The
council will expect developers to demonstrate how the development approach will optimise
the site for development, accessibility and recreational benefit, along with how it will benefit
neighbouring developments and local residents. Each development should identify key
spaces and nodes where routes intersect or are prominent. Connections to and from
Imperial Wharf West London Line Station will be key for providing direct access to the key
transport connections.

5.103 There are three safeguarded wharves, with only Comley’s Wharf still in use for
waterborne freight transport. The adjoining Swedish Wharf is still used as an oil storage
depot but does not currently use the river for transport. Hurlingham Wharf is currently
vacant and has not been used as an operational wharf for 16 years.

5.104 The London Plan (2016) and the Port of London Authority seek to protect
safeguarded wharves for cargo handling uses. The Mayor of London’s Safeguarded Wharf
Review in 2011/12 contained, among other things, recommendations to continue to
safeguard Hurlingham, Swedish and Comleys wharves. However, the Secretary of State
has not yet reported on the Mayor’s recommendations which were submitted to the DCLG
in March 2013 for approval.

5.105 Hurlingham Wharf and adjoining sites are required as a main drive site for the
construction of the Thames Tideway Tunnel. The construction of the Thames Tideway
Tunnel was approved by the Secretaries State for Communities and Local Government
and for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs in September 2014 and will limit regeneration
in the Carnwath Road area for the next 10 years. On 24th September, the Thames Tideway
Tunnel Order 2014 came into force and Hurlingham Wharf and adjoining sites have been
safeguarded for the construction of the tunnel under provisions set out in article 52 of the
Order.

5.106 The council will continue to promote the consolidation of wharf capacity
downstream of Wandsworth Bridge on Swedish and Comleys Wharves, where road access
to the strategic road network can be improved. Any proposals for non-river use on the
safeguarded wharf sites will need to be supported by viability assessments in accordance
with the London Plan (2016) policy 7.26 ‘Increasing the Use of the Blue Ribbon Network
for Freight Transport’.

Page 181



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 69

5|

5.107 A new pedestrian and cycle bridge would provide a key link to allow more people
to access the south of the river and the Clapham Junction Town Centre. Pedestrians and
cyclists could use either side of the river, providing alternative leisure and commuter routes,
and will be likely to increase the number of pedestrians and cyclists using the Thames
Path National Trail. Planning permission has been approved for a footbridge adjacent to
Cremorne Bridge, as it is located most centrally between the other crossing points of
Wandsworth Bridge and Battersea Bridge, which are approximately between a 1km and
1.2km walk in either direction. Proposals will have to be carefully considered in relation to
any impact the footbridge may have on the setting of and views toward the Grade II* Listed
Cremorne Bridge.

5.108 Itis anticipated that most physical and social infrastructure capacity required by
the increase in resident and worker population will need to be provided on site or in close
proximity to the development. This will need to include facilities such as primary and
secondary school places, contributions toward health facilities, public open space, play
space, a community centre and policing. There will also be requirements for highway
network and public transport improvements throughout South Fulham Riverside particularly
at the Wandsworth Bridge Road junction.

5.109 Regeneration in the SFRRA provides opportunities to secure economic benefits
for the wider community in the borough. Training and employment funding and initiatives,
including through pre-employment support activity and local recruitment campaigns will
be important. New employment would be expected to stimulate considerable investment
in the surrounding area. All this will, in turn, increase local employment opportunities. It
will be important to put in place schemes to assist people in gaining access to new jobs.
The council will encourage businesses to embrace the London Living Wage.

5.110 The amount and type of development will depend on the capacity of public transport
and the road network in this area and the potential for their improvement. Public transport
accessibility is generally at a low level with most of the area being at least a 10 minute
walk from an underground or rail station. However, bus services have improved in recent
years and the Imperial Wharf West London Line (WLL) station has improved accessibility
in the eastern part of the area. The WLL is set for a platform extension and TfL will be
improving bus services in the area through s106 contributions as and when demand
dictates. The council will work with transport partners to carry out further public transport
improvements in this area. The extension of the river bus service will be encouraged to
call at Chelsea Harbour Pier. It currently runs at peak times between Putney and Central
London. In addition, the council supports Crossrail 2 and will seek a new station at Imperial
Wharf. This will provide better transport links in this part of the borough and will support
the new homes and jobs planned for the area.

5.111 The majority of the South Fulham Riverside Regeneration Area lies within the
Sands End Conservation Area, while part of the north east section is included within the
Imperial Square and Gasworks Conservation Area. The townscape analysis prepared as
part of the existing Core Strategy SPD for South Fulham Riverside suggests that the area
has two key focal points of townscape significance, the first being at Fulham Wharf where
the supermarket provides a draw and focus of activity. The second is at Imperial
Wharf/Chelsea Harbour, which is based around the new development, park and station.
These areas, in view of the townscape significance could accommodate increased massing
and height. However, such developments should consider any potential impacts of
increased height and/or massing on heritage assets in the surrounding area, including
any impact of the view from the Brompton Cemetery. Elsewhere in the framework area,
the general scale, height and massing should have a closer relationship to the existing

Page 182



70 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

townscape. There is a variation in building height in the area, and it would be appropriate
for new development to adopt a similar variety of scale, ensuring that development on the
river front provides a clear edge to the riverside walk in order to provide some presence
and enclose the area fronting onto the river. This could be satisfactorily accommodated
throughout the area, ensuring that in certain pockets such as along Townmead Road and
Carnwath Road, that the more domestic scale is respected.

Page 183



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 71

5|

The council supports comprehensive residential-led development of the site
with supporting community facilities and open space. Development proposals
for this site should:

e be e . R _ 5
predominantly g e - 7N ' |
residential with = RS e
supporting
social,
physical,
environmental
and transport
infrastructure;

e provide for a
link road
through the site
connecting
Imperial Road =D )
throughtothe ~ =l p o TN
New Kings b T " -y S e b ke
Road together with a network of pedestrian and cycle connections.

e aim to provide a pedestrian access under the West London Line at the
southern end of the site connecting to Lots Road;

e provide an area of public open space of at least 1 hectare to support the
needs of the development and contribute to reducing open space deficiency
in the area;

e be of high quality design which respects the character and appearance of
the Imperial Square and Gasworks Conservation Area and protects the
Grade Il Listed Gasholder and its setting and other heritage assets in the
surrounding townscape;

e ensure building height is generally consistent with the existing height in
the townscape, having particular regard to the civic significance of the site
and the importance of enhancing the contribution and setting of the Grade
Il listed Town Hall building and respecting views along the river.

e ensure any remaining gas operations that may be required are designed in
such a way to ensure that that may be required health and safety
requirements are met and integrated into the high quality design for the
area with minimal impact.

A

Justification

5.112 The Imperial Gasworks National Grid site has been mainly used for a gas storage
facility and is now decommissioned. The site has potential to come forward for a
residential-led development to increase the quantity of new housing in the borough, in line
with the overall SFRRA policy. Ancillary uses such as small scale retail for day to day
needs will also be appropriate, along with social and physical infrastructure to adequately
provide for the additional population.

Page 184



72 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|5

5.113 A new link road will be required to enable development of this site and facilitate
the regeneration of South Fulham Riverside by easing capacity at the Bagley’s Lane
junction, as tested and modelled in the Strategic Transport Study. Further work will be
required to assess any link road options and the impact that increased traffic would have
on nearby junctions, including those in the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea.
The site must also be designed to ensure increased permeability through to the Chelsea
Creek development which is currently under construction.

5.114 A network of pedestrian and cycle links should be encouraged, to provide access
through the strategic site to the Chelsea Creek development and on to the Thames Path
National Trail, but also improve connections under the West London Line which currently
acts as a barrier to pedestrian movement and connect the site to Lots Road. Such a
connection could be provided immediately north of the Counters Creek/ Chelsea Creek.

5.115 The area is located in an area of open space deficiency, therefore an area of
public open space should be provided as part of any proposal for this site. A larger park
could be provided at this site which could include a variety of spaces that will provide
vitality and interact with its surrounding environment. The open space should feel generous
and well-designed so that it feels safe and accessible.

5.116 Part of the site lies within the Imperial Square and Gasworks Conservation Area.
There is a rich history of industrial archaeology on the Gas Works site including statutory
and locally listed buildings, some of which make a key contribution to the character and
appearance of the Conservation Area must be retained and integrated into the design of
any new development. Where non-designated heritage assets cannot practicably be
retained on site, the building or structure should be fully recorded.

5.117 New buildings should respect the scale and amenity of nearby residential
properties, and should be low to medium rise, particularly at the northern end of the site
where neighbouring residential development is two-storey. There may be potential for an
increase in massing at the south-eastern end of the site near to the neighbouring taller
buildings at Chelsea Creek, however this would need to be of very high quality design and
would be subject to detailed views analysis.

5.118 Any remaining activities relating to the gas works facility should comply with
environmental policies, particularly borough wide policies on hazardous substances and
control of potentially polluting uses if any related activities to gas storage are to be retained
on site.

Page 185



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 73

6|

6 Borough-wide Policies

6.1 In addition to the regeneration area policies, there are a number of borough wide
and locally specific policies to deliver the spatial strategy and to ensure that development
both within and outside the proposed regeneration areas contributes to meeting the council’s
objectives. The borough wide policies set out below are relevant to development throughout
the borough, including the regeneration areas.

Meeting Housing Needs and Aspirations

Policy HO1 - Housing Supply

The council will work with partner organisations and landowners to exceed the
London Plan target of 1,031 additional dwellings a year up to 2025 and to
continue to seek at least 1,031 additional dwellings a year in the period up to
2035. The new homes to meet London’s housing need will be achieved by:

a. the development of strategic sites identified within the Local Plan;

b. the development of sites identified in the council’s Strategic Housing Land
Availability Assessment;

c. the development of windfall sites and the change of use of buildings where
there is no reasonable prospect of that site and/or premises being used for
that purpose;

d. the provision of new homes through conversions;

e. ensuring that new dwellings meet local needs and are available for
occupation by people living in London;

f.  the retention of existing residential accommodation and improvement in
the quality of private rented housing; and

g. working to return vacant homes to use and ensure that new homes are
occupied.

The following are estimates of the likely increases in new housing in different
parts of the borough.

Page 186



74 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

Table 2 Indicative Housing Targets

2015/20 | 2020/25 | Total 10 | 2025/30 | 2030/35 | Total 20
years years

White City 1,000 2,500 3,500 1,500 1,000 6,000
Regeneration

Area/Opportunity

Area **

Hammersmith 200 600 800 1000 1,000 2,800
Town Centre

Fulham 1,500 2,500 4,000 1,500 1,500 7,000
Regeneration

Area **

South Fulham 1,500 1,500 3,000 500 500 4,000
Riverside

Rest of the 1,000 700 1,700 700 0* 2,400
borough

Total 5,200 7,800 13,000 5,200 4,000 22,200
Averagelyear 1,040 1,560 2,600 1,040 800 1,110

*The estimates are based on identified sites. Due to the smaller nature of the sites
outside of the Regeneration Areas, there are no known sites that are expected to come
forward outside of Regeneration Areas in the longer term.

**The figures for the White City Opportunity Area and the Fulham Regeneration Area
are consistent with the London Plan 2016. In the London Plan 2016, the Earls Court &
West Kensington Opportunity Area (which forms part of the Fulham Regeneration Area)
has a minimum target of 6,500 dwellings. In the figures above, 7,000 dwellings have
been allocated to that part of the ECWK OA within LBHF and 1000 to the area that is
within RBKC.

Justification

6.2 The council's housing target in the London Plan (2016)?? is 1,031 additional homes
a year in the period up to 2025. The figure of 1,031 additional homes was developed
through collaborative working with the Mayor of London on the London Housing Capacity
Study 2013 and through further work on the council’s and London's Strategic Housing
Land Availability Assessment®?. However, it should be noted that the figure of 1,031
pre-dates the establishment of the Old Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation and
that a new housing target for the borough will need to be set by the Mayor in the proposed
review of the London Plan due to begin in 2016.

29 Mayor of London, The London Plan: spatial development strategy for Greater London, GLA March
2016
30 The London Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment (SHLAA) 2013

Page 187



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 75

6|

6.3 Table 2 indicates that the council would expect housing provision to exceed the
London Plan (2016) target for additional homes for the period 2015 up to 2025. However
recent experience indicates that even though sites are developable and have the benefit
of planning permission housing completions do not come forward at the anticipated rate.
The council will monitor the annual completion of dwellings and will work with developers
to ensure that sites with residential planning permissions are developed.

6.4 Housing capacities in the two opportunity areas in White City and Earls Court &
West Kensington are based on recent planning permissions and on guidance included in
the Core Strategy 2011 Supplementary documents namely, the White City Opportunity
Area Planning Framework and Earls Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area Joint
Supplementary Planning Document.

6.5 The indicative housing targets are based on the assessment methodology set out

in the council's Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment. The actual numbers of

houses built on any site will be considered through the planning application process. This
process will take account of the site setting, urban design of housing areas, appropriate

housing mix, transport capacity and other factors as set out in policies in the Local Plan

and other guidance.

6.6 In addition to the significant amounts of new housing proposed in the regeneration
areas, additional housing will come forward on windfall sites throughout the borough and
as a result of changes of use of non-residential buildings and the conversion of larger
houses to two or more smaller dwellings.

6.7 In addition to the provision of new housing to meet both local need and London’s
need for more housing, it is essential that housing is not lost to other uses and that it is
not allowed to remain vacant. There is evidence from the 2011 Census and from other
sources that some flats and houses, particularly those that have been recently completed,
are unoccupied. Properties are being purchased by investors and being left vacant and
therefore are not contributing to meeting London’s housing need. The Mayor of London
is seeking to address this by encouraging developers to sign up to his New Homes for
Londoners Concordat which commits them to making homes in their developments available
for sale to Londoners before or at the same time as they are available to buyers from other
countries. The council will therefore work with developers and land owners to ensure that
new dwellings are marketed and occupied as homes by local and UK residents. More
details of measures to encourage occupation and discourage vacancy will be included in
a supplementary planning document on 'Buy to Leave' properties.

(31)

6.8 The Mayor of London's Supplementary Planning Guidance on Housing" " should

be read in conjunction with this policy.

31 Mayor of London's Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) — March 2016
Page 188



76 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

Policy HO2 - Housing Conversion and Retention
The council will:
a. Permit conversions of existing dwellings into two or more dwellings where:

¢ the net floor area of the original dwelling is more than 120sqm;

e atleast 50% of the proposed units consist of two or more bedrooms;

e housing appropriate for families has access to any garden or amenity
space; and

e there is no adverse impact on on-street parking stress.

b. Resist proposals which would result in a net loss of permanent residential
accommodation as a result of redevelopment or change of use without
replacement (measured by floorspace), including to short stay
accommodation.

c. In streets where there is less than 10% night-time free space the number
of additional dwellings may be restricted or conditioned to allow no
additional on-street parking.

Justification

6.9 In order to achieve the council’s housing target of an additional 1,031 dwellings per
annum, it is important that as well as provision of new housing there should be no net loss
of the existing housing stock through change of use or redevelopment for other uses.

6.10 The smaller terraced houses in the borough provide a source of accommodation
suitable for families and it is important to ensure that this stock is not unduly reduced
because of conversion into flats or larger HMO's.

6.11 The requirement for at least 50% of the proposed units in conversions to be of two
or more bedrooms will allow for the retention of a mix of units offering the possibility of
accommodation to be provided for families. Larger schemes will allow for a possible net
increase in the amount of family sized accommodation in the borough.

6.12 Some areas of the borough are likely to be considered less suitable for family
accommodation, including areas adjacent to busy roads where there is little opportunity
to provide amenity space, in town centres or where there are residential premises above
shops. In these instances, there will be more flexibility in the approach to conversions,
although each case will be assessed on a site by site basis.

6.13 Because conversions can give rise to a demand for additional on-street parking
space, it will be important to ensure that parking stress is not exacerbated. In streets where
there is less than 10% night-time free space, the number of additional dwellings may be
restricted or conditioned to allow no additional on-street parking.

6.14 The loss of existing housing, particularly affordable housing, will be resisted unless
the housing is replaced at existing or higher densities with at least equivalent floorspace
in accordance with London Plan (2016) policy 3.14 - Existing Housing. Short stay
accommodation (defined as housing let for less than 90 days) is primarily intended for

Page 189



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 77

6|

visitors and does not meet the need for additional permanent housing in London and will
be resisted. There is evidence that at least 225 flats and houses in the borough are being
used as short stay accommodation for visitors to London.

Policy HO3 - Affordable Housing

Housing development should increase the supply and improve the mix of
affordable housing to help achieve more sustainable communities in the
borough.

On sites with the capacity for 10 or more self-contained dwellings affordable
housing should be provided having regard to the following:

a. Aborough wide target that at least 50% of all dwellings built between 2015-25
should be affordable.

b. 60% of additional affordable housing should be for social or affordable
renting, especially for families and 40% should be a range of intermediate
housing.

c. Affordable dwellings should be located throughout a new development and
not concentrated on one part of the site.

d. The provision of affordable rented and social rented housing in ways that
enable tenants to move into home ownership.

e. Innegotiating for affordable housing a proposed development, the council
will seek the maximum reasonable amount of affordable housing and take
into account:

e site size and site constraints; and
e financial viability, having regard to the individual circumstances of the
site and the availability of public subsidy.

f.  In exceptional circumstances, a financial contribution may be required to
provide affordable housing off-site where other sites may be more
appropriate or beneficial in meeting the borough's identified affordable
housing needs.

In addition, there should be no net loss of social/affordable rented housing on
any development sites.

Justification

6.15 A key aim of the Local Plan is to meet local housing need by increasing housing
supply, particularly the supply of affordable housing. In order to achieve this strategy
Hammersmith and Fulham will seek to increase the amount of affordable housing in the
borough by setting an affordable housing target of at least 50% of all additional dwellings
to be built between 2015 and 2025. 60% of the net gain in affordable housing should be
social or affordable rented housing and 40% should be intermediate housing available to
households who cannot afford to buy and/or rent market accommodation in the borough
32) |n schemes of nine or less units the council will negotiate for affordable housing where
there is considered to be capacity for more units. In determining capacity the council will

32 Hammersmith and Fulham Housing Market Assessment 2014

Page 190



78 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

take into account the guidance included in London Plan (2016) policy 3.13 and supporting
supplementary planning guidance, for example in schemes where dwellings are large in
floorspace terms but below 10 units and could yield a larger number of average sized
homes the application of affordable housing policy will apply. In order to meet the target
for affordable housing, the council will negotiate for affordable housing to be provided on
all larger sites in accordance with the London Plan (2016) threshold target of sites with
the capacity for 10 or more additional self-contained dwellings. In some circumstances it
may be appropriate to redevelop social/affordable rented housing in order to improve the
quality of the housing stock or to provide a better mix of housing. Where this is appropriate,
the local community should be fully involved and there should be no net loss of
social/affordable rented housing in terms of numbers of dwellings or habitable rooms
provided.

Income and the cost of housing

6.16 As outlined previously, some parts of Hammersmith and Fulham are very deprived
and other areas have some of the most prosperous neighbourhoods in London. There are
four Lower Super Output Areas®® within the 10% most deprived nationally; and, 25 Lower
Super Output Areas, or 23% of the borough, amongst the 20% most deprived nationally.
The most deprived neighbourhoods are also those with the highest levels of social rented
housing.

6.17 House prices and private sector rents are well above the London and the West
London average. Hammersmith and Fulham has the 4" highest house prices in the country.
The average property price in September 2014 was £795K which is 73% above the London
average. Also house prices have been increasing much faster in London than elsewhere
in the country(34).

6.18 Rents in the private sector are also high compared to the rest of London. The
average rent in in the borough is £1,724 per month, the 6" highest in London and over
twice the average for England as a whole®®).

6.19 The very high cost of market housing both for owner occupation and for rent impacts
on who can afford to live in the borough. Using the 3.5x earnings as a measure of
affordability and the current lower quartile income house price for the borough (£360,000),
a household would need an income of £103,000 to purchase an ‘entry level’ property in
the borough.

6.20 Although private sector rents are high in comparison to incomes they are significantly
more affordable than owner occupation. The number of households living in private rented
housing has risen from 17,650 (23.4%) households in 2001 to 26,800 (33.3%) in 2011,
about a 50% increase in 10 years. In 2011, 34% of households live in owner occupied
housing which is a significant reduction since 2001, when 44% of households were in
owner occupation.

33 A Super Output Area (SOA) is a geographical area designed for the collection and publication of small
area statistics. There are 111 SOAs in Hammersmith and Fulham each comprising about 700
households

34 September 2014 Land Registry. Market Trend Data

35 Hammersmith and Fulham Housing Market Assessment 2015

Page 191



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 79

6|

6.21 Although the stock of intermediate affordable housing has increased in the last 10
years, the 2011 Census recorded only 1,257 households living in shared ownership housing
compared to 706 households in 2001. The census does not provide data on the number
of households living in other forms of intermediate housing, such as discounted market
sale housing. These households are all included in the owner occupied sector.

6.22 Social rented housing has increased from 24,630 (31.7%) in 2001 Census to 25,133
(31.1%) in 2011 Census. In some parts of the borough, in particular the north of the
borough, the proportion is significantly higher.

Need for affordable housing

6.23 The analysis of income and housing costs above highlights the very high cost of
housing both for owner occupation and private renting in relation to household incomes
in the borough. The need for more affordable housing in the borough is demonstrated by
the number of households on the Housing Register — 850 applicants and the number of
households, approximately 1,200 in temporary housing, including bed and breakfast. Also,
17% of households in social rented housing in the borough are overcrowded. Hammersmith
and Fulham is ranked 12" in terms of boroughs with the most overcrowded properties.

6.24 In addition to the number of households requiring social/affordable rented housing,
there are also applicants on the Homebuy Register seeking intermediate affordable housing
to buy. As house prices and market rents are so high in the borough, affordable rented
and intermediate housing needs to be affordable to a broad range of incomes. The income
range of households that should be eligible for new intermediate affordable housing in
Hammersmith and Fulham is £21,100 to £80,000 for households that require three or more
bedrooms.

Negotiating for Affordable Housing

6.25 In considering the mix of tenure that is appropriate for additional dwellings to be
built in the borough, the council has had regard to the London Plan (2016) affordable
housing policies and to its assessment of the housing market, including housing need and
how this can be met.

6.26 It is recognised that in negotiating for affordable housing on a specific site, site
constraints and financial viability may affect the amount of affordable housing that can be
achieved on that site.

6.27 The government is considering measures that would require councils to promote
Starter Homes and allow developers to include Starter Homes in development schemes
as an alternative to more traditional forms of affordable housing. Starter Homes are seen
by the government as a way to help first-time buyers under 40 buy their own home and
will need to be offered at a discount of at least 20% below market value and, in London,
cost no more than £450,000. The council considers that a supply of Starter Homes in the
borough may have some potential to retain middle-income households that would otherwise
have to move elsewhere to satisfy aspirations for owner-occupation, but will do little to
meet the aspirations of lower income households in housing need. The council will need
to weigh the needs of different groups when considering development schemes, but where
Starter Homes are substituted for affordable housing in development proposals, the council
will expect them to replace affordable home ownership products (primarily shared
ownership) rather than affordable rented housing.

Page 192



80 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

6.28 Affordable housing should normally be provided on-site. In exceptional cases where
it can be demonstrated that this is not appropriate in terms of the policies in this Plan, it
may be provided off-site. A cash in lieu contribution will only be accepted where this would
have demonstrable benefits in furthering the affordable housing and other policies in this
Plan. It will be ring-fenced and, if appropriate, pooled to secure additional affordable
housing either on identified sites elsewhere or as part of an agreed programme for provision
of affordable housing.

Policy HO4 - Housing Quality and Density

The council will expect all housing development to respect the local setting and
context, provide a high quality residential environment, be well designed
internally and externally and energy efficient and (subject to the size of scheme)
provide a good range of housing types and sizes.

All new housing must take account of the amenity of neighbours (see also
Design and Conservation policies) and must be designed to have adequate
internal space in accordance with London Plan policies unless it can be shown
that not building to those standards is justified by the circumstances of a
particular site.

Ground level family housing should have access to private gardens/amenity
space and family housing on upper floors should have access to a balcony
and/or terrace, subject to acceptable amenity and design considerations, or to
shared amenity space and/or children's playspace.

Acceptable housing density will be dependent primarily on an assessment of
these factors, taking account of London Plan policies and subject to public
transport and highway impact and capacity.

In existing residential areas, new housing will be expected to be predominantly
low to medium rise consisting of developments of houses, maisonettes and
flats, and modern forms of the traditional mansion block and other typologies
of residential development that may be suitable for its context, with gardens
and shared amenity space in street based layouts (see also Policy OS1 Parks
and Open Spaces).

Some high density housing with limited car parking may be appropriate in
locations with high levels of public transport accessibility (PTAL 4-6) provided
it is satisfactory in all other respects.

Justification

6.29 The Local Plan seeks to improve the quality and mix of new housing in the borough.
A key element of the strategy is to provide a significant proportion of new housing as low
to medium rise housing with gardens and shared amenity space.

6.30 Itis not only important for new housing to meet standards on matters such as room
size and amenity space, but changes to the existing stock should also be fit for purpose.
The London Plan (2016) has identified minimum space standards for new development

in Table 3.3, but developers are encouraged to exceed these, so as to assist in providing

Page 193



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 81

6|

a mix of sizes. The London Plan (2016) is accompanied by a Housing sPG®® which
provides more guidance on the implementation of London Plan (2016) Policy 3.5 'Quality
and Design of Housing Developments'. In addition the council will prepare an SPD to
provide relevant guidance regarding local issues. It will be easier for new housing to meet
size and other quality criteria, but a level of flexibility will be appropriate to take into account
on-site circumstances. This is even more important for conversions and change of use,
where adaptation of existing stock means that it can be difficult to meet the same standards
as for new build.

6.31 The need for developments to take into account residential amenity of neighbours
and impact on the environment is very important in new high density schemes and in other
developments in a built up borough such as Hammersmith and Fulham where developments
are often juxtaposed with their neighbours.

6.32 Access to outdoor amenity space, particularly green space, is important for quality
of life, for biodiversity and to provide playspace for children and young people. Additional
green space is also important for mitigating flood risk in this borough. Although the provision
of balconies can provide outdoor amenity space for the occupants of flats above ground
floor level, they should always be designed to respect amenities of neighbours and be
designed so as not to detract from the character of surroundings.

6.33 Residential density ranges set out in the London Plan (2016) are important for
assessing the development potential of sites, but they are only one factor to be taken into
account in considering the appropriate scale and intensity of development.

6.34 The London Plan and the Mayor's Housing spG®? provides policy guidance to
ensure that housing output is optimised for different types of location and Table 3.2 of
London Plan (2016), Policy 3.4 identifies density ranges related to setting in terms of
location, existing building form and massing, and public transport accessibility. ‘Central’
areas are defined as areas with very dense development, a mix of different uses, large
building footprints and typically buildings of 4-6 storeys, located within 800m walking
distance of an International, Metropolitan or Major town centre. Although most of
Hammersmith and Fulham is within 800m of a Metropolitan or Major town centre, only
limited areas meet the remaining criteria of the ‘central’ areas definition. Much of the
development in Hammersmith and Fulham, including within and around the town centres,
is primarily residential with small building footprints and buildings of less than 4 storeys.
Therefore the higher density ranges of the London Plan (2016) ‘Central’ setting will only
be appropriate in those parts of the regeneration areas identified in the Local Plan as being
suitable for higher density development.

6.35 Mixed tenure housing developments should be tenure blind, meaning that it should
be difficult to spot the difference in the architectural quality of market and affordable
properties.

6.36 Small development sites can often be problematic and the council will especially
resist attempts to overdevelop which often leads to adverse effects on neighbours and
the locality. In large schemes, such as in regeneration areas, there is more scope to
achieve higher density housing and as long as there is still a good mix of housing types
overall, some high rise non-family residential may be acceptable. Such large schemes will
need to be supported by appropriate social infrastructure.

36 Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) — March 2016
37 Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) — March 2016

Page 194



82 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

Policy HO5 - Housing Mix

The council will work with Registered Providers and other house builders to
increase the supply and choice of high quality residential accommodation that
meets local residents’ needs and aspirations and demand for housing. In order
to deliver this accommodation there should be a mix of housing types and sizes
in development schemes, including family accommodation.

Developments should aim to meet the following mix subject to viability, locational
characteristics and site constraints being considered on a site by site basis:

a. for social and affordable rented housing approximately: 1 bedroom: 10%
of units; 2 bedrooms: 40% of units; 3 bedrooms: 35% of units; 4+ bedrooms
15% of units;

b. forintermediate housing approximately: 1 bedroom: 50%; 2 bedroom: 35%;
3 or more bedrooms : 15% of units; and

c. for market housing, a mix of unit sizes including larger family
accommodation.

Residential conversions that result in an increase in the number of high quality
family size dwellings will be supported, particularly where the reinstatement of
a family house can be achieved.

Justification

6.37 There is a particular need in this borough for more family sized housing (three or
more bedrooms), particularly affordable housing. However, some sites may be more
appropriate for families with children, particularly sites with safe access to amenity and
playspace, than other sites that are in town centres where access may be more be more
difficult.

6.38 For affordable homes larger than one bedroom, it will be important for
accommodation to come in a variety of sizes and bedspaces to assist in meeting housing
needs. For example, with two bedroom affordable rented homes, the council will encourage
developers to provide half of these with a capacity for four persons (with the other half for
three persons). The same approach should be applied to three bedroom properties with
50% capable of accommodating five persons and six persons and so on for larger
properties.

6.39 Although there is a recognised need for larger house sizes in the intermediate
housing market, costs of larger units can mean that that the level of subsidy required to
make three or more bedroom houses affordable can make it difficult to achieve a higher
proportion of affordable family dwellings. Therefore the focus of the policy is on one and
two bedroom dwellings whilst ensuring that schemes should also include larger family
homes. As set out within the policy this will be negotiated on a site by site basis.

6.40 Market housing should provide for a variety of housing sizes and opportunities for
family as well as non-family households to purchase new housing in the borough.

Page 195



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 83

6|

6.41 Over the years many houses have been converted into two or more smaller flats
which are generally not suitable as family accommodation. In order to increase the supply
of family housing in the borough, the council may support the de-conversion of smaller
flats in order to enable the reinstatement of a single family dwelling.

Policy HOG6 - Accessible Housing

The council will seek to secure high quality accessible homes in all developments
that include housing, in particular we will require that:

a. 90% percent of new housing should meet Building Regulation requirement
M4(2) 'accessible and adaptable dwellings' and where feasible, additional
dwellings resulting from conversions, changes of use and dwellings formed
from extensions or floors added to existing blocks of flats should also meet
this requirement.

b. 10% percent of new housing should meet Building Regulation requirement
M4(3) 'wheelchair user dwellings' designed to be wheelchair accessible
users. 'Wheelchair user dwellings' should be provided in proportion to the
tenure mix of the development.

Accessible width car parking spaces should be provided to meet the needs of
blue badge holders in accordance with Local Plan Policy T5 and British
Standards.

Justification

6.42 Over the next 20 years it is estimated that there is likely to be a 40% increase in
Hammersmith and Fulham, in the population aged over 65 and with an even greater
increase in the aged over 85 population(38). Improved life expectancy and a gradual shift
towards longer periods of time spent with chronic and disabling conditions and services
focusing more on community based support means maintaining people in their own homes.
Currently three quarters of the council’s general needs housing stock is flats with nearly
half having no ground floor entrance and many having no lift access. Itis therefore essential
for Hammersmith and Fulham to increase the supply of both wheelchair accessible and
wheelchair adaptable housing across all tenures.

6.43 The government has produced optional Building Regulations which can be used
to increase the accessibility of new homes to people with mobility difficulties. The optional
Building Regulations in approved document Part M4 include Category 2 for “accessible
and adaptable dwellings”. This is known as M4(2), and is broadly equivalent to satisfying
Lifetime Homes criteria. Approved document Part M4 also includes Category 3 for
“‘wheelchair user dwellings” known as M4(3). Part M4(3) further distinguishes between
“‘wheelchair accessible” dwellings (homes readily useable by a wheelchair user at the point
of completion) and “wheelchair adaptable” dwellings (homes that can be easily adapted
to meet the needs of a wheelchair user).

6.44 London Plan (2016) Policy 3.8 'Housing Choice' seeks to ensure that 90% of new
housing meets Building Regulation requirement M4(2) ‘accessible and adaptable dwellings’.
To comply with this requirement, step free access must be provided. Generally a lift will

38 Hammersmith and Fulham Strategic Housing Market Area Assessment 2016

Page 196



84 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

be required where a dwelling is accessed above or below the entry storey. Although most
new build housing will be built to meet this requirement, the council consider that new
dwellings resulting from a change of use, conversion or extension to existing residential
building, should also aim to meet the M4(2) requirement. However it is recognised that
there may be circumstances where it is not possible to achieve all the full M4(2)
requirements. The policy therefore allows for some flexibility in achievement of the criteria,
but the council will require assessments to show why the requirements cannot be met.

6.45 The requirement for 10% of all new housing to be built to Building Regulation
requirement M4(3) ‘wheelchair user dwellings’ designed to be wheelchair accessible, or
easily adaptable for residents who are wheelchair users is in accord with the London Plan
(2016) Policy 3.8. When providing ‘wheelchair user dwellings’ in a development, it is
important not only to ensure an increase in accessible homes within the borough but also
to ensure that where there are mixed tenure schemes that the provision of ‘wheelchair
user dwellings’ are provided in equal proportion to the tenure mix of the development.

6.46 'Wheelchair accessible dwellings' which are designed to be readily useable at the
point of completion will only be required for those dwellings where the council is responsible
for allocating or nominating a person to live in that dwelling. The remaining dwellings
should be 'wheelchair adaptable' and built to be easily adapted to meet the needs of a
household that includes a wheelchair user.

Policy HO7 - Meeting Needs of People who Need Care and Support

Applications for development that would result in the loss of special needs
housing will only be granted permission if it can be demonstrated that there is
no longer an established local need for this type of accommodation or that the
current facility is unfit for purpose or that it will be replaced elsewhere. Proposals
for the loss of existing accommodation should demonstrate that there is no
longer a need for that particular type of accommodation or that the current
facility is unfit for purpose or that it will be replaced elsewhere.

The council will encourage and support applications for new special needs and
supported housing, including specialist housing for older people, if it meets
the following criteria:

a. there is an established local need for the facility;

b. the standard of the facilities are satisfactory and suitable for the intended
occupants;

c. thereis a good level of accessibility to public transport and other facilities
needed by the residents; and

d. the impact of the proposed development will not be detrimental to the
amenity of the local area or to local services.

Where relevant, it will be necessary for evidence of lack of need to consider the
full range of special needs, including the frail elderly, people with physical and
learning difficulties, and people needing short term support.

Page 197




LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 85

6|

Justification

6.47 Special needs housing covers all housing types with an element of care and support
such as, extra care housing, housing for people with learning disabilities and nursing
homes, sheltered housing and residential care homes with on site home and medical care.
The council considers that elderly residents should have the opportunity to access special
needs housing located in the borough. The council’s aims to create more sustainable
communities which would enable residents to remain in their communities through different
stages of their life.

6.48 Where appropriate, it will be necessary for evidence of lack of need to consider
the full range of special needs, including the frail elderly, people with physical and learning
difficulties, and people needing short term support, although some accommodation may
not be suitable for all groups without a significant investment.

6.49 The London Plan (2016) includes an indicative benchmark for specialist housing
for older people in LBHF of 60 additional dwellings pa. This includes 45 specialist dwellings
for private sale and 15 for intermediate sale. The council is working with residents, the
NHS and other providers to deliver new types offrivate and social sheltered housing
which will include on-site home and medical care®®. To ensure that new specialist housing
can meet local needs, applications for new provision will be assessed in relation to the
identified local need for the facility and its potential impact on the provision of services to
the local community, such as health and social care. Special needs accommodation that
serves a London-wide or a sub-regional need can put additional pressure on these local
services. Also, some special needs housing can impact on the amenity of the local area,
for example through people coming and going, and this needs to be taken into account in
considering the scale and location of such developments.

6.50 Special needs housing should normally be located in areas accessible to public
transport and other local facilities for the benefit of both the residents of the housing and
visitors.

Policy HO8 - Hostels and Houses in Multiple Occupation

The acceptability of planning applications for new houses in multiple occupation
(HMOs) or hostels or for the loss of existing HMOs or hostels will be considered
in relation to the following criteria:

a. the quality of the accommodation that is proposed or might be lost;
b. the impact of the accommodation on the locality; and
c. the local need for the proposed or existing HMO or hostel accommodation.

Justification

6.51 HMOs may be classified as either small (housing three to six people) or large
(housing more than six people). The former are classified as class C4 in the use classes
order, whereas the latter are sui generis. There are permitted development rights for all
changes between small HMOs (class C4) and residential (class C3) without the need for
planning applications.

39 Hammersmith and Fulham Strategic Housing Market Area Assessment 2016

Page 198



86 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

6.52 The council recognises the role that hostels and HMOs play in providing
accommodation for single people who cannot afford self contained accommodation. Despite
this, a number of existing premises are considered to be in a poor state of repair and do
not provide adequate accommodation, for example in terms of size and condition, for
people on low incomes. The council will therefore assess any application that would result
in a loss of a large HMO or hostel against the criteria listed above. The loss of such
accommodation may be acceptable where the standard of accommodation can be
improved, and/or any adverse impact on the surrounding area reduced. The council may
permit new hostels and HMOs that meet an identified need and which do not have an
adverse impact upon residential amenity.

Policy HO9 - Student Accommodation

The council recognises the London-wide need for student accommodation, and
to assist in meeting this need it will support applications for student
accommodation as part of mixed use development schemes within the White
City and Earls Court and West Kensington Opportunity Areas. Applications for
student accommodation outside of these areas will be assessed on a site by
site basis, however the council will resist proposals which are likely to have
adverse local impacts.

An application for student accommodation will need to show that:

a. the site is in an area with good public transport accessibility (normally PTAL
4-6) with access to local convenience services and the proposal would not
generate additional demands for on-street parking;

b. there would be no loss of existing housing;

c. the development does not have a detrimental impact on the local area, and
should include a management and maintenance plan for the accommodation
to demonstrate how the amenity of neighbouring properties will be protected
and what steps would be taken to minimise the impact of the accommodation
on neighbouring uses;

d. the accommodation is of high quality, including size of units, daylight and
sunlight standards;

e. wheelchair accessible accommodation is provided to meet the needs of
disabled students in accordance with relevant British Standards; and

f. the student accommodation should be secured for occupation by members
of specified London-based educational institutions or an element of
affordable accommodation in accordance with the relevant London Plan
policies.

Justification

6.53 The borough is home to a number of university and higher education institutions,
principally Imperial College, which has teaching facilities at Hammersmith Hospital and
Charing Cross Hospital and proposals for development in the White City Opportunity Area.
A number of these higher educational institutions have expressed a need to increase their
capacity, as have many other higher educational institutions across London, buoyed by
London’s international status and reputation as a global centre for higher education. This

Page 199



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 87

6|

has put pressure on conventional housing to accommodate students and there is a need
to increase the capacity of student accommodation in London in order to ensure that there
is a suitable choice of available purpose built accommodation.

6.54 The council considers that the borough’s largest and most deliverable regeneration
areas offer an opportunity to help deliver a significant quantum towards addressing this
student accommodation shortage for local institutions. It considers that student housing
in these areas will be best provided within major new developments as part of mixed use
schemes. However all applications will need to demonstrate satisfactorily that the proposals
will have a positive impact on the overall strategies for the opportunity areas and will not
adversely impact on residential neighbours or town and local centres. Applications will
need to be accompanied by a management plan, setting out how the impact upon
neighbours and the amenity of the borough’s existing residents will be managed.

6.55 Outside of the opportunity areas, applications for student accommodation will be
assessed on a site by site basis. It is acknowledged that students can create benefits for
an area, for example by adding vibrancy and vitality to the local economy. However,
concentrations of students can also have a negative impact. In particular, the council is
concerned about the direct impact of noise and comings and goings on neighbouring
properties, and the indirect impact of the growth in facilities such as bars and takeaways
that can themselves cause a nuisance, especially late at night. The council will consider
all applications on their own merits, but the primary consideration will be the amenity of
the borough’s existing residents and the strategy to direct student accommodation schemes
to the opportunity areas.

6.56 Any application for student housing will need to demonstrate that the proposal will
not have an adverse impact on proposed or existing residential, or on town and local
centres. It should be accompanied by a management plan, setting out how any impact
upon its neighbours and the amenity of the borough’s existing residents would be minimised,
including any impact from move-in and move-out dates at the beginning and end of terms
and the impact of possible alternative use during the vacations.

6.57 In order to ensure that students are able to travel to and from their area of study,
it is important that the development is located within an area of good public transport
accessibility within the regeneration areas.

6.58 Although student accommodation does not need to meet the internal space
standards required for permanent housing, the accommodation must be high quality and
meet the needs of all potential students, including the needs of wheelchair users and other
disabled students. In determining the number and design of accessible bedrooms, kitchen
areas and other communal facilities the developer is expected to take account of
BS8300:2009 “Design of buildings and their approaches to meet the needs of disabled
people. Section 12:Individual Rooms, Para 12.8.1 also recommends 10% of bedrooms in
communal residential buildings should be accessible to students with an additional 5%
capable of being adapted in the future to accessibility standards.

6.59 To ensure that accommodation specifically designed for the occupation by students
is not subsequently used for general residential use, or some other form of hostel
accommodation, there will need to be a planning agreement ensuring that the
accommodation is occupied only by students of specified educational institution(s), normally
a London based education institution in easy commuting distance of the accommodation.
As student housing is not subject to the affordable housing policy, this will also ensure
that student housing is not proposed to avoid this policy.

Page 200



88 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

Policy HO10 - Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation

The council will work closely with the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea
to protect, improve and, if necessary, increase the capacity of the existing gypsy
and traveller site at Westway.

Justification

6.60 The council and the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea (RBKC) jointly
provide a site for 19 travellers’ pitches on land in RBKC to the east of the White City
Opportunity Area. Following engagement with the local traveller community an assessment
of the need for traveller pitches was carried out in accordance with the Gypsy and Traveller
Accommodation Needs Assessments (DCLG 2007). This study suggested a need for extra
pitches for an additional five families by 20209 The council is currently working with
RBKC and the local traveller community to determine how best to meet the identified
needs.

40 Planning Policy for Travellers Sites (PPTS) - Aug 2015
Page 201



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 89

6|

Policy HO11 - Detailed Residential Standards

The council will ensure that the design and quality of all new housing, including
new build, conversions and change of use, is of a high standard and that
developments provide housing that will meet the needs of future occupants and
respect the principles of good neighbourliness.

To achieve a high standard of design, the following considerations will be taken
into account:

a. floor areas and room sizes in new build dwellings, conversions and changes

of use, including meeting ‘Nationally Described Space Standards;

accessibility for disabled people;

amenity and garden space provision;

a safe and secure environment;

car parking and cycle parking;

flood protection measures and attenuation of surface water run off;

sustainable energy measures;

provision of waste and recycling storage facilities;

noise insulation and layout to minimise noise nuisance between dwellings;

and

j-  protection of existing residential amenities, including issues such as loss
of daylight, sunlight, privacy and outlook.

— Q™Mo o0 T

Proposals for extensions will be considered acceptable where it can be
demonstrated that there is no detrimental impact on:

privacy enjoyed by neighbours in adjoining properties;
daylight and sunlight to rooms in adjoining properties;
outlook from windows in adjoining properties; and
openness between properties.

The council has prepared a Planning Guidance SPD that provides further
guidance on these and other residential amenity issues referred to in this Local
Plan.

Justification

6.61 Once the principle of residential development has been established through land
use policies, there is a need to assess planning applications against detailed standards
to ensure that a development is of high quality, well designed, accessible and that it will
not be detrimental to the amenities of residents in the surrounding area, including loss of
daylight, sunlight and privacy for existing residents. These standards are often subject to
on-site judgement, but a departure from the standards needs to be justified by the
circumstances of a particular case.

6.62 Itis important for new housing to meet standards on matters such as minimum

dwelling and room size and on the amount of amenity space. The government is proposing
to introduce a Nationally Described Space Standard which as a minimum new dwellings
in the borough will be expected to meet. Where changes to the existing stock are proposed,
including basement accommodation, they should also be fit for purpose. It will be easier

Page 202



90 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

for new housing to meet size and other quality control criteria, but a level of flexibility is
appropriate to take into account on-site circumstances. This is even more so with
conversions and change of use, where adaptation of existing stock means that it is difficult
to meet similar standards as for new build. The council anticipates adopting detailed
residential standards in the Planning Guidance SPD. The detailed guidance in this SPD
will take account of the London Plan (2016) and the Mayor of London's Housing
sPG*which includes detailed standards for housing that have been gathered from a
number of sources, for example Lifetime Homes, Lifetime Neighbourhoods and Secured
by Design.

6.63 Itis always necessary for developments to take into account the residential amenity
of neighbours and the impact on the environment. However, this is especially important
in a densely built borough such as Hammersmith and Fulham where developments are
often juxtaposed with their neighbours. In particular, changes to terraced properties,
including extensions and roof terraces, can impact on neighbours if not carefully designed,
for example, through overlooking and visual intrusion, and can also impact upon flooding,
for example through surface water run off, if not consistently managed.

41  Mayor of London's Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) — March 2016
Page 203



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 91

6|

Local Economy and Employment

Policy E1 - Providing for a Range of Employment Uses

The council will support proposals including mixed use schemes for new
employment uses, especially those that recognise the existing strengths in the
borough in creative industries, health services, bio-medical and other research
based industries such as those at Imperial College in Shepherd's Bush.

The council will also support the retention and intensification of existing
employment uses. It will require flexible and affordable space suitable for small
and medium enterprises in large new business developments, unless justified
by the type and nature of the proposal. When considering new employment
floorspace or the extension of existing floorspace the council will also take into
account:

a. whether the scale and nature of the development is appropriate, having
regard in particular to local impact, the nature of the surrounding area, and
public transport accessibility;

b. impact upon small and medium sized businesses that support the local
community;

c. scale and nature of employment opportunities generated in the new
development;

d. whether there will be displacement of other uses such as community
facilities or housing; and

e. the Hammersmith and Fulham Economic Growth Plan and the council
economic strategies.

The borough’s three town centres and the White City and Earl’s Court and West
Kensington Opportunity Areas will be the preferred locations for new office
development above 2,500m’. Proposals outside of these areas for large new
office development (above 2,500m’) will generally be discouraged unless it can
be demonstrated that provision cannot be provided within the town centres or
the White City and Earl’s Court and West Kensington Opportunity Areas.

Justification

6.64 The borough has many positive attributes which support economic development,
over the years, the borough has proved to be an attractive location for many multi-national
companies, including the BBC and Earls Court and Olympia Group, and the continued

presence of large businesses is welcome because of their contribution to the local economy
and in providing jobs and opportunities to residents. However, as well as being favoured
by major companies, often located in the town centres or regeneration areas, the strength
of the local economy is also buoyed by the very many local office and industrial businesses
which are scattered throughout the borough and often provide services direct to residents
or to other businesses in the borough. The Council's Employment Study(42) identified a

number of sub-markets within the borough, including a lot of smaller businesses in SW6
in the Putney Bridge and Parsons Green and and Peterborough Road sub markets. Creative
industries such as TV and music companies are a particular strength in the borough which

42 Employment Study Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 2016
Page 204



92 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

the council is keen to encourage, and there is also the opportunity to build on the presence
of Hammersmith Hospital/Imperial College and Charing Cross Hospital by encouraging
bio-medical and other related companies. In addition, the council will use its economic
strength to encourage local business when procuring and hiring contractors. The Council's
Economic Development Plan for 2016-2019 provides further details of these and other
economic development initiatives.

6.65 Because many of the borough’s businesses are small or medium sized and because
there is demand for accommodation from such enterprises(43), it is important that new and
refurbished business developments as well as mixed use schemes provide accommodation
that can meet the needs of a variety of activities, including start up businesses, so that
the rich mix of businesses in the borough can continue. The council will ensure that its
own stock of business premises continues to meet the needs of the local economy, and
it will support new local enterprise partnerships and encourage local credit union finance.

6.66 The council wants to strengthen the economic base of the borough and ensure
that there is sufficient land and floorspace to meet requirements for economic growth and
that this is well located in relation to other amenities and transport infrastructure to serve
the requirements of the development. The London Office Policy Review 2014 projected
a likely requirement of an additional 290,000m’ (gross) of office floorspace within the
borough to 2036. However, the council's own Employment Study gives a prediction of
between 383,000 and 511,000m” based on 1 person per 9m?’.

6.67 There is a particular local need for new floorspace for small businesses and for
the provision of affordable business units, and figures show that between August 2014
and August 2015, 62% of requirements were for businesses between 93 and 465m’. In
general the council will seek flexibly designed accommodation capable of meeting the
needs of a variety of types and sizes of business. It should also be designed to be adaptable
to changes in working practices in future. In addition, the replacement of existing, well
used small business premises will be sought in redevelopment schemes.

43 see the Council's Employment Study - February 2016
Page 205



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 93

6|

Policy E2 - Land and Premises for Employment Uses

The council will require the retention of land and premises capable of providing
continued accommodation for employment or local services. Permission will
only be granted for a change where:

1. continued use would adversely impact on residential areas; or

2. an alternative use would give a demonstrably greater benefit that could not
be provided on another site; or

3. it can be evidenced that the property is no longer required for employment
purposes.

Where the loss of employment use is proposed in line with sub para.3 above,
the council will have regard to:

e the suitability of the site or premises for continued employment use with
or without adaptation;

e evidence of unsuccessful marketing over a period of at least 12 months;

e the need to avoid adverse impact on established clusters of employment
use; and

e the need to ensure a sufficient stock of premises and sites to meet local
need for a range of types of employment uses, including small and medium
sized enterprises, in appropriate locations.

The mixed use enhancement of employment sites will be considered acceptable
where these are under-utilised, subject to the satisfactory retention or
replacement of employment uses in the scheme where this continues to be
appropriate.

Justification

6.68 Employment use is defined as all Class B Uses and similar uses that are classified
as sui generis (Town and Country (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended)).

6.69 Notwithstanding the council’s desire to protect valuable sites and promote economic
growth in sustainable locations, there has been a loss of B class stock in the borough.
The Council's Employment Study estimates a loss of 149,000m’ since 2012, partly as a
result of permitted development and partly through planning permission. In order to ensure
that future loss is managed effectively, the council will apply a criteria based approach to
assessing change of use and redevelopment planning applications based on site
characteristics and market demand.

6.70 In general, where there is a planning application for a site or building for change
of use out of employment, the council will require supporting evidence that indicates that
despite efforts to find a user for the premises, it remains vacant. In respect of demonstrating
that a property is no longer required for employment use a reasonable marketing exercise
will include continuous marketing generally over a period of at least 12 months with at
least two recognised commercial agents. Evidence of this marketing will be required to
be submitted along with the two agents’ views as to why the property is not letting. The
council will expect this marketing to be at prices similar to that pertaining in the local area
for similar premises.

Page 206



94 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

6.71 The loss of employment use may also be permitted where continued use of a site
or building where evidence is provided to show that it is no longer viable by virtue of poor
location or site characteristics. In addition, where accommodation is poorly suited to meet
the requirements of modern occupiers and where the cost of modernisation cannot be
justified, the council may grant change of use. However, the council will require robust
evidence to support change of use on this basis in the absence of marketing information.

6.72 The council will also consider the impact of any proposed loss of employment use
on existing employment areas and the provision of a satisfactory range of type of
employment uses. The council will have regard to regular monitoring undertaken by itself
and the Mayor of London and to supplementary planning guidance to the London Plan.
The borough is currently identified in the London Plan (2016) as an area where transfer
of industrial and warehousing land to other uses should be “restricted (with exceptional
planned release)”. Applications for change of use of industrial and warehousing (Use
Classes B1(c), B2 and B8) sites and premises will be subject to consideration of this
classification. The council also wishes to ensure that the future of its preferred office
location at Hammersmith town centre continues to offer a range of modern office facilities
and is not adversely affected by a loss of office uses. Where premises are part of a complex
of employment uses, regard will be taken of the impact of the introduction of an alternative
use on the satisfactory functioning of the employment cluster.

6.73 There may be some sites in employment use that are capable of more intensive
use to accommodate additional uses, particularly residential. Where this is appropriate,
the council will seek to ensure that accommodation is retained within mixed use schemes
for employment uses for which there is a demonstrable need. This will include adequate
replacement accommodation for small businesses.

Policy E3 - Provision for Visitor Accommodation and Facilities

Permission will be granted for new visitor accommodation and facilities or the
extension of existing facilities within the three town centres, the Earl’s Court
and West Kensington and White City Opportunity Areas subject to:

e the development being well located in relation to public transport;

e the development and any associated uses not having a detrimental impact

on the local area;

no loss of priority uses such as permanent housing;

provision of adequate off street servicing;

at least 10% of hotel bedrooms designed as wheelchair accessible;

the facility being of a high standard of design;

the scheme adding to the variety and quality of visitor accommodation

available locally; and

e all new hotel applications should demonstrate that the site can provide
appropriate servicing and pick up points for the type of facility proposed.

Outside the identified areas, the following will be considered appropriate, subject
to meeting the above criteria:

e small scale hotels; and
e visitor accommodation related to major visitor attractions of sub-regional
or greater significance in accordance with the provisions of London Plan.

Page 207



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 95

6|

Justification

6.74 The London Plan (2016) seeks 40,000 additional hotel bedrooms by 2031 located
primarily in London’s town centres and opportunity areas. It also seeks a greater dispersal
of accommodation outside London’s central area. An improvement in the range and quality
of provision is also encouraged, as well as accommodation that meets the needs of
businesses.

6.75 In recent years a number of additional hotels have been built and there are some
permitted additional hotel rooms to be completed. It is considered that the existing and
committed stock is adequate to meet the borough’s share of anticipated growth within
London within the next few years and any further proposals for new hotels will be directed
to the three town centres or the identified opportunity/regeneration areas in line with London
Plan policy (2016). These areas are considered the most appropriate to accommodate
visitor accommodation with the least impact and where there is the availability of
complementary town centre uses. Small hotel schemes, normally not in excess of 50
bedrooms, will be considered in other areas of the borough where the scale is appropriate
to public transport accessibility and surrounding uses. In many areas, a scale of less than
50 bedrooms is more likely to be appropriate. Proposals for extensions of existing hotels
will be considered having regard to the criteria set out in Policy E3 subject to the primary
focus of new visitor accommodation to be the town centres and opportunity/regeneration
areas identified in the policy.

6.76 The council will also seek adherence to the London Plan (2016) requirements of
at least 10% wheelchair accessible bedrooms and submission of an Accessibility
Management Plan.

Policy E4 - Local Employment, Training and Skills Development
Initiatives

The council will require the provision of appropriate employment and training
initiatives for local people of all abilities in the construction of major
developments and in larger employment generating developments, including
visitor accommodation and facilities, when these are completed. Local
businesses will be encouraged to adopt the London Living Wage.

Justification

6.77 Continued economic growth in the borough will require a growing work force. These
jobs will not go to workless residents in the borough unless they have the necessary
qualifications and skills. If local workless people are not moving into the local labour market,
the growth in jobs will have to be met by workers from outside the local area. This will
increase pressure on the already overstretched supply of housing and local transport
infrastructure.

6.78 A priority of the council is to understand and address skills shortages and it will
negotiate S106 planning obligations with developers proposing large scale employment
generating activity (usually over 200 jobs), including visitor accommodation and facilities,
skills training, work placements, apprenticeships and targeted local recruitment campaigns
in order to make best use of the added value of employing local labour. Initiatives should
be brought forward through:

Page 208



96 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

i.  production of a local labour, skills and employment strategy;
ii. an employment training and education action plan; and
iii. alocal business charter.

6.79 There are many agencies involved in training, such as the Ealing Hammersmith &
West London College (EHWLC) and Job Centre Plus (JCP) and the voluntary & community
sector (VCS), but the council has a central role in ensuring that learning and skills provision
for adults in Hammersmith and Fulham is delivered in a coherent and effective way.

6.80 The council will encourage developers to work in partnership with the Council's
Economic Development Team to maximise job opportunities for local people including:
employment, training, apprenticeship opportunities, outreach programmes including schools
to raise aspirations and awareness of job opportunities, including during construction
phases. In doing so, the council will ask them to commit to programmes to enhance
business and area competitiveness as well as maximising opportunities for local
entrepreneurship and enterprise. This will be secured through associated S106 agreements
as part of larger developments including those within the opportunity/regeneration areas.
Further guidance is available in the regeneration area policies and the supporting SPDs
for the opportunity/regeneration areas whilst the Economic Development Plan 2016 - 2019
sets out priorities for the early years of the Local Plan. The council will also encourage the
London Living Wage which it believes is good for businesses, good for the individual and
good for society.

Page 209



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 97

6|

Town and Local Centres

Policy TLC1 - Hierarchy of Town and Local Centres

The council will work with the Mayor of London and other stakeholders, such
as Business Improvement Districts, to enhance the vitality and viability of the
borough’s hierarchy of three town centres, 5 key local centres, 15 neighbourhood
parades and 6 satellite parades (see Appendix 2 and Map 5 for details). In
particular the council will:

a. support the regeneration of the town centres for a mix of town centre uses,
including residential development on appropriate sites;

b. maintain the predominant retail function of primary shopping areas;

c. support the night time economy in town centres;

d. support the conversion of unused or underused space above ground floor
units for new residential accommodation (subject to the requirements of
other relevant policies);

e. seek a mix of shop sizes and types, with independent as well as national
traders, that are accessible to local residents, workers and visitors;

f. ensure that new developments for town centre uses are appropriately
located, are of an acceptable scale, and do not negatively impact on the
existing hierarchy, in accordance with national and regional policy and local
need (see Table 3);

g. require aretail impact assessment for out of centre retail proposals which
are in excess of 300m’ (gross);

h. require a sequential test for out of centre retail development proposals in
accordance with the NPPF;

i. promote the provision of shopmobility schemes;

j- safeguard local shops and other local services within local centres to meet
local need;

k. support and protect local markets and clusters of specialist shopping; and

l.  negotiate planning obligations where appropriate, feasible and viable to
mitigate the loss of, and/or secure or support, affordable retail space to
encourage small or independent traders.

Page 210



98 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

Justification

6.81 The council wants to encourage
the regeneration of Hammersmith and
Fulham’s town centres to improve their
viability and vitality as well as sustain
a network of supporting smaller

Map 5 Shopping Hierarchy

Satellite Parades
'. Neighbourhood Parades
. Key Local Centres

117071 Town Centres

2~ Areas not within 400m of a centre

centres. It is aware that, in the context
of economic, demographics, retail
supply and social changes, some

) : ) e
centres will require substantial extra //',7‘ P
retail space and others will need to plan s @ ] Lo

for a more static and in some cases
possible decline in retail space. A key
aim in relation to the town centre and
local centre hierarchy is to ensure that 9
there is sufficient capacity for new retail i
floorspace in line with identified need '
and that surplus capacity does not lie ‘
vacant. The council will encourage
other uses where appropriate, including
health and leisure facilities. It is also
important to ensure that there are
supporting complementary facilities in
towns, including arts, culture and
entertainment.

& Crown copyright. All ights reserved
L. B. HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM
Licence Mo. LA100019223 2014

6.82 Regional studies prepared by

Experian on behalf of the Mayor of London®4 provide a range of quantitative outputs
which the council will consider when responding to retail proposals. The most recent
council retail study(45) has identified future estimated retail need in the borough and
specifically within the borough’s three town centres up to 2031 as set in Table 3 below:

Table 3 Estimated Retail Need

Borough-wide | Hammersmith
(Sqg m gross) | (Sq m gross)

Fulham (Sq | Shepherds
m gross) Bush (Sgm

gross)

Comparison

35,700

11,100 4,300 13,900

*Convenience 3,400 2,000 3,600 - 900

*Convenience figures based on supermarket sales densities
(Source: Hammersmith and Fulham Retail Needs Study 2016)

6.83 The council aims to meet future need primarily within the established shopping
hierarchy so as to maximise opportunities to obtain goods, services, jobs and leisure
activities in places that are convenient to where people live and work. A number of

44  Consumer Expenditure and Comparison Goods Retail Floorspace Need in London, Experian — October
2013
45 Hammersmith and Fulham Retail Needs Study 2016

Page 211



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 99

6|

development sites have been identified for future retail growth in the town centres, but
there will be some new provision to support growth in the identified regeneration areas,
particularly the White City Opportunity Area and the Earls Court and West Kensington
Opportunity Area. The Hammersmith and Fulham retail needs study(46) estimates are
based on London Plan (2016)(47) population growth projections and the estimates will
need to be considered in the light of the potential local growth in regeneration areas.

6.84 The council’s policies will assist in ensuring a good range of convenient and
accessible local facilities and services for borough residents, which is an important part
of what makes a decent neighbourhood. The policies will also discourage the further
increase of businesses such as pay day loan shops, betting shops, pawnbrokers and hot
food takeaways which are already well represented. Supporting policies will seek a range
of shopping and other facilities in these centres and where development takes place, it
may be appropriate to seek affordable space and agreements with developers so that a
proportion of space can be offered to independent small retailers. In town centres, the
council will encourage uses that contribute to the night time economy.

6.85 A key council priority is to capture the regenerative benefits of Westfield in the
original Shepherds Bush town centre. Planning permission was granted in April 2014 as
part of a mixed use scheme for Westfield to extend the town centre retail and leisure offer
to the north of Westfield towards the Hammersmith and City Line Viaduct. The council
considers that these uses will assist in regenerating the town centre as well as achieving
many additional objectives for the White City Opportunity Area. Other key proposals for
Shepherds Bush include strengthening the western part of the town centre through the
regeneration of the Shepherds Bush Market as well as maintaining the W12 shopping
centre as an important retail anchor. These initiatives will help strengthen the convenience
offer in Shepherds Bush and assist in meeting local needs as well as enhance Shepherd’s
Bush’s function as a metropolitan centre.

6.86 Hammersmith will continue to be a major town centre and the council will support
development that improves the vitality and viability of the centre and strengthens its role
as a centre for offices, local government and for arts, culture, leisure and services as well
as shopping. Key sites in meeting this objective, as well as providing new housing are:
the Town Hall and adjacent land in Nigel Playfair Avenue and King Street, Kings Mall car
park, and the remaining part of the Hammersmith Island Site currently occupied by the
temporary bus station. The proposed “Hammersmith Flyunder” (see Strategic Policy for
Hammersmith Regeneration Area) could potentially release existing highways land for
redevelopment which could significantly improve the town centre’s offer.

6.87 Fulham Town Centre will be supported to re-establish its historic role in the locality
and maintain its status as a major town centre in the London Plan (2016). The Local Plan
policies will seek to provide further shopping and leisure uses at an appropriate scale to
meet locally generated needs. One opportunity for improvement is in the northern part of
the centre, along North End Road and Lillie Road. Regeneration in this locality should link
with the regeneration of the Earls Court/West Kensington Opportunity Area.

6.88 In key local centres, the aim is to ensure a greater variety of uses than in
neighbourhood parades. However, in both types of centre the council’s policies will seek
to retain a predominance of shopping over other uses. These centres can help contribute
towards the identified estimated need for further low and mid ranking comparison and

46 Hammersmith and Fulham Retail Needs Study 2016
47 Mayor of London, The London Plan: spatial development strategy for Greater London, GLA March
2016

Page 212



100 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

convenience retail floorspace to meet the needs of the local population. The council will
work with its partners to try to coordinate service provision based on these centres. The
council will consider the designation of further local centres or parades within the WCOA
and ECWK Opportunity Area if this is required to meet the needs of the new development
and is supported by capacity studies (see also policies for these individual areas).

6.89 Those centres that adjoin or are in close proximity to town centres are known as
satellite parades. The purpose of these parades is to provide local services, but they also
provide opportunities for a variety of uses that will support the nearby town centres.

6.90 Inshopping parades, other than those identified in the hierarchy, particularly where
shops and premises have been vacant for a long time, there will be more limited protection
of shopping facilities, and possible alternative uses could include small offices, health
facilities and A class uses other than those falling within class A1. These alternative uses
would need to be compatible with adjoining uses and therefore in some more residential
locations, uses such as restaurants, pubs and bars may not be appropriate.

6.91 Prime retail frontages are where retail development is concentrated and generally
comprise the main component of primary shopping areas in town centres. In all the centres
and shopping areas there will be planning controls to maintain appropriate levels of retailing,
local services and other uses.

6.92 Inaddition to the hierarchy described above, there is one superstore in Sands End,
another on Shepherds Bush Road and a small number of shed based retailers, mainly at
Wandsworth Bridge. There continues to be pressure for new supermarkets of different
sizes to be established throughout the borough, both in and outside centres included in
the hierarchy. Whilst small supermarkets may expand the choice in local shopping centres,
large stores can have potential for adverse impacts on town or local centres and increase
local traffic. In order to ensure that smaller foodstores that compete directly with local
centres are assessed, the council has set a local threshold for retail impact assessments
of 300m” gross. Assessments of impact should be proportionate to the development
proposed and it will be necessary for applicants to agree the scope of any assessment at
an early stage of any pre-application engagement.

Page 213



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 101

6|

Policy TLC2 - Town Centres

In the designated town centres (as shown on the Proposals Map and defined in
Table 4 below), changes from A class use at street level will be permitted for
alternative uses which can be shown to be complementary to the shopping
frontage, maintain or increase the vitality and viability of the town centre and
do not have an adverse impact on the local area. In particular, permission for
changes of use will be considered on the following basis:

1.  no more than 40% of the length of the prime retail frontage as a whole will
be permitted to change to non-class A1 uses;

2. additional A4 and A5 uses (pubs, bars and takeaways), betting shops, pay
day loan shops, amusement centres, mini cab offices and residential uses
will not be permitted on the ground floor of the prime retail frontages;

3. the nature and characteristics of the proposed use are complementary to
the shopping frontage;

4. the proposed use contributes to the function of the centre in terms of the
size of the unit, the length of its frontage and the location of the unit within
the centre;

5. planning conditions will be imposed in any permission for such changes
of use to secure provision of a shop style fascia, and window display at
street level, and to control the hours of opening of class A3-A5 uses; and

6. consent will not be granted for residential use within the ground floor
frontage

In non prime retail frontages criteria 3-6 above will apply. In all calculations of
the proportion of the frontage in class A1, the lawful use and unimplemented
extant permissions for changes of use will be taken into account.

Justification

6.93 Inrespect of the shopping frontages, the council has defined prime and non-prime
retail frontages in order to assist in safeguarding and managing the distribution of retail
uses and related facilities and services within the three town centres. The council considers
that town centre surveys do not justify any alteration in the designation of the frontages
as currently identified on the Proposals Map and listed below in Table 4. In addition, it is
considered appropriate to continue the approach of controlling the amount of class A1
retail and non-A1 businesses by limiting the amount of frontage that can be in non-retail
uses. This has proved to be a workable management tool in the past and one that allows
some flexibility for change of use within the frontages and the achievement of a good mix
of uses. Because some malls are subject to specific planning consents that permit changes
within Use Class A, the quota policies will not apply to these frontages.

Page 214



102

LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

Table 4 Shopping frontages by Town Centre

Shepherds Bush Uxbridge Road: North Side - Nos. 54-202;
South Side — Shepherds Bush (West 12) Centre.

Hammersmith Centre  King Street : North Side - Between No.2. and No. 94, Including
Kings Mall, South Side - Nos. 1-131.

Hammersmith Broadway: Broadway Centre (excluding Queen
Caroline Street frontage) - subject to Planning Permission
(31.3.89) which permits A1 and A3 uses.

Fulham Centre North End Road : West Side Nos. 276-406
East Side Nos. 373-471
Jerdan Place: North Side Nos. 1-19a;
South Side Nos. 2-24

Fulham Road: North Side 480 and 498-504.

6.94 For atown centre to operate successfully, it is necessary for shops to group together.
Intrusion of non-retail uses on too large a scale can inhibit this process, reducing the
attractiveness of a centre and damaging its trading position. Non-retail uses for these
purposes are defined to include all uses other than those included within class A1 of the
Use Classes Order 1987.

6.95 Some non-retail uses, such as a bank, restaurant or pub, are complementary to
the town centres' primary shopping function because they may provide a vital local service,
are essential to the operation of the shops, or are heavily used by shoppers. However,
the retail function will be adversely affected if the mix of uses is affected by too great a
loss of shops, and by making comparison shopping more difficult through dispersal of
those which remain.

6.96 The quota is intended to permit a variety of uses whilst protecting the predominance
of retail in prime retail frontages. However, the growth in class A3, A4 and A5 uses and
the rationalisation of many A2 financial uses has led to some frontages where frontage is
predominantly A3-AS5 uses and /or where there is a high concentration of betting shops
and pay day loan shops. There are cumulative effects arising from the clustering of these
uses, such as “dead frontages” at certain times of the day and adverse impacts on
residential amenity outside normal shopping hours.

6.97 Incertain cases, where there is clear evidence that particular types of use will have
serious effects on residential amenity or the environment, the council will consider imposing
conditions that restrict future changes of use which the Use Classes Order would otherwise
allow.

Page 215



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 103

6|

6.98 The clustering of non-retail uses may create dead frontages because of a lack of
interesting window displays and for this reason all premises in the prime retail frontage
should provide appropriate window displays. In addition, the avoidance of blank frontages,
such as, office or residential uses can be a major contribution to retaining pedestrian
activity, retaining commercial life in the area, and to crime prevention. Although new ground
floor residential use will not be permitted in the prime retail frontages, access to residential
upper floors will be encouraged.

6.99 The non-prime retail frontages in the town centres have an important function.
They provide locations for more specialist retailers, businesses that cannot afford prime
location rents but sell goods appropriate to the town centre, activities in the A2, A3, A4
and A5 use classes, and health and other services. It is desirable, therefore, to maintain
the stock of premises suitable for these uses in order to maintain the vitality and viability
of the town centres and the range of facilities available. It will normally not be appropriate
to allow changes to other uses, including residential at ground floor level, that do not
contribute to the vitality of the shopping frontages or the town centre as a whole and which
reduce the stock of accommodation for uses that do have this role. In addition, in respect
of betting shops and pay day loan shops, it is important that too many do not concentrate
in any area and detract from the vitality and viability of the centres.

Page 216



104 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

Policy TLC3 - Local Centres

The council has designated key local centres, neighbourhood parades and
satellite parades to provide accessible shopping and service facilities to meet
local needs (see Proposals Map and Appendix 2). In these centres, changes of
use will be permitted subject to the proposed use being shown to be
complementary to the function of the centre, enhancing the centre’s viability
and vitality and not having an adverse impact on the local area and where it
meets the quotas set out below:

Neighbourhood Parades:

° no more than 40% of the neighbourhood parade frontage as a whole
will be permitted to change to non-class A1 uses.

Key Local Centres:

° no more than 50% of the length of the key local centre frontage as a
whole will be permitted to change to non-class A1 uses.

Satellite Parades:

° no more than 60% of the satellite parade frontage as a whole will be
permitted to change to non-class A1 uses.

Where a proposal does not meet the quotas set out above and where the
premises have been vacant for at least 1 year with evidence of marketing, the
council may consider granting permission taking into account other factors
such as:

e the contribution the unit makes to the function of the centre in terms of the
size of the unit and the length of its frontage;

e the nature and characteristics of the proposed use and evidence of need;

e the location of the unit within the centre; and

e shop front appearance.

In all calculations of the proportion of the frontage of street blocks in class A1
and non-A1 uses, the lawful use and unimplemented extant permissions for
changes of use will be taken into account.

Consent will not be granted for any ground floor residential frontages, however
residential may be appropriate at the rear of premises, subject to satisfactory
evidence that neither shopping policy nor the long term viability of the retail
unit will be prejudiced.

Page 217



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 105

6|

Justification

6.100 Although the council recognises that non-retail uses can contribute to the vitality
and viability of lower tier centres, it also recognises that too many non-retail uses can
undermine the retail base of the centre and can have a detrimental effect on the
environment and nearby residents, for example through parking pressures, ambient noise
levels and smells from cooking food. The extent to which non-retail pressures threaten
the existing function of individual centres varies, with some being more capable of
accommodating change than others.

6.101 The additional non-quota criteria such as vacancy and marketing evidence, to be
used in assessing other uses, will allow flexibility in the consideration of uses within the
centres. Class A3, A4 and A5 uses may still be limited to ensure that shopping parades
retain their shopping function for the local community, but other uses such as community
services or small businesses could be permitted.

6.102 Allowing non class A1 uses within local centres, neighbourhood parades and
satellite parades, will add to diversity of the centres. Because key local centres and satellite
parades are larger and offer a greater range of services than neighbourhood parades, it
is appropriate that a greater range of non-class A1 uses are allowed in these centres.
Where proposals are contrary to the quotas, the council will consider the criteria set out
in the policy, such as nature and characteristics of the use and evidence of need, to see
if there is a case for approval. Residential use will not be permitted on ground floor frontages
because this will impact upon the function of the centres. However, there may be
circumstances where shopping and service use floorspace at the rear of a premises is
surplus to requirements. In these situations, residential may be appropriate, but the council
will require evidence that neither its shopping policies nor the long term viability of the
retail unit will be prejudiced.

Page 218



106 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

Policy TLC4 - Small Non Designated Parades, Clusters and Corner
Shops

Outside town centres, key local centres, neighbourhood parades and satellite
parades, the council will seek to retain shops and other local services to meet
local needs. Residential use and changes to other non class A uses will be
permitted, except where this will result in a demonstrable shortage of class A1
uses in the locality.

In assessing an application in a non designated parade or cluster for a change
of use from a class A1 use to any other use, the council will take into account:

a. the proximity and the range of shops in the locality to meet local needs
(where town centres, key local centres, protected parades and satellite
parades are not within 400 metres);

b. the length of time that the application premises may have been vacant and
the marketing of the premises; and

c. the number of uses that may adversely impact on the quality of the parade
or cluster, such as betting shops and amusement centres.

Corner shops are important for meeting local needs and will be protected for
continued retail use (class A1). Changes of use of corner shops from retail use
will not be permitted where there is a shortage of alternative shopping (where
town centres, key local centres, protected parades and satellite parades and
non-designated parades and clusters are not within 400 metres).

In all calculations of the proportion of the frontage of street blocks in Class A1
and non-A1 uses, the council will take into account the lawful use and
unimplemented extant planning permissions for changes of use.

Justification

6.103 A substantial amount of the borough’s retail floorspace is located outside of the
Local Plan retail hierarchy. These un-designated retail premises can provide important
goods and services for local residents and the council does not wish to see a significant
reduction in the stock of such premises. The quotas will normally be applied to the whole
non designated parade or cluster, although the council may also take into account any
shopping provision in nearby locations.

Page 219




LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 107

6|

Policy TLC5 - Managing the Impact of Food, Drink and Entertainment
uses

Planning permissions for use class A3, A4 and A5 food and drink establishments
as well as arts, culture, entertainment and leisure uses will be subject to
conditions controlling hours of operation, as follows:

a. exceptin predominantly commercial areas, such as parts of town centres
— premises shall not be open to customers later than the hour of 23:00; and

b. within predominantly commercial areas, such as parts of town centres —
premises shall not be open to customers later than the hour of 24:00.

Extended opening may be permitted where:

° the activities would not be likely to cause impact especially on local
residents, and that, if there is potential to cause adverse impact,
appropriate measures will be put in place to prevent it; and

o there will not be any increase in the cumulative impact from these or
similar activities, on an adjacent residential area; and

. there is a high level of public transport accessibility to and from the
premises at appropriate times; and

o the activity will not be likely to lead to a demonstrable increase in car
parking demand in surrounding residential streets and roads forming
part of the Strategic London Road Network or the London Bus Priority
Network.

In addition, subject to the location of the proposals, the council will consider
the type of activities appropriate to the class A3, A4 and A5 premises, and apply
conditions on uses where these are appropriate.

Where a use will impact on local amenity, the council may also set an appropriate
start time.

Justification

6.104 Hammersmith and Fulham has an extensive evening and night time economy
which is centred in the three town centres. The council wishes to encourage this activity,
and further opportunities to enhance the night time economy will arise in the regeneration
areas as part of mixed use developments. Activities such as restaurants, bars and pubs,
cinemas and theatres, add variety and vitality to the town centres and, together with
facilities in local centres, also provide services for the local community and visitors to the
borough. In addition, these uses can provide important employment and economic
development opportunities for the community. However, some of the uses and activities
associated with this economy can, if not properly managed, detract from creating a high
quality residential environment. In particular, the traffic and car parking generated,
particularly in the evening and anti-social behaviour associated with some licensed premises

Page 220



108 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

can cause considerable problems for local residents. The appearance of ventilation ducts,
and the noise and smell generated by restaurants, can also be a major problem, particularly
in conservation areas, or where they are in close proximity to residential areas.

6.105 In order that the council can control the number and distribution of class A3, A4
and A5 uses, there are controls on the length of frontage that will be permitted to change
to these uses in town centres and other parts of the borough. However, in order that the
impact on residential amenity can be managed, the council will also control the scale and
nature of new proposals, including how premises are managed, notably through regulation
of opening and closing times. In addition, because of the impact that some uses may have
on amenity, planning conditions may be applied to control hours of early morning opening.

6.106 Exceptions to the normal closing times may be possible provided that the policy
clauses are met. In looking at these clauses, the council will consider a number of factors,
including:

- the type of use and the number of customers likely to attend;
- the proposed hours of operation;

- the level of public transport accessibility for customers either arriving or leaving the
premises and the likely means of public or private transport that will be used by
customers; and

- the means of access to premises, the level of likely car parking demand on
surrounding streets and the cumulative impact of uses in the area, and the scope
for mitigating any impact.

6.107 In certain cases, where there is clear evidence that particular types of use will
have serious effects on residential amenity or the environment, the council will consider
imposing conditions that restrict future changes of use which the Use Classes Order would
otherwise allow.

6.108 The council’s planning policy is complemented by its licensing policy which is
designed to maintain a dynamic, innovative and attractive place to live, work and relax.
The council works closely with the police, the fire authority, local businesses, community
representatives and local people in meeting these objectives. The licensing policy
recognises that certain types of licensed premises can lead to an increase in anti social
behaviour and the policy is designed to assist in prevention of crime and disorder in
safeguarding public safety, in the prevention of public nuisance and in the protection of
children from harm.

6.109 The council requires alcohol licence applicants to have planning permission before
applying for a licence, and this allows the planning consent to determine the licensed hours
of operation thereby helping to protect surrounding residential uses. In addition, there is
additional guidance available from the council relating to the provision of tables and chairs
on the public highway.

6.110 It should be noted that the council has also introduced a special policy relating to
cumulative impact under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 (paragraphs 13.24 to 13.39)
and the council’s own Statement of Licensing policy dated January 2011 at Annex 4 for
parts of Fulham Town Centre, focusing on Fulham Broadway and for Shepherds Bush.

Page 221



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 109

6|

6.111  Where premises do not require planning permission or already have consent, it
will not be possible to control hours of operation through the planning process. However,
through town centre management initiatives the council will endeavour to ensure that the
night time economy is managed in a way that benefits residents, visitors and businesses.

Policy TLC6 - Betting Shops, Pawnbrokers and Payday Loan Shops
and Hot Food Takeaways

To ensure that shopping areas remain diverse and balanced, the council will
seek to limit the amount and concentration of betting shops, pawnbrokers and
payday loan shops in areas of high concentration.

Planning permission for new betting shops, pawnbrokers and payday loan
shops will not be permitted in the prime retail frontage of town centres or within
400 metres of the boundary of an existing or permitted betting shop, pawnbrokers
or payday loan shop.

Outside of these areas, planning permission will only be granted for a betting
shop, pawnbrokers or payday loan shop in accordance with the quotas that
apply and where it can be demonstrated that the proposal will not impact on
residential amenity and will add to the vitality of the existing shopping parade
or cluster.

When considering proposals for hot food takeaways (class A5), and in addition
to the quota policies that will apply, the council will take into account proximity
to areas where children and young people are likely to congregate, such as
schools, parks and youth facilities.

Justification

6.112 Hammersmith and Fulham has a high concentration of betting shops, pawn brokers
and payday loan shops per capita. There are notable concentrations on North End Road
and in our designated town and local centres. Local retail health checks confirm that the
over representation of such uses is especially high in the most deprived parts of the
borough.

6.113 The over representation of betting shops, pawn brokers and payday loan shops
in the most deprived parts of the borough can restrict the retail choices available to the
more vulnerable members of the local community and can have an impact on their health
and finances.

6.114 To ensure that shopping areas remain diverse and balanced, the council is seeking
to limit the amount and concentration of betting shops, pawnbrokers and payday loan
shops in areas of high concentration. This will also help the council address strategic and
borough wide objectives in relation to health and regeneration. The betting shop exclusion
zone of 400 metres enables the council to manage the amount of new betting shops within
walking distance of existing premises, thereby reducing the clustering and concentration
of such uses. 400 metres is considered to be a standard benchmark for walking distance
equating to approximately 5 minutes walk. Applying a criteria to be met with regard to
residential amenity will enable the council to only allow such uses in locations where they
will not impact upon the local community.

Page 222



110 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

6.115

Although hot food takeaways provide a service for the community, the council is

concerned about the potential health impacts of hot food takeaways on children and young
people. Therefore, in the case of proposals for class A5 uses (hot food takeaways),
consideration will be given to the proximity of schools and similar facilities as well as the
prevalence and clustering of takeaways when assessing the acceptability of these uses.
The council's Planning Guidance SPD provides further supplementary policy related to
hot food takeaways.

1.

Policy TLC7 - Public Houses

The council will only permit the change of use or redevelopment of a public
house (A4) after consideration of relevant town and local centre retail
policies and an assessment of the following:

a. aviability report that demonstrates to the council’s satisfaction that
the public house is no longer economically viable, including evidence
of active and appropriate marketing for a continuous period of at least
12 months;

b. the role the public house plays in the provision of space for community
groups to meet and whether the loss of such space would contribute
to a shortfall in local provision;

c. the design, character and heritage value of the public house and the
significance of the contribution that it makes to the streetscape and
local distinctiveness, and where appropriate historic environment, and
the impact the proposal will have on its significance; and

d. the ability and appropriateness of the building and site to accommodate
an alternative use or uses without the need for demolition or alterations
that may detract from the character and appearance of the building.

Where the evidence demonstrates to the council's satisfaction that a public
house is not economically viable, but where the building is assessed as
making a significant contribution to the local townscape and streetscape,
or is assessed as making a positive contribution to the historic environment,
the council will require the building to be retained.

The proposed change of use of a ground floor of a public house for
residential use will only be acceptable where:

a. the premises are not within a town centre, key local centre, satellite
parade or neighbourhood parade;

b. the proposal has been assessed against parts 1c and 1d of this policy
and the impact of the proposal on these features; and

c. the council is satisfied that residential use is acceptable, the
accommodation to be provided will be of the highest quality and it
meets the requirements outlined in residential standards.

The applicant will be required to carry out an assessment of the needs of
the community for community facilities to show that the existing or former
public house is no longer needed and that alternative provision is available
in the area.

Page 223




LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 111

6|

Justification

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)(48) identifies public houses as a community
facility that contributes to enhancing the sustainability of communities and residential
environments. As such, pubs should be safeguarded and retained for the benefit of the
community and planning policies and decisions should guard against the unnecessary
loss.

This approach is supported by the London Plan (2016) Policy 3.16 'protection and
enhancement of social infrastructure' which cites the protection and enhancement of social
infrastructure, which can include pubs. In addition, it is supported by changes to policy 4.8
(supporting a successful and diverse retail sector and related facilities and services) of
the London Plan (2016) which recognises the important role that London’s public houses
can play in the social fabric of communities.

The council identified over 100 traditional pubs in the borough in 2014 after discounting
premises that operate as bars and clubs. Over recent years the borough, like the rest of
London, has seen a number of pubs change to other uses, including retail and residential.
There is increasing public concern at this loss, however the General Permitted Development
Order currently allows public houses (A4 Use Class) to change to some other uses including
retail, professional and financial services, and restaurants without the need for planning
permission. In instances where planning permission is required, the council will resist the
loss of public houses as they can fulfil the following important community role:

e asocial role in supporting local community interaction and activities to help maintain
sustainable neighbourhoods;

e an economic role in contributing to the vibrancy and vitality of shopping and
commercial areas, and the vibrancy of residential areas contributing to a mix of land
uses; and

e an environmental role in their intrinsic value to the cultural and historic heritage of
local neighbourhoods.

In order to ensure that the council can make a sound assessment when a change of use
is proposed, applicants will be required to submit a viability report. The council will require
supporting evidence that indicates that despite efforts to find a user for the premises it
remains vacant. A reasonable marketing exercise will include continuous marketing
generally over a period of at least 12 months with at least two recognised commercial
agents. Evidence of this marketing will be required to be submitted along with the agents’
views as to why the property is not letting.

The use of pub space for community groups can be a valued resource and evidence will
be required demonstrating consultation has taken place with local community and voluntary
organisations.

Where there is local need, this use should be retained or replaced within the building,
unless an alternative approach can be identified and agreed. The retention of the ground
floor for non-residential use will normally help maintain street activity and a mixed use
neighbourhood.

48 Communities and Local Government, National Planning Policy Framework, March 2012

Page 224



112 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

The council may also consider adding certain public houses to the Register of Assets of
Community Value if the community support for their retention is significant.

The townscape, streetscape and heritage significance of the public house will need to be
assessed, where relevant. This will mean submitting a report prepared by a suitably
qualified professional, and where the heritage significance needs to be assessed, the
submission of a heritage statement assessing the heritage values of the building as set
out in English Heritage’s Conservation Principles(49), including a townscape appraisal.

Where the building is deemed significant, but the retention of the public house use is
shown not to be economically viable, then the building itself or the identified significance
will need to be retained.

49 English Heritage’s Conservation Principles: Policies and Guidance (2008)

Page 225



Proposed Submission Local Plan 2016 (Cabinet) LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 113

6|

Community Facilities, Leisure and Recreation

Page 226



114 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

1.

a.

g.

3.
entertainment facilities by:

a.
b.

Policy CF1 - Supporting Community Facilities and Services

The council will work with its strategic partners to provide borough-wide high
quality accessible and inclusive facilities and services for the community by:

Seeking to ensure high quality healthcare and the retention and enhancement
of existing healthcare facilities, such as accident and emergency departments,
including Charing Cross Hospital; and

assisting in securing sites and buildings for future healthcare provision or
reorganisation of provision, including local hubs for a wide range of health
services in the north, centre and south of the borough, including new
provision in the regeneration areas; and

supporting renewal of existing GP premises and other healthcare facilities
where this is required.

Seeking the improvement of school provision, including:

improvement and/or expansion of secondary schools;

improvement and/or expansion of primary schools through the primary
school capital programme;

supporting the creation of new free schools;

requiring the building of new primary schools as appropriate and applicable
to the need generated by development proposals and available existing
capacity in the White City Opportunity Area, the Fulham Regeneration Area
(including Earls Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area);

working with and supporting the Old Oak and Park Royal Development
Corporation in the provision of school facilities to meet the need arising
from proposed development in the OPDC area;

supporting the provision of schools and facilities for those with special
needs; and

supporting provision of childcare nurseries.

Improving the range of leisure, recreation, sports, arts, cultural and

protecting existing premises that remain satisfactory for these purposes;
supporting re-provision of facilities for existing users in outworn premises
where opportunities arise; and

seeking new facilities where appropriate and viable, including as part of
major development proposals, in particular:

- major new leisure, arts, sports and recreation facilities in the White
City Opportunity Area, especially east of Wood Lane and in Shepherds
Bush town centre, in the Earls Court and West Kensington Opportunity
Area; and

-water related sports and educational facilities in riverside
developments.

Page 227




LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 115

6|

4. Supporting the continued presence of the major public sports venues for
football and tennis, subject to the local impact of the venues being managed
without added detriment to local residents;

5. Enhancing sport, leisure and cultural provision for schools and public use
in suitable local parks;

6. Protecting all existing community facilities and services throughout the
borough where there is an identified need;

7. Supporting the Metropolitan Police Service, the London Fire and Emergency
Planning Authority and Her Majesty's Court Service and action to deal with
safety, crime and anti-social behaviour; and

8. Requiring developments that increase the demand for community facilities
and services to make contributions towards, or provide for, new or improved
facilities.

Justification

6.116 In a built up borough like Hammersmith and Fulham where there are many
competing uses, it is important to maintain, manage and enhance community facilities.
Such uses include education, health, leisure, places of worship, recreation facilities, and
3" sector uses, but may also embrace uses such as pubs where they provide a valued
community asset (see glossary for full definition). These community facilities can play an
important part in the social fabric of communities and are an important element of what
makes a decent neighbourhood. The council will work with partners to keep aware of
needs, assist with the implementation of agreed programmes by allocating sites for specific
uses and ensure that requirements are taken into account in new developments.

6.117 Community facilities need to be located so that they have maximum accessibility
for their potential users. It will be appropriate for some facilities that attract people from a
large area to be located in a town centre or key local centre, and the council’s policies
allow for this possibility. Other local facilities may be better located close to the communities
they serve. The council will seek to co-locate community facilities for which it is responsible
and will encourage others to do so in order to provide services that are better integrated
with both public and private sectors. The council believes that establishing community
hubs in areas of the borough where there are high levels of deprivation will better meet
the accommodation needs of the 3" sector.

6.118 The council’s strategy for the regeneration of the borough will see a rise in the
borough's population as well as more visitors to the borough. This growing population will
increase the demand for community services and facilities and will impact on all providers
of social infrastructure, such as the Metropolitan Police Service and the NHS Clinical
Commissioning Group. Finding sites for new facilities to support this growth can be difficult,
but the council will ensure that the strategies for the borough’s four regeneration areas
fully take into account the need to provide appropriate education, health and other
community facility infrastructure. Elsewhere, when new developments result in an increase
in the demand for community facilities, they will also be required to make appropriate
provision for new or improved facilities, thereby helping to create a sustainable

Page 228



116 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

development. In addition, in those cases where there is pressure to redevelop existing
facilities the council will protect these, unless it can be shown that a need no longer exists
or that facilities can be appropriately replaced or provided elsewhere.

6.119 The current situation regarding known planned community service provision is
set out below.

Schools and other educational and training facilities
6.120 The council’s key educational priorities are to:

meet the council’s statutory responsibility to meet demand for school places;
progress the schools of choice agenda for expansion of popular schools;
increase the percentage of resident children choosing the borough’s schools; and
deliver the Special Schools Strategy.

6.121 There will need to be an increase in primary and secondary school places in the
north of the borough to meet the anticipated increase in child population. At secondary
stage, the council is committed to the provision of adequate school places to meet local
need, for instance the on-going expansion of Lady Margaret School, the on-going expansion
of Sacred Heart School,and the recently completed new accommodation for Queensmill
School, and is supportive of the development of post 16 learning. The council also supports
the government’s new Free Schools policy which it considers will improve the educational
choices of children in the local community. The following Free Schools have been
established in the Borough: West London Free School (Primary and Secondary); Earls
Court Primary; Ark Conway; Fulham Boys School (C of E) Secondary and new Ark Primary
School within the grounds of Burlington Danes Academy. A temporary 16-19 Free School
operated by Tri-Borough Alternative Provision (TBAP) Multi Academy Trust (MAT) is
planned to open in September 2016. Redevelopment of existing buildings as well as the
provision of a new build is expected to be completed in December 2017. Delivery of the
above strategy will result in improved education and training so that young people will be
better able to take advantage of local jobs.

6.122 The following school improvements have been committed to in the Council’s
Primary, Secondary and Alternative Provision Strategy for 2016/17 and beyond with funding
from the Children's Services Capital Programme:

e Expansion of Pope John Primary School (on site 2015)

e Expansion of Holy Cross RC Primary School

e Expansion of Holy Cross Bilingual provision at Clancarty Road

e Development of an improved Alternative provision at the Bridge Academy
e  William Morris Sixth Form — enhanced SEN provision (on site 2015)

e New special needs centre offering 19+ Provision at Queensmill School

6.123 In addition the council will generally support developments that improve
independent educational, further educational and training facilities in the borough.

Leisure, recreation, sports, arts, culture and entertainment facilities

6.124 The borough has a rich and varied range of leisure, recreation, sports, and arts,
culture and entertainment facilities. The responsibility for the provision of these facilities,
including investment and maintenance, falls to a number of organisations, including the

council. Because the facilities give residents and visitors to the borough the opportunity

Page 229



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 117

6|

to participate in a range of activities that help to improve quality of life, health and well
being, the council will seek to protect existing uses, such as the Apollo , the Lyric Theatre
and Linford Christie Stadium, and assist in providing new facilities. Where there is a
recognised deficiency in the provision of any facility or activity, the council will seek to
readdress this situation through the application of Local Plan policies, particularly in the
regeneration areas where there are identified development sites (see also policies for
these areas).

6.125 Inrespect of sport, the limited amount of open space in the borough, including in
most of our secondary schools, means that the council has to maximise the use of its
resources. The council have prepared a Sports and Physical Activity Strategy to increase
participation in sports.

6.126 Given the limited amount of open space, the council also wants to make better
use of the Thames River for water sports and the council will negotiate for new facilities,
as part of redevelopment schemes, where appropriate.

Health

6.127 The council wishes to see the improved health and wellbeing of the community
and will work with the Imperial College Healthcare NHS and other partners to achieve this
objective. It recognises that there are changing health needs as a result of factors such
as people living longer and more people living with long-term conditions like diabetes,
heart disease, asthma and dementia. However, whatever the needs, the priority must
continue to be to improve the health of all residents, to reduce health inequalities and to
deliver new and improved health facilities in the borough.

6.128 The Imperial College Healthcare NHS’ s strategy has led to the reorganisation of
hospital facilities and other health services in the borough, including the closure of A&E
services at Hammersmith Hospital. The council is concerned that such changes should
not lead to cutting back on NHS services and particularly supports the continuation of A&E
services at Charing Cross. The council also supports enhancement of existing facilities
and provision of new services with capital receipts from sales of land and buildings where
release has been justified.

6.129 In terms of secondary care, the three main hospitals operating in the borough
(Queen Charlotte’s Hospital, Hammersmith Hospital and Charing Cross Hospital) are
managed by the Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust which is one of the largest NHS
trusts in the country. As part of the ‘Shaping a Healthier Future’ service re-modelling, due
to be implemented in 2017, it has been announced that Charing Cross Hospital will become
a world-class elective (non-emergency) surgery centre and will retain its local Accident
and Emergency (A&E) service, along with other changes. The council will continue to work
with its health delivery partners to protect hospitals and A&E units and to ensure adequate
services are provided to support the existing and future population of the borough.

6.130 In terms of primary care, the Hammersmith & Fulham Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCQG) is responsible for commissioning local health care services in conjunction
with the NHS Commissioning Board. The CCG commissions local community and acute
services and works with GP's to support primary care. The ambitions of the CCG are set
out in its Out of Hospital Care Strategy 2012-2015 which aims to shift the emphasis towards
providing more care in GP surgeries, people's homes, local communities, and in children’s
centres and schools. The NHS Commissioning Board develops and oversees all CCG's
and directly commissions primary care services and some specialised services.

Page 230



118 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

6.131 In terms of primary care property and estates, the Department of Health has set
up NHS Property Services Limited (NHS PS) to provide expert management of a large
portion of the NHS estate which owns and manage all PCT estate that was not transferred
to NHS providers in March 2013. It also manages ‘surplus’ NHS and government estate.
The focus of its role centres on delivering and developing cost-effective property solutions
for community and primary care health services. NHS PS works with the new
commissioning bodies and the Health & Wellbeing Boards (HWBs) to ensure that estate
needs of the local NHS can continue to be met.

6.132 The Local Plan also recognises the contribution that other elements of the plan
have on the health of residents (“public health”), including access to parks and play areas,
recreation facilities, the opportunities to walk and cycle, community safety, access to shops
selling fresh foods, controls on hot food takeaways, educational attainment and access
to employment, the borough’s air quality and noise and light pollution. Public health
functions and statutory duties are managed by the Tri-Borough Public Health Department
(jointly between LBHF, RBKC and City of Westminster). It works with and supports other
council services in delivering public health benefits, including recognising the influence
planning and the built environment has on improving health and wellbeing and reducing
health inequalities.

6.133 The council also has a Health & Wellbeing Board (HWB) which has statutory
duties including promoting integrated working, the production of a Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment (JSNA) and a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) which is informed
by the JSNA. The JHWS has been developed which sets out the following priorities:

e integrated health and social care services which support prevention, early intervention
and reduce hospital admissions;

e delivering the White City Collaborative Care Centre to improve care for residents and

regenerate the White City Estate;

every child has the best start in life;

tackling childhood obesity;

supporting young people into Healthy Adulthood;

better access for vulnerable people to Sheltered Housing;

improving mental health services for service users and carers to promote independence

and develop effective preventative services; and

e better sexual health across Tri-borough with a focus on those communities most at
risk of poor sexual health.

6.134 Inthe council’ s regeneration areas it will be important for new health services to
be provided as part of supporting social infrastructure. The council will also seek other
ways of of improving the health of residents, including access to new and existing parks
and play areas, recreation facilities, opportunities to walk and cycle, community safety,
access to shops, controls on hot food takeaways, educational attainment and access to
jobs, and management of air quality and noise and light pollution. It is also important to
the council that existing health and community facilities are protected and improved, such
as those at Park View Centre for Health and Wellbeing, Parsons Green Health Centre,
White City Community Centre and Milson Road Health Centre.

6.135 Further details on proposals for specific new or expanded health facilities are
provided in the Infrastructure Schedule in the Infrastructure Delivery Plan.

Page 231



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 119

6|

Policy CF2 - Enhancement and Retention of Community Uses

Proposals for new or expanded community uses should meet local needs, be
compatible with and minimise impact on the local environment and be accessible
and inclusive to all in the community they serve.

The provision of new or expanded community uses should be provided as part
of the necessary supporting social infrastructure for significant new housing
and other development proposals. Where it is not appropriate to provide
community uses on site or in total as part of a development scheme, a
contribution to new and/or enhanced uses in the locality will be sought.

In any development proposal, existing community uses should be retained or
replaced, unless there is clear evidence that there is no longer an identified
need for a particular facility or alternative community uses. In assessing need,
the council will take into account the role the facility plays in the provision of
space for community groups and whether the loss of such space would
contribute to a shortfall in local provision. In addition, a viability report that
demonstrates to the council’s satisfaction that the facility or alternative
community uses is not economically viable, including evidence of active and
appropriate marketing for a continuous period of at least 12 months, will be
required.

Justification

6.136 Buildings and land used for community uses constitute a major community
resource. Community uses cover a variety of activities ranging from schools and churches
to some public houses (see Glossary for definition) and often need to be sited in locations
that are readily accessible to the users of a specific service, particularly where it serves
a local community. However, whilst some community uses will have a local catchment,
others may attract users from a much wider area.

6.137 Where new or expanded community uses are provided, they should be designed
to meet need and should be accessible, affordable and adaptable, and where appropriate
offer flexible accommodation that can be used for a variety of uses by the local community.
In those circumstances where it is not appropriate to provide new facilities as part of a
development scheme, for example because the development is not large enough or
because there are other nearby schemes also liable to provide social infrastructure, it may
be more appropriate to provide funding towards new or expanded facilities to be provided
in the locality.

6.138 The loss of buildings and land for community uses will only be acceptable where
there is no identified need for the facility and satisfactory marketing has been undertaken
for appropriate alternative community uses. An assessment of need should be provided
together with evidence of viability in such circumstances where the loss of community
uses is proposed. The assessment should include how this need is currently being met
and give consideration of other existing providers which contribute to meeting that need.
The Localism Act’s provisions allow local community groups, which meet a set of criteria
laid down by government, to nominate an ‘asset’ in their local area to be placed on a
Register of Assets of Community Value. The purpose of this is to give community groups

Page 232



120 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

the opportunity to identify land or property that they believe furthers the social wellbeing
or social interests of the local community, and gives them time to bid for that asset if an
owner decides to sell.

Policy CF3 - Enhancement and Retention of Arts, Culture,
Entertainment, Leisure, Recreation and Sport uses

The council will support the enhancement of arts, culture, entertainment, leisure,
recreation and sport uses by:

a. supporting the continued presence of the borough’s arts, culture,
entertainment, leisure, recreation and sports venues subject to the local
impact of venues being managed without added detriment to local residents;

b. requiring proposals for new and expanded venues to be accessible and
inclusive and to be supported by evidence of how impacts such as noise,
traffic, parking and opening hours have been assessed, minimised and
mitigated;

c. seeking retention or replacement of existing arts, culture, entertainment,
leisure, recreation and sport uses, unless there is clear evidence that there
is no longer an identified need for a particular facility or alternative
community arts, culture, entertainment, leisure, recreation and sport uses.
A viability report that demonstrates to the Council’s satisfaction that the
facility or alternative arts, culture, entertainment, leisure, recreation and
sport use is not economically viable, including evidence of active and
appropriate marketing for a continuous period of at least 12 months, will
be required; and

d. encouraging the temporary use of vacant buildings for community uses,
including for performance and creative work.

Justification

6.139 Accessible arts, cultural, entertainment, leisure, recreation and sports facilities
are important elements of social infrastructure and contribute greatly to the quality of life
of all members of the community as well as visitors to the borough. Such facilities are
particularly important elements of town centres and will be essential in supporting the
borough’s growth which is particularly directed to the four regeneration areas (see also
policies for these areas).

6.140 The venues occupied by these uses vary greatly from purpose built premises to
conversions from other uses. They are often open during the evening and at night-time,

for example music venues, and along with uses such as restaurants and pubs and bars,
help sustain a night-time economy which is particularly vibrant in the town centres. However,
because such uses can also impact on residential amenity, for example through comings
and goings, it is necessary for new or expanded venues to be appropriately located and

managed.

6.141 Notwithstanding the presence within Hammersmith and Fulham of a varied range
of arts, cultural, entertainment, leisure, recreation and sports facilities, there are some
parts of the borough that are not well served by such uses. It is important to try reduce
these deficiencies. Facilities the borough has must therefore be protected. As a
consequence, the council will require adequate justification for any proposals for change

Page 233



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 121

6|

of use or redevelopment of premises to other uses. The proposed loss of buildings and
land that are used for arts, culture, entertainment, leisure, recreation and sports uses will
be considered against criteria such as the suitability and viability of the site or premises
for such uses with or without adaption, evidence of unsuccessful marketing, evidence of
need and community asset value. In addition, in order to try to reduce deficiencies in
provision, when regeneration schemes come forward, the council will seek to ensure that
these are accompanied by arts, cultural, entertainment, leisure, recreation and sports uses
that are appropriate to the scale and location of the development and are accessible and
affordable and meet the needs of the community.

6.142 Temporary use of buildings may offer the opportunity for community uses,
particularly those that are transient or may have a short life. They may help to enliven
town centres where vacancy is an issue.

Policy CF4 - Professional Football Grounds

In considering any redevelopment proposal for all or part of an existing football
ground, the council will require the provision of suitable facilities to enable the
continuation of professional football or other field-based spectator sports.

6.143 The council wishes to retain professional football in the borough, because it
provides a major source of entertainment and contributes to the life of the community. The
council is only prepared to consider re-development proposals for professional football
grounds if they make provision for continuation of professional football or other field-based
spectator sports at that ground. If it can be demonstrated that professional football or other
field-based spectator sports are no longer viable there, the redevelopment should include
provision for other community service uses in accordance with other policies in this Chapter.

Page 234



122 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

Green and Public Open Space

Policy OS1 - Parks and Open Spaces

The council will protect, enhance and increase provision of parks, open spaces
and biodiversity in the borough by:

a. designating a hierarchy of open space that includes metropolitan open land
(MOL), open space of borough wide importance and open space of local
importance (see Appendix 3) as well as a hierarchy of nature conservation
areas of metropolitan, borough and local importance, and green corridors
along the borough’s railway lines (see Appendix 4);

b. requiring a mix of new public and private open space in the White City and
Earls Court and West Kensington Opportunity Areas and the South Fulham
Riverside Regeneration Area and in any new major development; and

c. improving existing parks, open spaces and recreational facilities throughout
the borough.

Justification

6.144 In a densely built up area like Hammersmith and Fulham, the local environment
and public spaces are very important.

Hierarchy and status of parks and open space

6.145 The council’'s 2008 Parks Survey and other background information shows that
open space is important for peoples’ quality of life and for enhancing biodiversity in the
borough. Open spaces provide opportunities for people to exercise and to take part in
outdoor sport and recreation which enhances the health of local people. It is therefore
important to maintain open spaces for the benefit of the community and involve local
communities in the use of such spaces. The council has designated an open space
hierarchy that responds to the variety of parks and open spaces in the borough, including
strategically important open space, namely Metropolitan Open Land (MOL), and open
spaces of borough-wide and more local importance (see Proposals Map and Appendix
3). Overlapping with this hierarchy are those areas which have particular nature
conservation interest. These areas were originally identified by the former London Ecology
Unit and are classified as of metropolitan, borough-wide and local importance (see
Proposals Map, Map 6 below and Appendix 4). On Wormwood Scrubs, now in the Old
Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation, there is also a designated local nature
reserve.

Page 235



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 123

New and improved parks and
open spaces

6.146 The Council’s 2005 Open
Spaces Audit reveals that
Hammersmith and Fulham has
relatively little open space per
person and with more people
living and working in the borough,
the improvement of existing parks
and open spaces and facilities
within them, and the provision of
more public open space and
private amenity space as part of
new developments will be
important, particularly in areas of
deficiency (see Map 6). The
Council’'s Parks and Open Spaces
Strategy 2008-2018 sets out a
framework for the delivery of
services and future improvement
actions for the London Borough of
Hammersmith and Fulham,
community partners and
stakeholders involved in providing,
managing and enjoying open
spaces across the borough.
Because of existing deficiency in
open space, nature conservation
(see Map 7) and children’s play

6|

Map 6 Open Space

B Metropalitan Open Land

| Open space of borough importance i s :
| I Open space deficiency ! = :

T T R

. ©Crown copyright. Al rights reserved
| L B HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM
Licence Mo, LATD0MS223 2010

areas throughout the borough, it is important that new developments contribute to reducing
this deficiency by provision of open space and play facilities for all ages as part of
regeneration schemes. Such open space should be provided overall in a combination of

public and private areas.

Page 236



124 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

6.147 In the opportunity and Map 7 Nature Conservation Areas
regeneration areas especially, _ _
there are Opportunities for new !'T--"“rh.. s e 3 5 I sites of Borough Importance Grade |

open space. This may be provided
in a number of ways, for example,
in easily accessible small private
spaces and in larger parks. New | "\ —
publicly accessible open spaces, [ %
whether public or private, will '
allow provision of high quality and
attractive, durable and adaptable
places and contribute to improving
the quality of life, reducing the
incidence of crime and anti-social
behaviour and to making places
better for people. In addition, they
will offer opportunities to
contribute to biodiversity and flood
risk management.

e Sites of Borough Importance Grade |l
Sites of Local Importance
Sites of Metropolitan Importance

o—a-  Green Corridors

J "’3‘ Crown copyright. All rights reserved !
| LB HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM \
Licence No. LA100016223 2010 o s Sl

Page 237



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 125

6|

Policy OS2 - Access to Parks and Open Spaces

The council will seek to reduce open space deficiency and to improve the quality
of, and access to, existing open space by:

a. refusing development on public open space and other green open space
of borough-wide importance (see Appendix 3 and Proposals Map) unless
it can be demonstrated that such development would preserve or enhance
its open character, its function as a sport, leisure or recreational resource,
and its contribution to biodiversity and visual amenity;

b. refusing development on open space that is not identified in the Local Plan
where such land either on its own or cumulatively has local importance for
its open character or as a sport, leisure or recreational facility, or for its
contribution to local biodiversity or visual amenity unless:

e the proposed development would release a site for built development
needed to realise a qualitative gain for the local community in pursuance
of other physical, social and economic objectives of the Local Plan and
provision is made for replacement of open space of equal or greater
value elsewhere.

c. requiring accessible and inclusive new open space in any new major new
development, and

d. seekingimprovements to existing open space and the facilities within them,
such as Linford Christie Stadium, where appropriate and when development
proposals impact upon provision.

Justification

6.148 The type, size and quality of parks and open spaces, including allotments, play
areas, school playing fields and private gardens in the borough varies, but they have many
benefits, including those associated with health, sport and recreation, children’s play,
culture, biodiversity and the public realm.

6.149 The council considers that it is important to have a general presumption against
development on existing open space, however, notwithstanding the need to protect,
improve and increase open space in the borough, situations may arise when the benefits
of protecting existing open spaces (private and public) need to be considered against the
benefits of allowing some limited development on them. The policy criteria that relate to
the possible release of open spaces of borough-wide importance and local importance
are considered appropriate to clarify the special circumstances where limited types of
development on public and private open space may be acceptable. However, it will not
be appropriate to exacerbate or create a deficiency in access to open space or undermine
the overarching objective to improve access to open space. In order to improve access
to the borough’s parks and open spaces for local residents, the council will restrict their
use for private events and use by out-of-borough schools.

6.150 New open space is sought in regeneration area and strategic site policies to help
achieve the vision of a borough of opportunity for all. It is also sought elsewhere as

opportunities arise and if justified by the type and nature of the development. This approach
will require new accessible and inclusive open space to meet the needs of the occupiers

Page 238



126 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

of the new development, including schools, and other users, to help reduce open space
deficiency, to improve the public realm and to contribute to biodiversity and flood risk
management. The open space requirement will be secured through on site provision or,
if appropriate, elsewhere in the borough.

6.151 In some cases, a contribution to secure improvements in existing open space,
rather than provision of new open space, will be appropriate. This is likely to involve
improvements to existing public open space in proximity to developments where it is not
practicable to provide adequate open space on site. The improvements could include new
or upgraded play areas, refurbished pathways, better signing or additional seating, and
would be provided in the context of the council’s Parks and Open Spaces Strategy. The
council will support friends' groups that are representative of the community and will work
in partnership with all groups that meet these overarching criteria to improve parks and
open spaces. The more detailed matters of nature conservation and greening are included
in the Planning Guidance SPD.

Policy OS3 - Playspace for Children and Young People

Development proposals should not result in the loss of existing children and
young people's playspace or result in an increased deficiency in the availability
of such playspace.

In new residential development that provides family accommodation; accessible
and inclusive, safe and secure communal playspace will normally be required
on site that is well designed and located and caters for the different needs of
all children, including children in younger age groups, older children and
disabled children. The scale of provision and associated play equipment will
be in proportion to the scale and nature of the proposed development.

Justification

6.152 High quality playspace is important for children of all age groups, including those
who are disabled, but particularly for children who do not have access to private gardens
or amenity space so that they may have opportunities for play, social interaction and the
physical activity. As with open space in general, it is important to protect and improve
existing playspace in a borough where there is an overall deficiency of such facilities and
an uneven distribution. The council has a programme for refurbishment of play areas.

6.153 New residential development, including mixed use developments with housing,
in the identified regeneration areas and elsewhere should make provision for new
playspace. The council will take into account the Mayor of London’s sPG?. The council
considers that playspace for young children should be located close to the home, but for
older children and teenagers it could be located off site if this is considered appropriate.

50 Shaping Neighbourhoods Play and Informal Recreation September 2012
Page 239



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 127

6|

Policy OS4 - Nature Conservation

The nature conservation areas and green corridors identified on the Proposals
Map (and shown on Map 7 and listed in Appendix 4) will be protected from
development likely to cause demonstrable harm to their ecological (habitats
and species) value.

In these areas, development will not be permitted unless:

a. the proposed development would release a site for built development needed
to realise a qualitative gain for the local community in pursuance of other
physical, social and economic regeneration objectives of the Local Plan,
and measures are included for the protection and enhancement of any
substantive nature conservation interest that the site may have so that there
is no net loss of native species and no net loss of habitat; or

b. provision is made for replacement nature conservation interest of equal or
greater value elsewhere in the locality.

Elsewhere on development sites, proposals should, where appropriate to the
scale and nature of the development, enhance the nature conservation interest
through initiatives such as new green infrastructure and habitats, tree planting
and brown and green roofs and protect any significant interest on the site and
any nearby nature conservation area.

Planning conditions will be imposed, or planning obligations sought to ensure
the maintenance and enhancement of nature conservation areas where these
are affected by development proposals.

Justification

6.154 There are nature conservation areas of metropolitan importance in the borough,
namely the River Thames and its inlets, and the Kensal Green Cemetery. There are also
a number of sites of borough-wide and local importance. All three types of areas provide
habitats for species of flora and fauna, as well as a valuable resource for the local
community for educational and recreational purposes. In a borough where land is at a
premium and where many locations require physical, social and economic regeneration,
itis important to protect these areas from demonstrable harmful impacts both from on-site
development but also from development in the local area because of their contribution to
ecosystem services. Where replacement nature conservation areas are proposed as a
result of development, then permission will only be given where it has been demonstrated
that there will be at least equal nature conservation value, that is no net loss of either
species or habitat, provided by the new site. It is also important that these areas are
managed in order to minimise the impact of invasive non-native species.

6.155 In this borough green corridors extend along parts of the railway network and link
nature conservation areas. The River Thames allow some animals and plants to penetrate
further into the built-up area than would be the case if they did not exist. They may thus
enhance the major habitats that they link e.g. the railway line linking the river and the canal
and the nature conservation areas in between. Such corridors are of great value in boroughs
such as Hammersmith and Fulham which are not well endowed with nature conservation
areas. Opportunities to further strengthen the fundings of the green corridors will be

Page 240



128 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

sought. These may be future development proposals within the corridors, including those
arising from operational uses or specific environmental improvement schemes as a result
of council or voluntary activities. However, any such proposals to enhance the green
corridors or waterways, including filling in gaps or extensions, should not prejudice the
operational needs alongside the road or rail thoroughfares or the safe navigation of the
waterways.

6.156 The closely built-up nature of the borough, and the overall deficiency in accessible
nature conservation areas, makes it important that all new developments in the regeneration
areas and elsewhere respect existing nature conservation interest and provide future
opportunities to improve the biodiversity of the area. In respect of new development, this
can readily be achieved by following a few simple guidelines which do not affect the efficient
functioning of the new building, and are not likely to be a significant part of total development
costs. Nature conservation measures can enhance the character of the building and the
value of the site.

Policy OS5 - Greening the Borough

The council will seek to enhance biodiversity and green infrastructure in the
borough by:

a. maximising the provision of gardens, garden space and soft landscaping
and seeking green or brown roofs and other planting as part of new
development;

b. protecting back, front and side gardens from new development and
encouraging planting in both back and front gardens;

c. seeking to prevent removal or mutilation of protected trees;

d. seeking retention of existing trees and provision of new trees on
development sites; and

e. adding to the greening of streets and the public realm.

Justification

6.157 In a very built up borough, enhancing biodiversity and increasing the amount of
green areas through new development will have a number of benefits. Soft landscaping
and increasing the number of trees not only benefit biodiversity but also can help to reduce
the impact of higher summer temperatures and reduce rainfall run-off rates, which will
help to reduce the risk of surface water flooding, as well as improving the borough’s health,
for example through improved local air quality. There will also be visual benefits from a
greener borough. Green or brown roofs and walls are also an essential sustainable design
consideration and provide many of the benefits of more conventional urban greening.

6.158 Back, front and side gardens can play an important part in maintaining biodiversity
as well as contributing to townscape and quality of life objectives. In addition, parked cars
in front gardens can add visual clutter and be detrimental to the appearance of the street
scene, impact on permeable surfaces and reduce the potential for soft landscaping and

tree planting which would add to the street scene. The council therefore wishes to protect
gardens. In addition, the council will generally discourage the installation of paving and

impervious surfaces in existing front gardens and will encourage their removal, unless the
paving is original. The enhancement of front gardens will not only help improve the street

Page 241



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 129

6|

environment and biodiversity, but will also reduce the rate of surface water run off and the
risk of flooding. More detailed guidance for applicants seeking permission for new
development is included in the council's Planning Guidance SPD.

6.159 The loss of trees will nearly always result in a deterioration of the ecological value
and environmental character of an area and will not be acceptable without good cause,
particularly if subject to a Tree Preservation Order. Pruning or reducing, using best practice,
should be investigated as an alternative to other trees works. New development schemes
provide the opportunity to provide landscaping including tree planting on site. Trees
indigenous to this country should be planted, as these provide habitats for indigenous
wildlife. This policy needs to be read in con{unction with the Mayor of London's SPG on
Green Infrastructure & Open Environments 1)

River Thames

Policy RTC1 - River Thames

The council will work with its partner organisations, including the Environment
Agency, Port of London Authority, Thames Water and landowners to enhance
and increase access to, as well as use of, the waterways in the borough, namely
the River Thames, and improve waterside environments by:

a. identifying the Thames Policy Area on the Proposals Map and setting out
general criteria for the design of development in this area, in this Local Plan
and in the planning framework for the South Fulham Riverside Regeneration
Area;

b. encouraging the development of vacant or underused land along the
waterways, namely the River Thames, Chelsea Creek and taking into account
their local context and character;

c. protecting existing water dependent uses and requiring new development
to provide opportunities for water based activities where appropriate and
enhance river and canal related biodiversity, safeguard and enhance where
necessary flood defences, as well as encouraging public access especially
for leisure and educational activities; and

d. ensuring the provision, or improvement and greening, of the Thames Path
National Trail (the riverside walk) in all riverside developments.

Justification

6.160 The River Thames is of considerable benefit to Hammersmith and Fulham and
is of strategic importance to London as a whole. The Thames Policy Area designation and
associated policies aim to protect the features of the riverside and of the river, including
the Chelsea Creek, particularly its environmental quality and importance as:

e amajor linear open space which is particularly important in an area with limited parks
and open spaces;

e alandscape feature with views and landmarks of local importance;

e aresource for recreation and sport, tourism and leisure;

51 Green Infrastructure & Open Environments: Preparing borough tree and woodland strategies— February
2013

Page 242



130 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

e an ecological resource and an important refuge for plants and wildlife;
e an area with considerable archaeological and historic interest; and
e atransport resource.

6.161 Further details of the qualities and character of the river and riverside are included
in the Thames Strategy - Kew to Chelsea 2002.

6.162 A balance needs to be reached between the many functions of the river. In
Hammersmith and Fulham there is a particular issue with vacant and under-used
safeguarded wharves and the development of the land adjoining these sites. More detail
on the wharves is provided in the policy for the South Fulham Riverside Regeneration
Area. However, in respect of the land adjoining the wharves, their sterilisation would not
accord with London Plan(®? policies to optimise the potential of sites or to improve the
environment of the River Thames. It is therefore the council’s intention to encourage
development of these sites and to encourage suitable waterside uses as part of mixed
use schemes where these would be appropriate. However, the development of land should
take into account London Plan (2016) policy and the need for design to seek to minimise
conflict between different uses (see also Local Plan policy RTC4). The River Thames has
a significant potential for water based activities that can increase opportunities for
participation in sport and recreation in the borough. It also provides a home for a number
of boat dwellers.

6.163 It is important that all waterside developments respect the flood defences and
enhance these where necessary. The council will work closely with the Environment
Agency on these matters. It is also important to extend and improve the Thames Path
National Trail, together with pedestrian and cycling routes to link it to the surrounding area,
which will often depend on the development of the vacant and underused riverside sites.

Policy RTC2 - Access to the Thames Riverside and Foreshore

The council will seek accessible and inclusive public access to the riverside,
including through-site links when riparian development takes place and the
provision and enhancement of the Thames Path National Trail (the riverside
walk). It will also seek the retention and enhancement of access to and from the
foreshore in development schemes where it is appropriate and safe to do so,
and will promote enjoyment of riverside heritage assets and open spaces.

The riverside walk should generally be at least 6 metres wide and should be
accessible to cyclists if this can be achieved without risk to the safety of
pedestrians or river users.

All proposals will need to ensure that flood defences are not adversely affected.

Justification

6.164 The council has for many years been seeking to open up the riverside and river
for greater public access. This includes through-site links in new riverside development,
and the provision of an accessible and safe access way along the whole length of the
riverside as part of the Thames Path National Trail (see policy RCT1 - River Thames).

52 Mayor of London, The London Plan: spatial development strategy for Greater London, GLA March
2016

Page 243



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 131

6|

New sections of the river walk will normally be achieved when redevelopment of riverside
land takes place and its provision is specifically set out in the policies for South Fulham
Riverside Regeneration Area. Elsewhere, development will still be expected to incorporate
construction of the riverside walk, and in instances where development creates a direct
need to improve or enhance an existing section of the riverside walk, planning conditions
may be imposed or developer contributions sought.

6.165 Although priority will be given to pedestrians so that they may benefit from the
many opportunities that walking can give, the council wishes to encourage cycling, and
the riverside walk can also provide a traffic-free route for cyclists. Measures will be taken
to reduce pedestrian-cyclist conflicts, for example by providing separate paths where
appropriate, or measures to slow cyclists. The council also accepts that the design of the
riverside walk should respect and enhance the natural character of the river wherever
possible e.g. by use of planted embankments. However, it should also embrace the
industrial heritage of the river so that visitors can learn about the river’s past. The Council's
Riverside Walk Enhancement Report 2010 provides details of opportunities for improving
the riverside walk.

6.166 Access to the foreshore, which is primarily in the ownership of the Port of London
Authority, can have a recreational and educational value. There is a right of access for
fishing, navigational and other customary purposes, but public access must be considered
in the context of the environmental and archaeological importance of the foreshore and
particularly safety considerations, bearing in mind the fast tidal flows affecting this part of
the Thames.

6.167 Development bordering the river has an important role to play in access to the
foreshore. Some sites may include drawdocks, slipways, steps, stairs, hards, piers,
pontoons, ladders, chains or other infrastructure enabling access to and from the river
and its foreshore. It is important that these are retained, kept in good repair or added to
as appropriate, and planning conditions may be used to ensure this happens. The profile
of the river bank may also have a bearing on ease of access to and away from the
foreshore, and on the protection of environmental interests, while mutual visibility between
development sites and the foreshore is also an important aid to public safety. These are
matters that will be taken into account when considering the design of developments
bordering the river.

6.168 Consultation with the Port of London Authority, the Environment Agency and other
stakeholders will be undertaken on all proposals concerned with or affecting access to the
riverside and the foreshore.

Page 244



132 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

Policy RTC3 - Design and Appearance of Development within the
Thames Policy Area

Development will not be permitted within the Thames Policy Area as shown on
the Proposals Map, unless it: respects the riverside, including the foreshore,
context and heritage assets; is of a high standard of accessible and inclusive
design; and maintains or enhances the quality of the built and natural
environment. The council will encourage the greening and naturalising of the
river bank and/or flood defences with reference to the Thames Estuary 2100
Plan to create habitats for wildlife and improve the visual attractiveness of the
area. Schemes that meet these requirements, and, by their design, contribute
to creating an attractive, safe and interesting riparian environment will be
welcomed. The council will require the submission of a design and access
statement as part of a planning application within the Thames Policy Area.

Justification

6.169 In addition to the general design policies, development on the riverside needs to
respect the unique character of the river, having particular regard to the height, massing
and bulk of development and its relationship to the river corridor, river walk and/or river
edge, its tributaries and foreshore, as well as landward development. The river and much
of the riverside is subject to conservation area status, whilst the river itself is a nature
conservation area of metropolitan importance and development must protect its ecological
value.

6.170 The aim is to secure a special quality for all new development on the river and
riverside, and where appropriate to enhance the vitality of the riverfront and include
river-related uses that attract the public. The design and access statements should include:

e anassessment of scale, mass, height, silhouette, density, layout, materials and colour
in relation to the local context, including river frontage;

e impacts on local and strategic views, including views across, along and from the river,
the skyline and local landmarks and historic buildings and structures and archaeological
remains;

e impacts on navigation, hydrology and ecological interests;

e proposals for river edge treatment, including evidence of the Environment Agency’s
agreement if the 16 m setback for development from the river flood defences is not
met and impact on the integrity of flood defences;

e visual and physical permeability and links with the river’s hinterland; and

e sections on protecting and enhancing public access to and along the river, landscaping,
open spaces and street furniture and lighting.

6.171 The council will refer to conservation area character areas character profiles and
to the 'Thames Strategy - Kew to Chelsea' to assist in identifying the qualities of the Thames
Policy Area, including:

i.  the individual character of reaches within the borough;

ii. areas, sites, buildings, structures, landmarks, skylines, landscapes and views of
particular sensitivity and importance;

iii. development sites and regeneration opportunities;

Page 245



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 133

6|

iv. sites of ecological importance;

v. sites of archaeological importance;

vi. focal points (existing and proposed) of public activity; and
vii. public access and recreation opportunities.

6.172 In respect of proposals for tall buildings, further policy guidance is provided in
policy DC3 'Tall Buildings'. The South Fulham Riverside Regeneration Area policy has
additional guidance for this area and taller buildings could be accommodated at the Fulham
Wharf site and the Chelsea Creek/National Grid sites on Imperial Road.

Policy RTC4 - Water-Based Activity on the Thames

Development will not be permitted if it would result in the loss of existing
facilities in the river for water-based activities and uses, unless the facilities are
demonstrably surplus to current or anticipated requirements, or unless
alternative facilities of similar or greater utility are to be provided. Specific
requirements regarding development of the borough’s three safeguarded
wharves are set out in the London Plan.

Developments that include provision in the river for water-based and river-related
activities and uses, including new permanent moorings, passenger services,
and for facilities associated therewith, particularly where these would be publicly
accessible, will be welcomed, provided:

a. they are compatible with the character of the river, the riverside, and the
importance of the river as a wildlife habitat;

b. they do not impede or give rise to hazards to navigation, water flow, the
integrity of flood defences or public safety; and

c. they accord with other objectives and policies of the Plan.

Justification

6.173 The River Thames can and should be used in ways that reflect its special character,
for example as a base for many water-related recreational and commercial activities, a
transport route that can relieve congestion on road and rail, a feature of the landscape
and a habitat for many varieties of flora and fauna.

6.174 Itis important to retain and improve the river infrastructure identified in paragraph
5.176 above, such as drawdocks, slipways, steps, stairs, hards, piers and pontoons
because these enable access to and from the river for water-based activities such as
sailing and rowing and for improved passenger services on the River Thames. Although,
the council wishes to see increased use of the river and will seek new facilities in riverside
development, a balance must always be struck with regard to other issues such as
ecological and navigational interests and the amenity of residential neighbours. In particular,
improving the quality of the river for aquatic life could be adversely affected by inappropriate
development extending onto the foreshore or into the river and proposals will be resisted
unless these serve a water based purpose.

6.175 In considering proposals for the use of the river, the council will consult and
collaborate with appropriate organisations such the Port of London Authority and the
Environment Agency. Proposals for development on the three safeguarded wharves are

Page 246



134 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

subject to referral to the Mayor of London under amended directions issued to the council
in 2000. London Plan (2016) policy 7.26 and supporting text set out the viability tests
against which the redevelopment of safeguarded wharves for other land uses should be
assessed. In addition, the development of sites adjacent or opposite safeguarded wharves
should be designed in such a way so as to minimise the potential for conflicts of use and
disturbances.

6.176 The council will work with TfL and the Port of London Authority to encourage the
development and provision of passenger riverboat services for both leisure and commuting,
not only eastwards between Putney Bridge and Central London, but also westwards
towards Hammersmith and Chiswick.

Page 247



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 135

6|

Design and Conservation

Policy DC1 - Built Environment

All development within the borough, including in the regeneration areas, should
create a high quality urban environment that respects and enhances its
townscape context and heritage assets. There should be an approach to
accessible and inclusive urban design that demonstrates how good design,
quality public realm, landscaping, heritage assets and land use can be integrated
to help regenerate places.

Justification

6.177 The council will expect applicants to consider urban design in a wide context. It
is not just about the design and materials of individual buildings. There should be a holistic
approach to design that considers what makes a place function and how buildings, public
realm, land uses and movement patterns can combine to produce attractive, distinctive
and safe areas that achieve the highest standards. The council will expect all development
proposals to provide an accessible environment that meets the needs of all users.

6.178 The existing character of the borough is heavily influenced by a variety of historical,
landscape and architectural assets. Some of these are of national importance, such as
listed buildings and the Fulham Palace Moated Site, whereas others are of borough
importance, including archaeological priority areas (see Appendix 5) and locally listed
buildings of merit. However, whether they are of national or local importance, they should
be considered in all deveIoPments in accordance with the policies of the National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF) %3) and the associated English Heritage Historic Environment
Planning Practice Guide.

6.179 Many residents value the human scale of the traditional streetscape in the borough
and often want to see this maintained in new development. The council will seek this form
of design in development proposals. In addition, all new development will need to be
inclusive and accessible to the whole community, and designed to minimise opportunities
for crime and anti-social behaviour. A large proportion of the public realm is public highway,
and works should follow the best practice design principles laid out in “Streetsmart” which
will regularly be reviewed and updated.

53 Communities and Local Government, National Planning Policy Framework, March 2012

Page 248



136 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

Policy DC2 - Design of New Build

New build development will be permitted if it is of a high standard of design and
compatible with the scale and character of existing development and its setting.

All proposals must be designed to respect:

a. the historical context and townscape setting of the site, and its sense of
place;

b. the scale, mass, form and grain of surrounding development and
connections to it;

c. the relationship of the proposed development to the existing townscape,
including the local street pattern, local landmarks and the skyline;

d. the local design context, including the prevailing rhythm and articulation
of frontages, local building materials and colour, and locally distinctive
architectural detailing, and thereby promote and reinforce local
distinctiveness;

e. the principles of residential amenity;

f. the local landscape context and where appropriate should provide high
quality landscaping and public realm with good permeability;

g. sustainability objectives; including adaptation to, and mitigation of, the
effects of climate change;

h. the principles of accessible and inclusive design; and

i.  principles of Secured by Design.

Justification

6.180 The council is committed to excellence in urban design in all new development
within the borough. This includes consideration of both buildings and open spaces and
the relationship between the two, a balance between the need for neighbourliness and
the scope for design freedom. New development should embrace sustainable design
principles and contribute positively to the public domain at all levels; improving legibility
and permeability, respecting the overall height and form of neighbouring development, its
massing as well as its rhythm and articulation of facades.

6.181 The design of new development should be informed by, and developed from, a
considered analysis of the existing townscape, including the setting and role of the site
within the local environment. Where appropriate this analysis should be carefully laid-out
and fully explained in the Design and Access Statement accompanying the planning
application.

6.182 Buildings should have a visual identity appropriate to their location and intended
use. The aim is not to stifle innovation but to promote or reinforce local distinctiveness.
All development should be human in scale, and be designed with details and materials
that complement the local area.

Page 249



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 137

6|

6.183 The council will encourage development which visually enhances the borough,
and avoids harm by ensuring that the bulk and massing of schemes are appropriate in
relation to the surroundings. In the general assessment of bulk and massing, full
consideration will be given to amenities of neighbouring pro(perties against Planning
Standards included in the Mayor of London's Housing SP )

6.184 All the above policy criteria must be considered in relation to the existing fabric
of the borough and in particular the context of the development site. Much of the borough
is of a traditional character reflected in the number of conservation areas. The finer grain
and traditional form of much of the borough requires a particular design approach and in
many streets there is a strong pattern of development in existence which derives much of
its character from the uniform appearance of the streetscape.

6.185 Itis recognised that new build development within areas experiencing substantial
change in the borough, such as regeneration and opportunity areas, provide the opportunity
to create a high quality architectural character, and sense of place which would add to the
boroughs townscape character. It will be important for the design of such sites to be
informed by the character of the surrounding environment, and the role of the site within
a wider context. Larger schemes should connect to their surroundings, allowing permeability
through the site and providing a high quality public realm. Larger schemes should aim to
meet the criteria outlined in the Building for Life Assessment.

6.186 Where appropriate, new development should contribute to an improved and more
legible public realm. The council promotes a high standard of design for the public realm
in its design guidance — Streetsmart and the Riverside Walk Enhancement Report. These
documents encourage reduced clutter and promote high standards of design in the public
realm which is harmonious with, and enhances, the local area thereby reinforcing local
distinctiveness.

6.187 Inits consideration of proposed new development, the council will seek to ensure
that developments are sustainable, durable and adaptable. Designs should deliver safe
and inclusive environments. All development should be sited, designed and laid out to
offer ease of entry and use by disabled people, and for parents of small children and others
with needs for an environment which is accessible and inclusive.

54  Mayor of London's Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) — March 2016
Page 250



138 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

a.

b.

Policy DC3 - Tall Buildings

Tall buildings, which are significantly higher than the general prevailing height
of the surrounding townscape and which have a disruptive and harmful impact
on the skyline, will be resisted by the council. However, areas where tall buildings
may be appropriate are as follows:

White City Regeneration Area;

Earls Court & West Kensington Opportunity Area;
South Fulham Riverside Regeneration Area; and
Hammersmith Town Centre.

In the areas identified as appropriate for tall buildings, any proposal will need
to demonstrate that it:

has a-positive relationship to the surrounding townscape context in terms
of scale, streetscape and built form;

is of the highest quality of architectural design and materials with an
appropriate form and silhouette which contributes positively to the built
heritage and image of the borough;

has an acceptable impact on the skyline, and views from and to open spaces,
the riverside and waterways and other locally important views and
prospects;

has no harmful impact in terms of the setting of, and views to and from,
heritage assets;

is supported by appropriate transport infrastructure;

has an appropriate design at the base of the tall building and provides
ground floor activity;

interacts positively to the public realm and contributes to permeability of
the area;

is of a sustainable design and construction where energy use is minimised,
the risk of overheating is addressed through passive design measures and
the design allows for adaptation of the space;

does not have a detrimental impact on the local environment in terms of
microclimate, overshadowing, light spillage and vehicle movements; and
respects the principles of accessible and inclusive design.

Justification

6.188 Due to the generally low rise character of the borough, most areas will be sensitive
to the impact of tall buildings. However, there is scope for tall buildings in the regeneration
of the borough. The general character of any particular area will always be an important
consideration in assessing the acceptability of tall buildings and a full design appraisal of
the impact of a tall building will always be required.

6.189 The White City Regeneration Area includes some parts which are less constrained
in terms of local townscape context than other parts of the borough and so tall buildings
may be appropriate, providing a distinctive recognisable landmark. The White City
Opportunity Area Planning Framework SPD sets out guidance on this matter.

Page 251




LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 139

6|

6.190 Hammersmith Town Centre has a number of existing tall buildings and further tall
buildings of a similar height could be appropriate in some parts of the centre. Any proposals
for tall buildings in the town centre will need to respect public parks and squares, historical
context views from the river and make a positive contribution to the skyline emphasising
a point of civic or visual significance, demonstrate tangible urban design benefits, and be
consistent with the Council’s wider regeneration objectives.

6.191 Inthe Earls Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area there may also be some
scope for tall buildings in carefully selected locations that are less constrained by the
surrounding context, and the Earls Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area Joint
SPD sets out further guidance.

6.192 Elsewhere, there are areas in the borough, particularly in conservation areas and
along the Thames, that are particularly sensitive to tall buildings and where heights of
buildings should generally be restricted. However, limited parts of the South Fulham
Riverside Regeneration Area may be appropriate for tall buildings and these are identified
in the South Fulham Riverside SPD(see also Tall Buildings background paper).

6.193 The council recognises and values the variation in character across the borough,
and is committed to the preservation of the borough’s built heritage and overriding
townscape character found in large swathes of the borough of tree-lined street blocks of
traditional family housing with rear gardens. In these areas of consistent townscape
character, tall buildings would be seriously intrusive. In addition, in other areas of the
borough, some parts of which are protected by conservation area designation, higher
buildings can detrimentally impact upon the character and skyline, especially where they
intrude on established views and skylines from open spaces, the river, riverside or bridges.
The impact of tall buildings in sensitive locations should be given particular consideration.

6.194 The policy aims to ensure that tall buildings do not harm the built heritage and
townscape character, but are properly located, contribute in a positive manner to enhance
a sense of place and are an integral part of the long term spatial vision for the borough.
The townscape character of the borough suggests that there are few opportunities for tall
buildings in the borough. It is important therefore that within the limited areas identified,
the precise locations for tall buildings meet the criteria of this policy and the English Heritage
/ CABE Guidance on Tall Buildings. It is this delicate balance that has determined the
council’s approach to tall buildings in the borough.

6.195 The Strategic Linear View from King Henry’s Mound in Richmond Park to St Paul’s
Cathedral as identified in the London View Framework, crosses the borough. The view
corridor is shown on the Proposals Map and will be protected.

Page 252



140 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

Policy DC4 - Alterations and Extensions (including Outbuildings)

The council will require a high standard of design in all alterations and
extensions to existing buildings. These should be:

e compatible with the scale and character of existing development,
neighbouring properties and their setting;

e subservient and successfully integrated into the architectural design of
the existing building; and

e should never dominate the parent building in bulk, scale, materials or design.

In considering applications for alterations and extensions the council will take
into account the following:

scale, form, height and mass;

proportion;

vertical and horizontal emphasis;

relationship of solid to void;

materials;

impact on skyline silhouette (for roof top additions);

relationship to existing building, spaces between buildings and gardens;
good neighbourliness in particular the amenities of the neighbouring
properties, and other properties most directly affected by the proposal; and
the principles of accessible and inclusive design.

S@ e a0oToD

Justification

6.196 The design of extensions or alterations to buildings is of considerable importance,
because they can change the character of individual buildings and that of an area as a
whole. This is of particular concern in terraces of uniform appearance. The council

recognises that there will be changing needs and requirements of occupiers, but seeks to
ensure that extensions and alterations, even the most minor ones, do not affect the inherent
qualities of existing properties.

6.197 To avoid an incongruous and cluttered townscape appearance, additions to
buildings such as roof and rear extensions and outbuildings, should be designed in keeping
with the character of the building or complement its architecture without being unduly
dominant. Roof level alterations and extensions, including front mansards will need to
integrate successfully with the building concerned, using matching and high quality materials
and execution. Where there are existing extensions on a street these will be taken into
account in determining the appropriateness of new proposals. Other proposed installations
to existing buildings such as external lighting, CCTV cameras, antennae and solar panels
should also be designed and positioned to minimise their impact.

6.198 Plant and other building services should also be integrated into the design of the
building. Where additions cannot be incorporated into the volume of the building, building
services located at roof level should be positioned and adequately screened to minimise
noise and visual intrusion.

6.199 Planted front and rear gardens form part of the character of many of the borough’s
streets.

Page 253



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 141

6|

6.200 Article 4 Directions will continue to be made to restrict forms of development which
could have an unsympathetic impact on the character and appearance of individual
buildings and terraces.

Policy DC5 - Shopfronts

In order to improve the appearance of the borough’s streets, the council will
encourage high quality shopfronts that are designed in sympathy with the age
and architectural style of the building concerned, achieving a satisfactory
relationship between the ground floor and the rest of the building. The scale of
the shopfront should be carefully considered with its proportions, detailing
(including vertical and horizontal subdivision) and materials, which have an
affinity with the building.

Where an original shopfront is converted to another use or a consistent
traditional shopfront remains, the council will expect it to be retained and
restored.

New developments which include retail areas should provide a framework into
which a shopfront of a suitable scale can be inserted.

Fascia signs and projecting signs should not be overly large and should be
designed to be appropriate to the styles of the shopfront (see section on
Shopfront Guidance in the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning
Document).

New shopfronts should be designed to meet the principles of accessible and
inclusive design.

Justification

6.201 Shopfronts and their associated advertisements play a vital role in determining
the character of our town centres and shopping streets, primarily because they are the
part of the building which has direct interface with the public realm, and have an immediate
relationship with the human scale. The design of new shopfronts, therefore, needs careful
attention.

6.202 Shops in Hammersmith and Fulham are primarily located in the three major town
centres of Hammersmith, Shepherds Bush and Fulham and within the network of designated
local shopping centres. However, there are also a large number of smaller shopping
parades and individual units. The presence of retail use can help to ensure a lively
environment in these areas.

6.203 The council is committed to maintaining the vitality and improving the townscape
in these areas.

6.204 The cumulative effect of better shopfront designs will be the enhancement of the
visual appearance of the borough’s shopping streets, thereby improving first impression
and quality for users, visitors and potential investors. The emphasis is on good quality
design of shop fronts and advertisements which will enhance the character of the shopping
street (see Planning Guidance SPD for further detail). The council will also take into account
any relevant supplementary planning documents.

Page 254



142 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

6.205 The key aim is to ensure that shopfronts are not designed in isolation but are
considered as an important part of the building in which they are housed. The design of
the shopfront should be informed by the architectural style and character of the building
and the framework provided by the building within which the shopfront can be integrated.

6.206 In designing new shopfronts it is important to ensure that the entrance is accessible
to wheelchairs and push chairs.

6.207 Where a former retail unit is converted to another use, such as residential, the
council will expect the retention of the shopfront, where it is historically or architecturally
interesting, and the shop surround of pilasters and fascia where they exist, so that there
is no adverse impact on the character of an area.

Policy DC6 - Replacement Windows

Replacement windows should respect the architectural character of the building
and its surroundings. In this respect, it will be important that the design of
replacement windows matches the original windows in terms of material, type
and size, method of opening, profile and section, and sub-division.

Justification

6.208 Inmost buildings, the detailed design of the windows is a fundamental component
of the elevation. The character of a fagcade and its contribution to the street scene can be
eroded considerably by inappropriate replacement windows.

6.209 The policy encourages the retention of the uniformity and consistency of the
original design of each building, block or terrace in the borough.

Page 255



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 143

6|

Policy DC7 - Views and Landmarks

The council will protect the strategic view of St Paul’s Cathedral and important
local views shown on the Proposals Map.

Local views afforded by the open nature of the borough’s riverfront are important
in determining the character of each stretch of the riverside. Many heritage
assets are located along the river, and it is important that their setting and
relationship with the river is preserved or enhanced. The council will refuse
consent where proposed development in these views would lead to harm to the
significance of a designated heritage asset and townscape generally, unless it
can be demonstrated that the harm is necessary to achieve public benefits that
outweigh the harm caused. Opportunities for enhancement of strategic and
local views will be pursued where they arise.

1. Development within the Thames Policy Area will not be permitted if it would
cause demonstrable harm to the view from the following points:

a. from Hammersmith Bridge, the view along the river, foreshore, and
riverside development and landscape between Hammersmith Terrace
to the west and Fulham Football Ground to the south;

b. from Putney Bridge, the views along the river, foreshore and riverside,
extending upstream from All Saints Church and its environs, along
Bishops Park as far as Fulham Football Ground, and from Putney
Railway Bridge the view downstream to the grounds of the Hurlingham
Club; or

c. from Wandsworth Bridge, the view up and downstream of the river, its
foreshore and banks, and of commercial wharves and riverside
buildings.

2. Development will also not be permitted if it would cause demonstrable harm
to the view from within the Thames Policy Area of any of the following
important local landmarks identified on the Proposals Map, or their settings:

a. Upper and Lower Mall. The richness, diversity and beauty of the
historical waterfront which includes Hammersmith Terrace, Kelmscott
House and neighbouring group of listed buildings, and the open space
of Furnivall Gardens allowing views of the skyline of Hammersmith and
the spire of St. Paul’s Church;

b. Bishops Park. The parallel avenues of mature London plane trees and
dense shrubbery which define the character of this important open
space and the riverfront;

c. grounds of the Hurlingham Club. The landscaped edge of the grounds
providing glimpsed views to the listed Hurlingham House;

d. Hammersmith Bridge. This fine example of a suspension bridge is
particularly dominant, and is an important landmark along this stretch
of the river; or

e. Putney Bridge and the adjacent All Saints Church.

Page 256



144 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

Justification

6.210 The London Plan (2016)(55) identifies a set of strategically important views of
which one, the linear view from King Henry’s Mound in Richmond Park to St Paul’s
Cathedral crosses the borough (see Proposals Map).

6.211 The townscape character of the borough is one of generally tight knit streets of
domestic scale architecture with irregular street blocks. This urban form, together with
effect of the borough’s topography, places limitations on the appreciation of mid and long
distance views across the area. However, the riverside and open spaces afford some
important local key views.

6.212 The council has identified key views and landmarks on the Proposals Map and
in both the character profiles for the Conservation Area. The views identified make a strong
contribution to the character of the townscape in any specific location. The preservation
of the essential qualities of any view, or indeed the enhancement of those qualities will be
sought. The impact of any proposal on these views will therefore form the basis of any
evaluation of a proposal affecting heritage assets and other areas of townscape sensitivity.

6.213 Views within the borough are key elements in determining the character of the
townscape and contribute to the interest of areas. The council will seek to ensure that
proposed development does not harm these views in terms of location, scale and massing.
The council will ensure that significant views in and out of conservation areas remain
unharmed from new development and are preserved and enhanced. Development when
viewed from open spaces and along the riverside has great prominence due to the
openness of the location and should therefore be of the highest quality. The council will
ensure that development which affects the River Thames pays due regard to the riverside’s
distinctive character, and is of a bulk, massing, scale and appearance which is appropriate
to its surroundings.

6.214 The views afforded by the open nature of the riverfront are important in determining
the character of each stretch of the riverside in the conservation areas, and will therefore
be crucial in assessing the acceptability or otherwise of development proposals along the
river's edge. In line with the London Plan (2016), the council has identified a number of
views across and along the river which are important to the local scene and which are to
be protected. The council has included in this list of important views, all river edges of
historical significance, corridor views of particular importance and views towards important
landmarks. The views towards specific landmarks can be enjoyed from various viewpoints
along the riverside. These views will vary in nature and content, as the viewpoint changes.
Locations have been marked on the Proposals Map which represent the longest viewing
point towards each landmark.

6.215 The landmarks identified include bridges, areas of open space, and groups of
buildings along a historic riverfront. All have strong links with the river and it is important
that their setting and relationship with the river is preserved. Bridges are particularly
important landmarks. They subdivide the river, and help to define the character of each
stretch. Furthermore, bridges are important vantage points and command extensive views
along the riverside.

55 Mayor of London, The London Plan: spatial development strategy for Greater London, GLA March
2016

Page 257



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 145

6|

6.216 The council is aware that the landmarks identified are also enjoyed in important
views from outside the borough boundary, and will ensure that these are fully considered
when assessing the impact of any development which may impinge on these views.

Page 258



146 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

a.

Policy DC8 - Heritage and Conservation

The council will conserve the significance of the borough's historic environment
by protecting, restoring and enhancing it's heritage assets. These assets include:
listed buildings, historic parks and gardens, the scheduled monument of Fulham
Palace Moated site, unscheduled archaeological remains and buildings and
features of local interest. When determining applications for development
affecting heritage assets, the council will apply the following principles:

the presumption will be in favour of the conservation, restoration and
enhancement of heritage assets, and proposals should secure the long
term future of heritage assets. The more significant the designated heritage
asset, the greater the presumption should be in favour of its conservation;
development affecting designated heritage assets, including alterations
and extensions to buildings will only be permitted if the significance of the
heritage asset is conserved or enhanced or where there is less than
substantial harm and the harm is outweighed by the public benefits of the
proposal. Where measures to mitigate the effects of climate change are
proposed, the applicants will be required to demonstrate how they have
considered the significance of the heritage asset and tailored their proposals
accordingly;

development should conserve the setting of, make a positive contribution
to, or reveal the significance of the heritage asset. The presence of heritage
assets should inform high quality design within its setting;

applications for development affecting non-designated heritage assets
(buildings and artefacts of local importance and interest) will be determined
having regard to the scale and impact of any harm or loss and the
significance of the heritage asset;

particular regard will be given to matters of scale, height, massing,
alignment, materials and use;

where changes of use are proposed for heritage assets, the proposed use,
and any alterations that are required resulting from the proposed use should
be consistent with the aims of conservation of the asset's character and
significance;

applications should include a description of the significance of the asset
concerned and an assessment of the impact of the proposed development
upon it or its setting which should be carried out with the assistance of a
suitably qualified person. The extent of the requirement should be
proportionate to the nature and level of the asset's significance;
proposals which involve harm to, or loss of, any designated heritage asset
will be refused unless it can be demonstrated that they meet the criteria
specified in paragraph 133 of the National Planning Policy Framework;
where a heritage asset cannot be retained in its entirety or when a change
of use is proposed, the developer should ensure that a suitably qualified
person carries out an analysis (including photographic surveys) of its design
before it is lost, in order to record and advance the understanding of heritage
in the borough. The extent of the requirement should be proportionate to
the nature and level of the asset's significance;

the proposal respects the principles of accessible and inclusive design;

Page 259




LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 147

k. expertadvice will be required to address the need to evaluate and conserve
archaeological remains, and to advise on the appropriate mitigation
measures in cases where excavation is justified; and

|.  securing the future of heritage assets at risk identified on English Heritage's
national register, as part of a positive strategy for the historic environment.

6|

Justification

6.217 Hammersmith and Fulham has maintained a much-valued built heritage, much
of which falls within the borough’s 45 designated conservation areas (see Proposals Map
and Table 5 below). In many of these areas, the street provides a sense of scale and the
setting for the consistent terraces of uniform architectural design. Within the borough,
there are over 500 statutory Listed Buildings and approximately 2,150 locally designated
Buildings of Merit, as well as a number of archaeological priority areas and the ancient
monument of the Fulham Palace moated site (see Proposals Map and Appendix 5). The
heritage assets make an important contribution to the townscape character of the borough.

Table 5 Conservation Areas

—

. St. Peter's Square
2. The Mall

3. Brook Green

4. Hurlingham

($)]

. Bishops Park

»

. Imperial Square

~

. Studdridge Street

8. Ravenscourt Park &
Starch Green

9. Walham Green

10. Parson's Green

11. Queen's Club Gardens

12. Wormholt & Old Oak
13. Westcroft Square

14. Walham Grove

16. Fulham Park Gardens

17. Sedlescombe Road

18. Dorcas Estate

19. Fitz George & Fitz
James

20. Hammersmith Grove

21. Shepherds Bush

22. Hammersmith
Broadway

23. Avonmore & Olympia

24. St. Mary's
25. Bradmore
26. Melrose

27. Baron's Court
28. Crabtree

29. Central Fulham

Page 260

31.

The Billings and

Brompton Cutting

32.

33.

Ingersoll/Arminger

Coningham Road/Lime

Grove

34.

35.

36.

Gunter Estate

Turneville/Chesson

Lakeside/Sinclair/Blythe

Road

37.

38.

39.

40.

41.

42.

43.

44.

King Street (East)

Colehill Gardens

Fulham Reach
Putney Bridge
Sands End Riverside
Wood Lane

Cleverly Estate

Hammersmith Odeon



148 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

15. Barclay Road 30. Moore Park

6.218 Heritage assets are a non-renewable resource.

6.219 New development should have a good relationship with the character of the
surrounding historic context. The character of a conservation area will be derived from the
individual buildings within it, their relationship to each other, and the spaces between them;
from the townscape in its broadest sense, and from the interrelationship between the public
realm, open spaces and the built form. The character of the conservation area may be
uniform, or, in larger conservation areas, may vary within its boundaries. The character
may also be defined by its land uses and by its archaeological potential.

6.220 The special character of the conservation areas makes it essential that new
development accords with their special architectural and visual qualities. The Character
Profiles produced for the borough’s conservation areas will assist in interpreting the scale,
massing, height and alignment of development and also the finer grain elements such as
vertical and horizontal rhythms, materials and decorative or architecturally important
features. Reference will also be made to street building lines and local building traditions
where appropriate. New buildings will not necessarily be required to copy their older
neighbours, although there will be places where a facsimile development will be appropriate.
The aim should be to promote high quality design which contributes positively to the area,
harmonising the new development with its neighbours in the conservation area. Valued
historic assets can inform contemporary high quality design.

6.221 The council will protect its listed buildings from demolition or harmful alteration
and from development which has a harmful impact on their setting.

6.222 No specific powers other than normal planning controls are available to regulate
the use to which listed buildings are put, but the council considers that it is important that
these buildings should not be used in a manner which is harmful to their character. Changes
of use of listed buildings often require internal and external alterations that may affect the
significance of the heritage asset. It will therefore take every opportunity to persuade those
involved to co-operate in finding appropriate uses and may in certain circumstances be
prepared to allow a use that would not normally be approved on other policy grounds,
provided this will protect the character of the building. The council expects the owners
and/or users of listed buildings to play their part in their upkeep, and will use its legal
powers to ensure proper maintenance of buildings and their settings.

6.223 The council will work with English Heritage to maintain the Heritage at Risk Register
and reduce the number of heritage assets at risk in the borough.

6.224 The council wishes to promote simple and uncomplicated access, into and around
listed buildings. The goal is for disabled people or people with mobility problems to use
the property in the same way as everyone else. This will call for creative and sensitive
solutions. There may be cases where a compromise solution is necessary (see Easy
Access to Historic Buildings - Historic England, 2015).

6.225 There are many buildings in the borough, in addition to the listed buildings, which
are of merit and which contribute to the character of the locality because of their townscape
value, architectural quality or historic associations. Many of these buildings and artefacts
are included in a Local Register. Most buildings on the register have been selected through
external inspection on the basis of their architectural character and/or their contribution to
the visual quality of the street scene. However, there may be instances where the interior

Page 261



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 149

6|

of the buildings is valuable. Proposals to add to, or in exceptional cases remove, buildings
from the Local Register will be considered as and when appropriate and in consultation

with the relevant amenity societies. Furthermore, the council may recommend that particular
buildings on the Local Register should be added to the Statutory National List of Buildings
of Special Architectural or Historic Interest (see Planning Guidance SPD for further detail).

6.226 Locally important buildings are of value in terms of townscape, architectural or
historic interest, and it is especially important that they should not be demolished. Any
alterations should only be carried out in a way that respects the scale, character and
materials of the building (see relevant supplementary planning document).

6.227 There will be a presumption against proposals which would involve significant
alteration of, or cause damage to, or have a harmful impact on the setting of Archaeological
Remains of National or Local Importance, whether scheduled or not.

6.228 Applicants will be required to arrange for archaeological field evaluation of any
such remains within the archaeological priority areas defined on the Proposals Map before
applications are determined or if found during development works in such areas or
elsewhere. Proposals should include provision for the remains and their settings to be
protected, enhanced or preserved. Where it is accepted that physical preservation in situ
is not possible or not merited, planning permission may be subject to conditions and/or
formal agreement requiring the developer to secure investigation and recording of the
remains and publication of the results. It is therefore important for developers to consult
Greater London Archaeological Advisory Service (GLAAS) at an early stage. New buildings
will normally destroy any archaeological remains and therefore these should be excavated
by a qualified archaeological unit before work commences. This is because the context
of any archaeological find is an essential part of the historical value of any remains. The
council considers it is reasonable for a person thus threatening part of the community's
heritage to fund adequate excavation, the subsequent academic and popular reports, as
well as publicity both for the excavation and the reports. The council will encourage
developers to inform local archaeological societies of the start of any archaeological
excavation and to make arrangements for public viewing of excavations in progress,
wherever possible, and for subsequent analysis, interpretation and presentation to the
archaeological and amenity societies and the public of any archaeological results and
finds.

Page 262



150 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

Policy DC9 - Advertisements

The council will require a high standard of design of advertisements, which
should be in scale and in keeping with the character of their location and should
not impact adversely on public safety. The council will resist excessive or
obtrusive advertising and inappropriate illuminated signs which adversely affect
the character and appearances of the neighbourhood or the site/building,
residential amenity or public safety. The design of advertisements should be
appropriate to their context and should generally be restrained in quantity and
form. The council will use its powers to remove unsightly and inappropriate
signs.

Advertisements should normally be located at ground floor level and relate to
commercial zone of the street frontage and the architectural design of the facade.
All forms of advertisements displayed above ground floor level would in many
circumstances result in visual clutter in the street scene and detract from the
architectural composition and scale of the buildings to which they relate. Further
detailed guidance for Shopfronts and advertisements in conservation areas is
included in the Planning Guidance Supplementary Planning Document.

Hoardings and other large advertisements, such as digital screens will be
acceptable where they are of an appropriate scale with their surroundings and
where they do not have a detrimental impact on areas sensitive to the visual
impact of hoardings such as conservation areas, listed buildings and other
heritage assets, residential areas, open spaces or waterside land.

Buildings that are being renovated or undergoing major structural work and
require scaffolding or netting around them, may be considered suitable for
temporary advertisement shrouds. Advertisement shrouds are when commercial
advertising forms part of a protective screen secured on scaffolding to screen
buildings works being carried out. This will not be permitted where the
advertisement would impose a detrimental impact on the building or street
scene in terms of the size, illumination and/or content; or where the
advertisement would be harmful to residential amenity or public safety. Where
advertisement shrouds are considered to be acceptable, they should be
accompanied by a 1:1 depiction of the building and only be displayed for a
limited period related to the reasonable duration of the building works.
Advertisement shrouds on heritage assets will only be acceptable where the
revenue generated directly contributes to the restoration of the heritage asset.
In order to avoid premature or prolonged periods of display, which could be
harmful to amenity, the council will require evidence of a signed building contract
where the display of an advertisement shroud is linked to building works. Where
planning permission for building works is required, consent for an advertisement
shroud will only be granted once planning permissions has been granted and
all pre-commencement conditions have been discharged.

The display of estate agents boards within Regulation 7 areas will not be
permitted.

Page 263



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 151

6|

Justification

6.229 The display of an advertisement can have a considerable impact on the visual
amenity of the street scene if its size, design and siting are handled insensitively. The
council takes the view that any advertisements requiring consent should not adversely
affect the character and visual amenity of individual buildings and streets. This will be
particularly important where advertisements affect the borough’s heritage assets or their
setting. There is one area of special advertisement control in the borough, namely the Mall
Conservation Area.

6.230 The council will continue to seek the removal of inappropriate advertisements.
Regulation 7 areas have been designated where the council has received the Secretary
of States approval to restrict the display of estate agents boards and these will be kept
under review.

Policy DC10 - Telecommunications

The council support the expansion of Telecommunications networks, but are
keen to avoid any detrimental impact on the local townscape. Proposals for
telecommunications development should meet the following criteria:

a. the proposed apparatus and associated structures should be sited and
designed in order to integrate successfully with the design of the existing
building, and thereby minimise its impact on the external appearance of
the building;

b. the siting and appearance of the proposed apparatus and associated
structures should be compatible with the scale and character of existing
development, their neighbours and their setting, and should minimise impact
on the visual amenity, character or appearance of the surrounding area;

c. the siting and appearance of the apparatus and associated structures should
not have an unacceptable impact on conservation areas, listed buildings,
buildings of merit or areas of open space; and

d. where appropriate, proposed apparatus and associated structures should
share locations where there is an existing facility.

Justification

6.231 Mobile communications are now considered an integral part of the success of
most business operations and individual lifestyles. The Council will support the expansion
of telecommunications networks whilst at the same time minimising any detrimental impacts
on the visual amenity of the boroughs townscape.

Page 264



152 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

a.

b.

Policy DC11 - Basements and Lightwells

New basements and extensions to existing basements will only be permitted
where they:

do not extend into or underneath the garden further than 50% of the depth
of the host building measured from the principal rear elevation;

do not extend into or underneath the garden further than 50% of the depth
of the garden;

are set back from neighbouring property boundaries where it extends
beyond the footprint of the host building;

do not comprise more than one storey. Exceptions may be made on large
sites;

do not result in any adverse impact on the amenity of adjoining properties
or on the local, natural and historic environment;

are designed to minimise the risk of flooding to the property and nearby
properties from all sources of flooding;

include a minimum of one metre of soil above any part of the basement
beneath a garden;

ensure that the basement helps reduce the volume and flow of surface water
run-off through appropriate use of SuDS and will provide active drainage
devices to minimise the risk of sewer flooding;

ensure that lightwells and railings at the front or side of the property are as
discreet as possible and allow the scale, character and appearance of the
property, street or terrace to remain largely unchanged,;

are designed to safeguard the structural stability of the existing building,
nearby buildings and other infrastructure;

provide a Construction Method Statement (CMS) (carried out by a qualified
structural or civil engineer) to be submitted with planning applications for
all basement projects; and

ensure that traffic and construction activity does not cause unacceptable
harm to pedestrian, cycle, vehicular and road safety.

New self contained basement flats will not be permitted in the Environment
Agency’s Flood Zone 3 areas where there is a risk of rapid inundation by flood
waters in the event of a breach of the river’s flood defences, unless a satisfactory
means of escape can be provided.

Justification

6.232 Forthe purposes of this policy, a basement is considered to be a floor of a building
which is partly or entirely below ground level. A ground or lower ground floor with a floor
level partly below the ground level (for example on a steeply sloping site) will therefore
generally be considered basement development.

Size of Basements

6.233 The council recognises the benefits of new residential basement and lightwells
in meeting housing needs and residents aspirations. It will permit basements but subject
to a number of criteria being met, that will safeguard the quality of life. The council will

Page 265




LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 153

6|

allow extensions of houses and flats into the basement below the building, providing there
is no adverse impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties (such as flooding) or
negative impact on the street scene due to the need for the provision or alteration of
lightwells.

6.234 The policy criteria states that basements should not exceed 50% of the garden
area and not exceed 50% of the depth of the host building. Restricting the extent of
basement excavations to any approved extension and limiting the depth of excavation to
a single storey will help to limit the extent and duration of construction. This will help to
reduce the impact of basement construction on local residents. This criterion applies to
the front garden, the rear garden and gardens to the side of the property individually, rather
than calculated as an aggregated garden area for the whole property. The unaffected
garden must be in a single area and where relevant should form a continuous area with
other neighbouring gardens. Sufficient margins should be left between the site boundaries
and any basement construction to sustain growth of vegetation and trees.

6.235 On large sites, basements of more than one storey may be permitted in certain
circumstances. These will generally be new developments located in a commercial setting
or of the size of an entire or substantial part of an urban block. They should be large
enough to accommodate all the plant, equipment and vehicles associated with the
development within the site and offer more opportunity to mitigate construction impacts
and carbon emissions on site. These schemes will be expected to provide appropriate
evidence to demonstrate to the Council’s satisfaction that the development does not harm
the built and natural environment or local amenity or increase flood risk. For the purposes
of this policy, large sites are considered to be:

e new major developments, for example schemes which comprise 1000sgm additional
non-residential floorspace or 10 or more additional dwellings;

e large schemes located in a commercial setting; or

e developments the size of an entire or substantial part of an urban block.

6.236 A ‘single storey’ is considered to be one that cannot be subdivided in the future
to create additional floors. It is generally about 3 to 4 metres floor to ceiling height but a
small extra allowance for proposals with a swimming pool may be permitted.

Flood Risk

6.237 ltisimportant that proposals for new or extended basements provide clear evidence
that demonstrates that there is no adverse effect on surface water drainage, the sewers
and/or on groundwater flows. Opportunities should be taken to integrate sustainable
drainage (SuDS) measures such as vegetation and permeable surfaces to help to control
surface water runoff. Water butts can also be used to collect rainwater for later re-use.
Where proposals cause the loss of vegetation, this can also affect the character of
conservation areas and planted rear gardens, thereby impacting on privacy, shade and
biodiversity. Therefore, where any part of a basement is constructed below a garden, a
minimum of one metre of topsoil should be provided above it to promote infiltration and
allow for planting. In areas at risk from flooding, new self contained basement dwellings
will not be permitted where they are at risk of rapid inundation by flood waters in the event
of failure or breach of flood defences and where no adequate means of escape can be
provided because of the risk to life in the event of a flood. Any new basement that is below
street level should be designed to reduce flood risk and to minimise any impact from

Page 266



154 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

flooding from any source. To protect against sewer flooding, developments must include
the provision of a pumped solution or 'active drainage devices' incorporating non-return
valves to prevent water entering a property from drains and sewers.

Demolition and Construction

6.238 Basement excavation often raises concerns about the structural stability of adjacent
properties because of works to party walls and foundations, in particular. These issues
may be properly dealt with by means of a party wall agreement under the Party Wall Act
1996. However, the council wishes to encourage good neighbourliness and avoid planning
applications which cannot be implemented due to the lack of agreement between the
applicant and the owners of neighbouring properties or land instability. The NPPF places
significant weight on ground conditions, land stability and local environmental issues (eg.
Paragraphs 109, 120 and 121) as material considerations in determining planning
applications. Therefore, the council requires applicants to submit a Construction Method
Statement (carried out by a qualified structural or civil engineer) with the planning application
and to make the statement available at the same time to neighbouring owners to
demonstrate that the development accords with the policy.

6.239 The level of information required will be appropriate with the scale, nature and
location of the scheme. Basement construction can cause nuisance and disturbance for
neighbours and others in the vicinity, through construction traffic, parking suspensions
and the noise, dust and vibration of construction itself. The applicant must demonstrate
that these impacts are kept to acceptable levels under the relevant acts and guidance,
taking the cumulative impacts of other development proposals into account. Every effort
must be made to locate the building compound and the skip on site or in exceptional
circumstances in the highway immediately outside the application site.

6.240 A construction management statement (CMS) will be required to be submitted
with the application for basement projects and would be expected to cover:

e appointment of appropriately qualified civil or structural engineer;

e areport outlining the ground and hydrological conditions of the site and dealing with

groundwater flow ensuring structural stability during excavation and demolition;

temporary propping/temporary works and construction work, minimising disturbance

drilling of boreholes;

impact on trees;

sequence of temporary works to minimise the effect on neighbours and management

of water flow;

consideration of related cumulative impacts;

e professional verification of works safeguarding amenity: noise vibration and dust from
construction work; and

e construction traffic management plan.

Lightwells

6.241 Itis very important to minimise the visual impact of light wells, roof lights, railings,
steps, emergency accesses, plant and other externally visible elements. Care should be
taken to avoid disturbance to neighbours from light pollution through roof lights and other
forms of lighting. Introducing lightwells where they are not an established and positive
feature of the streetscape can harm the character or appearance of an area. Where external
visible elements are allowed they need to be sensitively designed and sited, respecting

Page 267



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 155

6|

the existing character and appearance of the building, streetscape and gardens in the
vicinity. Excessively large lightwells will not be permitted in any garden space. Further
detail on lightwells is included in the Planning Guidance SPD.

Page 268



156 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

Environmental Sustainability

Policy CC1 - Reducing Carbon Dioxide Emissions

The council will require all major developments to implement energy
conservation measures by:

a. implementing the London Plan (2016) sustainable energy policies and
meeting the associated carbon dioxide (CO,) reduction targets;

b. ensuring developments are designed to make the most effective use of
passive design measures, and where an assessment such as BREEAM (or
equivalent) is used to determine a development’s environmental
performance, this must be supplemented with a more detailed Energy
Assessment in order to show compliance with the London Plan’s CO,
reduction targets;

c. requiring energy assessments for all major developments to demonstrate
and quantify how the proposed energy efficiency measures and low/zero
carbon technologies will reduce the expected energy demand and CO,
emissions;

d. requiring major developments to demonstrate that their heating and/or
cooling systems have been selected to minimise CO, emissions. This
includes the need to assess the feasibility of connecting to any existing
decentralised energy systems or integrating new systems such as Combined
(Cooling) Heat and Power units or communal heating systems, including
heat networks; and

e. usingon-site renewable energy generation to further reduce CO, emissions
from major developments, where feasible.

Where it is not feasible to make the required CO, reductions by implementing
these measures on site or off site as part of the development, a payment in lieu
contribution should be made to the council which will be used to fund CO,
reduction measures in the borough or elsewhere in London; and

Encouraging energy efficiency and other low carbon measures in all other (i.e.
non-major) developments, where feasible. The council will also encourage
developers to use energy performance standards such as PassivHaus to guide
development of their Energy Strategies.

Justification

6.242 Local planning authorities have a statutory duty to take action on climate change
and include policies in local plans that will help reduce CO, emissions. To this end, this

policy supports the move to a low carbon future as outlined in The National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF)(56) and helps apply the London Plan’s established energy hierarchy.
This encourages sustainable energy practices in new developments by requiring them to:

e use less energy;

56 Communities and Local Government, National Planning Policy Framework, March 2012

Page 269



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 157

6|

e supply energy efficiently; and
e use renewable energy.

6.243 The policy ensures that new development will be designed to be as energy efficient
as possible, help improve the provision of energy efficient and low emission heating and
cooling networks in the borough and also promotes the generation of on-site renewable

energy, where this is feasible.

6.244 Where a development has maximised CO, emissions reduction on or off site but
still falls short of meeting the required London Plan (2016) target, a payment in lieu should
be made to the council. This will be used to implement sustainable energy measures
off-site in the borough or elsewhere in London. The payment should be based on the
council’s accepted price of offsetting carbon emissions and be calculated for a 30 year
period, in line with national guidance. Further details on the council’s approach to calculating
payment in lieu requirements is provided in the council’s Planning Guidance SPD.

6.245 Energy Assessments will be required to be submitted as part of the supporting
information accompanying every application for a major development. Further details on
the requirements for Energy Assessments are provided in the council’s Planning Guidance
SPD.

6.246 Developers are encouraged to use energy performance standards such as
PassivHaus to guide development of their Energy Strategies, particularly in relation to
reducing demand for heating. The Passivhaus standard can be applied not only to new
residential dwellings but also to new commercial, industrial and public buildings and may
also be suitable for refurbishment projects where the external appearance of a building
would not be harmed as a result of the alterations required.

Policy CC2 - Ensuring Sustainable Design and Construction

The council will require the implementation of sustainable design and
construction measures in all major developments by:

a. implementing the London Plan (2016) sustainable design and construction
policies to ensure developments incorporate sustainability measures,
including: -minimising energy use; making the most effective use of
resources such as water and aggregates; sourcing building materials
sustainably; reducing pollution and waste; promoting recycling and
conserving and promoting biodiversity and the natural environment;
ensuring developments are comfortable and secure for users and avoiding
impacts from natural hazards (including flooding); and

b. Requiring Sustainability Statements (or equivalent assessments such as
BREEAM) for all major developments to ensure the full range of
sustainability issues has been taken into account during the design stage.

The integration of sustainable design and construction measures will be
encouraged in all other (i.e. non-major) developments, where feasible.

Page 270



158 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

Justification

6.247 Sustainable design and construction principles are supported by a number of
policies in the Local Plan (2016). New buildings need to be constructed to meet a high
level of environmental performance. In particular, major developments need to ensure
that as well as reducing CO, emissions, they also consider climate change adaptation
issues in their design and construction.

6.248 Developments can have a wide range of impacts on the environment, health and
well being of residents that need to be properly managed and minimised. This policy
ensures that new major developments are designed and constructed to take account of
these impacts whilst also helping to reduce the consumption of scarce resources, reduce
pollution, enhance open spaces and contribute to the health and wellbeing of residents.

6.249 A sustainably designed and constructed development is also one that incorporates
measures that allow adaptation to the potential impacts of climate change during its lifetime
such as heatwaves and droughts in summer months and potentially wetter winters.

6.250 Smaller developments are also encouraged to consider sustainable design and
construction principles, where this is feasible.

6.251 Any assessments carried out to determine a major development’s environmental
performance using BREEAM (or similar) must be supplemented with an Energy Assessment
which shows compliance with the requirements of Policy CC1 on reducing CO, emissions.

6.252 Further details on the requirements for the Sustainability Assessment are provided
in the council’s Planning Guidance SPD. This policy also needs to be read in conjunction
with the Mayor of London's SPG's on Sustainable Design and Construction and control
of dust and emissions during construction and demolition®”.

57 Sustainable Design and Construction — April 2014 and the control of dust and emissions during
construction and demolition — July 2014

Page 271



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 159

6|

Policy CC3 - Minimising Flood Risk and Reducing Water Use

The council will require developments to reduce the use of water and minimise
current and future flood risk by implementing the following measures:

e asite specific Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) will be required for the following
development proposals:

e all proposals for developments in the Environment Agency’s Flood
Zones 2 and 3;

e proposals for new developments over 1 hectare in size in Flood Zone
1;

e all proposals for new development in areas identified in the council’s
SWMP as being susceptible to surface water flooding —i.e. those located
in a flooding hotspot; and

e all proposals for new development which includes a subterranean
element in areas identified in the council’s SWMP as being at risk from
elevated groundwater levels

e as part of the FRA, the requirements of the National Planning Policy
Framework must be addressed and, where applicable, an Exception Test
must also be carried out and included in the FRA;

e the FRA must assess the risk of flooding from all relevant sources, in
particular tidal, surface and ground water, as well as sewer flooding and
where there is a risk of flooding, appropriate flood proofing measures must
be integrated, in accordance with the guidance in the H&F SFRA;

e new self-contained basement flats will not be permitted in the Environment
Agency's Flood Zone 3 areas where there is a risk of rapid inundation by
flood waters in the event of a breach of the river’s flood defences or in
surface water flooding hotspots where the flood hazard rating is defined a
significant or higher in the SWMP, unless a satisfactory means of escape
can be provided;

e where development is proposed in the Environment Agency’s Groundwater
Source Protection Zones 1 or 2, measures must be taken to ensure the
protection of groundwater supplies;

e all developments that include a subterranean element must provide details
of the structural waterproofing measures to be integrated to prevent any
increase in on or off-site groundwater flood risk;

« all developments that are classified as ‘more’ or ‘highly’ vulnerable to
flooding that include proposals at basement or lower ground floor level
must install a non-return valve or equivalent to protect against sewer
flooding;

« all development proposals will be required to demonstrate that there is
sufficient water and wastewater infrastructure capacity both on and off site
to serve the development or that any necessary upgrades will be delivered
ahead of the occupation of development;

¢ inline with the requirements of the Thames Estuary 2100 Plan, developments
adjoining the River Thames must maintain and where necessary enhance
or raise flood defences (or show how they could be raised in the future),
demonstrating that they will continue to provide adequate flood protection
for the lifetime of the development; and

Page 272



160 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham Proposed Submission Local Plan 2016 (Cabinet)

|6

e all developments must include water efficient fittings and appliances, where
provided, in line with London Plan water consumption targets. In addition,
major developments and high water use developments must include other
measures such as rainwater harvesting and grey water re-use.

Justification

Map 8 Environment Agency's Flood Zones
6.253 As shown in Map 8, over 60% of

the borough and about 75% of the " ; Paa—
population are in the Environment Agency’s ; =
Flood Zones 2 and 3 (medium-high risk of
flooding from the River Thames), although
the actual extent of tidal flooding from the
river is mitigated by existing flood
defences. Although these provide a high
level of flood protection, Flood Risk
Assessments are required for all
developments in Flood Zones 2 and 3 to
assess the risk of flooding to the site e.g.
in the event of a failure or breach of the
defences and to identify appropriate
mitigation measures to be integrated to
minimise this risk.

6.254 FRA's for proposals in Flood
Zones 2 and 3 should consider flood risk
from all sources, not just the River Thames.
It should also be noted that developments
located in Flood Zone 1 are not exempt
from the need to consider flood risk, as
there could be risks from surface, sewer
and groundwater sources that need to be
assessed and mitigated.

6.255 As most of the borough is at risk from some form of fluvial/tidal flooding from the
Thames, it would be unreasonable to restrict development only to Flood Zone 1 in the
north of the borough, particularly as much of this area is also at risk from sewer and surface
water flooding (covered by Policy CC4). The council considers that from a borough-wide
perspective, the Sequential Test permits the consideration of all sites for development,
subject to individual sites satisfying the requirements of the Exception Test (as outlined
in the Planning Guidance SPD).

6.256 Some parts of the borough could be impacted very quickly by fast flowing flood
waters if the defences failed or were overtopped. The council’s SFRA includes detailed
maps showing which parts of the borough are inside this Rapid Inundation Zone which
could be impacted within 30 minutes of a breach or failure of defences. As a result, there
is a restriction on self-contained basements being constructed in this Zone as such
developments are highly vulnerable to flood impacts and there is a potential risk to life. A
satisfactory means of escape must therefore be provided for any basement proposal in a
rapid inundation area. This restriction also applies in those parts of the borough identified
in the SWMP as a flooding hotspot where the flood hazard rating from surface water
flooding is defined as significant or higher.

Page 273



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 161

6|

6.257 There is an increased potential for elevated groundwater in some parts of the
borough, mainly to the south of Goldhawk Road.

6.258 Groundwater needs to be taken into account where new basement construction
or extensions are planned to ensure that any new development does not increase flood
risk either on-site or by impacting on groundwater flows to the detriment of neighbouring
properties. Policy HO11 on basements and lightwells sets out further requirements in this
respect.

6.259 Groundwater needs to be taken into account where new basement construction
or extensions are planned to ensure that any new development does not increase flood
risk either on-site or by impacting on groundwater flows to the detriment of neighbouring
properties. Policy DC11 on basements and lightwells sets out further requirements in this
respect.

6.260 Sewer flooding is also a potential problem for the borough, with Thames Water
identifying over 2,000 locations in the borough affected by sewer flooding in the past 10
years. This distribution across the borough is shown by postcode area in the council's
SWMP. The sewer network in the borough is a combined system which drains both foul
water flows as well as surface water. Sewer flood risk is therefore intrinsically linked to
the surface water flood risk, dealt with by Policy CC4. Sewer flooding occurs when high
volumes of surface water are directed into the sewer during heavy rainfall events and the
system surcharges due to lack of capacity. Flood risk from sewers is a particular problem
for basement and lower ground floor properties but it can be mitigated by fitting devices
such as non-return valves.

6.261 Thames Water has modelled the impact of London’s projected population growth
and climate change on its drains and sewers to understand their ability to cope with these
future challenges. The modelling shows that for a relatively common rainfall event in 2050
(one that would be expected on average once every other year), some areas of London,
including Hammersmith and Fulham, would not have sufficient drainage or sewerage
capacity to manage the expected flows, leading to an increasing risk of surface water and
sewer flooding. Map 9 shows the mapped output of this modelling for the 2050s.

Map 9 Thames Water Sewer Capacity 2020

London Modal - Storage Utilisation {Ds_Flow 2020)

%  Lagend
2 ™ L] sua o
el ! Landon Model
o . DaFlow 2030
B ain-a2e

......

Page 274



162 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

6.262 Water is an increasingly scarce resource, and with an increasing population in
Hammersmith and Fulham there is rising demand. Therefore, there is a need to ensure
that new and refurbished buildings are designed to minimise the use of water by installing
water efficient fittings and appliances where these are provided as part of the development.
Required water efficient fittings include water efficient shower heads, tap fittings and toilets.
Water efficient appliances include removable fixtures such as dishwashers and washing
machines. As well as reducing water demand, integrating water efficiency measures can
help reduce foul water flows from developments. This is particularly important in the
borough as the sewer system is a combined system that takes all wastewater, including
foul and surface water run-off.

6.263 Major new developments and those that use high volumes of water such as hotels,
offices, schools, commercial and leisure uses will be expected to implement water efficiency
measures such as those outlined above, including the collection and re-use of water (grey
water recycling) and rainwater harvesting.

6.264 Further guidance on FRA requirements is included in the Hammersmith and
Fulham Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (2015), and the Planning Guidance SPD. The
SPD also provides additional details on water efficiency measures to be installed in new
developments.

Managing Surface Water

6.265 The council’s Surface Water Management Plan (SWMP) identifies that the risk
of exceedance of the drainage system and surface water flooding in the borough is likely
to increase in the future unless steps are taken to manage and mitigate this form of flooding.
In line with the council’s duties as a Lead Local Flood Authority, surface water therefore
needs to be properly managed in new developments, particularly major developments.

6.266 Landscaping schemes associated with major and minor schemes will be expected
to minimise the use of impermeable surfaces, maximising use of permeable materials.
Where feasible, the inclusion of rainwater harvesting systems should also be considered
as a way of helping to reduce runoff while also reducing potable water usage within
developments.

Page 275



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 163

6|

Policy CC4 - Minimising Surface Water Run-off with Sustainable
Drainage Systems

All proposals for new development must manage surface water run-off as close
to its source as possible and on the surface where practicable, in line with the
London Plan drainage hierarchy. Other requirements include:

e all major developments must implement Sustainable Drainage Systems
(SuDS) to enable a reduction in peak run-off to greenfield run off rates for
storms up to the 1 in 100 year event (plus climate change allowance);

e major developments will be required to provide a sustainable drainage
strategy that demonstrates how SuDS will be integrated to reduce peak flow
volumes and rates in line with the requirements of this policy;

e all other developments must maximise attenuation levels, achieving
greenfield run off rates where possible, particularly where they are located
in surface water flooding hotspots, or increase a site’s impermeable area;

e as well as being designed to minimise flood risk, surface water drainage
measures must be designed and implemented where possible to help deliver
other Local Plan policies such as those on biodiversity, amenity and
recreation, water efficiency and quality;

e all new outdoor car parking areas and other hard standing surfaces shall
be designed to be rainwater permeable with no run-off being directed into
the sewer system, unless there are practical reasons for not doing so;

e all flat roofs in new developments should be green or brown roofs to help
contribute to reducing surface water run-off; and

e where installed, SuDS measures must be retained and maintained for the
lifetime of the development and details of their planned maintenance must
be provided to the council.

Justification

6.267 As shown in the council’s Surface Water Management Plan (2015) (SWMP),
surface water flood risk is spread across much of the borough, as is the risk from sewer
flooding.

6.268 The SWMP identifies that over 7,000 residential properties and almost 900
non-residential properties could be at risk of surface water flooding of greater than 0.1m
depth during a 1 in 100 year rainfall event.

6.269 As discussed earlier, most of the sewer infrastructure in the borough is combined
rather than separate which means that sewers not only convey foul water to the sewage
treatment plants further downstream, but also all surface water that enters the system —
i.e. water that drains from paved areas, roads, roofs etc when it rains. Under normal
circumstances, there is capacity in the sewers for all foul and surface water to be
accommodated without significant flood risk, however, during storm conditions when there
can be high levels of rainfall in a short period of time, the volume of surface water and the
rate at which it is entering the sewers can overwhelm the system and cause sewers to
surcharge. This includes causing flood water to flow back into properties through drains,
toilets, sinks etc. In some locations, particularly the central and southern parts of the
borough, surface water flooding tends to be a result of localised ponding of surface water.

Page 276



164 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

6.270 Thames Water plan to upgrade the existing sewer system in the borough through
their Counters Creek Flood Alleviation Scheme which will help to reduce sewer and surface
water flooding. However, in consultation with Thames Water, developers will still be required
to demonstrate that there is adequate capacity in the sewer system both on and off site
to serve their development and that it would not lead to problems for existing users. In
some circumstances, including all major developments impacting on surface or foul water
drainage within the catchment of the Counters Creek sewer, this may make it necessary
for developers to carry out appropriate studies to ascertain whether the proposed
development would lead to overloading of existing infrastructure.

6.271 All development schemes, including minor proposals will be expected to show
that they have managed surface water by utilising all available techniques to avoid
increasing runoff and to reduce it as far as possible. This could include a combination of
options including, but not limited to, the provision of water butts and rainwater harvesting
systems, maximising the area of permeable surfaces and using green walls, green, blue
or brown roofs, or integrating water features. Direct discharge into watercourses such as
the Thames, may also be feasible for some developments. Where above ground SuDS
measures are not feasible it may be necessary to use underground attenuation tanks and
flow control mechanisms to manage run-off.

6.272 SuDS measures detailed in FRA's or separate Sustainable Drainage Strategies
must clearly demonstrate how they will achieve the required attenuation of peak surface
water run-off, in line with the drainage hierarchy outlined in London Plan (2016) in order
to minimise run-off, achieving greenfield run off rates where necessary. An on-going
maintenance programme must also be included for implementation to ensure the
effectiveness of the system for the lifetime of the development.

6.273 The inclusion of rainwater harvesting systems must be considered as a way of
helping to reduce runoff while also reducing potable water usage within developments.
To help minimise run-off from new areas of hard standing, including car parks, these must
be designed to be permeable and allow infiltration of surface water with no run-off being
directed to the sewer system (unless there are practical reasons for this not being possible
—i.e. unsuitable underlying soils). Landscaping schemes associated with major and minor
schemes will be expected to minimise the use of impermeable surfaces, maximising use
of permeable materials.

Policy CC5 - Water Quality

The council will require that where a private supply or distribution system is
proposed as part of a development, the quality of water is assessed so that any
required treatment is identified and an on-going monitoring and maintenance
plan is established.

Justification

6.274 The availability and supply of water must be assessed in the development of land
and the potential for sourcing a supply from water run-off harvesting or utilising groundwater
sources may be considered. Potable and non-potable water must meet minimal levels of
quality to ensure they do not adversely effect human and animal health, vegetation or

Page 277



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 165

6|

other sensitive receptors. It is therefore necessary that when a private supply is to be
included in a development that they are appropriately tested, monitored, protected and
treated as required.

6.275 In conjunction with a private water supply or complementary to a water supply
from the statutory provider, a private distribution system may be installed as part of a
development. Standards for the materials used in these distribution systems as well as
their layout and flow must be met. Regular inspections and maintenance plans shall be
required to ensure distribution system safety.

Policy CC6 - Strategic Waste Management
The council will pursue sustainable waste management, including:

a. planning to manage 247,000 tonnes per annum of waste in LBHF by 2036;

b. promoting sustainable waste behaviour and maximum use of the WRWA
Smuggler’s Way facility; and

c. Seeking, where possible, the movement of waste and recyclable materials
by sustainable means of transport.

Justification

6.276 London Plan (2016) policies are seeking to manage as much of London’s waste
within London as practicable, and are working towards managing the equivalent of 100%
of London’s waste (municipal and commercial and industrial waste) arising in London by
2026. Hammersmith and Fulham’s apportioned waste total for 2036, as specified in the
London Plan (2016), comprises 106,000 tonnes household waste and 141,000 tonnes
commercial and industrial waste.

6.277 The borough’s municipal waste, together with that of the three other boroughs in
the Western Riverside Waste Authority area (WRWA), is managed through a riverside
site (Smuggler’s Way), close to Wandsworth Bridge in the London Borough of Wandsworth.
Currently most of the non-recyclable municipal waste is transported by river to an Energy
from waste facility in Bexley. The contract which does not expire until the early 2030's
does not commit the Waste Authority to a specified amount of waste for incineration and
therefore recycling rates can continue to rise without any penalty. Recyclable materials
are dealt with by a materials reclamation facility (or MRF) with a capacity for 84,000 tonnes
located at WRWA's Smuggler’s Way site at Wandsworth. If recycling targets are met there
will be a need for further facilities.

6.278 In order to manage increasing tonnages of recyclables and compostable waste
there is a need to ensure that major new developments, such as those within the White
City Opportunity Area and Earls Court and West Kensington Opportunity Area and Fulham
Regeneration Areas and the development at Imperial Road, make provision for managing
their waste on site.

6.279 In addition to the Wandsworth facilities for managing the disposal of municipal
waste, two large sites (Powerday at Old Oak Sidings and the EMR site), and some other
smaller sites exist within the Old Oak Common Opportunity Area. Since April 2015 this
Opportunity Area and the waste sites have fallen within the boundary of the Old Oak and
Park Royal Development Corporation (OPDC).

Page 278



166 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

6.280 The Old Oak Sidings site is approximately 3.5ha and is licenced to manage up
to 1.6 million tonnes of waste per annum. The site is capable of managing both
household/commercial/industrial waste and construction and demolition waste. In 2013,
the site received 219,000 tonnes of household/commercial/industrial waste out of a total
of 360,000 tonnes of waste received. This represented approximately 60% of waste
received at the site. Based on this proportion, it is estimated that the site has an ultimate
licenced capacity to manage a maximum of 960,000 tonnes of household and commercial
and industrial waste (subject to market variation and realising the potential of rail and canal
for waste transport). The EMR site is approximately 3.3ha and has a licenced capacity of
419,000 tonnes per annum. The site specialises in metal recycling and materials recovery
(particularly end of life vehicles and white-goods).

6.281 The council notes that the London Plan (2016) states in paragraph 5.80 that
“Where a Mayoral Development Corporation (MDC) exists or is established within a
Borough, the MDC will co-operate with the borough to ensure that the Borough’s
apportionent requirements are met”. The council considers that the Old Oak Sidings
(Powerday) site could meet the borough’s waste apportionment target set out in the London
Plan (2016). The council will encourage the OPDC to safeguard the Old Oak Sidings site
for waste management activities, whilst acknowledging that its long term future is subject
to the OPDC'’s regeneration proposals for the Old Oak Common Opportunity Area. The
council is investigating ways forward with the OPDC as well as the potential for pooling
apportionment requirements with other authorities. In addition, major development sites
will be expected to sort, process and recover materials on site thereby further increasing
LBHF’s capacity to locally manage waste.

Policy CC7 - On-site Waste Management

All new developments must include suitable facilities for the management of
waste generated by the development, including the collection and storage of
separated waste and where feasible on-site energy recovery.

a. all developments, including where practicable, conversions and change of
use, should aim to minimise waste and should provide convenient facilities
with adequate capacity to enable the occupiers to separate, store and recycle
their waste both within their own residence and via accessible and inclusive
communal storage facilities, and where possible compost green waste on
site;

b. in major development proposals on-site waste management should be
provided, particularly for commercial and industrial waste streams; and

c. sustainable waste behaviour, including the re-use and recycling of
construction, demolition and excavation waste will be encouraged and
recyclable materials should, wherever feasible, be segregated on site,
providing there is no significant adverse impact on either site occupants
or neighbours. On larger demolition sites, the council will expect details of
the type and quantity of waste arising and details of proposed methods of
disposal, including means of transport.

Page 279



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 167

6|

Justification

6.282 As a Waste Collection Authority (WCA), Hammersmith and Fulham Council collects
municipal waste which includes household refuse and recyclables, street sweepings, litter,
flytipped materials and commercial/industrial waste. Waste collected by the council is
delivered to Western Riverside Waste Authority (WRWA) for disposal or recycling. Mixed
recycling comprising glass, metal, paper, cardboard, plastic and cartons is sorted at a
Materials Recycling Facility in Wandsworth. Refuse not separated for recycling is disposed
of at an Energy from Waste facility in Bexley.

6.283 In 2013/14, 20.53% of household waste collected by the council was recycled. In
recent years, the amount of overall waste produced per household has reduced, but is
expected to rise again in the future. The council has targets for increasing the amount of
waste diverted from disposal, as this delivers an environmental, social and economic
benefit to the borough and its residents.

6.284 In order to facilitate the sustainable management of waste in the future it is
essential that all developments provide adequate facilities for the separation of waste and
recyclables in the home and for its satisfactory storage prior to collection. Where feasible
space or facilities for the composting of green waste should also be provided.

6.285 Inthe regeneration areas and other major redevelopment schemes, consideration
should be given to the provision of on-site waste management in order to facilitate the
re-use and recycling of waste generated by the development, particularly for the industrial
and commercial waste streams. On-site waste management could have the added benefit
of reducing transport trips.

6.286 Construction, excavation and demolition waste should, wherever feasible, be
segregated on site in order to maximise reuse and recycling of the waste. On some smaller
construction sites in close proximity to residential or noise dust sensitive uses this may
not be possible. On larger sites the council will expect developers to produce a site waste
management plan to ensure the efficient handling of waste and materials.

Policy CC8 - Hazardous Substances

The council will ensure the protection of new and existing residents, by rejecting
proposals involving provision for hazardous substances that would pose an
unacceptable risk to the health and safety of occupants of neighbouring land,
and rejecting development proposals in the vicinity of existing establishments
if there would be an unacceptable risk to future occupants.

The council will ensure that development takes account of major hazards
identified by the Health and Safety Executive, namely:

e Fulham North Holder Station, Imperial Road,;
e Fulham South Holder Station, Imperial road; and
e Swedish Wharf, Townmead Road.

Page 280



168 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

Justification

6.287 Within the borough there are a number of facilities (gas holders and pipelines)
which handle and transport hazardous substances. Although the facilities are strictly
controlled by health and safety regulations, it is necessary to control the type of
development around these sites and to resist new development which might pose a risk
to people occupying sites and buildings in the vicinity.

6.288 This policy ensures the protection of new and existing residents by resisting the
expansion of, or new developments which would cause an unacceptable safety risk. The
council will consult the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) on all hazardous substances
consent applications. We will also consult the HSE about certain developments (essentially
those that will increase the number of people) within the consultation distances around

installations, for example, so that risks presented by installations can be given due weight.

6.289 In Fulham there are three installations handling notifiable substances, including
pipelines. Whilst they are subject to stringent controls under existing health and safety
legislation, it is important to control the kinds of development permitted in the vicinity of
these installations. The council will consult the Health and Safety Executive on appropriate
application prior to the granting of planning permission about the risks to the proposed
development from the notifiable installation and this could lead to refusal of permission,
or restrictions on the proximity of development to the notifiable installation. The notifiable
sites and pipelines are shown on the Proposals Map, together with the distance from the
notifiable site for which consultation with the Health and Safety Executive will be required.
The distance from the pipelines in which buildings will not normally be permitted is also
listed.

Policy CC9 - Contaminated Land

When development is proposed on or near a site that is known to be, or there
is good reason to believe may be, contaminated, or where a sensitive use is
proposed, an applicant should carry out a site assessment and submit a report
of the findings in order to establish the nature and extent of the contamination.

Development will not be permitted unless practicable and effective measures
are to be taken to treat, contain or control any contamination so as not to:

a. expose the occupiers of the development and neighbouring land uses
including, in the case of housing, the users of open spaces and gardens to
unacceptable risk;

b. threaten the structural integrity of any building built, or to be built, on or
adjoining the site;

c. lead to the contamination of any watercourse, water body or aquifer; and

d. cause the contamination of adjoining land or allow such contamination to
continue.

Any application will be assessed in relation to the suitability of the proposed
use for the conditions on that site. Any permission for development will require
that the measures to assess and abate any risks to human health or the wider
environment agreed with the authority must be completed as the first step in
the carrying out of the development.

Page 281



LB Hammersmith and Fulham | 169

6|

Justification

6.290 In a heavily built up borough such as Hammersmith and Fulham where there has
been a history of heavy industry, land contamination is known to exist. It is important
therefore that any land that is known or suspected of being contaminated, or where a
sensitive use is proposed, is dealt with before the development takes place.

6.291 Any potential risks associated with contaminated land should be identified and
assessed at the planning pre-application stage. Some sites may be contaminated as a
result of being in the vicinity of a contaminated site. The risk of this contamination depends
on ground conditions and the type of contamination. Where necessary, developers will be
required to carry out remediation works and satisfy the council that their development can
be safely built and occupied without posing any unacceptable risks to human health or
the environment.

6.292 Developers must ensure that their remediation works are sustainable and result
from a robust site investigation and risk assessment and that remediation is conducted
in-situ when possible to reduce the amount of waste produced which requires transport,
and recycle soils and aggregates when possible to avoid the need for disposal hence
minimising the pollution of the wider environment. Any investigation or treatment of the
contamination must be agreed with the council before they are implemented.

Policy CC10 - Air Quality

The council will seek to reduce the potential adverse air quality impacts of new
developments by:

a. requiring all major developments to provide an air quality assessment that
considers the potential impacts of pollution from the development on the
site and on neighbouring areas and also considers the potential for exposure
to pollution levels above the Government’s air quality objective
concentration targets;

b. requiring mitigation measures to be implemented to reduce emissions,
particularly of nitrogen oxides and small particles, where assessments
show that developments could cause a significant worsening of local air
quality or contribute to the exceedances of the Government’s air quality
objectives; and

c. requiring mitigation measures that reduce exposure to acceptable levels
where developments are proposed that could result in the occupants being
particularly affected by poor air quality.

Justification

6.293 Nearly one in seven deaths (15%) in Hammersmith and Fulham are caused by
Nitrogen Dioxide via pollution - the eighth highest level in London according to Kings
College London. The whole of Hammersmith and Fulham is an Air Quality Management
Area for Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) and particulate matter (PM10) and the council is
implementing measures to help meet national air quality objectives for these and other
pollutants. New developments are expected to contribute towards improving local air
quality, particularly where they include potentially major new sources of emissions or could

Page 282



170 | LB Hammersmith and Fulham

|6

significantly increase traffic-generated emissions. Some developments such as schools,
nurseries, hospitals and care homes for the elderly and also housing, may be particularly
affected by the potential impacts of poor air quality on the occupants of the development.

6.294 Requiring air quality issues to be considered early in the planning process and
to be assessed in detail if necessary (i.e. for developments that may increase local
emissions significantly) is the best way of establishing a design led approach to mitigating
those emissions and reducing exposure.

Policy CC11 - Noise

Noise (including vibration) impacts of development will be controlled by
implementing the following measures:

a. Noise and vibration sensitive development should be located in the most
appropriate locations and protected against existing and proposed sources
of noise and vibration through careful design, layout and use of materials,
and by ensuring adequate insulation of the building envelope and internal
walls, floors and ceilings as well as protecting external amenity areas;

b. Housing, schools, nurseries, hospitals and other noise-sensitive
development will not normally be permitted where the occupants/users
would be affected adversely by noise, both internally and externally, from
existing or proposed noise generating uses. Exceptions will only be made
if it can be demonstrated that adequate mitigation measures will be taken,
without compromising the quality of the development; and

c. Noise generating development will not be permitted, if it would be liable to
materially increase the noise experienced by the occupants/users of existing
or proposed noise sensitive uses in the vicinity.

Where necessary, applicants will be expected to carry out noise assessments
and provide details of the noise levels on 